

Numéro163LIFTING THE CARTIERNouvelle sérieTRANSFORM OFOGUS-VOLOGODSKY MODULO p^n

Daxin XU

2 0 1 9

SOCIÉTÉ MATHÉMATIQUE DE FRANCE

Comité de rédaction

Christine BACHOC Yann BUGEAUD Jean-François DAT Clotilde FERMANIAN Pascal HUBERT Laurent MANIVEL Julien MARCHÉ Kieran O'GRADY Emmanuel RUSS Christophe SABOT

Marc HERZLICH (dir.)

Diffusion

Maison de la SMF Case 916 - Luminy 13288 Marseille Cedex 9 France commandes@smf.emath.fr AMS P.O. Box 6248 Providence RI 02940 USA www.ams.org

Tarifs

Vente au numéro : 35 € (\$52) Abonnement électronique : 113 € (\$170) Abonnement avec supplément papier : 167 €, hors Europe : 197 € (\$296) Des conditions spéciales sont accordées aux membres de la SMF.

Secrétariat

Mémoires de la SMF Société Mathématique de France Institut Henri Poincaré, 11, rue Pierre et Marie Curie 75231 Paris Cedex 05, France Tél : (33) 01 44 27 67 99 • Fax : (33) 01 40 46 90 96 memoires@smf.emath.fr • http://smf.emath.fr/

© Société Mathématique de France 2019

Tous droits réservés (article L 122–4 du Code de la propriété intellectuelle). Toute représentation ou reproduction intégrale ou partielle faite sans le consentement de l'éditeur est illicite. Cette représentation ou reproduction par quelque procédé que ce soit constituerait une contrefaçon sanctionnée par les articles L 335–2 et suivants du CPI.

ISSN papier 0249-633-X; électronique : 2275-3230 ISBN 978-2-85629-909-8 doi:10.24033/msmf.471

Directeur de la publication : Stéphane SEURET

LIFTING THE CARTIER TRANSFORM OF OGUS-VOLOGODSKY MODULO p^n

Daxin Xu

Société Mathématique de France 2019

 $Daxin \ Xu$

Department of Mathematics, California Institute of Technology, Pasadena, CA 91125, USA.

E-mail: daxinxu@caltech.edu

Texte reçu le 17 juillet 2017, révisé le 25 avril 2019, accepté le 16 mai 2019.

2000 Mathematics Subject Classification. - 14F30, 14F10.

 $Key\ words\ and\ phrases.$ – p-adic cohomology, crystalline cohomology, p-adic Hodge theory.

 ${\it Mots}$ ${\it clefs.}$ – Cohomologie $p\text{-}{\it adique},$ cohomologie cristalline, théorie de Hodge $p\text{-}{\it adique}.$

LIFTING THE CARTIER TRANSFORM OF OGUS-VOLOGODSKY MODULO p^n

Daxin Xu

Abstract. – Let W be the ring of the Witt vectors of a perfect field of characteristic p, \mathfrak{X} a smooth formal scheme over W, \mathfrak{X}' the base change of \mathfrak{X} by the Frobenius morphism of W, \mathfrak{X}'_2 the reduction modulo p^2 of \mathfrak{X}' and X the special fiber of \mathfrak{X} . We lift the Cartier transform of Ogus-Vologodsky defined by \mathfrak{X}'_2 modulo p^n . More precisely, we construct a functor from the category of p^n -torsion $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ -modules with integrable *p*-connection to the category of p^n -torsion $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ -modules with integrable connection, each subject to suitable nilpotence conditions. Our construction is based on Oyama's reformulation of the Cartier transform of Ogus-Vologodsky in characteristic p. If there exists a lifting $F: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}'$ of the relative Frobenius morphism of X, our functor is compatible with a functor constructed by Shiho from F. As an application, we give a new interpretation of Faltings' relative Fontaine modules and of the computation of their cohomology.

Résumé (Relèvement de la transformée de Cartier d'Ogus-Vologodsky modulo p^n)

Soient W l'anneau des vecteurs de Witt d'un corps parfait de caractéristique p > 0, \mathfrak{X} un schéma formel lisse sur W, \mathfrak{X}' le changement de base de \mathfrak{X} par l'endomorphisme de Frobenius de W, \mathfrak{X}'_2 la réduction modulo p^2 de \mathfrak{X}' et X la fibre spéciale de \mathfrak{X} . On relève la transformée de Cartier d'Ogus-Vologodsky définie par \mathfrak{X}'_2 . Plus précisément, on construit un foncteur de la catégorie des $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ -modules de p^n -torsion à p-connexion intégrable dans la catégorie des $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ -modules de p^n -torsion à connexion intégrable, chacune étant soumise à des conditions de nilpotence appropriées. S'il existe un relèvement $F : \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}'$ du morphisme de Frobenius relatif de X, notre foncteur est compatible avec une construction « locale » de Shiho définie par F. Comme application de la transformée de Cartier modulo p^n , on donne une nouvelle interprétation des modules de Fontaine relatifs introduits par Faltings et du calcul de leur cohomologie.

CONTENTS

1. Introduction	1
2. Notations and conventions	11
3. Blow-ups and dilatations	13
4. Hopf algebras and groupoids	19
5. Connections and stratifications	29
6. Local constructions of Shiho	37
7. Oyama topoi	43
8. Crystals in Oyama topoi	49
9. Cartier equivalence	55
10. Cartier transform of Ogus-Vologodsky	69
11. Prelude on rings of differential operators	79
12. Comparison with the Cartier transform of Ogus-Vologodsky	89
13. Fontaine modules	105
14. The Fontaine module structure on the crystalline cohomology of a Fontaine module	121
Bibliography1	131

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1. – In his seminal work [34], Simpson established a deep relation between complex representations of the fundamental group of a projective complex manifold Xand Higgs modules on X, leading to a theory called *nonabelian Hodge theory*. Recall that a Higgs module on X is a coherent sheaf M together with an \mathcal{O}_X -linear morphism $\theta : M \to M \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_X} \Omega^1_{X/\mathbb{C}}$ such that $\theta \land \theta = 0$. (Simpson's result uses, but is much deeper than, the Riemann-Hilbert correspondence relating representations of the fundamental group and modules with integrable connection.) In [14], Faltings developed a partial p-adic analog of Simpson correspondence for p-adic local systems on varieties over p-adic fields.

On the other hand, in [31], Ogus and Vologodsky constructed a version of nonabelian Hodge theory in characteristic p. If X is a smooth scheme over a perfect field k of characteristic p > 0, they established an equivalence, called *Cartier trans*form, between certain modules with integrable connection on X/k and certain Higgs modules on X/k, depending on a lifting of X' (the base change of X by the Frobenius morphism of k) to $W_2(k)$. They also constructed a canonical quasi-isomorphism betweeen certain truncations of the de Rham complex of a module with integrable connection and of the Higgs complex of its Cartier transform. This result generalizes the Cartier isomorphism and the decomposition of the de Rham complex given by Deligne-Illusie [11]; it is also an analog of a corresponding result in Simpson's theory.

The relation between Faltings' *p*-adic Simpson correspondence and the Cartier transform is not yet understood. The first difficulty is to lift the Cartier transform modulo p^n . This is our main goal in the present article. Shiho [33] constructed a "local" lifting of the Cartier transform modulo p^n under the assumption of a lifting of the relative Frobenius morphism modulo p^{n+1} . In [32], Oyama gave a new construction of the Cartier transform of Ogus-Vologodsky as the inverse image by a morphism of topoi. His work is inspired by Tsuji's approach to the *p*-adic Simpson correspondence ([2] IV). In this article, we use Oyama topoi to "glue" Shiho's functor and obtain a lifting of the Cartier transform modulo p^n under the (only) assumption that X lifts to a smooth formal scheme over W.

1.2. – Shiho's construction applies to modules with λ -connection, a notion of introduced by Deligne. Let $f: X \to S$ be a smooth morphism of schemes, M an \mathscr{O}_X -module and $\lambda \in \Gamma(S, \mathscr{O}_S)$. A λ -connection on M relative to S is an $f^{-1}(\mathscr{O}_S)$ -linear morphism $\nabla: M \to M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \Omega^1_{X/S}$ such that $\nabla(xm) = x \nabla(m) + \lambda m \otimes d(x)$ for every local sections x of \mathscr{O}_X and m of M. 1-connections correspond to the classical notion of connections, and 0-connections to Higgs fields. The integrability of λ -connections is defined in the same way as for connections. We denote by $\operatorname{MIC}(X/S)$ (resp. λ -MIC(X/S)) the category of \mathscr{O}_X -modules with integrable connection (resp. λ -connection) relative to S.

1.3. – In the following, if we use a gothic letter \mathfrak{T} to denote an adic formal W-scheme, the corresponding roman letter T will denote its special fiber. Let \mathfrak{X} be a smooth formal scheme over W and n an integer ≥ 1 . We denote by $\sigma : W \to W$ the Frobenius automorphism of W, by \mathfrak{X}' the base change of \mathfrak{X} by σ and by \mathfrak{X}_n the reduction of \mathfrak{X} modulo p^n . In [33], Shiho constructed a "local" lifting modulo p^n of the Cartier transform of Ogus-Vologodsky defined by \mathfrak{X}'_2 , using a lifting $F_{n+1} : \mathfrak{X}_{n+1} \to \mathfrak{X}'_{n+1}$ of the relative Frobenius morphism $F_{X/k} : X \to X'$ of X.

The image of the differential morphism $dF_{n+1}: F_{n+1}^*(\Omega^1_{\mathfrak{X}'_{n+1}/W_{n+1}}) \to \Omega^1_{\mathfrak{X}_{n+1}/W_{n+1}}$ of F_{n+1} is contained in $p\Omega^1_{\mathfrak{X}_{n+1}/W_{n+1}}$. Dividing by p, it induces an $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}$ -linear morphism

$$dF_{n+1}/p: F_n^*(\Omega^1_{\mathfrak{X}'_n/\mathbf{W}_n}) \to \Omega^1_{\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathbf{W}_n}$$

Shiho defined a functor (depending on F_{n+1}) ([33] 2.5)

(1.3.1)
$$\Phi_n : p\text{-MIC}(\mathfrak{X}'_n/W_n) \to \text{MIC}(\mathfrak{X}_n/W_n)$$
$$(M', \nabla') \mapsto (F_n^*(M'), \nabla),$$

where $\nabla : F_n^*(M') \to \Omega^1_{\mathfrak{X}_n/W_n} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} F_n^*(M')$ is the integrable connection defined for every local section e of M' by

(1.3.2)
$$\nabla(F_n^*(e)) = (\operatorname{id} \otimes \frac{dF_{n+1}}{p})(F_n^*(\nabla'(e))).$$

Shiho showed that the functor Φ_n induces an equivalence of categories between the full subcategories of p-MIC(\mathfrak{X}'_n/W_n) and of MIC(\mathfrak{X}_n/W_n) consisting of quasinilpotent objects ([33] Thm. 3.1). When n = 1, Ogus and Vologodsky proved that the functor Φ_1 is compatible with the Cartier transform defined by \mathfrak{X}'_2 ([31] Thm. 2.11; [33] 1.12).

1.4. – The categories of connections and their analogs we will be studying can be understood geometrically using the language of groupoids. Our groupoids will be relatively affine and hence correspond to Hopf algebras. If (\mathcal{T}, A) is a ringed topos, *a Hopf A-algebra* is the data of a ring *B* of \mathcal{T} together with five homomorphisms

$$A \xrightarrow[d_1]{a_2} B, \qquad \delta : B \to B \otimes_A B \text{ (comultiplication)},$$

$$\pi : B \to A \text{ (counit)}, \qquad \sigma : B \to B \text{ (antipode)},$$

where the tensor product $B \otimes_A B$ is taken on the left (resp. right) for the A-algebra structure of B defined by d_2 (resp. d_1), satisfying the compatibility conditions for coalgebras (cf. 4.2, [4] II 1.1.2).

A B-stratification on an A-module M is a B-linear isomorphism

(1.4.1)
$$\varepsilon: B \otimes_A M \xrightarrow{\sim} M \otimes_A B,$$

where the tensor product is taken on the left (resp. right) for the A-algebra structure defined by d_2 (resp. d_1), satisfying $\pi^*(\varepsilon) = id_M$ and a cocycle condition (cf. 5.4).

1.5. – A classical example of a Hopf algebra is given by the PD-envelope of the diagonal immersion. Let \mathfrak{X} be a smooth formal W-scheme, \mathfrak{X}^2 the product of two copies of \mathfrak{X} over W. For any $n \ge 1$, we denote by $P_{\mathfrak{X}_n}$ the PD-envelope of the diagonal immersion $\mathfrak{X}_n \to \mathfrak{X}_n^2$ compatible with the canonical PD-structure on (W_n, pW_n) and by $P_{\mathfrak{X}}$ the associated adic formal W-scheme. The $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -bialgebra $\mathscr{O}_{P_{\mathfrak{X}}}$ of $\mathfrak{X}_{\text{zar}}$ is naturally equipped with a formal Hopf $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -algebra structure (i.e., for every $n \ge 1$, a Hopf $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}$ -algebra structure on $\mathscr{O}_{P_{\mathfrak{X}_n}}$, which is compatible) (cf. 4.7, 5.10).

A quasi-nilpotent integrable connection relative to W_n on an $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}$ -module M (cf. 5.3) is equivalent to an $\mathscr{O}_{P_{\mathfrak{X}}}$ -stratification on M ([5] 4.12). Following Shiho [33], we give below an analogous description of p-connections; the relevant Hopf algebra is constructed by dilatation (certain distinguished open subset of admissible blow-up) in formal geometry.

1.6. – We define by dilatation an adic formal \mathfrak{X}^2 -scheme $R_{\mathfrak{X}}$ satisfying the following conditions (3.5).

(i) The canonical morphism $R_{\mathfrak{X},1} \to X^2$ factors through the diagonal immersion $X \to X^2$.

(ii) Let $X \to \mathfrak{X}^2$ be the morphism induced by the diagonal immersion. For any flat formal W-scheme \mathfrak{Y} and any W-morphisms $f : \mathfrak{Y} \to \mathfrak{X}^2$ and $g : Y \to X$ which fit into the following commutative diagram



there exists a unique W-morphism $f': \mathfrak{Y} \to R_{\mathfrak{X}}$ lifting f.

We denote abusively by $\mathscr{O}_{R_{\mathfrak{X}}}$ the direct image of $\mathscr{O}_{R_{\mathfrak{X}}}$ via the morphism $R_{\mathfrak{X},\operatorname{zar}} \to \mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{zar}}$ (i). Using the universal property of $R_{\mathfrak{X}}$, we show that $\mathscr{O}_{R_{\mathfrak{X}}}$ is equipped with a formal Hopf $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -algebra structure (4.11).

The diagonal immersion $\mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}^2$ induces a closed immersion $\iota : \mathfrak{X} \to R_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (3.5). For any $n \geq 1$, we denote by $T_{\mathfrak{X},n}$ the PD-envelope of $\iota_n : \mathfrak{X}_n \to R_{\mathfrak{X},n}$ compatible with the canonical PD-structure on (W_n, pW_n) . The schemes $\{T_{\mathfrak{X},n}\}_{n\geq 1}$ form an adic inductive system and we denote by $T_{\mathfrak{X}}$ the associated adic formal W-scheme. By the universal property of PD-envelope, the formal Hopf algebra structure on $\mathcal{O}_{R_{\mathfrak{X}}}$ extends to a formal Hopf $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -algebra structure on the $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -bialgebra $\mathcal{O}_{T_{\mathfrak{X}}}$ of $\mathfrak{X}_{\text{zar}}$ (5.15). In ([33] Prop. 2.9), Shiho showed that for any $n \ge 1$ and any $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}$ -module M, an $\mathcal{O}_{T_{\mathfrak{X}}}$ -stratification on M is equivalent to a quasi-nilpotent integrable *p*-connection on M (cf. 5.17).

1.7. – Shiho's local construction deals with modules with *p*-connection and connection, which is different to the (global) Cartier transform of Ogus-Vologodsky. We need a fourth Hopf algebra, introduced by Oyama [32], and we will use it to define a notion of stratification that will enable us to globalize Shiho's construction.

For any k-scheme Y, we denote by <u>Y</u> the closed subscheme of Y defined by the ideal sheaf of \mathscr{O}_Y consisting of the sections of \mathscr{O}_Y whose pth power is zero. In (3.5), 4.9, we construct an adic formal \mathfrak{X}^2 -scheme $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$ satisfying the following conditions.

(i) The canonical morphism $\underline{Q_{\mathfrak{X},1}} \to X^2$ factors through the diagonal immersion $X \to X^2$.

(ii) For any flat formal W-scheme \mathfrak{Y} and any W-morphisms $f : \mathfrak{Y} \to \mathfrak{X}^2$ and $g : \underline{Y} \to X$ which fit into the following commutative diagram



there exists a unique W-morphism $f': \mathfrak{Y} \to Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$ lifting f.

We denote abusively by $\mathscr{O}_{Q_{\mathfrak{X}}}$ the direct image of $\mathscr{O}_{Q_{\mathfrak{X}}}$ via the morphism $Q_{\mathfrak{X},\mathrm{zar}} \to \mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{zar}}$ (i). It is also equipped with a formal Hopf $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -algebra structure (4.11).

Let $P_{\mathfrak{X}}$ be the formal \mathfrak{X}^2 -scheme defined in 1.5, $\iota : \mathfrak{X} \to P_{\mathfrak{X}}$ the canonical morphism lifting the diagonal immersion $\mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}^2$ and \mathscr{J} the PD-ideal of \mathscr{O}_{P_X} associated to ι_1 . For any local section of \mathscr{J} , we have $x^p = p! x^{[p]} = 0$. Then we deduce a closed immersion $\underline{P}_X \to X$ over \mathfrak{X}^2 . By the universal property of $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$, we obtain an \mathfrak{X}^2 -morphism $\lambda : P_{\mathfrak{X}} \to Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$.

1.8. – The groupoids and Hopf algebras constructed above give a geometric interpretation of Shiho's functor Φ and of a variation of Φ which can be globalized. Let $F: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}'$ be a lifting of the relative Frobenius morphism $F_{X/k}$ of X. By the universal properties of $R_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ and of PD-envelopes, the morphism $F^2: \mathfrak{X}^2 \to \mathfrak{X}'^2$ induce morphisms $\psi: Q_{\mathfrak{X}} \to R_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ (6.6) and $\varphi: P_{\mathfrak{X}} \to T_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ (6.8) above F^2 which fit into a commutative diagram (6.9.1)



where $\varpi : T_{\mathfrak{X}'} \to R_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ (1.6) and $\lambda : P_{\mathfrak{X}} \to Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (1.7) are independent of F. Moreover, ψ and φ induce homomorphisms of formal Hopf algebras $\mathscr{O}_{R_{\mathfrak{X}'}} \to F_*(\mathscr{O}_{Q_{\mathfrak{X}}})$ and $\mathscr{O}_{T_{\mathfrak{X}'}} \to F_*(\mathscr{O}_{P_{\mathfrak{X}}})$. The above diagram induces a commutative diagram (6.9.2)

$$(1.8.2) \qquad \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \text{category of } \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}'_{n}} \text{-modules} \\ \text{with } \mathscr{O}_{R_{\mathfrak{X}'}} \text{-stratification} \end{array} \right\} \xrightarrow{\psi_{n}^{*}} \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \text{category of } \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}} \text{-modules} \\ \text{with } \mathscr{O}_{Q_{\mathfrak{X}}} \text{-stratification} \end{array} \right\} \xrightarrow{\varphi_{n}^{*}} \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \text{category of } \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}} \text{-modules} \\ \\ \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \text{category of } \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}'_{n}} \text{-modules} \\ \text{with } \mathscr{O}_{T_{\mathfrak{X}'}} \text{-stratification} \end{array} \right\} \xrightarrow{\varphi_{n}^{*}} \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \text{category of } \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}} \text{-modules} \\ \\ \text{with } \mathscr{O}_{P_{\mathfrak{X}}} \text{-stratification} \end{array} \right\}.$$

In ([33] 2.17), Shiho showed that the functor φ_n^* is compatible with the functor Φ_n defined by F (1.3.1), via the equivalence between the category of modules with quasinilpotent integrable connection (resp. *p*-connection) and the category of modules with \mathcal{O}_{P_x} -stratification (resp. \mathcal{O}_{T_x} -stratification).

1.9. – Let us explain the Oyama sites \mathscr{E} and $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$ whose crystals corresponding to $\mathscr{O}_{Q_{\mathfrak{X}}}$ and $\mathscr{O}_{R_{\mathfrak{X}}}$ stratification, and a morphism of topoi which will be used to lift the Cartier transform and to globalize the functor ψ_n^* .

Let X be a scheme over k. An object of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$) is a triple (U, \mathfrak{T}, u) consisting of an open subscheme U of X, a flat formal W-scheme \mathfrak{T} and an affine k-morphism $u : T \to U$ (resp. $u : \underline{T} \to U$ (1.7)). Morphisms are defined in a natural way (cf. 7.1). We denote by \mathscr{E}' Oyama's category associated to the k-scheme X'. We denote by $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$ (resp. $\underline{\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}}$) the topos of sheaves of sets on \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$) with respect to the Zarisiki topology (7.8).

Let (U, \mathfrak{T}, u) be an object of $\underline{\mathscr{C}}$. The relative Frobenius morphism $F_{T/k} : T \to T'$ factors through a k-morphism $f_{T/k} : T \to \underline{T}'$. We have a commutative diagram

$$(1.9.1) \qquad U \xleftarrow{u} \underline{T} \xleftarrow{} T \\ F_{U/k} \bigvee F_{\underline{T}/k} \bigvee f_{T/k} \bigvee F_{T/k} \downarrow F_{T/k} \\ U' \xleftarrow{u'} \underline{T}' \xleftarrow{} T',$$

where the vertical arrows denote the relative Frobenius morphisms. Then $(U', \mathfrak{T}, u' \circ f_{T/k})$ is an object of \mathscr{E}' . We obtain a functor (9.1.2)

(1.9.2)
$$\rho: \underline{\mathscr{E}} \to \mathscr{E}', \qquad (U, \mathfrak{T}, u) \mapsto (U', \mathfrak{T}, u' \circ f_{T/k}).$$

The functor ρ is continuous and cocontinuous (9.3) and induces a morphism of topoi (9.1.3)

(1.9.3)
$$C_{X/W}: \underline{\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}} \to \widetilde{\mathscr{E}}'$$

such that its inverse image functor is induced by the composition with ρ .

1.10. – Let *n* be an integer \geq 1. The contravariant functor $(U, \mathfrak{T}, u) \mapsto \Gamma(\mathfrak{T}, \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{T}_n})$ defines a sheaf of rings on \mathscr{E} (resp. \mathscr{E}) that we denote by $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n}$ (resp. $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n}$). By definition, we have $C^*_{X/W}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E}',n}) = \mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n}$. To give an $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n}$ -module (resp. $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n}$ -module) \mathscr{F} amounts to give the following data (8.2):

- (i) For every object (U, \mathfrak{T}, u) of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$), an $u_*(\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{T}_n})$ -module $\mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}$ of U_{zar} .
- (ii) For every morphism $f : (U_1, \mathfrak{T}_1, u_1) \to (U_2, \mathfrak{T}_2, u_2)$ of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$), an $u_{1*}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{T}_{1,n}})$ -linear morphism

$$c_f: u_{1*}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{T}_{1,n}}) \otimes_{(u_{2*}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{T}_{2,n}}))|_{U_1}} (\mathscr{F}_{(U_2,\mathfrak{T}_2)})|_{U_1} \to \mathscr{F}_{(U_1,\mathfrak{T}_1)},$$

satisfying a cocycle condition for the composition of morphisms as in ([5] 5.1).

Following ([5] 6.1), we say that \mathscr{F} is a *crystal* if c_f is an isomorphism for every morphism f and that \mathscr{F} is *quasi-coherent* if $\mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}$ is a quasi-coherent $u_*(\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{T}_n})$ -module of U_{zar} for every object (U,\mathfrak{T}, u) . We denote by $\mathscr{C}^{\text{qcoh}}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n})$ (resp. $\mathscr{C}^{\text{qcoh}}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n})$) the category of quasi-coherent crystals of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n}$ -modules (resp. $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n}$ -modules).

The following are the main results of this article.

PROPOSITION 1.11 (8.10). – Let \mathfrak{X} be a smooth formal \mathscr{S} -scheme and X its special fiber. There exists a canonical equivalence of categories between the category $\mathscr{C}^{\mathrm{qcoh}}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n})$ (resp. $\mathscr{C}^{\mathrm{qcoh}}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n})$) and the category of quasi-coherent $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}$ -modules with $\mathscr{O}_{R_{\mathfrak{X}}}$ -stratification (resp. $\mathscr{O}_{Q_{\mathfrak{X}}}$ -stratification) (1.4), 1.6, 1.7.

THEOREM 1.12 (9.12). – Let X be a smooth k-scheme. Then, for any $n \ge 1$, the inverse image and the direct image functors of the morphism $C_{X/W}$ (1.9.3) induce equivalences of categories quasi-inverse to each other

(1.12.1)
$$\mathscr{C}^{\operatorname{qcoh}}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E}',n}) \rightleftharpoons \mathscr{C}^{\operatorname{qcoh}}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n}).$$

The theorem is proved by fppf descent for quasi-coherent modules.

We call *Cartier equivalence modulo* p^n the equivalence of categories $C_{X/W}^*$ (1.12.1). Indeed, given a smooth formal W-scheme \mathfrak{X} with special fiber X, Oyama proved 1.12 in the case n = 1 and showed that $C_{X/W}^*$ is compatible with the Cartier transform of Ogus-Vologodsky defined by the lifting \mathfrak{X}'_2 of X' (cf. [32] Section 1.5). In Section 12, we reprove the later result in a different way (12.22).

The following result explains the relation between the Cartier equivalence $C_{X/W}^*$ and Shiho's construction, in the presence of a lifting of Frobenius.

PROPOSITION 1.13 (9.17). – Let \mathfrak{X} be a smooth formal W-scheme, X its special fiber, $F: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}'$ a lifting of the relative Frobenius morphism $F_{X/k}$ of X and ψ_n^* the functor defined by F in (1.8.2). Then, the following diagram (1.11)

(1.13.1)
$$\begin{array}{c} \mathscr{C}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E}',n}) \xrightarrow{C^*_{X/W}} & \mathscr{C}(\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},n}) \\ & \mu \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}'_n} - \text{modules} \\ \text{with } \mathscr{O}_{R_{X'}} - \text{stratification} \end{array} \right\} \xrightarrow{\psi^*_n} \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n} - \text{modules} \\ \text{with } \mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{Q}_{X}} - \text{stratification} \end{array} \right\}$$

is commutative up to a functorial isomorphism. That is, for every crystal \mathscr{M} of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E}',n}$ -modules of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}'$, we have a canonical functorial isomorphism

(1.13.2)
$$\eta_F: \psi_n^*(\mu(\mathscr{M})) \xrightarrow{\sim} \nu(\mathcal{C}^*_{X/\mathcal{W}}(\mathscr{M})).$$

In the diagram (1.13.1), while $C_{X/W}^*$ does not depend on models of X, ψ_n^* depends on the lifting F of the relative Frobenius morphism and the vertical functors μ , and ν depend on the formal model \mathfrak{X} of X. The isomorphism η_F depends also on F. For different choice of liftings of Frobenius, η_F can be related by an explicit formula encorded in Oyama topos (9.22).

By 1.8, the equivalence of categories $C_{X/W}^*$ (1.12.1) is compatible with Shiho's functor Φ_n defined by F (1.3.1). In the case n = 1, an analogous relation between the Cartier transform and Φ_1 is shown in ([31] 2.11).

1.14. – In [15], Fontaine and Laffaille introduced the notion of Fontaine module to study p-adic Galois representations. It is inspired by the work of Mazur ([27], [28]) and Ogus ([5], §8) on the Katz conjecture. Let $\sigma : W \to W$ be the Frobenius endomorphism and $K_0 = W[\frac{1}{p}]$. A Fontaine module is a triple $(M, M^{\bullet}, \varphi^{\bullet})$ made of a W-module of finite length M, a decreasing filtration $\{M^i\}_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}$ such that $M^0 = M$, $M^p = 0$ and W-linear morphisms

(1.14.1)
$$\varphi^i: \mathbf{W} \otimes_{\sigma, \mathbf{W}} M^i \to M, \quad 0 \leq i \leq p-1$$

such that $\varphi^i|_{M^{i+1}} = p\varphi^{i+1}$ and $\sum_{i=0}^{p-1} \varphi^i(M^i) = M$. The φ^i 's are called *divided Frobenius morphisms*.

The main result of Fontaine-Laffaille is the construction of a fully faithful and exact functor from the category of Fontaine modules of length $\leq p-2$ to the category of torsion \mathbb{Z}_p -representations of the Galois group G_{K_0} of K_0 ([36] Thm. 2). Its essential image consists of torsion crystalline representations of G_{K_0} with weights $\leq p-2$ (cf. [8] 3.1.3.3).

Fontaine and Messing showed that there exists a natural Fontaine module structure on the crystalline cohomology of a smooth proper scheme \mathcal{X} over W of relative dimension $\leq p-1$ ([16] II.2.7). Then they deduced the degeneration of the Hodge to de Rham spectral sequence of \mathcal{X}_n/W_n . 1.15. – A generalization of Fontaine modules in a relative situation was proposed by Faltings in [13]. Relative Fontaine modules can be viewed as an analog of variation of Hodge structures on smooth formal schemes over W. Let $\mathfrak{X} = \operatorname{Spf}(R)$ be an affine smooth formal scheme over W, X its special fiber and $F : \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}$ a σ -lifting of the absolute Frobenius morphism F_X of X. A Fontaine module over \mathfrak{X} with respect to F is a quadruple $(M, \nabla, M^{\bullet}, \varphi_F^{\bullet})$ made of a coherent, torsion $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -module M, an integrable connection ∇ on M, a decreasing exhaustive filtration M^{\bullet} on M of length at most p-1 satisfying Griffiths' transversality, and a family of divided Frobenius morphisms $\{\varphi_F^{\bullet}\}$ as in (1.14.1) satisfying a compatibility condition between $\{\varphi_F^{\bullet}\}$ and ∇ (cf. [13] 2.c, 2.d).

Using the connection, Faltings glued the categories of Fontaine modules with respect to different Frobenius liftings by a *Taylor formula* (cf. [13] Thm. 2.3). By gluing local data, he defined Fontaine modules over a general smooth formal W-scheme \mathfrak{X} , even if there is no lifting of F_X .

If \mathfrak{X} is the *p*-adic completion of a smooth, proper W-scheme \mathfrak{X} , Faltings associated to each Fontaine module of length $\leq p-2$ over \mathfrak{X} a representation of the étale fundamental group of \mathfrak{X}_{K_0} on a torsion \mathbb{Z}_p -module. Moreover, Faltings generalized Fontaine-Messing's result for the crystalline cohomology of a relative Fontaine module.

1.16. – Let \mathfrak{X} be a smooth formal W-scheme. As an application of their Cartier transform [31], Ogus and Vologodsky proposed an interpretation of *p*-torsion Fontaine modules over \mathfrak{X} ([31], 4.16). A *p*-torsion Fontaine module over \mathfrak{X} is a triple (M, ∇, M^{\bullet}) as in 1.15 such that pM = 0 and equipped with a horizontal isomorphism

(1.16.1)
$$\phi: \mathbf{C}_{\mathfrak{X}_{2}^{\prime}}^{-1}(\pi^{*}(\mathrm{Gr}(M), \kappa)) \xrightarrow{\sim} (M, \nabla),$$

where κ is the Higgs field on $\operatorname{Gr}(M)$ induced by ∇ and Griffiths' transversality, and $\pi: X' \to X$ is the base change of the Frobenius morphism of k to X. Given a σ -lifting $F: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}$ of F_X , such a morphism ϕ is equivalent to a family of divided Frobenius morphisms $\{\varphi_F^{\bullet}\}$ with respect to F (1.15) (cf. 13.20).

By Griffiths' transversality, the de Rham complex $M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \Omega^{\bullet}_{X/k}$ is equipped with a decreasing filtration

(1.16.2)
$$\mathbf{F}^{i}(M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X}} \Omega^{q}_{X/k}) = M^{i-q} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X}} \Omega^{q}_{X/k}$$

Let ℓ be the length of the filtration M^{\bullet} (i.e., $M^0 = M, M^{\ell+1} = 0$) and d the relative dimension of \mathfrak{X} over W.

(i) For any i, m, the canonical morphism $\mathbb{H}^m(\mathbf{F}^{i+1}(M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \Omega^{\bullet}_{X/k})) \to \mathbb{H}^m(\mathbf{F}^i(M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \Omega^{\bullet}_{X/k}))$ is injective. The morphism ϕ (1.16.1) induces a family of divided Frobenius morphisms on $(\mathbb{H}^m(M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \Omega^{\bullet}_{X/k}), \{\mathbb{H}^m(\mathbf{F}^i)\}_{i \leq p-1})$ which make it into a Fontaine module over W (1.14).

(ii) The hypercohomology spectral sequence of the filtered de Rham complex $(M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \Omega^{\bullet}_{X/k}, \mathbf{F}^i)$ degenerates at E₁.

1.17. – For any $n \ge 1$, using the Cartier transform modulo p^n , we reformulate Faltings' definition of p^n -torsion Fontaine modules over \mathfrak{X} following Ogus-Vologodsky (13.7). The Taylor formula used by Faltings to glue the data relative to different liftings of F_X is naturally encoded in Oyama topos (13.22). Following Faltings' strategy, we prove the analog of the previous results (1.16(i-ii)) on the crystalline cohomology of a p^n -torsion Fontaine module over \mathfrak{X} (14.1).

1.18. – Section 2 contains the main notation and general conventions. In Section 3, we recall the notion of dilatation in formal geometry. In Section 4, after recalling the notions of Hopf algebras and groupoids, we present the constructions of groupoids $R_{\mathfrak{X}}$ and $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (1.6), 1.7. In Section 5, we recall the notions of modules with integrable λ -connection (1.2) and of modules with stratification (1.4) and we discuss the relation between them. Following [33], we present the construction of Shiho's functor Φ_n (1.3.1) in Section 6. In Section 7, we explain the Oyama topoi $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$ and $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$ (1.9) and their fppf variants. Section 8 is devoted to the study of crystals in the Oyama topoi (1.10). In Section 9, we study the morphism of topol $C_{X/W}$ (1.9.3) and prove our main Results 1.12 and 1.13. We recall the construction of the Cartier transform of Ogus-Vologodsky [31] in Section 10. Section 11 is devoted to several rings of differential operators after Oyama and serves as a preparation for next section. In Section 12, we compare the Cartier equivalence $\mathrm{C}^*_{X/\mathrm{W}}$ (1.12.1) and the Cartier transform of Ogus-Vologodsky. In Section 13, we introduce a notion of relative Fontaine modules using Oyama topoi (1.17). We compare it with Faltings' definition [13] and Tsuji's definition [35]. In Section 14, we construct a Fontaine module structure on the crystalline cohomology of a relative Fontaine module.

After finishing this article, I learned from Arthur Ogus that Vadim Vologodsky has sketched a similar approach for lifting the Cartier transform in a short note ⁽¹⁾ without providing any detail.

A different approach to the formulation of a Cartier transform modulo p^n and its relationship to Fontaine modules was taken in [26].

Acknowledgement. – This article is a part of my thesis prepared at Université Paris-Sud and IHÉS. I would like to express my great gratitude to my thesis advisor Ahmed Abbes for leading me to this question and for his helpful comments on earlier versions of this work. I would like to thank Arthur Ogus, Takeshi Tsuji and an anonymous referee for their careful reading and suggestions.

^{1.} Available at http://pages.uoregon.edu/vvologod/papers/p-adiccartier.pdf.

CHAPTER 2

NOTATIONS AND CONVENTIONS

2.1. – In this article, p denotes a prime number, k a perfect field of characteristic p, W the ring of Witt vectors of k and $\sigma : W \to W$ the Frobenius automorphism of W. For any integer $n \ge 1$, we set $W_n = W/p^n W$ and $\mathscr{S} = \text{Spf}(W)$.

2.2. – Let X be a scheme over k. We denote by F_X the absolute Frobenius morphism of X and by $F_{X/k}: X \to X' = X \otimes_{k, F_k} k$ the relative Frobenius morphism. Then we have a commutative diagram



2.3. – Let X be a scheme over k. We denote by \underline{X} the scheme theoretic image of F_X : $X \to X$ ([22] 6.10.1 and 6.10.5). By ([22] 6.10.4), \underline{X} is the closed subscheme of X defined by the ideal sheaf of \mathcal{O}_X consisting of the sections of \mathcal{O}_X whose pth power is zero. It is clear that the correspondence $X \mapsto \underline{X}$ is functorial. Note that the canonical morphism $\underline{X} \to X$ induces an isomorphism of the underlying topological spaces.

The relative Frobenius morphism $F_{X/k}: X \to X'$ factors through \underline{X}' . We denote the induced morphism by $f_{X/k}: X \to \underline{X}'$. By definition, the homomorphism $\mathscr{O}_{\underline{X}'} \to f_{X/k*}(\mathscr{O}_X)$ is injective, i.e., $f_{X/k}$ is scheme theoretically dominant ([22] 5.4.2).

If $Y \to X$ and $Z \to X$ are two morphisms of k-schemes, by functoriality, we have a canonical morphism

(2.3.1)
$$\underline{Y \times_X Z} \to \underline{Y} \times_{\underline{X}} \underline{Z}.$$

Since X is affine if and only if \underline{X} is affine (cf. [22] 2.3.5), we verify that (2.3.1) is an affine morphism.

2.4. – In this article, we follow the conventions of [1] for adic rings ([1] 1.8.4) and adic formal schemes ([1] 2.1.24). Note that these notions are stronger than those introduced by Grothendieck in ([22] 0.7.1.9 and 10.4.2).

If \mathfrak{X} is an adic formal scheme such that $p\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ is an ideal of definition of \mathfrak{X} , for any integer $n \ge 1$, we denote the usual scheme $(\mathfrak{X}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}/p^n \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{X}})$ by \mathfrak{X}_n .

2.5. – We say that an adic formal \mathscr{S} -scheme \mathfrak{X} ([1] 2.2.7) is *flat over* \mathscr{S} (or that \mathfrak{X} is a flat formal \mathscr{S} -scheme) if the morphism $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}} \to \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ induced by multiplication by p is injective (i.e., if $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ is rig-pur in the sense of ([1] 2.10.1.4.2)). It is clear that the above condition is equivalent to the fact that, for every affine open formal subscheme U of \mathfrak{X} , the algebra $\Gamma(U, \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}})$ is flat over W.

Let A be an adic W-algebra ([1] 1.8.4.5). Then A is flat over W if and only if $A_n = A/p^n A$ is flat over W_n for all integers $n \ge 1$. Indeed, we only need to prove that the condition is sufficient. Let a be an element of A such that pa = 0. For any integer $n \ge 1$, by the flatness of A_n over W_n , the image of a in A_n is contained in $p^{n-1}A/p^n A$. Since A is separated, we see that a = 0, i.e., A is flat over W. We deduce that an adic formal \mathscr{S} -scheme \mathfrak{X} is flat over \mathscr{S} if and only if \mathfrak{X}_n is flat over \mathscr{S}_n (2.4) for all integers $n \ge 1$.

CHAPTER 3

BLOW-UPS AND DILATATIONS

3.1. – Let A be an adic ring (2.4), J an ideal of definition of finite type of A. We put $X = \operatorname{Spec}(A), X' = \operatorname{Spec}(A/J)$ and $\mathfrak{X} = \operatorname{Spf}(A)$. The formal scheme \mathfrak{X} is the completion of X along X'. For any A-module M, we denote by \widetilde{M} the associated \mathscr{O}_X -module and by M^{Δ} the completion of \widetilde{M} along X' ([1] 2.7.1), which is an $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -module.

Let \mathfrak{a} be an open ideal of finite type of A. We denote by $\mathfrak{a}\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ the ideal sheaf of $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ associated to the presheaf defined by $U \mapsto \mathfrak{a}\Gamma(U, \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{X}})$. By ([1] 2.1.13), we have $\mathfrak{a}^{\Delta} = \mathfrak{a}\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$.

Let B be an adic ring, $u : A \to B$ an adic homomorphism ([1] 1.8.4.5) and $f : \mathfrak{Y} = \operatorname{Spf}(B) \to \mathfrak{X} = \operatorname{Spf}(A)$ the associated morphism. In view of ([1] 2.5.11), we have a canonical functorial isomorphism

(3.1.1)
$$f^*(\mathfrak{a}^{\Delta}) \xrightarrow{\sim} (\mathfrak{a} \otimes_A B)^{\Delta}.$$

Then, we deduce a canonical isomorphism

$$(3.1.2) f^*(\mathfrak{a}^{\Delta})\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{Y}} \xrightarrow{\sim} (\mathfrak{a}B)^{\Delta}$$

Indeed, by definition, $f^*(\mathfrak{a}^{\Delta})\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{Y}}$ is the image of the morphism $f^*(\mathfrak{a}^{\Delta}) \to \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{Y}} = f^*(\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}})$, which clearly factors through $(\mathfrak{a}B)^{\Delta}$. The isomorphism (3.1.2) follows from the fact that $\mathfrak{a}^{\Delta} = \mathfrak{a}\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ and $(\mathfrak{a}B)^{\Delta} = (\mathfrak{a}B)\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{Y}}$.

3.2. – Let \mathfrak{X} be an adic formal scheme, \mathscr{J} an ideal of definition of finite type of \mathfrak{X} and \mathscr{A} an open ideal of finite type of \mathfrak{X} ([1] 2.1.19). For any $n \ge 1$, we denote by \mathfrak{X}_n the usual scheme $(\mathfrak{X}, \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}/\mathscr{J}^n)$ and we set

(3.2.1)
$$\mathfrak{X}'_n = \operatorname{Proj}(\bigoplus_{m \ge 0} \mathscr{A}^m \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}} \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}).$$

The sequence (\mathfrak{X}'_n) forms an adic inductive (\mathfrak{X}_n) -system ([1] 2.2.13). We call its inductive limit \mathfrak{X}' the *admissible blow-up of* \mathscr{A} in \mathfrak{X} ([1] 3.1.2). By ([1] 2.2.14, 2.3.13), \mathfrak{X}' is an adic formal \mathfrak{X} -scheme of finite type. Note that \mathfrak{X}'_n is different from the blow-up of \mathfrak{X}_n along $(\mathscr{A} + \mathfrak{J}^n)/\mathfrak{J}^n$.

3.3. – Let \mathfrak{X} be a flat formal \mathscr{S} -scheme locally of finite type (2.5, [1] 2.3.13) and \mathscr{A} an open ideal of finite type of \mathfrak{X} containing p. Let $\varphi : \mathfrak{X}' \to \mathfrak{X}$ be the admissible blow-up of \mathscr{A} in \mathfrak{X} . Then the ideal $\mathscr{AO}_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ is invertible ([1] 3.1.4(i)), and \mathfrak{X}' is flat over \mathscr{S} ([1] 3.1.4(ii)). We denote by $\mathfrak{X}_{(\mathscr{A}/p)}$ the maximal open formal subscheme of \mathfrak{X}' on which

$$(\mathfrak{AO}_{\mathfrak{X}'})|\mathfrak{X}_{(\mathfrak{A}/p)} = (p\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{X}'})|\mathfrak{X}_{(\mathfrak{A}/p)}|$$

and we call it the dilatation of \mathscr{A} with respect to p.

Note that $\mathfrak{X}_{(\mathscr{A}/p)}$ is the complement of $\operatorname{Supp}(\mathscr{AO}_{\mathfrak{X}'}/p\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{X}'})$ in \mathfrak{X}' ([22] 0.5.2.2). In view of ([1] 3.1.5 and 3.2.7), the above definition coincides with the notion of dilatation of \mathscr{A} with respect to p introduced in ([1] 3.2.3.4). We denote the restriction of $\varphi: \mathfrak{X}' \to \mathfrak{X}$ to $\mathfrak{X}_{(\mathscr{A}/p)}$ by

(3.3.2)
$$\psi: \mathfrak{X}_{(\mathscr{A}/p)} \to \mathfrak{X}.$$

We set $\mathscr{A}^{\sharp} = \mathscr{A}^{p} + p\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ the open ideal of \mathfrak{X} . If \mathscr{A} is locally generated by $\{a_{1}, \ldots, a_{n}\}$ then \mathscr{A}^{\sharp} is locally generated by $\{p, a_{1}^{p}, \ldots, a_{n}^{p}\}$.

3.4. – Keep the notation of 3.3 and assume moreover that $\mathfrak{X} = \mathrm{Spf}(A)$ is affine. There exists an open ideal of finite type \mathfrak{a} of A containing p such that $\mathfrak{a}^{\Delta} = \mathscr{A}$ ([1] 2.1.10 and 2.1.13). Let $X = \mathrm{Spec}(A)$, $Y = \mathrm{Spec}(A/pA)$, $\phi : X' \to X$ be the blow-up of $\tilde{\mathfrak{a}}$ in X and $Y' = \phi^{-1}(Y)$; so \mathfrak{X} is the completion of X along Y. Then \mathfrak{X}' is canonically isomorphic to the completion of X' along Y' and φ is the extension of ϕ to the completions ([1] 3.1.3).

Let $(a_i)_{0 \leq i \leq n}$ be a finite set of generators of \mathfrak{a} such that $a_0 = p$. For any $0 \leq i \leq n$, let U_i be the maximal open subset of X' where a_i generates $\mathfrak{a} \mathscr{O}_{X'}$. Since $\mathfrak{a} \mathscr{O}_{X'}$ is invertible, $(U_i)_{0 \leq i \leq n}$ form an open covering of X'. It is well known that U_i is the affine scheme associated to the A-algebra A_i defined as follows:

$$A'_{i} = A\Big[\frac{a_{0}}{a_{i}}, \dots, \frac{a_{n}}{a_{i}}\Big] = \frac{A[x_{0}, \dots, x_{i-1}, x_{i+1}, \dots, x_{n}]}{(a_{j} - a_{i}x_{j})_{j \neq i}}, \quad A_{i} = \frac{A'_{i}}{(A'_{i})_{a_{i}} \cdot \operatorname{tor}},$$

where $(A'_i)_{a_i \text{-tor}}$ denotes the ideal of a_i -torsion elements of A'_i . Let \hat{A}_i be the separated completion of A_i for the *p*-adic topology and $\hat{U}_i = \text{Spf}(\hat{A}_i)$. Then $(\hat{U}_i)_{0 \leq i \leq n}$ form a covering of \mathfrak{X}' ; for any $0 \leq i \leq n$, \hat{U}_i is the maximal open of \mathfrak{X}' where a_i generates the invertible ideal $\mathfrak{a}^{\Delta} \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ ([1] 3.1.7(ii)). The open formal subscheme $\mathfrak{X}_{(\mathscr{A}/p)}$ of \mathfrak{X}' is equal to $\hat{U}_0 = \text{Spf}(\hat{A}_0)$. In particular, we see that, in the general setting of 3.3, $\psi: \mathfrak{X}_{(\mathscr{A}/p)} \to \mathfrak{X}$ is affine ([1] 2.3.4).

Let $A\{x_1, \ldots, x_n\}$ denote the *p*-adic completion of the polynomial ring in *n* variables $A[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$, which is flat over $A[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$ by ([1] 1.12.12). If A'_0 is flat over W, then we have $A_0 = A'_0$ and deduce a canonical isomorphism ([1] 1.12.16(iv))

(3.4.1)
$$A\left\{\frac{a_1}{p},\ldots,\frac{a_n}{p}\right\} = \frac{A\{x_1,\ldots,x_n\}}{(a_i - px_i)_{1 \le i \le n}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \widehat{A}_0.$$

PROPOSITION 3.5. – Let \mathfrak{X} be a flat formal \mathscr{S} -scheme locally of finite type, $i: T \to \mathfrak{X}_1$ an immersion (not necessary closed). There exists a formal \mathfrak{X} -scheme $\psi: \mathfrak{X}_{(T/p)} \to \mathfrak{X}$ (resp. $\psi: \mathfrak{X}_{(T/p)}^{\sharp} \to \mathfrak{X}$) unique up to canonical isomorphisms satisfying the following conditions:

(i) The canonical morphism $(\mathfrak{X}_{(T/p)})_1 \to \mathfrak{X}_1$ (resp. $(\mathfrak{X}_{(T/p)}^{\sharp})_1 \to (\mathfrak{X}_{(T/p)}^{\sharp})_1 \to \mathfrak{X}_1$) factors through the immersion $T \to \mathfrak{X}_1$.

(ii) Let \mathfrak{Y} be a flat formal \mathscr{S} -scheme, $Y = \mathfrak{Y}_1$ and $f : \mathfrak{Y} \to \mathfrak{X}$ an \mathscr{S} -morphism. Suppose that there exists a k-morphism $g : Y \to T$ (resp. $g : \underline{Y} \to T$) which fits into the following diagram:

$$\begin{array}{cccc} (3.5.1) & Y \longrightarrow \mathfrak{Y} & (\text{ resp. } \underline{Y} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{Y}) \\ & g \\ & & & & \\ & f & & g \\ & & & \\ & T \longrightarrow \mathfrak{X} & T \longrightarrow \mathfrak{X}. \end{array}$$

Then there exists a unique \mathscr{S} -morphism $f': \mathfrak{Y} \to \mathfrak{X}_{(T/p)}$ (resp. $f': \mathfrak{Y} \to \mathfrak{X}_{(T/p)}^{\sharp}$) such that $f = \psi \circ f'$. If $T \to \mathfrak{X}$ and f are moreover closed immersion, then so is $f': \mathfrak{Y} \to \mathfrak{X}_{(T/p)}$.

Proof. – It suffices to prove the existence. The uniqueness follows from (i) and the universal property (ii). We first prove the case where $T \to \mathfrak{X}$ is a closed immersion and denote the associated ideal sheaf by \mathscr{A} .

In the first situation, we take $\mathfrak{X}_{(T/p)}$ to be the dilatation $\mathfrak{X}_{(\mathscr{A}/p)}$. Since $p \in \mathscr{A}$, the commutativity of the first diagram of (3.5.1) is equivalent to $\mathscr{AO}_{\mathfrak{Y}} = p\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{Y}}$. To verify condition (ii), we can reduce to the case where $\mathfrak{X} = \mathrm{Spf}(A)$ is affine and then to the case where $\mathfrak{Y} = \mathrm{Spf}(B)$ is affine and the morphism f is associated to an adic homomorphism $u : A \to B$. We take again the notation of 3.4. By (3.1.2), we have $(pB)^{\Delta} = (\mathfrak{a}B)^{\Delta}$. The open ideals of finite type pB and $\mathfrak{a}B$ are complete by ([7] III § 2.12 Cor. 1 of Prop. 16) and separated as submodules of B. We deduce that $pB = \mathfrak{a}B$ by taking $\Gamma(\mathfrak{Y}, -)$. Since B is flat over W, the homomorphism u extends uniquely to an A-homomorphism $A_0 \to B$ and then to an adic A-homomorphism $w : \widehat{A}_0 \to B$ by p-adic completion. In the first situation, we take for f' the morphism induced by wwhich is uniquely determined by f. If $u : A \to B$ is moreover surjective, then so is w.

In the second situation, the commutativity of the second diagram of (3.5.1) means the *p*-th power of every local section of $\mathscr{AO}_{\mathfrak{Y}}/p\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{Y}}$ is zero in \mathscr{O}_Y , which is equivalent to the fact that $\mathscr{A}^{\sharp}\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{Y}} = p\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{Y}}$ (3.3). We take $\mathfrak{X}^{\sharp}_{(T/p)}$ to be the dilatation $\mathfrak{X}_{(\mathscr{A}^{\sharp}/p)}$. Then condition (ii) in this situation follows from the first situation.

In general, let \mathfrak{U} be an open formal subscheme of \mathfrak{X} such that $i(T) \subset \mathfrak{U}$ and that $T \to \mathfrak{U}$ is a closed immersion and, let \mathscr{A} be the open ideal of finite type associated to $T \to \mathfrak{U}$. We take $\mathfrak{X}_{(T/p)}$ (resp. $\mathfrak{X}_{(T/p)}^{\sharp}$) to be the dilatation $\mathfrak{U}_{(\mathscr{A}/p)}$ (resp. $\mathfrak{U}_{(\mathscr{A}^{\sharp}/p)}$). For any morphism $f : \mathfrak{Y} \to \mathfrak{X}$ as in (ii), by (3.5.1), the morphism f factors through the open subscheme \mathfrak{U} of \mathfrak{X} . Then the assertion follows from the case where $T \to \mathfrak{X}$ is a closed immersion.

REMARK 3.6. – The formal \mathfrak{X} -scheme $\mathfrak{X}_{(T/p)}$ (resp. $\mathfrak{X}_{(T/p)}^{\sharp}$ is the same as the Higgs envelope $\widetilde{R}_T(\mathfrak{X})$ (resp. $\widetilde{Q}_T(\mathfrak{X})$) introduced in ([32] page 6).

The next result shows that the constructions of 3.5 are compatible with étale localization.

PROPOSITION 3.7 ([32] 1.1.3). – Let \mathfrak{X} , \mathfrak{Y} be two flat formal \mathscr{S} -schemes locally of finite type, $f : \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ an étale \mathscr{S} -morphism ([1] 2.4.5). Suppose that there exist a k-scheme T and two immersions $i : T \to \mathfrak{X}_1$, $j : T \to \mathfrak{Y}_1$ such that $j = f \circ i$. Then f induces canonical isomorphisms of the formal schemes

(3.7.1) $\mathfrak{X}_{(T/p)} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathfrak{Y}_{(T/p)}, \qquad \mathfrak{X}_{(T/p)}^{\sharp} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathfrak{Y}_{(T/p)}^{\sharp}.$

Proof. – By the universal property (3.5), the composition $\mathfrak{X}_{(T/p)} \to \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ induces a canonical \mathfrak{Y} -morphism $u : \mathfrak{X}_{(T/p)} \to \mathfrak{Y}_{(T/p)}$. We consider the commutative diagram



Since $f : \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ is étale, the composition of the top horizontal morphisms and $\mathfrak{X}_1 \to \mathfrak{X}$ lifts uniquely to a \mathfrak{Y} -morphism $g : \mathfrak{Y}_{(T/p)} \to \mathfrak{X}$. By (3.7.2) and the universal property, g induces an \mathfrak{X} -morphism $v : \mathfrak{Y}_{(T/p)} \to \mathfrak{X}_{(T/p)}$. The following diagram

is commutative. By the universal property, we deduce that $u \circ v = id$.

We consider the diagram



where the lower triangle is commutative. Since ψ_1 and g_1 factor through T, we have $\psi_1 = (g \circ u)_1$. Since f is étale and the square of (3.7.4) commutes, there exists one and only one lifting of $(\mathfrak{X}_{(T/p)})_1 \to \mathfrak{X}_1$ to a \mathfrak{Y} -morphism $\mathfrak{X}_{(T/p)} \to \mathfrak{X}$. We deduce that $\psi = g \circ u$, i.e., the diagram (3.7.4) commutes. Then we have $\psi \circ v \circ u = \psi$. By the universal property, we deduce that $v \circ u = id$. The first isomorphism follows.

The second isomorphism can be verified in the same way.

The next result shows that the constructions of 3.5 are compatible with flat base change.

PROPOSITION 3.8 ([32] 1.1.4). – Let $\mathfrak{X}, \mathfrak{Y}$ be two flat formal \mathscr{S} -schemes locally of finite type, $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ a flat \mathscr{S} -morphism, $T \to \mathfrak{Y}_1$ an immersion and $S = T \times_{\mathfrak{Y}} \mathfrak{X}$. Then f induces canonical isomorphisms of formal schemes

(3.8.1)
$$\mathfrak{X}_{(S/p)} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathfrak{Y}_{(T/p)} \times_{\mathfrak{Y}} \mathfrak{X}, \qquad \mathfrak{X}_{(S/p)}^{\sharp} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathfrak{Y}_{(T/p)}^{\sharp} \times_{\mathfrak{Y}} \mathfrak{X}.$$

Proof. – By 3.5, we can reduce to the case where $T \to \mathfrak{Y}$ is a closed immersion. Let \mathscr{A} (resp. \mathscr{B}) be the open ideal of finite type associated to the closed immersion $T \to \mathfrak{Y}$ (resp. $S \to \mathfrak{X}$). Put $\mathfrak{Z} = \mathfrak{Y}_{(\mathscr{B}/p)} \times_{\mathfrak{Y}} \mathfrak{X}$. By the universal property, the morphism f induces a \mathfrak{Y} -morphism $\mathfrak{X}_{(\mathscr{A}/p)} \to \mathfrak{Y}_{(\mathscr{B}/p)}$ and then an \mathfrak{X} -morphism $u : \mathfrak{X}_{(\mathscr{A}/p)} \to \mathfrak{Z}$.

Since f is flat, \mathfrak{Z} is flat over \mathscr{S} . We have $\mathscr{AO}_{\mathfrak{Z}} = \mathscr{BO}_{\mathfrak{Z}} = p\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{Z}}$. By the universal property, we deduce an \mathfrak{X} -morphism $v : \mathfrak{Z} \to \mathfrak{X}_{(\mathscr{A}/p)}$. Since u, v are \mathfrak{X} -morphisms, we deduce that $u \circ v = \text{id}$ and $v \circ u = \text{id}$ by the universal property as in the proof of 3.7.

The second isomorphism can be verified in the same way.

CHAPTER 4

HOPF ALGEBRAS AND GROUPOIDS

4.1. – In this section, we review the notion of Hopf algebras and groupoids following [4] and the construction of certain Hopf algebras used in [32].

Let (\mathscr{T}, A) be a ringed topos. For any A-bimodules (resp. A-bialgebras) M and N of $\mathscr{T}, M \otimes_A N$ denotes the tensor product of the right A-module M and the left A-module N, and we regard $M \otimes_A N$ as an A-bimodule (resp. A-bialgebra) through the left A-action on M and the right A-action on N.

DEFINITION 4.2 ([4] II 1.1.2 and [32] 1.2.1). – Let (\mathscr{T}, A) be a ringed topos. A Hopf A-algebra is the data of an A-bialgebra B and three ring homomorphisms (4.2.1)

 $\delta: B \to B \otimes_A B$ (comultiplication), $\pi: B \to A$ (counit), $\sigma: B \to B$ (antipode) satisfying the following conditions.

(a) δ and π are A-bilinear and the following diagrams are commutative:

$$(4.2.2) \qquad \begin{array}{c} B \xrightarrow{\delta} & B \otimes_A B \\ & \delta \\ & \delta \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \delta} B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes A \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \\ & B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \otimes$$

- (b) σ is a homomorphism of A-algebras for the left (resp. right) A-action on the source and the right (resp. left) A-action on the target, and satisfies $\sigma^2 = id_B$, $\pi \circ \sigma = \pi$.
- (c) The following diagrams are commutative:

$$(4.2.3) \qquad \begin{array}{c} B \xrightarrow{\pi} A \\ \delta \\ \downarrow \\ B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \cdot \sigma} B \end{array} \qquad \begin{array}{c} B \xrightarrow{\pi} A \\ \delta \\ \downarrow \\ B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \cdot \sigma} B \end{array} \qquad \begin{array}{c} B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\sigma \cdot \operatorname{id}_B} \\ B \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\varphi \cdot \operatorname{id}_B \cdot \sigma} B \end{array}$$

where d_1 (resp. d_2) is the structural homomorphism of the left (resp. right) A-algebra B.

Such a data is also called an affine groupoid of (\mathcal{T}, A) by Berthelot ([4] II 1.1.2).

DEFINITION 4.3 ([4] II 1.1.6). – Let $f : (\mathcal{T}', A') \to (\mathcal{T}, A)$ be a morphism of ringed topoi, B a Hopf A-algebra and B' a Hopf A'-algebra. A homomorphism of Hopf algebras is an A-bilinear homomorphism $B \to f_*(B')$ compatible with comultiplications, counits and antipodes.

4.4. – Let (\mathscr{T}, A) be a ringed topos, M and N two A-bimodules. We denote by $\mathcal{H}\!\mathit{om}_{ll}(M, N)$ (resp. $\mathcal{H}\!\mathit{om}_{lr}(M, N)$) the sheaf of A-linear homomorphisms from the left A-module M to the left (resp. right) A-module N. We put $M^{\vee} = \mathcal{H}\!\mathit{om}_{ll}(M, A)$. The actions of A on M induces a natural A-bimodule structure on M^{\vee} . There exists a canonical A-bilinear morphism

$$(4.4.1) M^{\vee} \otimes_A N^{\vee} \to (M \otimes_A N)^{\vee}$$

which sends $\varphi \otimes \psi$ to θ defined by $\theta(m \otimes n) = \varphi(m\psi(n))$ for all local sections m of M and n of N.

Let B be a Hopf A-algebra. By (4.4.1), we obtain a morphism

$$(4.4.2) B^{\vee} \times B^{\vee} \to (B \otimes_A B)^{\vee} \xrightarrow{\delta^{\vee}} B^{\vee}.$$

Letting $\pi : B \to A$ be the unit element, the above morphism induces a noncommutative ring structure on B^{\vee} . The homomorphism $\pi : B \to A$ induces a ring homomorphism $i : A = A^{\vee} \to B^{\vee}$. In this way, we regard B^{\vee} as a non commutative *A*-algebra.

A homomorphism of Hopf A-algebras $\varphi: B \to C$ induces a homomorphism of A-algebras $\varphi^{\vee}: C^{\vee} \to B^{\vee}$.

4.5. – Let $f: (\mathscr{T}, A') \to (\mathscr{T}, A)$ be a morphism of ringed topoi, $(B, \delta_B, \sigma_B, \pi_B)$ a Hopf A-algebra. Suppose that the left and the right A-algebra structures on B are equal. Then $(f^*(B), f^*(\delta_B), f^*(\pi_B), f^*(\sigma_B))$ form a Hopf A'-algebra.

Let $(B', \delta_{B'}, \sigma_{B'}, \pi_{B'})$ be a Hopf A'-algebra and $u : B \to f_*(B')$ a homomorphism of Hopf algebras (4.3). By adjunction, we obtain homomorphisms of A'-algebras

(4.5.1)
$$u^{\sharp}: f^{*}(B) \to B', \qquad \widetilde{u}: f^{*}(B) \otimes_{A'} f^{*}(B) \to B' \otimes_{A'} B'$$

for the left A'-algebra structures on the targets. Then the diagrams

$$(4.5.2) \qquad \begin{array}{ccc} f^{*}(B) & \stackrel{f^{*}(\delta_{B})}{\longrightarrow} f^{*}(B) \otimes_{A'} f^{*}(B) & f^{*}(B) & \stackrel{f^{*}(\pi_{B})}{\longrightarrow} A' \\ & u^{\sharp} \bigg| & & & & \\ u^{\sharp} \bigg| & & & & u^{\sharp} \bigg| & & & \\ & B' & \stackrel{\delta_{B'}}{\longrightarrow} B' \otimes_{A'} B' & & & B' & \stackrel{\pi_{B'}}{\longrightarrow} A' \end{array}$$

are commutative. The restriction of \tilde{u} on $f^{-1}(B \otimes_A B)$ is given by $u^{\sharp}|_{f^{-1}(B)}$. In view of (4.4) and (4.5.2), the homomorphism u^{\sharp} induces a homomorphism of A'-algebras $(u^{\sharp})^{\vee} : (B')^{\vee} \to (f^*(B))^{\vee}$.

4.6. – In the following, we review the notion of *formal groupoid*. Let \mathfrak{X} be an adic formal \mathscr{S} -scheme. For any integer $r \ge 1$, let \mathfrak{X}^{r+1} be the fiber product of (r+1)-copies of \mathfrak{X} over \mathscr{S} . We consider \mathfrak{X} as an adic formal (\mathfrak{X}^{r+1}) -scheme by the diagonal immersion $\Delta(r): \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}^{r+1}$.

We denote by $\tau : \mathfrak{X}^2 \to \mathfrak{X}^2$ the morphism which exchanges the factors of \mathfrak{X}^2 , by $p_i : \mathfrak{X}^2 \to \mathfrak{X} \ (i = 1, 2)$ the canonical projections and by $p_{ij} : \mathfrak{X}^3 \to \mathfrak{X}^2 \ (1 \leq i < j \leq 3)$ be the projection whose composition with p_1 (resp. p_2) is the projection $\mathfrak{X}^3 \to \mathfrak{X}$ on the *i*-th (resp. *j*-th) factor.

For any formal \mathfrak{X}^2 -schemes \mathfrak{Y} and $\mathfrak{Z}, \mathfrak{Y} \times_{\mathfrak{X}} \mathfrak{Z}$ denotes the product of $\mathfrak{Y} \to \mathfrak{X}^2 \xrightarrow{p_2} \mathfrak{X}$ and $\mathfrak{Z} \to \mathfrak{X}^2 \xrightarrow{p_1} \mathfrak{X}$, and we regard $\mathfrak{Y} \times_{\mathfrak{X}} \mathfrak{Z}$ as a formal \mathfrak{X}^2 -scheme by the projection $\mathfrak{Y} \times_{\mathfrak{X}} \mathfrak{Z} \to \mathfrak{X}^2 \times_{\mathfrak{X}} \mathfrak{X}^2 = \mathfrak{X}^3 \xrightarrow{p_{13}} \mathfrak{X}^2$.

DEFINITION 4.7. – Let \mathfrak{X} be an adic formal \mathscr{S} -scheme. A formal \mathfrak{X} -groupoid over \mathscr{S} is the data of an adic formal \mathfrak{X}^2 -scheme \mathfrak{G} and three adic \mathscr{S} -morphisms (4.6)

$$(4.7.1) \qquad \alpha: \mathfrak{G} \times_{\mathfrak{X}} \mathfrak{G} \to \mathfrak{G}, \quad \iota: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{G}, \quad \eta: \mathfrak{G} \to \mathfrak{G}$$

satisfying the following conditions.

(i) α and ι are \mathfrak{X}^2 -morphisms and the following diagrams are commutative:

(ii) The morphism η is compatible with $\tau : \mathfrak{X}^2 \to \mathfrak{X}^2$ and we have $\eta^2 = \mathrm{id}_{\mathfrak{G}}$, $\eta \circ \iota = \iota$.

(iii) Let q_1 (resp. q_2) be the projection $\mathfrak{G} \to \mathfrak{X}$ induced by p_1 (resp. p_2). The following diagrams are commutative:



(iv) The morphism of underlying topological spaces $|\mathfrak{G}| \to |\mathfrak{X}^2|$ factors through $\Delta : |\mathfrak{X}| \to |\mathfrak{X}^2|$.

Let $\varpi : \mathfrak{G}_{zar} \to \mathfrak{X}_{zar}$ be the morphism of topoi induced by $\mathfrak{G}_{zar} \to \mathfrak{X}_{zar}^2$ and its factorization through Δ . Then we have $\varpi_*(\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{G}}) = q_{1*}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{G}}) = q_{2*}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{G}})$. In this way, we regard $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{G}}$ as an $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -bialgebra of \mathfrak{X}_{zar} . Then, the formal \mathfrak{X} -groupoid structure on \mathfrak{G} induces a formal Hopf $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -algebra structure on $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{G}}$, that is for every $n \ge 1$, a Hopf $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}$ -algebra structure on $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{G}_n}$ which are compatible.

DEFINITION 4.8. – Let $\mathfrak{X}, \mathfrak{Y}$ be two adic formal \mathscr{S} -schemes, $f : \mathfrak{Y} \to \mathfrak{X}$ an \mathscr{S} -morphism, $(\mathfrak{G}, \alpha_{\mathfrak{G}}, \iota_{\mathfrak{G}}, \eta_{\mathfrak{G}})$ a formal \mathfrak{X} -groupoid and $(\mathfrak{H}, \alpha_{\mathfrak{H}}, \iota_{\mathfrak{H}}, \eta_{\mathfrak{H}})$ a formal \mathfrak{Y} -groupoid. A morphism of formal groupoids above f is an \mathfrak{X}^2 -morphism $\varphi : \mathfrak{H} \to \mathfrak{G}$ compatible with α 's, ι 's and η 's.

A morphism of formal groupoids $\varphi : \mathfrak{H} \to \mathfrak{G}$ induces a homomorphism of formal Hopf algebras $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{G}} \to f_*(\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{H}})$, that is for every $n \ge 1$, $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{G}_n} \to f_*(\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{H}_n})$ is a homomorphism of Hopf algebras.

4.9. – In the remainder of this section, \mathfrak{X} denotes a smooth formal \mathscr{S} -scheme. We put $X = \mathfrak{X}_1$. We denote by $R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r)$ (resp. $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}(r)$) the dilatation $(\mathfrak{X}^{r+1})_{(X/p)}^{(X/p)}$ (resp. $(\mathfrak{X}^{r+1})_{(X/p)}^{\sharp}$) with respect to the diagonal immersion $X \to \mathfrak{X}^{r+1}$ (3.5). By 3.5(i), the canonical morphisms $(R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r))_1 \to X^{r+1}$ and $(Q_{\mathfrak{X}}(r))_1 \to (Q_{\mathfrak{X}}(r))_1 \to X^{r+1}$ factor through the diagonal immersion $X \to X^{r+1}$.

To simplify the notation, we put $R_{\mathfrak{X}} = R_{\mathfrak{X}}(1)$, $Q_{\mathfrak{X}} = Q_{\mathfrak{X}}(1)$, $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}} = \mathscr{O}_{R_{\mathfrak{X}}}$ and $Q_{\mathfrak{X}} = \mathscr{O}_{Q_{\mathfrak{X}}}$. Following Oyama [32], we will present the formal \mathfrak{X} -groupoid structure on $R_{\mathfrak{X}}$ and $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$.

Our notations are different to those of [32]. In ([32] 1.2), $\widetilde{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (resp. $\widetilde{Q}_{\mathfrak{X}}$) denotes the formal \mathfrak{X}^2 -scheme constructed by dilatation and $R_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (resp. $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$) denotes its reduction modulo p.

PROPOSITION 4.10 ([32] 1.2.5 and 1.2.6). – Let r, r' be two integers ≥ 1 . There exists canonical isomorphisms

$$(4.10.1) \qquad R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r) \times_{\mathfrak{X}} R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r') \xrightarrow{\sim} R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r+r'), \qquad Q_{\mathfrak{X}}(r) \times_{\mathfrak{X}} Q_{\mathfrak{X}}(r') \xrightarrow{\sim} Q_{\mathfrak{X}}(r+r'),$$

where the projections $R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r) \to \mathfrak{X}$ and $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}(r) \to \mathfrak{X}$ (resp. $R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r') \to \mathfrak{X}$ and $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}(r') \to \mathfrak{X}$) are induced by the projection $\mathfrak{X}^{r+1} \to \mathfrak{X}$ on the last factor (resp. $\mathfrak{X}^{r'+1} \to \mathfrak{X}$ on the first factor).

Proof. – By 4.9, we have a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{c|c} (R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r))_{1} \times_{X} (R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r'))_{1} \longrightarrow R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r) \times_{\mathfrak{X}} R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r') \\ & \downarrow \\ & \downarrow \\ X \longrightarrow \mathfrak{X}^{r+1} \times_{\mathfrak{X}} \mathfrak{X}^{r'+1}. \end{array}$$

By the universality of $R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r+r')$ (3.5), we obtain an $(\mathfrak{X}^{r+r'+1})$ -morphism

(4.10.2)
$$\varphi: R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r) \times_{\mathfrak{X}} R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r') \to R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r+r').$$

On the other hand, by the universal property of $R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r)$ and $R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r')$, the projection $\mathfrak{X}^{r+r'+1} \to \mathfrak{X}^{r+1}$ on the first (r+1)-factors (resp. $\mathfrak{X}^{r+r'+1} \to \mathfrak{X}^{r'+1}$ on the last (r'+1)-factors) induces a morphism $R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r+r') \to R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r)$ (resp. $R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r+r') \to R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r')$) and hence an $(\mathfrak{X}^{r+r'+1})$ -morphism

(4.10.3)
$$\psi: R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r+r') \to R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r) \times_{\mathfrak{X}} R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r').$$

The composition $R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r+r') \xrightarrow{\psi} R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r) \times_{\mathfrak{X}} R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r') \xrightarrow{\varphi} R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r+r') \to \mathfrak{X}^{r+r'+1}$ is the canonical morphism $R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r+r') \to \mathfrak{X}^{r+r'+1}$. By the universal property of $R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r+r')$, we have $\varphi \circ \psi = \mathrm{id}$. Let q_1 (resp. q_2) denote the projection on the first (resp. second) factor of $R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r) \times_{\mathfrak{X}} R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r')$. We consider the commutative diagram

By the universal property of $R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r)$, we see that $q_1 \circ \psi \circ \varphi$ is equal to q_1 . Similarly, we verify that $q_2 \circ \psi \circ \varphi$ is equal to q_2 . Hence, we have $\psi \circ \varphi = \text{id}$.

Since X is reduced, we have $\underline{X} = X$. We have a canonical morphism

$$\underline{(Q_{\mathfrak{X}}(r))_1 \times_X (Q_{\mathfrak{X}}(r'))_1} \to \underline{(Q_{\mathfrak{X}}(r))_1} \times_X \underline{(Q_{\mathfrak{X}}(r'))_1}$$

(2.3.1) and the following commutative diagram (4.9)

By the universal property of $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}(r+r')$ (3.5), we obtain an $(\mathfrak{X}^{r+r'+1})$ -morphism

$$(4.10.5) Q_{\mathfrak{X}}(r) \times_{\mathfrak{X}} Q_{\mathfrak{X}}(r') \to Q_{\mathfrak{X}}(r+r').$$

By repeating the proof for $R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r+r')$, we verify that the above morphism is an isomorphism.

PROPOSITION 4.11. – The formal \mathfrak{X}^2 -scheme $R_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (resp. $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$) has a natural formal \mathfrak{X} -groupoid structure.

Proof. – We follow the proof of ([32] 1.2.7) where the author proves the analogous results for the X^2 -schemes $R_{\mathfrak{X},1}$ and $Q_{\mathfrak{X},1}$. By 4.9, the morphism of the underlying topological spaces $|R_{\mathfrak{X}}| \to |\mathfrak{X}^2|$ (resp. $|Q_{\mathfrak{X}}| \to |\mathfrak{X}^2|$) factors through the diagonal

immersion $|\mathfrak{X}| \to |\mathfrak{X}^2|$. We consider the following commutative diagram (4.9):



By the universal property of $R_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (3.5), we deduce an adic \mathfrak{X}^2 -morphism

$$(4.11.2) \qquad \qquad \alpha_R: R_{\mathfrak{X}}(2) \to R_{\mathfrak{X}}.$$

We identify $R_{\mathfrak{X}}(2)$ (resp. $R_{\mathfrak{X}}(3)$) and $R_{\mathfrak{X}} \times_{\mathfrak{X}} R_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (resp. $R_{\mathfrak{X}} \times_{\mathfrak{X}} R_{\mathfrak{X}} \times_{\mathfrak{X}} R_{\mathfrak{X}}$) by 4.10. The diagrams



are commutative and the compositions of the lower horizontal arrows coincide. By the universal property of $R_{\mathfrak{X}}$, we deduce that $\alpha_R \circ (\mathrm{id} \times \alpha_R) = \alpha_R \circ (\alpha_R \times \mathrm{id})$.

For any integer $r \ge 1$, we consider the following commutative diagram:

By the universal property of $R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r)$, we deduce a \mathfrak{X}^{r+1} -morphism

(4.11.4)
$$\iota_R(r): \mathfrak{X} \to R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r).$$

In view of 3.5, since $\mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}^{r+1}$ is an immersion, $\iota_R(r)$ is a closed immersion. When r = 1, the diagrams

are commutative and the compositions of the lower horizontal arrows are equal to $\mathrm{id}_{\mathfrak{X}^2}$. By the universal property of $R_{\mathfrak{X}}$, we deduce that $\alpha_R \circ (\mathrm{id} \times \iota_R) = \alpha_R \circ (\iota_R \times \mathrm{id}) = \mathrm{id}$.

We consider the following commutative diagram (4.6):



By the universal property of $R_{\mathfrak{X}}$, we deduce an adic morphism

 $(4.11.6) \qquad \qquad \eta_R: R_{\mathfrak{X}} \to R_{\mathfrak{X}}.$

Since $\tau \circ \Delta = \Delta$, we deduce that $\eta_R \circ \iota_R = \iota_R$ by the universal property of $R_{\mathfrak{X}}$. By construction, η_R satisfies the condition 4.7(ii). The diagrams

are commutative and the compositions of the lower horizontal arrows coincide. By the universal property of $R_{\mathfrak{X}}$, we deduce that $\alpha_R \circ (\operatorname{id} \times \eta_R) = \iota_R \circ q_1$. We prove the equality $\alpha_R \circ (\eta_R \times \operatorname{id}) = \iota_R \circ q_2$ in the same way.

The proposition for $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$ can be verified in exactly the same way using 4.9 and 4.10.

4.12. – We put $\mathfrak{Y} = \operatorname{Spf}(W\{T_1, \ldots, T_d\})$ and we present local descriptions for $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{Y}}$ and $\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{Y}}$ (4.9). Put $\xi_i = 1 \otimes T_i - T_i \otimes 1 \in \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{Y}^2}$. The ideal \mathscr{A} , associated to the diagonal closed immersion $\mathfrak{Y}_1 \to \mathfrak{Y}^2$, is generated by $p, \xi_1, \xi_2, \ldots, \xi_d$. The algebra $W[1 \otimes T_1, \ldots, 1 \otimes T_d, T_1 \otimes 1, \ldots, T_d \otimes 1, x_1, \ldots, x_d]/(\xi_i - px_i)_{1 \leq i \leq d}$ is free over W. Hence, we have an isomorphism of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{Y}^2}$ -algebras (3.4.1), 4.9

(4.12.1)
$$\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{Y}^2}\left\{\frac{\xi_1}{p},\ldots,\frac{\xi_d}{p}\right\} = \frac{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{Y}^2}\{x_1,\ldots,x_d\}}{(\xi_i - px_i)_{1 \le i \le d}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{Y}}.$$

By 3.3, the ideal \mathscr{A}^{\sharp} is generated by $p, \xi_1^p, \ldots, \xi_d^p$. The algebra $W[1 \otimes T_1, \ldots, 1 \otimes T_d, T_1 \otimes 1, \ldots, T_d \otimes 1, x_1, \ldots, x_d]/(\xi_i^p - px_i)_{1 \leq i \leq d}$ is free over W. Hence, we have an isomorphism of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{Y}^2}$ -algebras (3.4.1)

(4.12.2)
$$\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{Y}^2}\left\{\frac{\xi_1^p}{p}, \dots, \frac{\xi_d^p}{p}\right\} = \frac{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{Y}^2}\{x_1, \dots, x_d\}}{(\xi_i^p - px_i)_{1 \le i \le d}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{Y}}$$

LEMMA 4.13. – Let d be the relative dimension of \mathfrak{X} over \mathscr{S} and $\widehat{\mathbb{A}}^d_{\mathfrak{X}}$ the d-dimensional affine space. Assume that there exists an étale \mathscr{S} -morphism $f:\mathfrak{X}\to\mathfrak{Y}=$ $\operatorname{Spf}(W{T_1,\ldots,T_d})$. Considering $R_{\mathfrak{X}}$ as a formal \mathfrak{X} -scheme via the morphism q_1 : $R_{\mathfrak{X}} \to \mathfrak{X} \ (resp. \ q_2 : R_{\mathfrak{X}} \to \mathfrak{X}), \ then \ f \ induces \ an \ isomorphism \ over \ \mathfrak{X}:$

(4.13.1)
$$\lambda : R_{\mathfrak{X}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \widehat{\mathbb{A}}^d_{\mathfrak{X}},$$

such that $\lambda \circ \iota_R : \mathfrak{X} \to \widehat{\mathbb{A}}^d_{\mathfrak{X}}$ is the closed immersion associated to the zero section of $\widehat{\mathbb{A}}^d_{\mathfrak{X}}$.

Proof. – We follow the proof of ([32] 1.1.8) and we first prove the assertions for \mathfrak{Y} . Observe that q_1 and q_2 are affine. For any $1 \leq i \leq d$, we have $1 \otimes T_i = p(\frac{\xi_i}{p}) + T_i \otimes 1$ in $\mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{V}}$. By (4.12.1), we deduce the isomorphisms

$$(4.13.2) \qquad \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{Y}}\{x_1,\ldots,x_d\} \xrightarrow{\sim} q_{1*}(\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{Y}}), \qquad \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{Y}}\{x_1,\ldots,x_d\} \xrightarrow{\sim} q_{2*}(\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{Y}})$$

where x_i is sent to $\frac{\xi_i}{p}$ in both cases. The isomorphisms (4.13.1) for \mathfrak{Y} follows. We put $Y = \mathfrak{Y}_1$ and we consider the following commutative diagram



where the square is Cartesian. By 3.7 and 3.8, we deduce an isomorphism

 $R_{\mathfrak{X}} \xrightarrow{\sim} R_{\mathfrak{Y}} \times_{\mathfrak{Y}^2} (\mathfrak{X} \times_{\mathscr{S}} \mathfrak{Y}) = R_{\mathfrak{Y}} \times_{q_1, \mathfrak{Y}} \mathfrak{X}.$ (4.13.4)

Considering $R_{\mathfrak{X}}$ as a formal \mathfrak{X} -scheme via q_1 , the isomorphism (4.13.1) follows from that of R_{21} . The another isomorphism can be verified in the same way. In view of the construction of ι_R (4.11.4), the composition $\lambda \circ \iota_R$ corresponds to the zero section.

COROLLARY 4.14. – Keep assumptions of 4.13 and consider $\frac{\xi_i}{p}$'s as sections of $\mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}$. We have the following isomorphisms of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -algebras

 $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}\{x_1,\ldots,x_d\} \xrightarrow{\sim} q_{1*}(\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}), \qquad \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}\{x_1,\ldots,x_d\} \xrightarrow{\sim} q_{2*}(\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}})$ (4.14.1)

where x_i is sent to $\frac{\xi_i}{n}$ in both cases.

4.15. – We put $\mathfrak{Y} = \operatorname{Spf}(W\{T_1, \ldots, T_d\})$. By (4.12.2), we have following isomorphisms (4.15.1)

$$\frac{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{Y}}\{x_1,\ldots,x_d,y_1,\ldots,y_d\}}{(y_i^p - px_i)_{1 \leqslant i \leqslant d}} \xrightarrow{\sim} q_{1*}(\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{Y}}), \qquad \frac{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{Y}}\{x_1,\ldots,x_d,y_1,\ldots,y_d\}}{(y_i^p - px_i)_{1 \leqslant i \leqslant d}} \xrightarrow{\sim} q_{2*}(\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{Y}})$$

where x_i is sent to $\frac{\xi_i^p}{p}$ and y_i is sent to ξ_i in both cases.

Assume that there exists an étale \mathscr{S} -morphism $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y} = \operatorname{Spf}(W\{T_1, \ldots, T_d\})$. We consider the ξ_i 's and $\frac{\xi_i^p}{p}$'s as sections of $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$. By 3.7, 3.8 and (4.13.3), we deduce the following isomorphisms (4.15.2)

$$\frac{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}\{x_1,\ldots,x_d,y_1,\ldots,y_d\}}{(y_i^p - px_i)_{1 \leqslant i \leqslant d}} \xrightarrow{\sim} q_{1*}(\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{X}}), \qquad \frac{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}\{x_1,\ldots,x_d,y_1,\ldots,y_d\}}{(y_i^p - px_i)_{1 \leqslant i \leqslant d}} \xrightarrow{\sim} q_{2*}(\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{X}})$$

where x_i is sent to $\frac{\xi_i^p}{p}$ and y_i is sent to ξ_i in both cases.

4.16. – Let *n* be an integer ≥ 1 . We describe the Hopf algebra structure of $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},n}$ and $\mathscr{Q}_{\mathfrak{X},n}$ in terms of a system of local coordinates. Keep the assumption and notation of 4.13. The homomorphism $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n^2} \to \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n^2} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n^2}$ induced by $p_{13}: \mathfrak{X}^3 \to \mathfrak{X}^2$ sends ξ_i to $1 \otimes \xi_i + \xi_i \otimes 1$. The homomorphism $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n^2} \to \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n^2} \to \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n^2}$ induced by $\tau: \mathfrak{X}^2 \to \mathfrak{X}^2$, sends ξ_i to $-\xi_i$. In view of the proof of 4.11, we have following descriptions: (4.16.1)

$$\begin{cases} \delta: \mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X},n} \to \mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X},n} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} \mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X},n} & \frac{\xi_i}{p} \mapsto 1 \otimes \frac{\xi_i}{p} + \frac{\xi_i}{p} \otimes 1 \\ \sigma: \mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X},n} \to \mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X},n} & \frac{\xi_i}{p} \mapsto -\frac{\xi_i}{p} \\ \pi: \mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X},n} \to \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n} & \frac{\xi_i}{p} \mapsto 0 \end{cases}$$

(4.16.2)

$$\begin{cases} \delta: \mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{X},n} \to \mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{X},n} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} \mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{X},n} & \xi_i \mapsto 1 \otimes \xi_i + \xi_i \otimes 1 \\ & \frac{\xi_i^p}{p} \mapsto 1 \otimes \frac{\xi_i^p}{p} + \sum_{j=1}^{p-1} \frac{(p-1)!}{j!(p-j)!} \xi_i^j \otimes \xi_i^{p-j} + \frac{\xi_i^p}{p} \otimes 1 \\ \sigma: \mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{X},n} \to \mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{X},n} & \xi_i \mapsto -\xi_i, \quad \frac{\xi_i^p}{p} \mapsto \frac{(-\xi_i)^p}{p} \\ \pi: \mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{X},n} \to \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n} & \xi_i \mapsto 0, \quad \frac{\xi_i^p}{p} \mapsto 0 \end{cases}$$
CHAPTER 5

CONNECTIONS AND STRATIFICATIONS

5.1. – Let S be a scheme, $f: X \to S$ a smooth morphism, M an \mathcal{O}_X -module and $\lambda \in \Gamma(S, \mathcal{O}_S)$. We say (abusively) that a morphism of \mathcal{O}_X -modules $u: M \to N$ is \mathcal{O}_S -linear if it is $f^{-1}(\mathcal{O}_S)$ -linear. A λ -connection on M relative to S is an \mathcal{O}_S -linear morphism

(5.1.1)
$$\nabla: M \to M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \Omega^1_{X/S}$$

such that for every local sections f of \mathcal{O}_X and e of M, we have $\nabla(fe) = \lambda e \otimes d(f) + f\nabla(e)$. We will simply call ∇ a λ -connection on M when there is no risk of confusion. For any $q \ge 0$, the morphism ∇ extends to a unique \mathcal{O}_S -linear morphism

(5.1.2)
$$\nabla_q: M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \Omega^q_{X/S} \to M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \Omega^{q+1}_{X/S},$$

such that for every local sections ω of $\Omega_{X/S}^q$ and e of M, we have $\nabla_q(e \otimes \omega) = \lambda e \otimes d(\omega) + \nabla(e) \wedge \omega$. The composition $\nabla_1 \circ \nabla$ is \mathcal{O}_X -linear. We say that ∇ is *integrable* if $\nabla_1 \circ \nabla = 0$.

Let (M, ∇) and (M', ∇') be two \mathscr{O}_X -modules with λ -connection. A morphism from (M, ∇) to (M', ∇') is an \mathscr{O}_X -linear morphism $u : M \to M'$ such that $(\mathrm{id} \otimes u) \circ \nabla = \nabla' \circ u$.

Classically, 1-connections are called *connections* and integrable 0-connections are called *Higgs fields*. A *Higgs module* is an \mathcal{O}_X -module equipped with a Higgs field.

We denote by $\operatorname{MIC}(X/S)$ (resp. λ -MIC(X/S), resp. $\operatorname{HIG}(X/S)$) the category of \mathcal{O}_X -modules with integrable connection (resp. λ -connection, resp. Higgs field) relative to S.

Let (M, ∇) be an object of λ -MIC(X/S). We deduce that $\nabla_{q+1} \circ \nabla_q = 0$ for all $q \ge 0$. Then we can associate to (M, ∇) a λ -de Rham complex:

$$(5.1.3) M \xrightarrow{\nabla} M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \Omega^1_{X/S} \xrightarrow{\nabla_1} M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \Omega^2_{X/S} \xrightarrow{\nabla_2} \cdots$$

Classically, 0-de Rham complexes are called *Dolbeault complexes* in ([34] p. 24, [2] I.2.3) or *Higgs complexes* in ([31] p. 2).

5.2. – Let d, n be integers ≥ 1 , $S \in (\mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z})$ -scheme, $f: X \to \mathbb{A}^d_S = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathscr{O}_S[T_1, \ldots, T_d])$ an étale S-morphism. For any $1 \leq i \leq d$, we denote by t_i the image of T_i in \mathscr{O}_X . Let m be an integer ≥ 0 and (M, ∇) an \mathscr{O}_X -module with integrable p^m -connection relative to S. There are \mathscr{O}_S -linear endomorphisms $\nabla_{\partial_1}, \ldots, \nabla_{\partial_d}$ of M such that for every local section e of M, we have

(5.2.1)
$$\nabla(e) = \sum_{i=1}^{d} \nabla_{\partial_i}(e) \otimes dt_i.$$

Since ∇ is integrable, we have $\nabla_{\partial_i} \circ \nabla_{\partial_j} = \nabla_{\partial_j} \circ \nabla_{\partial_i}$ for all $1 \leq i, j \leq d$. Therefore, for every multi-index $I = (i_1, \ldots, i_d) \in \mathbb{N}^d$, the endomorphism $\nabla_{\partial^I} = \prod_{j=1}^d (\nabla_{\partial_j})^{i_j}$ is well-defined.

Following ([5] 4.10, [33] Definition 1.5), we say that (M, ∇) is quasi-nilpotent with respect to f if, for any open subscheme U of X and any section $e \in M(U)$, there exists a Zariski covering $\{U_j \to U\}_{j \in J}$ and a family of integers $\{N_j\}_{j \in J}$ such that $\nabla_{\partial^I}(e_{|_{U_j}}) = 0$ for all $j \in J$ and $I \in \mathbb{N}^d$ with $|I| \ge N_j$.

If $f': X \to \mathbb{A}^d_S$ is another étale S-morphism, (M, ∇) is quasi-nilpotent with respect to f if and only if it is quasi-nilpotent with respect to f' ([5] 4.13, [33] Lemma 1.6). Note that this result requires that $p^n \mathscr{O}_S = 0$ for some n > 0.

DEFINITION 5.3 ([5] 4.13; [33] Definition 1.8). – Let *n* be an integer ≥ 1 , *S* a $(\mathbb{Z}/p^n\mathbb{Z})$ -scheme, *X* a smooth *S*-scheme and (M, ∇) an \mathcal{O}_X -module with integrable p^m -connection relative to *S*. We say that (M, ∇) is *quasi-nilpotent* if for any point *x* of *X*, there exists a Zariski neighborhood *U* of *x* in *X* and an étale *S*-morphism $f: U \to \mathbb{A}^d_S$ such that $(M, \nabla)|_U$ is quasi-nilpotent with respect to *f* (5.2).

We denote by $\operatorname{MIC}^{\operatorname{qn}}(X/S)$ (resp. λ - $\operatorname{MIC}^{\operatorname{qn}}(X/S)$) the full subcategory of $\operatorname{MIC}(X/S)$ (resp. λ -MIC(X/S)) consisting of the quasi-nilpotent objects.

DEFINITION 5.4. – Let (\mathscr{T}, A) be a ringed topos, (B, δ, π, σ) a Hopf A-algebra (4.2) and M an A-module. A B-stratification on M is a B-linear isomorphism $\varepsilon : B \otimes_A M \xrightarrow{\sim} M \otimes_A B$ (4.1) such that:

(i) $\pi^*(\varepsilon) = \mathrm{id}_M$.

(ii) (cocycle condition) The following diagram is commutative:

$$(5.4.1) \qquad B \otimes_A B \otimes_A M \xrightarrow{\delta^*(\varepsilon)} M \otimes_A B \otimes_A B \\ \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_B \otimes \varepsilon} \varepsilon \otimes \operatorname{id}_B \\ B \otimes_A M \otimes_A B.$$

Given two A-modules with B-stratification (M_1, ε_1) and (M_2, ε_2) , a morphism from (M_1, ε_1) to (M_2, ε_2) is an A-linear morphism $f : M_1 \to M_2$ compatible with ε_1 and ε_2 . The A-module $M_1 \otimes_A M_2$ has a canonical B-stratification

$$(5.4.2) \qquad B \otimes_A M_1 \otimes_A M_2 \xrightarrow{\varepsilon_1 \otimes \operatorname{id}_{M_2}} M_1 \otimes_A B \otimes_A M_2 \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_{M_1} \otimes \varepsilon_2} M_1 \otimes_A M_2 \otimes_A B.$$

The above stratification on the tensor product makes the category of A-modules with B-stratification into a tensor category.

Let *n* be an integer $\geq 1, \mathfrak{X}$ an adic formal \mathscr{S} -scheme, *M* an $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}$ -module and \mathfrak{G} a formal \mathfrak{X} -groupoid over \mathscr{S} (4.7). We call abusively $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{G}}$ -stratification on *M* instead of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{G}_n}$ -stratification on *M*.

We have a simpler description of a stratification.

LEMMA 5.5 ([32] 1.2.4). – Let (\mathcal{T}, A) be a ringed topos, B a Hopf A-algebra and M an A-module. A B-stratification on M is equivalent to an A-linear morphism θ : $M \to M \otimes_A B$ for the right A-action on the target satisfying the following conditions:

(i) The composition $(\operatorname{id}_M \otimes \pi) \circ \theta : M \to M \otimes_A B \to M$ is the identity morphism.

(ii) The following diagram is commutative

$$(5.5.1) \qquad M \xrightarrow{\theta} M \otimes_A B$$
$$\begin{array}{c} \theta \\ \psi \\ M \otimes_A B \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_M \otimes \delta} M \otimes_A B \otimes_A B. \end{array}$$

Let $\theta: M \to M \otimes_A B$ be an A-linear morphism satisfying the conditions of 5.5 and

$$\alpha(\theta): B^{\vee} \otimes_A M \to M, \quad \varphi \otimes m = (\mathrm{id} \otimes \varphi)(\theta(m))$$

the associated A-linear morphism. In view of conditions (i-ii) of 5.5, the morphism $\alpha(\theta)$ makes M into a left B^{\vee} -module (cf. [32] Proof of 1.2.9 page 18 for details).

5.6. – Let $f : (\mathcal{T}', A') \to (\mathcal{T}, A)$ be a morphism of ringed topoi, B a Hopf A-algebra and B' a Hopf A'-algebra. A homomorphism of Hopf algebras $B \to f_*(B')$ (4.3) induces a functor (5.4) (cf. [4] II 1.2.5):

$$(5.6.1) \qquad \left\{ \begin{array}{l} A\text{-modules} \\ \text{with } B\text{-stratification} \end{array} \right\} \quad \to \quad \left\{ \begin{array}{l} A'\text{-modules} \\ \text{with } B'\text{-stratification} \end{array} \right\} \\ (M,\varepsilon) \qquad \mapsto \quad (f^*(M), f^{-1}(\varepsilon) \otimes_{f^{-1}(B)} B'). \end{cases}$$

5.7. – In the remainder of this section, \mathfrak{X} denotes a smooth formal \mathscr{S} -scheme. For any integer $n \ge 1$, we equip $(W_n, p W_n)$ with the canonical PD-structure γ_n . We briefly review the formal groupoid structure on the PD-envelope of the diagonal immersion following [4].

Let r, n be integers ≥ 1 . We denote by \mathfrak{X}_n^{r+1} the product of (r+1)-copies of \mathfrak{X}_n over \mathscr{S}_n (2.4) and by $P_{\mathfrak{X}_n}(r)$ the PD-envelope of the diagonal immersion $\mathfrak{X}_n \to \mathfrak{X}_n^{r+1}$ compatible with the PD-structure γ_n ([4] I 4.3.1). By extension of scalars ([5] 3.20.8, [4] I 2.8.2), we have a canonical PD-isomorphism $P_{\mathfrak{X}_n}(r) \times_{\mathscr{S}_n} \mathscr{S}_m \xrightarrow{\sim} P_{\mathfrak{X}_m}(r)$ for all integers $1 \leq m < n$. The inductive limit $P_{\mathfrak{X}}(r)$ of the inductive system $(P_{\mathfrak{X}_n}(r))_{n\geq 1}$ is an adic affine formal (\mathfrak{X}^{r+1}) -scheme ([1] 2.3.10). We drop (r) from the notation when r = 1. 5.8. – For a commutative ring A, we denote by $A\langle x_1, \ldots, x_d \rangle$ the PD polynomial ring in d variables ([4] I 1.5). If A is an adic ring such that pA is an ideal of the definition, we denote by $A\langle\!\langle x_1, \ldots, x_d \rangle\!\rangle$ the *p*-adic completion of the PD polynomial algebra $A\langle x_1, \ldots, x_d \rangle$.

5.9. – Assume that there exists an étale \mathscr{S} -morphism $\mathfrak{X} \to \widehat{\mathbb{A}}_{\mathscr{S}}^d = \operatorname{Spf}(W\{T_1, \ldots, T_d\})$ and we set t_i the image of T_i in $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ for all $1 \leq i \leq d$. We note ξ_i the section $1 \otimes t_i - t_i \otimes 1$ of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}^2}$ and also its image in $\mathscr{O}_{P_{\mathfrak{X}}}$. By ([4] I 4.4.1 and 4.5.3), we deduce the following PD-isomorphisms (5.8)

(5.9.1)
$$\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}\langle\!\langle x_1,\ldots,x_d\rangle\!\rangle \xrightarrow{\sim} q_{1*}(\mathscr{O}_{P_{\mathfrak{X}}}), \qquad \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}\langle\!\langle x_1,\ldots,x_d\rangle\!\rangle \xrightarrow{\sim} q_{2*}(\mathscr{O}_{P_{\mathfrak{X}}}),$$

where $q_1, q_2 : P_{\mathfrak{X}} \to \mathfrak{X}$ are the canonical morphisms and x_i is sent to ξ_i . In general, we deduce that $P_{\mathfrak{X}}$ is flat over \mathscr{S} (2.5).

For any integers $r, r' \ge 1$, by ([4] II 1.3.4 and 1.3.5), we deduce a canonical isomorphism of formal $(\mathfrak{X}^{r+r'+1})$ -schemes

$$(5.9.2) P_{\mathfrak{X}}(r) \times_{\mathfrak{X}} P_{\mathfrak{X}}(r') \xrightarrow{\sim} P_{\mathfrak{X}}(r+r').$$

PROPOSITION 5.10. – The formal \mathfrak{X}^2 -scheme $P_{\mathfrak{X}}$ has a natural formal \mathfrak{X} -groupoid structure.

Proof. – For any $r \ge 1$, the diagonal immersion $\Delta(r) : \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}^{r+1}$ induces a canonical (\mathfrak{X}^{r+1}) -morphism $\iota_P(r) : \mathfrak{X} \to P_{\mathfrak{X}}(r)$. Set $X = \mathfrak{X}_1$ and let J be the PD-ideal of \mathscr{O}_{P_X} associated to the closed immersion $X \to P_X$. For any local section x of J, we have $x^p = p! x^{[p]} = 0$. Hence, we have a closed immersion $\underline{P}_X \hookrightarrow X$ (2.3). Since X is reduced, the composition $\underline{X} \to P_X \to X$ is an isomorphism. We deduce an isomorphism:

$$(5.10.1) P_X \xrightarrow{\sim} X,$$

Hence the morphism of the underlying topological spaces $|P_{\mathfrak{X}}| \to |\mathfrak{X}^2|$ factors through $\Delta : |\mathfrak{X}| \to |\mathfrak{X}^2|$. The canonical morphism $P_{\mathfrak{X}}(2) \to \mathfrak{X}^3 \xrightarrow{p_{13}} \mathfrak{X}^2$ is compatible with $\iota_P(2)$ and Δ . By the universal property of $(P_{\mathfrak{X}_n})_{n \ge 1}$, we deduce an \mathfrak{X}^2 -morphism $\alpha_P : P_{\mathfrak{X}}(2) \to P_{\mathfrak{X}}$. Similarly, by the universal property of $(P_{\mathfrak{X}_n})_{n \ge 1}$, the composition $P_{\mathfrak{X}} \to \mathfrak{X}^2 \xrightarrow{\tau} \mathfrak{X}^2$ (4.6) induces a morphism $\eta_P : P_{\mathfrak{X}} \to P_{\mathfrak{X}}$. By the universal property of $(P_{\mathfrak{X}_n})_{n \ge 1}$, we verify that $(\alpha_P, \iota_P, \eta_P)$ defines a formal \mathfrak{X} -groupoid structure on $P_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (cf. the proof of 4.11).

To simplify the notations, we put $\mathscr{P}_{\mathfrak{X}} = \mathscr{O}_{P_{\mathfrak{X}}}$ considered as a formal Hopf $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -algebra by 5.10.

PROPOSITION 5.11 ([5] 4.12). – Let n be an integer ≥ 1 . There is a canonical equivalence of categories between the category of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}$ -modules with $\mathscr{P}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratification and the category MIC^{qn}($\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n$) (5.3).

We now explain the relationships among the various groupoids and stratifications we have constructed. **PROPOSITION 5.12.** – Let $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$ be the formal \mathfrak{X} -groupoid defined in 4.11. We have a canonical morphism of formal \mathfrak{X} -groupoids (5.10)

$$(5.12.1) \qquad \qquad \lambda: P_{\mathfrak{X}} \to Q_{\mathfrak{X}}.$$

Proof. – The isomorphism $\underline{P_X} \simeq X$ (5.10.1) fits into a commutative diagram

$$(5.12.2) \qquad \underbrace{P_X \longrightarrow P_{\mathfrak{X}}}_{X \longrightarrow \mathfrak{X}^2} \xrightarrow{P_X}_{X \longrightarrow \mathfrak{X}^2}$$

By the universal property of $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (3.5), we deduce a canonical \mathfrak{X}^2 -morphism $\lambda : P_{\mathfrak{X}} \to Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$. We denote by $(\alpha_P, \iota_P, \eta_P)$ (resp. $(\alpha_Q, \iota_Q, \eta_Q)$) the formal groupoid structure on $P_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (resp. $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$). The diagrams (5.12.3)

are commutative and the compositions of the lower horizontal arrows coincide. By the universal property of $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$, we deduce that $\alpha_Q \circ \lambda^2 = \lambda \circ \alpha_P$. The composition $\mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{\iota_P} P_{\mathfrak{X}} \to \mathfrak{X}^2$ is the diagonal immersion. By the universal property of $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$, we deduce that $\lambda \circ \iota_P = \iota_Q$. The following diagrams

are commutative and the compositions of the lower arrows coincide. By the universal property of $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$, we deduce that $\lambda \circ \eta_P = \eta_Q \circ \lambda$. The proposition follows.

5.13. – We take again the notation of 4.9 for \mathfrak{X} . For any integers $n, r \geq 1$, we denote by $T_{\mathfrak{X},n}(r)$ the PD-envelope of the closed immersion $\mathfrak{X}_n \hookrightarrow (R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r))_n$ (4.11.4) compatible with the PD-structure γ_n . By extension of scalars ([4] I 2.8.2), we have a canonical isomorphism of PD-schemes $T_{\mathfrak{X},n}(r) \times_{\mathscr{S}_n} \mathscr{S}_m \xrightarrow{\sim} T_{\mathfrak{X},m}(r)$ for all integers $1 \leq m < n$. The inductive limit $T_{\mathfrak{X}}(r)$ of the inductive system $(T_{\mathfrak{X},n}(r))_{n\geq 1}$ is an adic affine formal $R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r)$ -scheme. We denote by

(5.13.1)
$$\varpi(r): T_{\mathfrak{X}}(r) \to R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r)$$

the canonical morphism. We set $T_{\mathfrak{X}} = T_{\mathfrak{X}}(1)$ and $\varpi = \varpi(1)$.

5.14. – Let n, r, r' be integers ≥ 1 . We denote by $J_{(R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r))_n}$ the ideal of $\mathscr{O}_{(R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r))_n}$ associated to the closed immersion $\mathfrak{X}_n \to (R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r))_n$, which induces an isomorphism on the underlying topological spaces. Via the $(\mathfrak{X}_n^{r+r'+1})$ -isomorphism (4.10.1)

$$(R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r))_n \times_{\mathfrak{X}_n} (R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r'))_n \xrightarrow{\sim} (R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r+r'))_n,$$

the ideal $J_{(R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r))_n} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} \mathscr{O}_{(R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r'))_n} + \mathscr{O}_{(R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r))_n} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} J_{(R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r'))_n}$ corresponds to $J_{(R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r+r'))_n}$. In view of ([4] II 1.3.5), we deduce a canonical isomorphism of PD-schemes

(5.14.1)
$$\lambda_n: T_{\mathfrak{X},n}(r) \times_{\mathfrak{X}_n} T_{\mathfrak{X},n}(r') \xrightarrow{\sim} T_{\mathfrak{X},n}(r+r'),$$

where the projections $T_{\mathfrak{X},n}(r) \to \mathfrak{X}_n$ (resp. $T_{\mathfrak{X},n}(r') \to \mathfrak{X}_n$) is induced by the projection $\mathfrak{X}_n^{r+1} \to \mathfrak{X}_n$ on the last factor (resp. $\mathfrak{X}_n^{r'+1} \to \mathfrak{X}_n$ on the first factor). In view of the construction of (5.14.1), the isomorphisms λ_m and λ_n are compatibles for all integers $1 \leq m < n$. We deduce a canonical isomorphism of formal $(\mathfrak{X}^{r+r'+1})$ -schemes

(5.14.2)
$$T_{\mathfrak{X}}(r) \times_{\mathfrak{X}} T_{\mathfrak{X}}(r') \xrightarrow{\sim} T_{\mathfrak{X}}(r+r').$$

PROPOSITION 5.15. – The formal \mathfrak{X}^2 -scheme $T_{\mathfrak{X}}$ has a natural formal \mathfrak{X} -groupoid structure such that the morphism $\varpi : T_{\mathfrak{X}} \to R_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (5.13.1) is a morphism of formal \mathfrak{X} -groupoids (4.8, 4.11).

Proof. – Since the morphism of underlying topological spaces $|\mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}| \to |\mathfrak{X}^2|$ factors through $\Delta : |\mathfrak{X}| \to |\mathfrak{X}^2|$, the same holds for $|T_{\mathfrak{X}}|$. The \mathfrak{X}^2 -morphism $\iota_R(r) : \mathfrak{X} \to R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r)$ (4.11.4) induces a canonical \mathfrak{X}^2 -morphism

(5.15.1)
$$\iota_T(r): \mathfrak{X} \to T_{\mathfrak{X}}.$$

The composition of $\varpi(2)$ and α_R (4.11.2)

$$(5.15.2) T_{\mathfrak{X}}(2) \to R_{\mathfrak{X}}(2) \to R_{\mathfrak{X}}$$

is compatible with $\iota_T(2)$ and ι_R . By the universal property of $(T_{\mathfrak{X},n})_{n\geq 1}$, we deduce an \mathfrak{X}^2 -morphism

$$(5.15.3) \qquad \qquad \alpha_T: T_{\mathfrak{X}}(2) \to T_{\mathfrak{X}}$$

compatible with α_R . We identify $T_{\mathfrak{X}}(2)$ and $T_{\mathfrak{X}} \times_{\mathfrak{X}} T_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (resp. $T_{\mathfrak{X}}(3)$ and $T_{\mathfrak{X}} \times_{\mathfrak{X}} T_{\mathfrak{X}} \times_{\mathfrak{X}} T_{\mathfrak{X}}$) by 5.14. The diagrams

are commutative and the compositions of the lower horizontal arrows coincide. By the universal property of $(T_{\mathfrak{X},n})_{n\geq 1}$, we deduce that $\alpha_T \circ (\mathrm{id} \times \alpha_T) = \alpha_T \circ (\alpha_T \times \mathrm{id})$. Since $\eta_R \circ \iota_R = \iota_R (4.7)(\mathrm{ii})$, by the universal property of $(T_{\mathfrak{X},nn\geq 1}, \mathrm{the\ composition}$ $T_{\mathfrak{X}} \to R_{\mathfrak{X}} \xrightarrow{\eta_R} R_{\mathfrak{X}} (4.11.6)$ induces a morphism

$$(5.15.4) \qquad \qquad \eta_T: T_{\mathfrak{X}} \to T_{\mathfrak{X}}.$$

By the universal property of $(T_{\mathfrak{X},n})_{n\geq 1}$, we verify that $(\alpha_T, \iota_T, \eta_T)$ is a formal \mathfrak{X} -groupoid structure on $T_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (cf. the proof of 4.11). In view of the proof, the morphism ϖ is clearly a morphism of formal groupoids.

5.16. – In the following, we recall Shiho's interpretation of integrable *p*-connections in terms of $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratifications [33].

To simplify the notation, we set $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{X}} = \mathcal{O}_{T_{\mathfrak{X}}}$ considered as a formal Hopf $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -algebra (4.7) and we present a local description for it. Assume that there exists an étale \mathscr{S} -morphism $\mathfrak{X} \to \widehat{\mathbb{A}}^d_{\mathscr{S}} = \operatorname{Spf}(W\{T_1, \ldots, T_d\})$. We put $\xi_i = 1 \otimes T_i - T_i - 1$ and we consider $\frac{\xi_i}{p}$ as the section of $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (4.12) and of $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}$.

Let *n* be an integer ≥ 1 . By 4.13 and 4.14, the closed immersion $\mathfrak{X}_n \to R_{\mathfrak{X},n}$ of smooth \mathscr{S}_n -schemes is regular ([20] 17.12.1) and $(\frac{\xi_1}{p}, \ldots, \frac{\xi_d}{p})$ is a regular sequence which generates $J_{R_{\mathfrak{X}},n}$ (5.14). In view of ([4] I 4.5.1 and 4.5.2), we deduce the following isomorphisms:

$$(5.16.1) \qquad \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}\langle x_1,\ldots,x_d\rangle \xrightarrow{\sim} q_{1*}(\mathscr{O}_{T_{\mathfrak{X},n}}) \qquad \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}\langle x_1,\ldots,x_d\rangle \xrightarrow{\sim} q_{2*}(\mathscr{O}_{T_{\mathfrak{X},n}}),$$

where $q_1, q_2: T_{\mathfrak{X},n} \to \mathfrak{X}_n$ are the canonical projections and x_i is sent to $\frac{\xi_i}{p}$ in both cases.

Then we deduce the following isomorphisms (5.8)

$$(5.16.2) \qquad \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}\langle\!\langle x_1,\ldots,x_d\rangle\!\rangle \xrightarrow{\sim} q_{1*}(\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}) \qquad \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}\langle\!\langle x_1,\ldots,x_d\rangle\!\rangle \xrightarrow{\sim} q_{2*}(\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}),$$

where $q_1, q_2: T_{\mathfrak{X}} \to \mathfrak{X}$ are the canonical projections and x_i is send to $\frac{\xi_i}{p}$ in both cases. For any multi-index $I = (i_1, i_2, \ldots, i_d) \in \mathbb{N}^d$, we put $(\frac{\xi}{p})^{[I]} = \prod_{j=1}^d (\frac{\xi_j}{p})^{[i_j]} \in \mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}$.

PROPOSITION 5.17 ([33] Prop. 2.9). – There is a canonical equivalence of categories between the category of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}$ -modules with $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratification and the category p-MIC^{qn} $(\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n)$ (5.3).

We recall the description of this equivalence in the local case (cf. [33] Prop. 2.9). Suppose that there exists an étale \mathscr{S} -morphism $\mathfrak{X} \to \widehat{\mathbb{A}}^d_{\mathscr{S}} = \operatorname{Spf}(W\{T_1, \ldots, T_d\})$. We take again the notation of 5.2 and 5.16. Let (M, ∇) be an $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}$ -modules with quasinilpotent integrable *p*-connection. The associated stratification $\varepsilon : \mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}} M \xrightarrow{\sim} M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}} \mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ is defined, for every local section *m* of *M* by

(5.17.1)
$$\varepsilon(1 \otimes m) = \sum_{I \in \mathbb{N}^d} \nabla_{\partial^I}(m) \otimes \left(\frac{\xi}{p}\right)^{[I]},$$

where the right hand side is a locally finite sum since ∇ is quasi-nilpotent.

LEMMA 5.18. – There exists a canonical morphism of formal X-groupoids

(5.18.1)
$$\varsigma: R_{\mathfrak{X}} \to P_{\mathfrak{X}}.$$

Proof. - Recall (3.5) that we have a commutative diagram



Since $R_{\mathfrak{X}}$ is flat over W, the ideal (p) of $\mathscr{O}_{R_{\mathfrak{X}}}$ has a canonical PD-structure. By the universal property of PD-envelope, we deduce a canonical \mathfrak{X}^2 -morphism $\varsigma : R_{\mathfrak{X}} \to P_{\mathfrak{X}}$. We denote by $(\alpha_R, \iota_R, \eta_R)$ (resp. $(\alpha_P, \iota_P, \eta_P)$) the formal groupoid structure on $R_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (resp. $P_{\mathfrak{X}}$). By the universal property of $(P_{\mathfrak{X},n})_{n\geq 1}$, we verify that ς is a morphism of formal \mathfrak{X} -groupoids (cf. the proof of 5.12).

5.19. – Let $s: \mathscr{P}_{\mathfrak{X}} \to \mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ be the homomorphism of formal Hopf algebras induced by ς . We present a local description of s. Suppose that there exists an étale \mathscr{S} -morphism $\mathfrak{X} \to \widehat{\mathbb{A}}^d_{\mathscr{S}} = \operatorname{Spf}(W\{T_1, \ldots, T_d\})$. We take again the notation of 4.14 and 5.9. In view of the construction of ς , for any multi-index $I \in \mathbb{N}^d$, we have

(5.19.1)
$$s(\xi^{[I]}) = \frac{p^{|I|}}{I!} \left(\frac{\xi}{p}\right)^{I}.$$

We denote by J_R (resp. J_P) the ideal sheaf of $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (resp. $\mathscr{P}_{\mathfrak{X}}$) associated to the closed immersion ι_R (resp. ι_P). Note that the *p*-adic valuation of I! is $\leq \sum_{k \geq 1} \lfloor \frac{|I|}{p^k} \rfloor < |I|$. By (5.19.1), we deduce that in general, s is injective and $s(J_P) \subset pJ_R$. Then we have $s(J_P^{[i]}) \subset p^i J_R^i$ for any $1 \leq i \leq p-1$. By dividing by p^i , we obtain $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -bilinear morphisms

(5.19.2)
$$s^{i}: J_{P}^{[i]} \to J_{R}^{i} \qquad \forall \ 0 \leq i \leq p-1.$$

CHAPTER 6

LOCAL CONSTRUCTIONS OF SHIHO

In the section, we review Shiho's local Cartier transform [33] (which depends on a lifting of Frobenius) and explain how it can be understood in terms of the groupoids $P_{\mathfrak{X}}, T_{\mathfrak{X}}, R_{\mathfrak{X}}$ and $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$.

We denote by \mathfrak{X} a smooth formal \mathscr{S} -scheme, by X the special fiber of \mathfrak{X} , by $\mathfrak{X}' = \mathfrak{X} \times_{\mathscr{S},\sigma} \mathscr{S}$ the base change of \mathfrak{X} by σ (2.1) and by $\pi : \mathfrak{X}' \to \mathfrak{X}$ the canonical projection.

6.1. – Let *n* be an integer ≥ 1 . We assume that there exists an \mathscr{S}_{n+1} -morphism F_{n+1} : $\mathfrak{X}_{n+1} \to \mathfrak{X}'_{n+1}$ (2.4) whose reduction modulo *p* is the relative Frobenius morphism $F_{X/k}$ of *X* (2.2) and we denote by F_n the reduction modulo p^n of F_{n+1} . The morphism F_{n+1} induces an $(\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n+1}})$ -linear morphism dF_{n+1} : $F_{n+1}^*(\Omega^1_{\mathfrak{X}'_{n+1}/\mathscr{S}_{n+1}}) \to \Omega^1_{\mathfrak{X}_{n+1}/\mathscr{S}_{n+1}}$ whose image is contained in $p\Omega^1_{\mathfrak{X}_{n+1}/\mathscr{S}_{n+1}}$. By dividing by *p*, it induces an $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}$ -linear morphism

(6.1.1)
$$\frac{dF_{n+1}}{p}: F_n^*(\Omega^1_{\mathfrak{X}'_n/\mathscr{S}_n}) \to \Omega^1_{\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n}.$$

Let (M', ∇') be an $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}'_n}$ -module with an integrable *p*-connection relative to \mathscr{S}_n (5.1). We denote by ζ_n the composition (6.1.2)

$$\zeta_n: F_n^*(\Omega^1_{\mathfrak{X}'_n/\mathscr{S}_n} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}'_n}} M') \xrightarrow{\sim} F_n^*(\Omega^1_{\mathfrak{X}'_n/\mathscr{S}_n}) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} F_n^*(M') \to \Omega^1_{\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} F_n^*(M'),$$

i.e., the composition of $\frac{dF_{n+1}}{p} \otimes id$ and the canonical isomorphism.

Shiho constructs a W_n-linear morphism $\nabla : F_n^*(M') \to \Omega^1_{\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} F_n^*(M')$ as follows. For any local sections f of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}$ and e of M', we put

(6.1.3)
$$\nabla(fF_n^*(e)) = f\zeta_n(F_n^*(\nabla'(e))) + df \otimes (F_n^*(e)).$$

The morphism ∇ is well-defined and is an integrable connection on $F_n^*(M')$ relative to \mathscr{S}_n (cf. [33] page 805-806). Shiho defines a functor (cf. [33] 2.5)

(6.1.4)
$$\Phi_n : p\text{-MIC}(\mathfrak{X}'_n/\mathscr{S}_n) \to \text{MIC}(\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n),$$
$$(M', \nabla') \mapsto (F_n^*(M'), \nabla).$$

The functor Φ_1 sends quasi-nilpotent objects to quasi-nilpotent objects (cf. 6.2 below). By dévissage ([33] 1.13), the same holds for Φ_n . It induces an equivalence of the categories ([33] 3.1):

(6.1.5)
$$\Phi_n: p\text{-MIC}^{qn}(\mathfrak{X}'_n/\mathscr{S}_n) \xrightarrow{\sim} \text{MIC}^{qn}(\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n).$$

Let (M', ∇') be an object of p-MIC $(\mathfrak{X}'_n/\mathscr{S}_n)$ and $(M, \nabla) = \Phi_n(M', \nabla')$. In view of (6.1.3), the adjunction morphism of $\mathrm{id}_M \otimes \wedge^{\bullet} \left(\frac{dF_{n+1}}{p}\right)$ (6.1.1) induce a W-linear morphism of complexes (5.1.3)

(6.1.6)
$$\lambda: M' \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}'_n}} \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathfrak{X}'_n/\mathscr{S}_n} \to F_{X/k*}(M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n}).$$

Indeed, for local coordinates t_1, \ldots, t_d of \mathfrak{X}'_n over \mathscr{S}_n , any local section of $M' \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}'_n}} \Omega^q_{\mathfrak{X}'_n/\mathscr{S}_n}$ can be written as a sum of sections of the form $m \otimes dt_{i_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge dt_{i_q}$. Using (6.1.3), one verifies that (6.1.6) is a morphism of complexes.

LEMMA 6.2. – Let (M', θ) be a Higgs module on X'/k (5.1) and ∇ the integrable connection on $M = F^*_{X/k}(M')$ constructed in 6.1. If (M', θ) is quasi-nilpotent (5.3), then so is (M, ∇) .

Proof. – The question being local, we can reduce to the case where there exists an étale \mathscr{S}_2 -morphism $\mathfrak{X}_2 \to \mathbb{A}^d_{\mathscr{S}_2} = \operatorname{Spec}(W_2[T_1, \ldots, T_d])$. For any $1 \leq i \leq d$, let t_i be the image of T_i in \mathscr{O}_X and $t'_i = \pi^*(t_i) \in \mathscr{O}_{X'}$. There exists a section a_i of \mathscr{O}_X such that $\frac{dF_2}{p}(dt'_i) = t_i^{p-1}dt_i + da_i$ and an $\mathscr{O}_{X'}$ -linear morphism $\theta_i : M' \to M'$ such that for every local section e of M', we have $\theta(e) = \sum_{i=1}^d dt'_i \otimes \theta_i(e)$. We set ∂_i the dual of dt_i . Then we have

(6.2.1)
$$\nabla_{\partial_i}(F_{X/k}^*(e)) = t_i^{p-1} F_{X/k}^*(\theta_i(e)) + \sum_{j=1}^d \frac{\partial a_j}{\partial t_i} F_{X/k}^*(\theta_j(e)).$$

We denote by $\psi : M \to M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} F_X^*(\Omega^1_{X/k})$ the *p*-curvature associated to ∇ ([25] 5.0). There exists \mathscr{O}_X -linear endomorphisms $\psi_i : M \to M$ for $1 \leq i \leq d$ such that

(6.2.2)
$$\psi = \sum_{i=1}^{d} \psi_i \otimes F_X^*(dt_i).$$

Recall ([25] 5.2) that ψ_i and ψ_j commutes for $1 \leq i, j \leq d$. For any $I = (i_1, \ldots, i_d) \in \mathbb{N}^d$, we put $\psi_I = \prod_{j=1}^d \psi_j^{i_j}$ and $\theta_I = \prod_{j=1}^d \theta_j^{i_j}$. The *p*th iterate $\partial_i^{(p)}$ of ∂_i is zero ([25] 5.0). Then we have

(6.2.3)
$$\psi_i = (\nabla_{\partial_i})^p.$$

By (6.2.1) and induction, one verifies that for any integer $l \ge 1$, there exist elements $\{a_{l,I} \in \mathcal{O}_X\}_{I \in \mathbb{N}^d, 1 \le |I| \le l}$ such that for every local section e of M', we have

(6.2.4)
$$(\nabla_{\partial_i})^l (F_{X/k}^*(e)) = \sum_{1 \le |I| \le l} a_{l,I} F_{X/k}^*(\theta_I(e)).$$

Since the ψ_i 's are \mathscr{O}_X -linear morphisms, if there exists an integer N such that $\theta_I(e) = 0$ for all $|I| \ge N$, then $\psi_I(F^*_{X/k}(e)) = 0$ for all $|I| \ge N$ by (6.2.3) and (6.2.4). We deduce that ∇ is quasi-nilpotent.

REMARK 6.3. – Given an $\mathcal{O}_{X'}$ -module M', the Frobenius descent connection $\nabla_{\operatorname{can}}$ on $F^*_{X/k}(M')$ is defined for local sections m of M' and f of \mathcal{O}_X , by

(6.3.1)
$$\nabla_{\operatorname{can}}(fF_{X/k}^*(m)) = m \otimes df.$$

It is integrable and of *p*-curvature zero. Cartier descent states that the functor $M' \mapsto (F_{X/k}^*(M'), \nabla_{\operatorname{can}})$ induces an equivalence of categories between the category of quasi-coherent $\mathscr{O}_{X'}$ -modules and the full subcategory of MIC^{qn}(X/k) consisting of quasi-coherent objects whose *p*-curvature is zero ([25] 5.1). Considering $\mathscr{O}_{X'}$ -modules as Higgs modules with the zero Higgs field, by (6.1.3), we see that Φ_1 is compatible with Cartier descent.

6.4. – Let (M', θ) be a Higgs module on X'/k and ℓ an integer ≥ 0 . We suppose that (M', θ) is nilpotent of level $\leq \ell$, i.e., there exists an increasing filtration of M':

$$(6.4.1) 0 = N'_0 \subset N'_1 \subset \cdots \subset N'_\ell \subset N'_{\ell+1} = M',$$

such that $\theta(N'_i) \subset N'_{i-1} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X'}} \Omega^1_{X'/k}$ for $1 \leq i \leq \ell + 1$. Then the induced Higgs field on $\operatorname{gr}^i_{N'}(M')$ is trivial.

We set $(M, \nabla) = \Phi_1(M', \theta)$ and $N_i = \Phi_1(N'_i, \theta | N'_i)$ for $0 \le i \le \ell + 1$. By (6.1.3), we see that ∇ induces an integrable connection on each graded piece $\operatorname{gr}^i_N(M)$, with zero *p*-curvature.

We have a filtration on the de Rham complex $M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \Omega^{\bullet}_{X/k}$ (resp. the Dolbeault complex $M' \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X'}} \Omega^{\bullet}_{X'/k}$) defined by:

 $N_i \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \Omega^{\bullet}_{X/k}$ (resp. $N'_i \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X'}} \Omega^{\bullet}_{X'/k}$).

PROPOSITION 6.5. – The morphism of complexes (6.1.6) induces for every $i \in [1, \ell+1]$ a quasi-isomorphism

(6.5.1)
$$N'_i \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X'}} \Omega^{\bullet}_{X'/k} \to F_{X/k*}(N_i \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \Omega^{\bullet}_{X/k}).$$

Proof. – We first consider the case where $\ell = 0$, i.e., θ is the zero Higgs field. We follow a similar argument of ([**30**] 1.2) where Ogus shows an analogous result in the level of cohomology of complexes. Then ∇ is the Frobenius descent connection on $M = F_{X/k}^*(M')$. When $M' = \mathcal{O}_{X'}$, the morphism on the cohomology induced by λ (6.1.6) is the Cartier isomorphism ([**25**] 7.2)

(6.5.2)
$$\mathbf{C}_{X/k}^{-1}:\Omega_{X'/k}^{i} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{H}^{i}(F_{X/k*}(\Omega_{X/k}^{\bullet})).$$

Since $F_{X/k}$ induces an isomorphism on the underlying topological spaces, we have an isomorphism of complexes

(6.5.3)
$$M' \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X'}} F_{X/k*}(\Omega^{\bullet}_{X/k}) \xrightarrow{\sim} F_{X/k*}(M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \Omega^{\bullet}_{X/k}).$$

Since $F_{X/k*}(\Omega^{\bullet}_{X/k})$ is a complex of flat $\mathscr{O}_{X'}$ -modules whose cohomology sheaves are also flat (6.5.2), the canonical morphism

(6.5.4) $M' \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X'}} \Omega^{i}_{X'/k} \xrightarrow{\sim} M' \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X'}} \mathscr{H}^{i}(F_{X/k*}(\Omega^{\bullet}_{X/k})) \to \mathscr{H}^{i}(M' \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X'}} F_{X/k*}(\Omega^{\bullet}_{X/k}))$ is an isomorphism. The assertion in the case $\ell = 0$ follows.

We prove the general case by induction on i. The assertion for i = 1 is already proved. If the assertion is true for i - 1, then the assertion for i follows by dévissage from the induction hypothesis.

In the remainder of this section, we suppose that there exists an \mathscr{S} -morphism $F : \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}'$ which lifts the relative Frobenius morphism $F_{X/k}$ of X. We take again the notation of $R_{\mathfrak{X}}, Q_{\mathfrak{X}}, T_{\mathfrak{X}}$ and $P_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (4.11, 5.15, 5.10).

PROPOSITION 6.6. – The morphism F induces a morphism of formal groupoids above F (4.8)

$$(6.6.1) \qquad \qquad \psi: Q_{\mathfrak{X}} \to R_{\mathfrak{X}'}.$$

Proof. – First, we show that there exists a unique morphism $g: Q_{\mathfrak{X},1} \to X'$ which fits into a commutative diagram



where the bottom map is induced by the diagonal immersion. The problem being local on \mathfrak{X} , we can assume that there exists an étale \mathscr{S} -morphism $\mathfrak{X} \to \widehat{\mathbb{A}}_{\mathscr{S}}^d =$ $\operatorname{Spf}(W\{T_1,\ldots,T_d\})$. For any $1 \leq i \leq d$, we put t_i the image of T_i in $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}, t'_i =$ $\pi^*(t_i) \in \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}'}, \xi_i = 1 \otimes t_i - t_i \otimes 1 \in \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}^2}$ and $\xi'_i = 1 \otimes t'_i - t'_i \otimes 1 \in \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}'^2}$. Locally, there is a section a_i of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ such that $F^*(t'_i) = t^p_i + pa_i$. Then we have

(6.6.3)
$$F^{2*}(\xi'_i) = 1 \otimes t^p_i - t^p_i \otimes 1 + p(1 \otimes a_i - a_i \otimes 1)$$
$$= (\xi_i + t_i \otimes 1)^p - t^p_i \otimes 1 + p(1 \otimes a_i - a_i \otimes 1)$$
$$= \xi^p_i + \sum_{j=1}^{p-1} \binom{p}{j} \xi^j_i (t_i \otimes 1)^{p-j} + p(1 \otimes a_i - a_i \otimes 1).$$

Since $\xi_i^p = p \cdot \left(\frac{\xi_i^p}{p}\right)$ in $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$, the image of $F^{2*}(\xi_i')$ in $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$ is contained in $pQ_{\mathfrak{X}}$. Then the existence and the uniqueness of g follow. By the universal property of $R_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ (3.5), we deduce an \mathfrak{X}'^2 -morphism $\psi: Q_{\mathfrak{X}} \to R_{\mathfrak{X}'}$. Using the universal property of $R_{\mathfrak{X}'}$, we verify that ψ is a morphism of formal groupoids above F (cf. the proof of 5.12). \Box 6.7. – We denote the composition of $\psi: Q_{\mathfrak{X}} \to R_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ and $\lambda: P_{\mathfrak{X}} \to Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (5.12.1) by

$$(6.7.1) \qquad \qquad \phi: P_{\mathfrak{X}} \to R_{\mathfrak{X}'}.$$

The morphism ϕ is a morphism of formal groupoids above F (4.8).

LEMMA 6.8 ([33] 2.14). – The morphism ϕ induces a morphism of formal groupoids above F

$$(6.8.1) \qquad \qquad \varphi: P_{\mathfrak{X}} \to T_{\mathfrak{X}'}.$$

Proof. – For any $n \ge 1$, by $\phi \circ \iota_P = F \circ \iota_{\mathcal{R}'}(4.7)(\mathrm{ii})$ and the universal property of $T_{\mathfrak{X}',n}$ (5.13), $\phi_n : P_{\mathfrak{X}_n} \to R_{\mathfrak{X}',n}$ induces a PD- $R_{\mathfrak{X}',n}$ -morphism $\varphi_n : P_{\mathfrak{X}_n} \to T_{\mathfrak{X}',n}$. For any $1 \le m < n$, since ϕ_m and ϕ_n are compatible, we see that φ_m and φ_n are compatible. Hence we obtain a \mathfrak{X}'^2 -morphism $\varphi : P_{\mathfrak{X}} \to T_{\mathfrak{X}'}$. It follows from 6.7 and the universal property of $(T_{\mathfrak{X}',nn\ge 1}$ that φ is a morphism of formal groupoids above F.

6.9. – We have a commutative diagram of formal groupoids

$$(6.9.1) \qquad P_{\mathfrak{X}} \xrightarrow{\varphi} T_{\mathfrak{X}'} \\ \begin{array}{c} \lambda \\ \psi \end{array} \xrightarrow{\psi} R_{\mathfrak{X}'}, \end{array}$$

where φ, ϕ, ψ are induced by F. By 5.6, we deduce a commutative diagram:

$$(6.9.2) \qquad \begin{cases} \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}'_{n}} - \mathrm{modules} \\ \mathrm{with} \ \mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}'} - \mathrm{stratification} \end{cases} \xrightarrow{\psi_{n}^{*}} \begin{cases} \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}} - \mathrm{modules} \\ \mathrm{with} \ \mathscr{Q}_{\mathfrak{X}} - \mathrm{stratification} \end{cases} \xrightarrow{\psi_{n}^{*}} \begin{cases} \psi_{n}^{*} & \psi_{n}^{*} \\ \psi_{n}^{*} & \psi_{n}^{*} \\ \begin{cases} \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}'_{n}} - \mathrm{modules} \\ \mathrm{with} \ \mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}'} - \mathrm{stratification} \end{cases} \xrightarrow{\varphi_{n}^{*}} \begin{cases} \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}} - \mathrm{modules} \\ \mathrm{with} \ \mathscr{P}_{\mathfrak{X}} - \mathrm{stratification} \end{cases}.$$

6.10. – Let n be an integer ≥ 1 and F_n (resp. F_{n+1}) the reduction modulo p^n (resp. p^{n+1}) of F. In ([33] Prop. 2.17), Shiho shows that, through the equivalences of categories 5.11 and 5.17, the functor

$$(6.10.1)_{n}^{*}: \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}^{\prime}}\text{-modules} \\ \text{with } \mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}^{\prime}}\text{-stratification} \end{array} \right\} \rightarrow \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}}\text{-modules} \\ \text{with } \mathscr{P}_{\mathfrak{X}}\text{-stratification} \end{array} \right\} \\ (M,\varepsilon) \quad \mapsto \quad (F_{n}^{*}(M), \varphi^{-1}(\varepsilon) \otimes_{\varphi^{-1}(\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}^{\prime}})} \mathscr{P}_{\mathfrak{X}})$$

coincides with the functor induced by F_{n+1} (6.1.5)

$$\Phi_n: p\text{-}\mathrm{MIC}^{\mathrm{qn}}(\mathfrak{X}'_n/\mathscr{S}_n) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathrm{MIC}^{\mathrm{qn}}(\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n).$$

Indeed, if we write down a *p*-connection and the associated connection in terms of local coordinates (as in (6.2.1)), then we can verify the compatibility between φ_n and Φ_n using Formula (6.6.3) (cf. [33] 2.17 for more details).

CHAPTER 7

OYAMA TOPOI

In this section, X denotes a k-scheme. We explain two "crystalline like" topoi introduced by Oyama [32] associated to X. When X admits a smooth lifting \mathfrak{X} to W, crystals on these topoi (introduced in §8) are equivalent to modules with $\mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratification and (resp. $\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratification) discussed in 5, and are independent of the choice of any lifting of X.

If we use a gothic letter \mathfrak{T} to denote an adic formal \mathscr{S} -scheme, the corresponding roman letter T will denote its special fiber $\mathfrak{T} \otimes_{\mathrm{W}} k$.

DEFINITION 7.1 ([32] 1.3.1). – We define the category $\mathscr{E}(X/\mathscr{S})$ (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}(X/\mathscr{S})$)⁽¹⁾ as follows.

- (i) An object of $\mathscr{E}(X/\mathscr{S})$ is a triple (U, \mathfrak{T}, u) consisting of an open subscheme U of X, a flat formal \mathscr{S} -scheme $\mathfrak{T}(2.5)$ and an affine k-morphism $u: T \to U$.
- (ii) An object of $\underline{\mathscr{E}}(X/\mathscr{S})$ is a triple (U, \mathfrak{T}, u) consisting of an open subscheme U of X, a flat formal \mathscr{S} -scheme \mathfrak{T} and an affine k-morphism $u : \underline{T} \to U$, where \underline{T} is the closed subscheme of T defined in 2.3.
- (iii) Let $(U_1, \mathfrak{T}_1, u_1)$ and $(U_2, \mathfrak{T}_2, u_2)$ be two objects of $\mathscr{E}(X/\mathscr{S})$ (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}(X/\mathscr{S})$). A morphism from $(U_1, \mathfrak{T}_1, u_1)$ to $(U_2, \mathfrak{T}_2, u_2)$ consists of an \mathscr{S} -morphism $f : \mathfrak{T}_1 \to \mathfrak{T}_2$ and an X-morphism $g : U_1 \to U_2$ such that $g \circ u_1 = u_2 \circ f_s$ (resp. $g \circ u_1 = u_2 \circ \underline{f_s}$), where f_s is the reduction modulo p of f.

We denote an object (U, \mathfrak{T}, u) of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$) simply by (U, \mathfrak{T}) , if there is no risk of confusion.

To simplify the notation, we drop (X/\mathscr{S}) in the notation $\mathscr{E}(X/\mathscr{S})$ (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}(X/\mathscr{S})$) and we write simply \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$), if there is no risk of confusion. We put $\mathscr{E}' = \mathscr{E}(X'/\mathscr{S})$ (2.2).

^{1.} In [32], the category $\mathscr{E}(X/\mathscr{S})$ (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}(X/\mathscr{S})$) is denoted by $\operatorname{HIG}^{\gamma}(X/\mathscr{S})$ (resp. $\operatorname{CRIS}^{\gamma}(X/\mathscr{S})$).

LEMMA 7.2. – Let $f : \mathfrak{T}_1 \to \mathfrak{T}_2$ be an \mathscr{S} -morphism of flat formal \mathscr{S} -schemes and $f_s : T_1 \to T_2$ its special fiber.

(i) If f_s is an isomorphism, then f is an isomorphism.

(ii) If f_s is flat, then the morphism $\mathfrak{T}_{1,n} \to \mathfrak{T}_{2,n}$ induced by f (2.4) is flat for all integers $n \ge 1$.

Proof. – We can reduce to the case where $\mathfrak{T}_1 = \mathrm{Spf}(B)$, $\mathfrak{T}_2 = \mathrm{Spf}(A)$ are affine ([1] 2.1.37) and f is induced by an adic W-homomorphism $u: A \to B$. For any integers $n \ge 1$, we put $A_n = A/p^n A$, $B_n = B/p^n B$, $\mathrm{gr}^n(A) = p^n A/p^{n+1} A$ and $\mathrm{gr}^n(B) = p^n B/p^{n+1} B$. Since A and B are flat over W, the canonical morphism of B_1 -modules

$$(7.2.1) B_1 \otimes_{A_1} \operatorname{gr}^n(A) \to \operatorname{gr}^n(B)$$

is an isomorphism.

(i) If u induces an isomorphism $A_1 \xrightarrow{\sim} B_1$, we deduce that u is an isomorphism by (7.2.1) and ([7] III § 2.8 Cor. 3 to Théo. 1).

(ii) If B_1 is flat over A_1 , we deduce that B_n is flat over A_n for all integers $n \ge 1$ by (7.2.1) and the local criterion of flatness ([7] III § 5.2 Théo. 1).

7.3. – We say that a morphism $(U_1, \mathfrak{T}_1, u_1) \to (U_2, \mathfrak{T}_2, u_2)$ of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$) is flat if the special fiber $T_1 \to T_2$ of the morphism $\mathfrak{T}_1 \to \mathfrak{T}_2$ is flat.

Let $(U_1, \mathfrak{T}_1, u_1) \to (U, \mathfrak{T}, u)$ be a flat morphism and $(U_2, \mathfrak{T}_2, u_2) \to (U, \mathfrak{T}, u)$ a morphism of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$). Their fiber product is represented by the fiber products $\mathfrak{T}_{12} = \mathfrak{T}_1 \times_{\mathfrak{T}} \mathfrak{T}_2$ (which is flat over \mathscr{S} in view of 7.2(ii) and 2.5) and $U_{12} = U_1 \times_U U_2$ endowed with the affine morphism $T_1 \times_T T_2 \to U_1 \times_U U_2$ (resp. composite morphism $T_1 \times_T T_2 \to T_1 \times_T T_2 \to U_1 \times_U U_2$ (2.3.1)) induced by u_1, u_2 and u.

DEFINITION 7.4. – (i) We say that a morphism $f : (U_1, \mathfrak{T}_1) \to (U_2, \mathfrak{T}_2)$ of \mathscr{E} is *Cartesian* if the canonical morphism $T_1 \to T_2 \times_{U_2} U_1$ is an isomorphism.

(ii) We say that a morphism $f: (U_1, \mathfrak{T}_1, u_1) \to (U_2, \mathfrak{T}_2, u_2)$ of $\underline{\mathscr{C}}$ is *Cartesian* if $T_1 \to T_2$ is an open immersion and the canonical morphism $\underline{T}_1 \to \underline{T}_2 \times_{U_2} U_1$ is an isomorphism.⁽²⁾

If $f: (U_1, \mathfrak{T}_1) \to (U_2, \mathfrak{T}_2)$ is a Cartesian morphism of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$), T_1 is an open subscheme of T_2 and f identifies \mathfrak{T}_1 with the open formal subscheme induced by \mathfrak{T}_2 on T_1 by 7.2(i).

A Cartesian morphism is clearly flat (7.3). By 7.3, the base change of a Cartesian morphism of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$) is Cartesian. The composition of Cartesian morphisms of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$) is clearly Cartesian.

^{2.} The above definition of Cartesian morphism in $\underline{\mathscr{C}}$ is equivalent to the original definition in ([32] 1.3.1), where Oyama requires the canonical morphism $T_2 \to U'_2 \times_{U'_1, u'_1 \circ f_{T_1/k}} T_1$ is an isomorphism (2.3).

7.5. – Let (U, \mathfrak{T}, u) be an object of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$) and V an open subscheme of U. Note that the canonical morphism $\underline{T} \to T$ induces an isomorphism on the underlying topological spaces. We denote by \mathfrak{T}_V the restriction of \mathfrak{T} to the open subset $u^{-1}(V)$ of the topological space |T|. Then, we obtain an object (V, \mathfrak{T}_V) of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$) and a Cartesian morphism $(V, \mathfrak{T}_V) \to (U, \mathfrak{T})$ of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$).

Any morphism $(U_1, \mathfrak{T}_1) \to (U_2, \mathfrak{T}_2)$ of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$) factors uniquely through the Cartesian morphism $(U_1, (\mathfrak{T}_2)_{U_1}) \to (U_2, \mathfrak{T}_2)$. The category \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$) is fibered over the category $\mathbf{Zar}_{/X}$ of open subschemes of X by the functor

(7.5.1)
$$\pi : \mathscr{E} \to \mathbf{Zar}_{/X} \quad (\text{resp. } \underline{\mathscr{E}} \to \mathbf{Zar}_{/X}) \quad (U, \mathfrak{T}) \mapsto U,$$

7.6. – Let (U, \mathfrak{T}) be an object of \mathscr{E} (resp. \mathscr{E}). By 7.5, we have a functor

(7.6.1)
$$\alpha_{(U,\mathfrak{T})} : \mathbf{Zar}_{/U} \to \mathscr{E} \quad (\text{resp. } \underline{\mathscr{E}}) \qquad V \mapsto (V, \mathfrak{T}_V).$$

Let $f: (U_1, \mathfrak{T}_1) \to (U_2, \mathfrak{T}_2)$ be a morphism of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$), $j_f: \mathbf{Zar}_{/U_1} \to \mathbf{Zar}_{/U_2}$ the functor induced by composing with $U_1 \to U_2$. Then, the morphism f induces a morphism of functors:

$$\beta_f: \alpha_{(U_1,\mathfrak{T}_1)} \to \alpha_{(U_2,\mathfrak{T}_2)} \circ \mathcal{I}_f$$

Let \mathscr{F} be a presheaf on \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$). We denote by $\mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}$ the presheaf $\mathscr{F} \circ \alpha_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}$ on $\mathbf{Zar}_{/U}$. The morphism β_f induces a morphism of presheaves:

(7.6.2)
$$\gamma_f: \mathscr{F}_{(U_2,\mathfrak{T}_2)}|_{U_1} \to \mathscr{F}_{(U_1,\mathfrak{T}_1)}.$$

It is clear that $\gamma_{id} = id$. By construction, if f is a Cartesian morphism, then γ_f is an isomorphism. If $g: (U_2, \mathfrak{T}_2) \to (U_3, \mathfrak{T}_3)$ is another morphism of \mathscr{E} (resp. \mathscr{E}), we verify that $\gamma_{g \circ f} = \gamma_f \circ j_f^*(\gamma_g)$, where j_f^* denotes the localisation functor from the category of presheaves on $\mathbf{Zar}_{/U_1}$.

PROPOSITION 7.7. – A presheaf \mathscr{F} on \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$) is equivalent to the following data:

- (i) For every object (U, \mathfrak{T}) of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$) a presheaf $\mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}$ on $\mathbf{Zar}_{/U}$,
- (ii) For every morphism $f : (U_1, \mathfrak{T}_1) \to (U_2, \mathfrak{T}_2)$ of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$) a morphism $\gamma_f : \mathscr{F}_{(U_2, \mathfrak{T}_2)}|_{U_1} \to \mathscr{F}_{(U_1, \mathfrak{T}_1)},$

subject to the following conditions

- (a) If f is the identity morphism of (U, \mathfrak{T}) , then γ_f is the identity of $\mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}$.
- (b) If f is a Cartesian morphism, then γ_f is an isomorphism.
- (c) If f and g are two composable morphisms of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$), then we have $\gamma_{g \circ f} = \gamma_f \circ j_f^*(\gamma_g)$.

Proof. – Let { $\mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}, \gamma_f$ } be a data as in the proposition. We associate to it a presheaf on *&* (resp. *&*) as follows. Let (*U*, 𝔅) be an object of *&* (resp. *&*). We define $\mathscr{F}(U,\mathfrak{T}) = \mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}(U)$. For any morphism $f : (V, \mathfrak{Z}) \to (U, \mathfrak{T})$ of *&* (resp. *&*), we deduce a morphism from γ_f

(7.7.1)
$$\mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}(U) \to \mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}(V) \to \mathscr{F}_{(V,\mathfrak{Z})}(V).$$

In view of conditions (a) and (c), the correspondence

$$(7.7.2) (U,\mathfrak{T}) \mapsto \mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}(U)$$

is a presheaf. In view of condition (b), the above construction is quasi-inverse to the construction of 7.6. The assertion follows. $\hfill\square$

We call descent data associated to \mathscr{F} the data $\{\mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}, \gamma_f\}$ as in the proposition.

DEFINITION 7.8 ([32] 1.3.1). – Let (U, \mathfrak{T}, u) be an object of $\mathscr{E}(X/\mathscr{S})$ (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}(X/\mathscr{S})$). We denote by $\operatorname{Cov}(U, \mathfrak{T}, u)$ the set of families of Cartesian morphisms $\{(U_i, \mathfrak{T}_i, u_i) \to (U, \mathfrak{T}, u)\}_{i \in I}$ such that $\{U_i \to U\}_{i \in I}$ is a Zariski covering.

7.9. – By 7.4, we see that the sets $\operatorname{Cov}(U, \mathfrak{T})$ for $(U, \mathfrak{T}) \in \operatorname{Ob}(\mathscr{E}(X/\mathscr{S}))$ (resp. $(U, \mathfrak{T}) \in \operatorname{Ob}(\mathscr{E}(X/\mathscr{S}))$) form a pretopology ([3] II 1.3). We call the topology on $\mathscr{E}(X/\mathscr{S})$ (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}(X/\mathscr{S})$) associated to the pretopology defined by the $\operatorname{Cov}(U, \mathfrak{T})$'s Zariski topology. We denote by $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}(X/\mathscr{S})$ (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}(X/\mathscr{S})$) the topos of sheaves of sets on $\mathscr{E}(X/\mathscr{S})$ (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}(X/\mathscr{S})$), equipped with the Zariski topology.

PROPOSITION 7.10. – Let \mathscr{F} be a presheaf on \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$) and $\{\mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}, \gamma_f\}$ the associated descent data (7.7). Then \mathscr{F} is a sheaf for the Zariski topology, if and only if for each object (U,\mathfrak{T}) of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$), the presheaf $\mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}$ (7.6) is a sheaf of the Zariski topos U_{zar} .

Proof. – Let (U, \mathfrak{T}) be an object of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$). The functor $\alpha_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}$ (7.6.1) sends morphisms of $\mathbf{Zar}_{/U}$ to Cartesian morphisms of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$) and commutes with fibered products. It is clearly continuous for the Zariski topologies. Hence, if \mathscr{F} is a sheaf, then $\mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}$ is a sheaf of U_{zar} ([3] III 1.2).

Conversely, suppose that each presheaf $\mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}$ is a sheaf of U_{zar} . Let $\{(U_i,\mathfrak{T}_i) \rightarrow (U,\mathfrak{T})\}_{i\in I}$ be an element of $\text{Cov}(U,\mathfrak{T})$. In view of condition (b) of 7.7, we deduce that the sequence

$$\begin{split} \mathscr{F}(U,\mathfrak{T}) &\to \prod_{i \in I} \mathscr{F}(U_i,\mathfrak{T}_i) \rightrightarrows \prod_{i,j \in I} \mathscr{F}(U_{ij},\mathfrak{T}_{ij}) \\ \text{e} \ (U_{ij},\mathfrak{T}_{ij}) &= (U_i,\mathfrak{T}_i) \times_{(U,\mathfrak{T})} (U_j,\mathfrak{T}_j). \text{ Hence, } \mathscr{F} \text{ is a sheaf.} \end{split}$$

7.11. – Recall that a family of morphisms of schemes $\{f_i : T_i \to T\}_{i \in I}$ is called an *fppf covering* if each morphism f_i is flat and locally of finite presentation and if $|T| = \bigcup_{i \in I} f_i(|T_i|)$ (cf. [12] IV 6.3.2).

We say that a family of \mathscr{S} -morphisms of flat formal \mathscr{S} -schemes $\{f_i : \mathfrak{T}_i \to \mathfrak{T}\}_{i \in I}$ is an *fppf covering* if each morphism f_i is locally of finite presentation ([1] 2.3.15) and if its special fiber $\{T_i \to T\}_{i \in I}$ is an fppf covering of schemes. By ([1] 2.3.16) and 7.2(ii), a family of \mathscr{S} -morphisms of flat formal \mathscr{S} -schemes $\{\mathfrak{T}_i \to \mathfrak{T}\}_{i \in I}$ is an fppf covering if and only if the family $\{\mathfrak{T}_{i,n} \to \mathfrak{T}_n\}_{i \in I}$ is an fppf covering of schemes for all integers $n \ge 1$.

Recall that an adic formal \mathscr{S} -scheme \mathfrak{T} is flat over \mathscr{S} if and only if \mathfrak{T}_n is flat over \mathscr{S}_n for all integers $n \ge 1$ (2.5). Since fppf coverings of schemes are stable by

is exact, wher

base change and by composition, the same holds for fppf coverings of flat formal $\mathscr{S}\text{-schemes.}$

DEFINITION 7.12. – Let (U, \mathfrak{T}, u) be an object of $\mathscr{E}(X/\mathscr{S})$ (resp. $\mathscr{E}(X/\mathscr{S})$). We denote by $\operatorname{Cov}_{\operatorname{fppf}}(U, \mathfrak{T}, u)$ the set of families of flat morphisms $\{(U_i, \mathfrak{T}_i, u_i) \to (U, \mathfrak{T}, u)\}_{i \in I}$ (7.3) such that $\{U_i \to U\}_{i \in I}$ is a Zariski covering and that $\{\mathfrak{T}_i \to \mathfrak{T}\}_{i \in I}$ is an fppf covering (7.11).

It is clear that $\operatorname{Cov}_{\operatorname{fppf}}(U, \mathfrak{T}, u)$ contains $\operatorname{Cov}(U, \mathfrak{T}, u)$ (7.8).

7.13. – By 7.3 and 7.11, we see that the sets $\operatorname{Cov}_{\operatorname{fppf}}(U, \mathfrak{T})$ for $(U, \mathfrak{T}) \in \operatorname{Ob}(\mathscr{E}(X/\mathscr{S}))$ (resp. $(U, \mathfrak{T}) \in \operatorname{Ob}(\underline{\mathscr{E}}(X/\mathscr{S}))$) form a pretopology ([3] II 1.3). We call *fppf topology* the topology on $\mathscr{E}(X/\mathscr{S})$ (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}(X/\mathscr{S})$) associated to the pretopology defined by the sets $\operatorname{Cov}_{\operatorname{fppf}}(U, \mathfrak{T})$. We denote by $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}(X/\mathscr{S})_{\operatorname{fppf}}$ (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}(X/\mathscr{S})_{\operatorname{fppf}}$) the topos of sheaves of sets on $\mathscr{E}(X/\mathscr{S})$ (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}(X/\mathscr{S})$), equipped with the fppf topology.

7.14. – Let \mathscr{F} be a sheaf of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}_{\text{fppf}}$ (resp. $\underline{\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}}_{\text{fppf}}$) and (U, \mathfrak{T}) an object of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$). Since \mathscr{F} is also a sheaf for the Zariski topology, the presheaf $\mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}$ (7.7) is a sheaf of U_{zar} .

Let $\{f : (U, \mathfrak{Z}) \to (U, \mathfrak{T})\}$ be an element of $\operatorname{Cov}_{\operatorname{fppf}}(U, \mathfrak{T})$ and put $(U, \mathfrak{Z} \times_{\mathfrak{T}} \mathfrak{Z}) = (U, \mathfrak{Z}) \times_{(U, \mathfrak{T})} (U, \mathfrak{Z})$. Since \mathscr{F} is a sheaf for the fppf topology, we deduce an exact sequence of U_{zar} (7.6.2)

(7.14.1)
$$\mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{T})} \xrightarrow{\gamma_f} \mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{Z})} \rightrightarrows \mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{Z}\times_{\mathfrak{T}}\mathfrak{Z})}$$

7.15. – Let \mathscr{C} and \mathscr{D} be two categories, $\widehat{\mathscr{C}}$ (resp. $\widehat{\mathscr{D}}$) the category of presheaves of sets on \mathscr{C} (resp. \mathscr{D}) and $u : \mathscr{C} \to \mathscr{D}$ a functor. We have a functor

(7.15.1)
$$\widehat{u}^*:\widehat{\mathscr{D}}\to\widehat{\mathscr{C}} \qquad \mathscr{G}\mapsto\widehat{u}^*(\mathscr{G})=\mathscr{G}\circ u.$$

It admits a right adjoint ([3] I 5.1)

(7.15.2)
$$\widehat{u}_*: \widehat{\mathscr{C}} \to \widehat{\mathscr{D}}.$$

Let \mathscr{C} and \mathscr{D} be two sites ⁽³⁾. If $u : \mathscr{C} \to \mathscr{D}$ is a cocontinuous (resp. continuous) functor and \mathscr{F} (resp. \mathscr{G}) is a sheaf on \mathscr{C} (resp. \mathscr{D}), then $\hat{u}_*(\mathscr{F})$ (resp. $\hat{u}^*(\mathscr{G})$) is a sheaf on \mathscr{D} (resp. \mathscr{C}) ([3] III 1.2, 2.2).

Let $\widetilde{\mathscr{C}}$ (resp. $\widetilde{\mathscr{D}}$) be the topos of the sheaves of sets on \mathscr{C} (resp. \mathscr{D}) and $u: \mathscr{C} \to \mathscr{D}$ a cocontinuous functor. Then u induces a morphism of topoi $g: \widetilde{\mathscr{C}} \to \widetilde{\mathscr{D}}$ defined by $g_* = \hat{u}_*$ and $g^* = a \circ \hat{u}^*$, where a is the sheafification functor (cf. [3] III 2.3).

^{3.} We suppose that the site \mathscr{C} is small.

7.16. – Note that the fppf topology on \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$) is finer than the Zariski topology. Equipped with the fppf topology on the source and the Zariski topology on the target, the identical functors $\mathscr{E} \to \mathscr{E}$ and $\underline{\mathscr{E}} \to \underline{\mathscr{E}}$ are cocontinuous. By 7.15, they induce morphisms of topoi

(7.16.1) $\sigma: \widetilde{\mathscr{E}}_{\mathrm{fppf}} \to \widetilde{\mathscr{E}}, \qquad \sigma: \underline{\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}}_{\mathrm{fppf}} \to \underline{\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}}.$

If \mathscr{F} is a sheaf of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}_{\text{fppf}}$ (resp. $\underline{\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}}_{\text{fppf}}$), $\sigma_*(\mathscr{F})$ is equal to \mathscr{F} . If \mathscr{G} is a sheaf of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$ (resp. $\underline{\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}}$), then $\sigma^*(\mathscr{G})$ is the sheafification of \mathscr{G} with respect to the fppf topology.

CHAPTER 8

CRYSTALS IN OYAMA TOPOI

In this section, we keep the notation in §7 and we study crystals in Oyama topoi and explain their interpretations in terms of modules with stratification (8.10). Let n an integer ≥ 1 .

8.1. – We define a presheaf of rings $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E}(X/\mathscr{S}),n}$ on $\mathscr{E}(X/\mathscr{S})$ (resp. $\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}}(X/\mathscr{S}),n}$ on $\underline{\mathscr{E}}(X/\mathscr{S})$) (7.1) by

 $(8.1.1) (U,\mathfrak{T})\mapsto \Gamma(\mathfrak{T},\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{T}_n}).$

For any object (U,\mathfrak{T}) of $\mathscr{E}(X/\mathscr{S})$ (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}(X/\mathscr{S})$) and any element $\{(U_i,\mathfrak{T}_i) \to (U,\mathfrak{T})\}_{i\in I}$ of $\operatorname{Cov}_{\operatorname{fppf}}(U,\mathfrak{T})$ (7.12), $\{\mathfrak{T}_{i,n} \to \mathfrak{T}_n\}_{i\in I}$ is an fppf covering of schemes (7.11). By fppf descent for quasi-coherent modules ([21] VIII 1.2), $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E}(X/\mathscr{S}),n}$ (resp. $\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}}(X/\mathscr{S}),n}$) is a sheaf for the fppf topology (7.13). Since the fppf topology is finer than the Zariski topology, it is also a sheaf for the Zariski topology (7.9).

8.2. – For any object (U, \mathfrak{T}, u) of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$), we consider $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{T}_n}$ as a sheaf of T_{zar} (resp. $\underline{T}_{\text{zar}}$). We have (7.10)

$$(\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n})_{(U,\mathfrak{T},u)}=u_{\ast}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{T}_{n}})\quad (\text{resp. }(\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},n})_{(U,\mathfrak{T},u)}=u_{\ast}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{T}_{n}})).$$

A morphism $f: (U_1, \mathfrak{T}_1, u_1) \to (U_2, \mathfrak{T}_2, u_2)$ of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$) induces a morphism of ringed topoi

(8.2.1)
$$\widetilde{f}_n: (U_{1,\operatorname{zar}}, u_{1*}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{T}_{1,n}})) \to (U_{2,\operatorname{zar}}, u_{2*}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{T}_{2,n}})).$$

By 7.7 and 7.10 and a standard argument, an $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n}$ -module of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$ (resp. $\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},n}$ -module of $\widetilde{\underline{\mathscr{E}}}$) is equivalent to the following data:

- (i) For every object (U, \mathfrak{T}, u) of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$), an $u_*(\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{T}_n})$ -module $\mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}$ of U_{zar} .
- (ii) For every morphism $f : (U_1, \mathfrak{T}_1, u_1) \to (U_2, \mathfrak{T}_2, u_2)$ of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$), an $u_{1*}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{T}_{1,n}})$ -linear morphism $c_f : \widetilde{f}_n^*(\mathscr{F}_{(U_2,\mathfrak{T}_2)}) \to \mathscr{F}_{(U_1,\mathfrak{T}_1)}$,

which is subject to the following conditions:

- (a) If f is the identity morphism, then c_f is the identity.
- (b) If f is a Cartesian morphism, then c_f is an isomorphism.

(c) If f and g are two composable morphisms of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$), then we have $c_{g\circ f} = c_f \circ \tilde{f}_n^*(c_g)$.

We call the data $\{\mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}, c_f\}$ the linearized descent data associated to the $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n}$ -module (resp. $\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},n}$ -module) \mathscr{F} of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$ (resp. of $\underline{\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}}$).

An $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n}$ -module (resp. $\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},n}$ -module) \mathscr{F} of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}_{\mathrm{fppf}}$ (resp. $\underline{\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}}_{\mathrm{fppf}}$) gives rise to an $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n}$ -module (resp. $\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},n}$ -module) $\sigma_*(\mathscr{F})$ of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$ (resp. $\underline{\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}}$) (7.16.1). We can associate to \mathscr{F} a linearized descent data $\{\mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}, c_f\}$ by that of $\sigma_*(\mathscr{F})$.

DEFINITION 8.3 ([32] 1.3.3). – Let \mathscr{F} be an $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n}$ -module of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$ (resp. an $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n}$ -module of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}_{\mathrm{fppf}}$, resp. an $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n}$ -module of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}_{\mathrm{fppf}}$).

(i) We say that \mathscr{F} is quasi-coherent if for every object (U, \mathfrak{T}, u) of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$), the $u_*(\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{T}_n})$ -module $\mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}$ of U_{zar} (8.2) is quasi-coherent ([22] 0.5.1.3).

(ii) We say that \mathscr{F} is a crystal or a crystal of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n}$ -modules of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$ (resp. $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n}$ -modules of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}_{\text{fppf}}$, resp. $\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},n}$ -modules of $\underline{\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}}_{fppf}$) if for every morphism $f: (U_1, \mathfrak{T}_1) \to (U_2, \mathfrak{T}_2)$ of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$), the canonical morphism c_f (8.2) is an isomorphism.

We denote by $\mathscr{C}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n})$ (resp. $\mathscr{C}_{\mathrm{fppf}}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n})$, resp. $\mathscr{C}(\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},n})$, resp. $\mathscr{C}_{\mathrm{fppf}}(\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},n})$) the category of crystals of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n}$ -modules of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$ (resp. $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n}$ -modules of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}_{\mathrm{fppf}}$, resp. $\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},n}$ -modules of $\widetilde{\underline{\mathscr{E}}}$, resp. $\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},n}$ -modules of $\widetilde{\underline{\mathscr{E}}}_{\mathrm{fppf}}$) and we use the notation $\mathscr{C}^{\mathrm{qcoh}}(-)$ or $\mathscr{C}^{\mathrm{qcoh}}_{\mathrm{fppf}}(-)$ to denote the full subcategory consisting of quasi-coherent crystals.

PROPOSITION 8.4. – A quasi-coherent $\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{E},n}$ -module \mathscr{F} of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$ (resp. $\mathcal{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},n}$ -module of $\underline{\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}}$) is equivalent to

(i) For every object (U, \mathfrak{T}) of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$), a quasi-coherent $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{T}_n}$ -module $\mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}$ of $\mathfrak{T}_{n,\operatorname{zar}}$;

(ii) For every morphism $f: (U_1, \mathfrak{T}_1) \to (U_2, \mathfrak{T}_2)$ of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$), an $(\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{T}_{1,n}})$ -linear morphism of $\mathfrak{T}_{1,zar}$:

$$(8.4.1) c_f: f_n^*(\mathscr{F}_{(U_2,\mathfrak{T}_2)}) \to \mathscr{F}_{(U_1,\mathfrak{T}_1)}$$

where f_n denotes the morphism $\mathfrak{T}_{1,n} \to \mathfrak{T}_{2,n}$; which are subject to similar conditions (a-c) in 8.2.

The assertion follows from the following proposition.

PROPOSITION 8.5. – Let $u: T \to U$ be an affine morphism of schemes, $i: T \to \mathcal{T}$ a nilpotent closed immersion. We denote by $v: (\mathcal{T}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{T}}) \to (U, u_*(\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{T}}))$ the morphism of ringed topoi induced by u. Then, the inverse image and direct image functors of v induce equivalences of categories quasi-inverse to each other between the category of quasi-coherent $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{T}}$ -modules of \mathcal{T}_{zar} and the category of quasi-coherent $u_*(\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{T}})$ -modules of U_{zar} .

The proposition follows from 8.7 and 8.8.

LEMMA 8.6. – We keep the assumption of 8.5. The restriction of the functor v_* to the category of quasi-coherent $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{T}}$ -modules is exact.

Proof. – The functor v_* is left exact. Let $\mathscr{M} \to \mathscr{N}$ be a surjection of quasi-coherent $\mathscr{O}_{\widetilde{U}}$ -modules. To show that $v_*(\mathscr{M}) \to v_*(\mathscr{N})$ is surjective, it suffices to show that for any affine open subscheme V of U, the morphism $v_*(\mathscr{M})(V) \to v_*(\mathscr{N})(V)$ is surjective. Since u is affine, the open subscheme \mathscr{T}_V of \mathscr{T} associated to the open subset $u^{-1}(V)$ of T is affine. Since \mathscr{M} , \mathscr{N} are quasi-coherent and \mathscr{T}_V is affine, the morphism $\mathscr{M}(\mathscr{T}_V) \to \mathscr{N}(\mathscr{T}_V)$ is surjective. Then the assertion follows. □

LEMMA 8.7. – We keep the assumption of 8.5. For any quasi-coherent $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{T}}$ -module $\mathcal{M}, v_*(\mathcal{M})$ is quasi-coherent and the adjunction morphism $v^*(v_*(\mathcal{M})) \to \mathcal{M}$ is an isomorphism.

Proof. – The question being local, we may assume that U is affine and so is \mathcal{T} . Then the quasi-coherent $\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{T}}$ module \mathscr{M} admits a presentation

(8.7.1)
$$\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{J}}^{\oplus J} \to \mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{J}}^{\oplus I} \to \mathscr{M} \to 0.$$

The canonical morphism $(v_*(\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{T}}))^{\oplus I} \to v_*(\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{T}}^{\oplus I})$ is clearly an isomorphism. Since v_* is exact (8.6), we obtain a presentation of $v_*(\mathscr{M})$

$$(v_*(\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{T}}))^{\oplus J} \to (v_*(\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{T}}))^{\oplus I} \to v_*(\mathscr{M}) \to 0.$$

The first assertion follows.

The exact sequence (8.7.1) induces a commutative diagram



Since v_* is exact and v^* is right exact, horizontal arrows are exact. The first two vertical arrows are isomorphisms. Then the second assertion follows.

LEMMA 8.8. – We keep the assumption of 8.5. For any quasi-coherent $u_*(\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{T}})$ -module \mathscr{N} , $v^*(\mathscr{N})$ is quasi-coherent and the adjunction morphism $\mathscr{N} \to v_*(v^*(\mathscr{N}))$ is an isomorphism.

Proof. – The pull-back functor sends quasi-coherent objects to quasi-coherent objects ([22] 5.1.4).

The second assertion being local, we may assume that U is affine and that \mathcal{N} admits a presentation:

$$(u_{\ast}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{T}}))^{\oplus J} \to (u_{\ast}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{T}}))^{\oplus I} \to \mathcal{N} \to 0$$

Then we deduce a commutative diagram

Since v_* is exact (8.6) and v^* is right exact, the horizontal arrows are exact. The first two vertical arrows are isomorphisms. Then the second assertion follows.

PROPOSITION 8.9. – Let X be a k-scheme. The direct image functors $\sigma_* : \widetilde{\mathscr{E}}_{\text{fppf}} \to \widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$ and $\sigma_* : \widetilde{\mathscr{E}}_{\text{fppf}} \to \widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$ (7.16.1) induce equivalences of categories

$$(8.9.1) \qquad \qquad \mathscr{C}^{\operatorname{qcoh}}_{\operatorname{fppf}}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{C}^{\operatorname{qcoh}}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n}), \qquad \mathscr{C}^{\operatorname{qcoh}}_{\operatorname{fppf}}(\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},n}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{C}^{\operatorname{qcoh}}(\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},n})$$

Proof. – The functor σ_* sends quasi-coherent crystals of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n}$ -modules of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}_{\text{fppf}}$ (resp. $\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},n}$ -modules of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}_{\text{fppf}}$) to quasi-coherent crystals of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n}$ -modules of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$ (resp. $\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},n}$ -modules of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$). The functors (8.9.1) are clearly fully faithful. It suffices to show the essential surjectivity.

Let \mathscr{F} be a quasi-coherent crystal of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n}$ -modules of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$ and $\{\mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}, c_f\}$ the associated linearized descent data. We consider $\mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}$ as an $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{T}_n}$ -module of T_{zar} (8.4). To show \mathscr{F} is a sheaf for fppf topology, we prove that, for any element $\{(U_i,\mathfrak{T}_i) \to (U,\mathfrak{T})\}_{i \in I}$ of $\text{Cov}_{\text{fppf}}(U,\mathfrak{T})$ (7.12), the sequence

$$(8.9.2) \qquad 0 \to \Gamma(T, \mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}) \to \prod_{i \in I} \Gamma(T_i, \mathscr{F}_{(U_i,\mathfrak{T}_i)}) \to \prod_{i,j \in I} \Gamma(T_{ij}, \mathscr{F}_{(U_{ij},\mathfrak{T}_{ij})})$$

is exact, where $(U_{ij}, \mathfrak{T}_{ij}) = (U_i, \mathfrak{T}_i) \times_{(U,\mathfrak{T})} (U_j, \mathfrak{T}_j)$ (7.3). Then, we have

(8.9.3)
$$\mathscr{F}_{(U_i,\mathfrak{T}_i)} \simeq f_i^*(\mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}), \quad \mathscr{F}_{(U_{ij},\mathfrak{T}_{ij})} \simeq f_{ij}^*(\mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}),$$

where f_i (resp. f_{ij}) denotes the morphism $\mathfrak{T}_i \to \mathfrak{T}$ (resp. $\mathfrak{T}_{ij} \to \mathfrak{T}$). It suffices to show that the sequence

$$(8.9.4) 0 \to \mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{T})} \to \prod_{i \in I} f_{i*}(\mathscr{F}_{(U_i,\mathfrak{T}_i)}) \to \prod_{i,j \in I} f_{ij*}(\mathscr{F}_{(U_{ij},\mathfrak{T}_{ij})})$$

is exact. The question being local, we can suppose that U is quasi-compact and quasiseparated and so is \mathfrak{T} . Hence we can reduce to the case where the set I is finite. Note that the schemes $\mathfrak{T}_{i,n}$ and \mathfrak{T}_n are quasi-compact and quasi-separated and that the morphisms f_i and f_{ij} are quasi-compact. Then the exactness of (8.9.4) follows from the fppf descent for quasi-coherent modules.

The assertion for quasi-coherent crystals of $\mathcal{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},n}$ -modules can be verified in the same way.

PROPOSITION 8.10. – Let \mathfrak{X} be a smooth formal \mathscr{S} -scheme and X its special fiber. There exists a canonical equivalence of tensor categories between the category $\mathscr{C}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n})$ (resp. $\mathscr{C}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n})$) and the category of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}$ -modules with $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratification (resp. $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratification) (4.11), 5.4.

Proof. – The proof is standard. We briefly explain the construction following ([32] 1.3.4) where the author deals with the case n = 1.

The triple $(X, \mathfrak{X}, \mathrm{id})$ (resp. $(X, \mathfrak{X}, \underline{X} \to X)$) is an object of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$). By 4.9, $(X, R_{\mathfrak{X}}(r))$ (resp. $(X, Q_{\mathfrak{X}}(r))$) is an object of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$) for all integers $r \ge 1$. We take again the notation of the proof of 4.11. We denote by $q_1, q_2 : (X, R_{\mathfrak{X}}) \to (X, \mathfrak{X})$ the canonical morphisms. Let \mathscr{F} be a crystal of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n}$ -modules of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$. We set \mathscr{F} to be the $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}$ -module $\mathscr{F}_{(X,\mathfrak{X})}$. Then we deduce isomorphisms of $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -modules of X_{zar} (8.2)

$$(8.10.1) c_{q_1}: \widetilde{q}_{1,n}^*(\mathscr{F}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{F}_{(X,R_{\mathfrak{X}})} c_{q_2}: \widetilde{q}_{2,n}^*(\mathscr{F}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{F}_{(X,R_{\mathfrak{X}})}.$$

We denote by ε the composition of c_{q_2} and the inverse of c_{q_1} . By a standard argument, we can show that ε defines a $\mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratification on \mathcal{F} . It is clear that the correspondence $\mathscr{F} \to (\mathscr{F}, \varepsilon)$ is functorial and is compatible with tensor products (5.4).

Conversely, let \mathscr{F} be an $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}$ -module with an $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratification $\varepsilon : \widetilde{q}_{2,n}^*(\mathscr{F}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \widetilde{q}_{1,n}^*(\mathscr{F})$. Let (U, \mathfrak{T}, u) be an object of \mathscr{E} such that U is affine. Since \mathfrak{X} is smooth over \mathscr{S} and \mathfrak{T} is affine, the k-morphism $u : T \to U$ extends to a morphism $\varphi : (U, \mathfrak{T}) \to (X, \mathfrak{X})$ of \mathscr{E} . We define $\mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}$ to be the $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{T}_n}$ -module $\widetilde{\varphi}_n^*(\mathscr{F})$ of U_{zar} . By a standard arguement, we can show that this definition of $\mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}$ is independent of the choice of the deformation $\mathfrak{T} \to \mathfrak{X}$ of $u : T \to U$ up to a canonical isomorphism which comes from the stratification.

Let $g: (U_1, \mathfrak{T}_1) \to (U_2, \mathfrak{T}_2)$ be a morphism of \mathscr{E} such that U_1 and U_2 are affine. There exists morphisms $\varphi_1: (U_1, \mathfrak{T}_1) \to (X, \mathfrak{X})$ and $\varphi_2: (U_2, \mathfrak{T}_2) \to (X, \mathfrak{X})$ of \mathscr{E} . Then there exists a unique morphism $h: (U_1, \mathfrak{T}_1) \to (X, R_{\mathfrak{X}})$ such that $q_1 \circ h = \varphi_1$ and $q_2 \circ h = \varphi_2 \circ g$. We deduce a canonical $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{T}_{1,n}}$ -linear isomorphism of $U_{1,\text{zar}}$

$$(8.10.2) c_g: \widetilde{g}_n^*(\mathscr{F}_{(U_2,\mathfrak{T}_2)}) = \widetilde{h}_n^*(\widetilde{q}_{2,n}^*(\mathscr{F})) \xrightarrow{\widetilde{h}_n^*(\varepsilon)} \widetilde{h}_n^*(\widetilde{q}_{1,n}^*(\mathscr{F})) = \mathscr{F}_{(U_1,\mathfrak{T}_1)}$$

By gluing the constructions for affine objects, we obtain an isomorphism c_g for a general morphism g of \mathscr{E} . We deduce the cocycle properties for c_g by the cocycle condition of ε .

Hence we obtain a linearized descent data $\{\mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{T},u)}, c_f\}$ such that each morphism c_f is an isomorphism. Then, we get a crystal of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n}$ -modules \mathscr{F} of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$ by 8.2. The correspondence $(\mathscr{F}, \varepsilon) \mapsto \mathscr{F}$ is clearly functorial and quasi-inverse to the previous construction.

The assertion for crystals of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n}$ -modules can be verified in the same way. \Box

CHAPTER 9

CARTIER EQUIVALENCE

In this section, we show that the relative Frobenius morphism of X induces an equivalence of topoi between $\underline{\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}}_{\text{fppf}}$ and $\underline{\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}}'_{\text{fppf}}$. Then we prove that this equivalence globalizes Shiho's local Cartier transform modulo p^n explained in §6.

9.1. – Let (U, \mathfrak{T}, u) be an object of $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$. We have a commutative diagram



where the vertical arrows denote the relative Frobenius morphisms (2.2, 2.3). It is clear that $(U', \mathfrak{T}, u' \circ f_{T/k})$ is an object of \mathscr{E}' (7.1). Moreover, the correspondence $(U, \mathfrak{T}, u) \mapsto (U', \mathfrak{T}, u' \circ f_{T/k})$ is functorial. We denote by ρ the functor defined as above:

(9.1.2)
$$\rho: \underline{\mathscr{E}} \to \mathscr{E}', \qquad (U, \mathfrak{T}, u) \mapsto (U', \mathfrak{T}, u' \circ f_{T/k}).$$

We will show in 9.3(ii) that ρ is continuous and cocontinuous with respect to either Zariski or fppf topology. By 7.15, the functor ρ (9.1.2) induces morphisms of topoi

(9.1.3)
$$C_{X/\mathscr{S}}: \underline{\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}} \to \widetilde{\mathscr{E}}',$$

(9.1.4)
$$C_{X/\mathscr{S},\mathrm{fppf}} : \underbrace{\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}}_{\mathrm{fppf}} \to \widetilde{\mathscr{E}}'_{\mathrm{fppf}}$$

such that the pullback functor is induced by the composition with ρ . They fit into a commutative diagram (7.16.1)



One of the main results in this section is the following.

THEOREM 9.2 (cf. [32] 1.4.6). – For any smooth k-scheme X, the morphism $C_{X/\mathscr{S}, \text{fppf}} : \widetilde{\underline{\mathscr{E}}}_{\text{fppf}} \to \widetilde{\mathscr{E}}'_{\text{fppf}}$ is an equivalence of topoi.

The theorem follows from 9.3, 9.8 and 9.10.

PROPOSITION 9.3 (cf. [32] 1.4.1). – (i) The functor ρ (9.1.2) is fully faithful.

(ii) Equipped with the Zariski topology (7.9) (resp. fppf topology (7.13)) on both sides, the functor ρ is continuous and cocontinuous ([3] III 1.1, 2.1).

LEMMA 9.4. – Let Y, Z be two k-schemes and $g_1, g_2 : \underline{Y} \to Z$ two k-morphisms. We put $h_i = g'_i \circ f_{Y/k} : Y \to \underline{Y}' \to Z'$ (9.1.1) for i = 1, 2. If $h_1 = h_2$, then $g_1 = g_2$.

Proof. – Let U be an affine open subscheme of Z. Since $f_{Y/k}$ is a homeomorphism and $h_1 = h_2$, we have $g_1^{-1}(U) = g_2^{-1}(U)$. Hence we can reduce to case where Z is affine.

Since the morphism $f_{Y/k}$ is scheme theoretically dominant (2.3), we deduce that $g'_1 = g'_2$ by ([22] 5.4.1). The functor $X \mapsto X'$ from the category of k-schemes to itself is clearly faithful. Then the lemma follows.

LEMMA 9.5. – Let (U, \mathfrak{T}, u) be an object of $\underline{\mathscr{C}}$ and $g : (V', \mathfrak{Z}, w) \to \rho(U, \mathfrak{T}, u)$ a morphism of \mathscr{E}' . Then there exist an object (V, \mathfrak{Z}, v) of $\underline{\mathscr{C}}$ and a morphism $f : (V, \mathfrak{Z}, v) \to (U, \mathfrak{T}, u)$ of $\underline{\mathscr{C}}$ such that $g = \rho(f)$. If g is Cartesian (resp. flat), so is f.

Proof. – Put $V = F_{U/k}^{-1}(V')$. Since the composition $Z \to T \xrightarrow{u' \circ f_{T/k}} U'$ factors through $V' \subset U'$, the composition $\underline{Z} \to \underline{T} \xrightarrow{u} U$ factors through V. We obtain a *k*-morphism $v : \underline{Z} \to V$ such that $w = v' \circ f_{Z/k}$. Since $f_{Z/k}$ is separated, v' is affine ([18] 1.6.2(v)) and so is v. Hence, we get an object (V, \mathfrak{Z}, v) of $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$ and a morphism $f : (V, \mathfrak{Z}, v) \to (U, \mathfrak{T}, u)$ of $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$ such that $g = \rho(f)$. □

9.6. – Proof of 9.3. (i) The functor ρ is clearly faithful. We prove its fullness. Let $(U_1, \mathfrak{T}_1, u_1), (U_2, \mathfrak{T}_2, u_2)$ be two objects of $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$ and $g : \rho(U_1, \mathfrak{T}_1, u_1) \to \rho(U_2, \mathfrak{T}_2, u_2)$ a morphism of \mathscr{E}' . Since $U'_1 \subset U'_2 \subset U'$, we have $U_1 \subset U_2 \subset U$. It suffices to show that the diagram



is commutative. It follows from 9.4 applied to the compositions $\underline{T_1} \xrightarrow{u_1} U_1 \to U_2$ and $T_1 \to T_2 \xrightarrow{u_2} U_2$.

(ii) A family of morphisms $\{(U_i, \mathfrak{T}_i) \to (U, \mathfrak{T})\}_{i \in I}$ of $\underline{\mathscr{C}}$ belongs to $\operatorname{Cov}(U, \mathfrak{T})$ (resp. $\operatorname{Cov}_{\operatorname{fppf}}(U, \mathfrak{T})$) if and only if, its image by ρ belongs to $\operatorname{Cov}(\rho(U, \mathfrak{T}))$ (resp. $\operatorname{Cov}_{\operatorname{fppf}}(\rho(U, \mathfrak{T}))$). The functor ρ sends flat morphisms to flat morphisms and it commutes with the fibered product of a flat morphism and a morphism of $\underline{\mathscr{C}}$. Indeed, by functoriality, if $T_1 \to T$ and $T_2 \to T$ are two morphisms of k-schemes, the canonical morphism $f_{T_1/k} \times f_{T_2/k} : T_1 \times_T T_2 \to \underline{T_1}' \times_{\underline{T'}} \underline{T_2}'$ is equal to the composition $T_1 \times_T T_2 \to (\underline{T_1} \times_T \underline{T_2})' \to (\underline{T_1} \times_{\underline{T}} \underline{T_2})' = \underline{T_1}' \times_{\underline{T'}} \underline{T_2}'$. Then the continuity of ρ follows from ([3] III 1.6).

Let $\{(U'_i, \mathfrak{T}_i) \to \rho(U, \mathfrak{T})\}_{i \in I}$ be an element of $\operatorname{Cov}(\rho(U, \mathfrak{T}))$ (resp. $\operatorname{Cov}_{\operatorname{fppf}}(\rho(U, \mathfrak{T}))$). By 9.5, there exists an element $\{(U_i, \mathfrak{T}_i) \to (U, \mathfrak{T})\}_{i \in I}$ of $\operatorname{Cov}(U, \mathfrak{T})$ (resp. $\operatorname{Cov}_{\operatorname{fppf}}(U, \mathfrak{T})$) mapping by ρ to the given element. Then, ρ is cocontinuous by ([3] III 2.1). \Box

9.7. – To prove 9.2, we use (local) liftings of the Frobenius morphism to construct fppf converings. Let X be an affine scheme and $h: X \to Y = \text{Spec}(k[T_1, \ldots, T_d])$ an étale morphism. By ([24] 3.2), the following diagram is Cartesian (2.2)

We put $\mathfrak{Y} = \operatorname{Spf}(W{T_1, \ldots, T_d})$ and we denote by $F_{\mathfrak{Y}} : \mathfrak{Y} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ the affine morphism defined by $\sigma : W \to W$ and $T_i \mapsto T_i^p$. Since X is étale over Y, there exists a unique deformation \mathfrak{X} of X over \mathfrak{Y} up to a unique isomorphism. The formal scheme $\mathfrak{X} \times_{\mathfrak{Y}, F_{\mathfrak{Y}}} \mathfrak{Y}$ is also a deformation of $X = X \times_{Y, F_Y} Y$ over \mathfrak{Y} . Then we deduce a Cartesian diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} (9.7.2) & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\$$

In particular, we obtain a morphism of finite type $F_{\mathfrak{X}} : \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}$ above σ , which lifts the absolute Frobenius morphism F_X of X. We put $\mathfrak{X}' = \mathfrak{X} \times_{\mathscr{S},\sigma} \mathscr{S}$. Then we obtain an \mathscr{S} -morphism of finite type $F_{\mathfrak{X}/\mathscr{S}} : \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}'$ which lifts the relative Frobenius morphism $F_{X/k}$. Since X is smooth, the morphism $F_{X/k} : X \to X'$ is faithfully flat (cf. [24] 3.2). Hence $\{F_{\mathfrak{X}/\mathscr{S}} : \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}'\}$ is an fppf covering in the sense of 7.11.

LEMMA 9.8. – Let (U', \mathfrak{T}, u) be an object of $\mathscr{E}', U = F_{X/k}^{-1}(U')$. Suppose that U is affine and that there exists an étale k-morphism $U \to \operatorname{Spec}(k[T_1, \ldots, T_d])$.

(i) There exists an object (U,\mathfrak{Z}) of $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$ and an element $\{f : \rho(U,\mathfrak{Z}) \to (U',\mathfrak{T})\}$ of $\operatorname{Cov}_{\operatorname{fppf}}(U',\mathfrak{T})$.

(ii) Let $g : (U'_1, \mathfrak{T}_1) \to (U', \mathfrak{T})$ be a morphism of \mathscr{E}' . Then there exists a morphism $h : (U_1, \mathfrak{Z}_1) \to (U, \mathfrak{Z})$ of $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$ and an element $\{\varphi : \rho(U_1, \mathfrak{Z}_1) \to (U'_1, \mathfrak{T}_1)\}$

of $\operatorname{Cov}_{\operatorname{fppf}}(U'_1, \mathfrak{T}_1)$ such that the following diagram is Cartesian:

(9.8.1)
$$\rho(U_1, \mathfrak{Z}_1) \xrightarrow{\varphi} (U'_1, \mathfrak{T}_1)$$
$$\rho(h) \bigg| \qquad \Box \qquad \bigg| g \\ \rho(U, \mathfrak{Z}) \xrightarrow{f} (U', \mathfrak{T}).$$

If g is a Cartesian morphism so is h.

Proof. – (i) We follow the proof of ([32] 1.4.5). Let \mathfrak{U} be a smooth lifting of U over \mathscr{S} and $F : \mathfrak{U} \to \mathfrak{U}'$ a lifting of $F_{U/k}$ as in 9.7. Note that U' is affine. Since the morphism u is affine, T and \mathfrak{T} are affine. Since \mathfrak{U}' is smooth over \mathscr{S} , there exists an \mathscr{S} -morphism $\tau : \mathfrak{T} \to \mathfrak{U}'$ which lifts u. We consider the following commutative diagram:



We set $\mathfrak{Z} = \mathfrak{T} \times_{\mathfrak{U}'} \mathfrak{U}$, $Z = T \times_{U'} U$ and we denote the composition $\underline{Z} \to Z \to U$ by v. Then we obtain an object (U, \mathfrak{Z}, v) of $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$. By (9.8.2), one verifies that the diagram

is commutative. Then, we obtain a morphism $\rho(U, \mathfrak{Z}, v) \to (U', \mathfrak{T}, u)$ of \mathscr{E}' . Since $\{F : \mathfrak{U} \to \mathfrak{U}'\}$ is an fppf covering, $\{\rho(U, \mathfrak{Z}, v) \to (U', \mathfrak{T}, u)\}$ is an element of $\operatorname{Cov}_{\operatorname{fppf}}(U', \mathfrak{T})$.

(ii) The morphism f is flat. We denote by (U'_1, \mathfrak{Z}_1) the fibered product $\rho(U,\mathfrak{Z}) \times_{(U',\mathfrak{T})} (U'_1,\mathfrak{T}_1)$ in \mathscr{E} . By applying 9.5 to the projection $(U'_1,\mathfrak{Z}_1) \to \rho(U,\mathfrak{Z})$, we obtain the Cartesian diagram (9.8.1). Since φ is the base change of f, φ is an element of $\operatorname{Cov}_{\operatorname{fppf}}(U'_1,\mathfrak{T}_1)$.

The following lemma is a complement of 9.8 and will be used in the proof of 9.13 below.

LEMMA 9.9. – Let X be a k-scheme and (U', \mathfrak{T}) an object of \mathscr{E}' , (U, \mathfrak{Z}) an object of $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$ and $\{\rho(U, \mathfrak{Z}) \to (U', \mathfrak{T})\}$ an element of $\operatorname{Cov}_{\operatorname{fppf}}(U', \mathfrak{T})$. Then there exists an object $(U, \mathfrak{Z} \times_{\mathfrak{T}} \mathfrak{Z})$ of $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$ and two morphisms $p_1, p_2 : (U, \mathfrak{Z} \times_{\mathfrak{T}} \mathfrak{Z}) \to (U, \mathfrak{Z})$ such that $\rho(U, \mathfrak{Z} \times_{\mathfrak{T}} \mathfrak{Z}) = \rho(U, \mathfrak{Z}) \times_{(U', \mathfrak{T})} \rho(U, \mathfrak{Z}) \text{ and that } \rho(p_1) \text{ (resp. } \rho(p_2)) \text{ is the projection } \rho(U, \mathfrak{Z}) \times_{(U', \mathfrak{T})} \rho(U, \mathfrak{Z}) \rightarrow \rho(U, \mathfrak{Z}) \text{ on the first (resp. second) component.}$

Proof. – By applying 9.5 to the projection $\rho(U,\mathfrak{Z}) \times_{(U',\mathfrak{T})} \rho(U,\mathfrak{Z}) \rightarrow \rho(U,\mathfrak{Z})$ on the first component, we obtain an object $(U,\mathfrak{Z} \times_{\mathfrak{T}} \mathfrak{Z})$ of $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$ and a morphism $p_1: (U,\mathfrak{Z} \times_{\mathfrak{T}} \mathfrak{Z}) \rightarrow (U,\mathfrak{Z})$ as in the proposition. The existence of p_2 follows from the fullness of ρ (9.3(i)).

We conclude Theorem 9.2 by a general result on topoi due to Oyama [32] which we do not repeat the proof.

PROPOSITION 9.10 ([32] 4.2.1). – Let \mathscr{C} be a site, \mathscr{D} a site whose topology is defined by a pretopology and $u : \mathscr{C} \to \mathscr{D}$ a functor. Assume that:

- (i) *u* is fully faithful,
- (ii) u is continuous and cocontinuous,
- (iii) For every object V of \mathscr{D} , there exists a covering of V in \mathscr{D} of the form $\{u(U_i) \to V\}_{i \in I}$ where U_i is an object of \mathscr{C} .

Then the morphism of topoi $g: \widetilde{\mathscr{C}} \to \widetilde{\mathscr{D}}$ defined by $g^* = \hat{u}^*$ and $g_* = \hat{u}_*$ (7.15) is an equivalence of topoi.

9.11. – Let \mathscr{F} be a sheaf of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}'$ (resp. $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}'_{\text{fppf}}$), $\{\mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}, \gamma_{f,\mathscr{F}}\}$ the descent data associated to \mathscr{F} (7.7) and $\{C^*(\mathscr{F})_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}, \gamma_{f,C^*(\mathscr{F})}\}$ the descent data associated to $C^*_{X/\mathscr{S}}(\mathscr{F})$ (resp. $C^*_{X/\mathscr{S},\text{fppf}}(\mathscr{F})$). Since ρ takes Cartesian morphisms to Cartesian morphisms (7.4), for any object (U,\mathfrak{T}) of $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$, we have

(9.11.1)
$$\mathbf{C}^*(\mathscr{F})_{(U,\mathfrak{T})} = \pi_{U*}(\mathscr{F}_{\rho(U,\mathfrak{T})})$$

where π_U denotes the equivalence of topoi $U'_{\text{zar}} \xrightarrow{\sim} U_{\text{zar}}$. For any morphism $f: (U_1, \mathfrak{T}_1) \to (U_2, \mathfrak{T}_2)$ of $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$, we verify that

(9.11.2)
$$\gamma_{f,\mathcal{C}^*(\mathscr{F})} = \pi_{U_1*}(\gamma_{\rho(f),\mathscr{F}}).$$

We verify that, by definition

$$(9.11.3) C^*_{X/\mathscr{S}}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E}',n}) = \mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},n} (resp. C^*_{X/\mathscr{S}, fppf}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E}',n}) = \mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},n}).$$

The morphism $C_{X/\mathscr{S}}$ (resp. $C_{X/\mathscr{S}, \text{fppf}}$) is therefore underlying a morphism of ringed topoi, which we denote also by

$$(9.11.5) \qquad (\text{resp. } \mathbf{C}_{X/\mathscr{S}, \text{fppf}} : (\underbrace{\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}}_{\text{fppf}}, \mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}}, n}) \to (\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}_{\text{fppf}}, \mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E}', n})).$$

Let \mathscr{F}' be a quasi-coherent $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E}',n}$ -module of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}'$. By (9.11.1), $C^*_{X/\mathscr{S}}(\mathscr{F}')$ is also quasi-coherent. For any object (U,\mathfrak{T}) of $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$, we have an equality of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{T}_n}$ -modules of $\mathfrak{T}_{n,zar}$ (9.11.1)

(9.11.6)
$$(\mathbf{C}^*_{X/\mathscr{S}}(\mathscr{F}'))_{(U,\mathfrak{T})} = \mathscr{F}'_{\rho(U,\mathfrak{T})}.$$

THEOREM 9.12 (cf. [32] 1.4.3 for n = 1). – Let X be a smooth scheme over k. The inverse image and the direct image functors of $C_{X/S}$ induce equivalences of categories quasi-inverse to each other (8.3)

(9.12.1)
$$\mathscr{C}^{\operatorname{qcoh}}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E}',n}) \rightleftharpoons \mathscr{C}^{\operatorname{qcoh}}(\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},n}).$$

The theorem follows from 8.9 and 9.13 below.

PROPOSITION 9.13. – Let X be a smooth k-scheme. The inverse image and the direct image functors of the morphism $C_{X/\mathscr{S}, \text{fppf}}$ (9.11.5) induce equivalences of categories quasi-inverse to each other:

(9.13.1)
$$\mathscr{C}^{\operatorname{qcoh}}_{\operatorname{fppf}}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E}',n}) \rightleftharpoons \mathscr{C}^{\operatorname{qcoh}}_{\operatorname{fppf}}(\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},n}).$$

Proof. – We write simply C for $C_{X/\mathscr{S}, \text{fppf}}$. By 9.2, it suffices to show that the functors C^{*} and C_{*} preserve quasi-coherent crystals. The assertion for C^{*} follows from (9.11.1) and (9.11.2).

Let \mathscr{F} be a quasi-coherent crystal of $\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},n}$ -modules of $\underline{\mathscr{E}}_{\mathrm{fppf}}$ and (U',\mathfrak{T},u) an object of \mathscr{E}' . We first show that $(C_*(\mathscr{F}))_{(U',\mathfrak{T})}$ is quasi-coherent. The statement is local, therefore we may assume that $U = F_{X/k}^{-1}(U')$ satisfies the condition of 9.8, i.e., U is affine and there exists an étale k-morphism $U \to \mathbb{A}_k^d$. Then, by 9.8(i) and 9.9, there exist objects (U,\mathfrak{Z}) and $(U,\mathfrak{Z}\times_{\mathfrak{T}}\mathfrak{Z})$ of $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$, an element $\{f:\rho(U,\mathfrak{Z})\to (U',\mathfrak{T})\}$ of $\mathrm{Cov}_{\mathrm{fppf}}(U',\mathfrak{T})$ and two morphisms $p_1, p_2: (U,\mathfrak{Z}\times_{\mathfrak{T}}\mathfrak{Z}) \to (U,\mathfrak{Z})$ such that $\rho(U,\mathfrak{Z}\times_{\mathfrak{T}}\mathfrak{Z}) = \rho(U,\mathfrak{Z}) \times_{(U',\mathfrak{T})} \rho(U,\mathfrak{Z})$ and that $\rho(p_1)$ and $\rho(p_2)$ are the canonical projections of $\rho(U,\mathfrak{Z}) \times_{(U',\mathfrak{T})} \rho(U,\mathfrak{Z})$ (9.9). In particular, the morphism $\mathfrak{Z}\times_{\mathfrak{T}}\mathfrak{Z} \to \mathfrak{Z}$ attached to p_1 (resp. p_2) is the projection on the first (resp. second) component.

Since the adjunction morphism $C^* C_* \rightarrow id$ is an isomorphism (9.2), we have (9.11.1)

$$(9.13.2) \quad \pi_{U*}((\mathcal{C}_*(\mathscr{F}))_{\rho(U,\mathfrak{Z})}) = \mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{Z})}, \qquad \pi_{U*}((\mathcal{C}_*(\mathscr{F}))_{\rho(U,\mathfrak{Z}\times\mathfrak{T})}) = \mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{Z}\times\mathfrak{T})}$$

By 8.4, we consider $\mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{Z})}$ (resp. $\mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{Z}\times\mathfrak{T}\mathfrak{Z})}$) as a quasi-coherent $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{Z}_n}$ -module of Z_{zar} (resp. $(\mathscr{O}_{(\mathfrak{Z}\times\mathfrak{T}\mathfrak{Z})_n})$ -module of $(Z\times_T Z)_{\operatorname{zar}}$). Since \mathscr{F} is a crystal, we have $(\mathscr{O}_{(\mathfrak{Z}\times\mathfrak{T}\mathfrak{Z})_n})$ -linear isomorphisms

$$(9.13.3) p_{2,n}^*(\mathscr{F}_{(U,3)}) \xrightarrow{c_{p_2}} \mathscr{F}_{(U,3\times\mathfrak{T}3)} \xleftarrow{c_{p_1}}{\sim} p_{1,n}^*(\mathscr{F}_{(U,3)}).$$

We define $\varphi: p_2^*(\mathscr{F}_{(U,3)}) \to p_1^*(\mathscr{F}_{(U,3)})$ to be the composition of c_{p_2} and the inverse of c_{p_1} . Thus, we obtain a effective descent datum $(\mathscr{F}_{(U,3)}, \varphi)$ for the fppf covering $\{f_n: \mathfrak{Z}_n \to \mathfrak{T}_n\}$. Therefore there exists a quasi-coherent $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{T}_n}$ -module \mathscr{M} of T_{zar} , a canonical $(\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{Z}_n})$ -linear isomorphism

$$(9.13.4) f_n^*(\mathscr{M}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{Z})}$$

and an exact sequence of $U_{\rm zar}$

$$(9.13.5) 0 \to \pi_{U*}(u_*(\mathscr{M})) \to \mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{Z})} \to \mathscr{F}_{(U,\mathfrak{Z}\times_\mathfrak{T}\mathfrak{Z})},$$

where $\mathscr{F}_{(U,3)}$ and $\mathscr{F}_{(U,3\times_{\mathfrak{T}}3)}$ are now considered as sheaves of U_{zar} .

On the other hand, since $C_*(\mathscr{F})$ is a sheaf, there exists an exact sequence of U'_{zar} (7.14.1)

$$(9.13.6) 0 \to (\mathcal{C}_*(\mathscr{F}))_{(U',\mathfrak{T})} \to (\mathcal{C}_*(\mathscr{F}))_{\rho(U,\mathfrak{Z})} \to (\mathcal{C}_*(\mathscr{F}))_{\rho(U,\mathfrak{Z}\times\mathfrak{T}\mathfrak{Z})}.$$

By (9.13.2), we obtain an $u_*(\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{T}_n})$ -linear isomorphism $u_*(\mathscr{M}) \xrightarrow{\sim} (\mathcal{C}_*(\mathscr{F}))_{(U',\mathfrak{T})}$ of U'_{zar} . In particular, $(\mathcal{C}_*(\mathscr{F}))_{(U',\mathfrak{T})}$ is quasi-coherent. Hence $\mathcal{C}_*(\mathscr{F})$ is quasi-coherent.

Let $g: (U_1', \mathfrak{T}_1) \to (U_2', \mathfrak{T}_2)$ be a morphism of \mathscr{E}' . We prove that the morphism (8.4.1)

$$(9.13.7) c_g: g_n^*(\mathbf{C}_*(\mathscr{F})_{(U_2',\mathfrak{T}_2)}) \to \mathbf{C}_*(\mathscr{F})_{(U_1',\mathfrak{T}_1)}$$

associated to $C_*(\mathscr{F})$ is an isomorphism. Since the problem is Zariski local, we may assume that U'_2 satisfies the condition of 9.8. By 9.8(ii), there exists a morphism h: $(U_1, \mathfrak{Z}_1) \to (U_2, \mathfrak{Z}_2)$ of $\underline{\mathscr{C}}$, an element $\{f_1 : \rho(U_1, \mathfrak{Z}_1) \to (U'_1, \mathfrak{T}_1)\}$ of $\operatorname{Cov}_{\operatorname{fppf}}(U'_1, \mathfrak{T}_1)$ and an element $\{f_2 : \rho(U_2, \mathfrak{Z}_2) \to (U'_2, \mathfrak{T}_2)\}$ of $\operatorname{Cov}_{\operatorname{fppf}}(U'_2, \mathfrak{T}_2)$ such that the following diagram is Cartesian

By 9.9 and repeating the previous fppf descent argument, we have a canonical isomorphism (9.13.4)

(9.13.9)
$$f_{i,n}^*(\mathbf{C}_*(\mathscr{F})_{(U'_i,\mathfrak{T}_i)}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{F}_{(U_i,\mathfrak{Z}_i)},$$

for i = 1, 2. Furthermore, since \mathscr{F} is a crystal, we have an isomorphism

$$(9.13.10) c_h: h_n^*(\mathscr{F}_{(U_2,\mathfrak{Z}_2)}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{F}_{(U_1,\mathfrak{Z}_1)}.$$

In view of (9.11.2), (9.13.2), (9.13.8) and (9.13.9), the morphism

$$(9.13.11) f_{1,n}^*(c_g): f_{1,n}^*(g_n^*(\mathcal{C}_*(\mathscr{F})_{(U_2',\mathfrak{T}_2)})) \to f_{1,n}^*(\mathcal{C}_*(\mathscr{F})_{(U_1',\mathfrak{T}_1)})$$

is identical to c_h (9.13.10) and hence is an isomorphism. Since $f_{1,n} : \mathfrak{Z}_{1,n} \to \mathfrak{T}_{1,n}$ is faithfully flat, we deduce that c_g is an isomorphism. The proposition follows. \Box

DEFINITION 9.14. – Let X be a smooth k-scheme. We call Cartier equivalence (modulo p^n) the equivalence of categories (9.12.1)

$$(9.14.1) \qquad \qquad \mathbf{C}^*_{X/\mathscr{S}} : \mathscr{C}^{\operatorname{qcoh}}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E}',n}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{C}^{\operatorname{qcoh}}(\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},n}).$$

The above equivalence depends only on X and is different from the Cartier transform of Ogus-Vologodsky [31] which depends on a lifting of X' to W_2 . We will compare two constructions under the assumption that there exists a smooth lifting of X to W in § 12.

To simplify the notation, we write C^* for $C^*_{X/\mathscr{S}}$ if there is no confusion.

9.15. – The Cartier equivalence is compatible with localization with respect to an open subscheme. More precisely, let U be an open subscheme of X. The category $\mathscr{E}(U/\mathscr{S})$ (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}(U/\mathscr{S})$) forms naturally a full subcategory of $\mathscr{E}(X/\mathscr{S})$ (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}(X/\mathscr{S})$). Equipped with the Zariski topologies on both sides, the canonical functor $\mathscr{E}(U/\mathscr{S}) \to \mathscr{E}(X/\mathscr{S})$ (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}(U/\mathscr{S}) \to \mathscr{E}(X/\mathscr{S})$) is continuous and cocontinuous. It induces a morphism of topoi

$$(9.15.1) j_U: \widetilde{\mathscr{E}}(U/\mathscr{S}) \to \widetilde{\mathscr{E}}(X/\mathscr{S}) (\text{resp. } \underline{j}_U: \underline{\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}}(U/\mathscr{S}) \to \underline{\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}}(X/\mathscr{S}))$$

such that the inverse image functor is given by resctricting a sheaf of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}(X/\mathscr{S})$ to $\mathscr{E}(U/\mathscr{S})$ (resp. $\underline{\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}}(X/\mathscr{S})$ to $\underline{\mathscr{E}}(U/\mathscr{S})$). The above morphisms fit into a commutative diagram

Then we have a commutative diagram

9.16. – In the remainder of this section, \mathfrak{X} denotes a smooth formal \mathscr{S} -scheme with special fiber X. We set $\mathfrak{X}' = \mathfrak{X} \times_{\mathscr{S},\sigma} \mathscr{S}$ (2.1) and we suppose that there exists an \mathscr{S} -morphism $F : \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}'$ which lifts the relative Frobenius morphism $F_{X/k} : X \to X'$ of X. We show that the Cartier equivalence C^* (9.14.1) globalizes Shiho's local construction in §6 defined by F.

The morphism F induces a morphism of \mathcal{E}' that we denote also by

(9.16.1)
$$F: \rho(X, \mathfrak{X}) = (X', \mathfrak{X}, F_{X/k}) \to (X', \mathfrak{X}', \mathrm{id})$$

Recall that (6.6) the morphism F induces a morphism of formal groupoids $\psi: Q_{\mathfrak{X}} \to R_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ above F.

The following result explains the relation between the Cartier equivalence C^{*} and the functor ψ_n^* induced by ψ (5.6).

PROPOSITION 9.17. – Keep the assumption of 9.16. The diagram (9.13):



where the vertical arrows are the equivalences of categories defined in 8.10, is 2commutative. That is, there exists a functorial isomorphism of $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}$ -modules, depending on F

(9.17.2)
$$\eta_F: \psi_n^*(\mathscr{M}_{(X',\mathfrak{X}')}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{C}^*(\mathscr{M})_{(X,\mathfrak{X})}$$

compatible with the $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratifications, for every crystal \mathscr{M} of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E}',n}$ -modules of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}'$.

Proof. – Let \mathscr{M} be a crystal of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E}',n}$ -modules of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}'}$. By (9.11.1), we have

(9.17.3)
$$C^*(\mathscr{M})_{(X,\mathfrak{X})} = \pi_{X*}(\mathscr{M}_{\rho(X,\mathfrak{X})}).$$

Since \mathscr{M} is a crystal, F (9.16.1) induces a functorial isomorphism of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}$ -modules

(9.17.4)
$$\eta_F: F_n^*(\mathscr{M}_{(X',\mathfrak{X}')}) = \pi_{X*}(\widetilde{F}_n^*(\mathscr{M}_{(X',\mathfrak{X}')})) \xrightarrow{\sim} C^*(\mathscr{M})_{(X,\mathfrak{X})}.$$

The composition $Q_{\mathfrak{X},1} \to \underline{Q}_{\mathfrak{X},1}' \to X'$ (9.1.1) identifies with the morphism $g: Q_{\mathfrak{X},1} \to X'$ induced by $F^2: \mathfrak{X}^2 \to \mathfrak{X}'^2$ (6.6.2). Then, it follows from the proof of 6.6 that ψ induces a morphism of \mathscr{E}' that we denote also by

(9.17.5)
$$\psi: \rho(X, Q_{\mathfrak{X}}) \to (X', R_{\mathfrak{X}'}),$$

which fits into the following commutative diagrams

$$(9.17.6) \qquad \begin{array}{c} \rho(X,Q_{\mathfrak{X}}) \xrightarrow{\psi} (X',R_{\mathfrak{X}'}) & \rho(X,Q_{\mathfrak{X}}) \xrightarrow{\psi} (X',R_{\mathfrak{X}'}) \\ \rho(q_1) \middle| & \downarrow q'_1 & \rho(q_2) \middle| & \downarrow q'_2 \\ \rho(X,\mathfrak{X}) \xrightarrow{F} (X',\mathfrak{X}') & \rho(X,\mathfrak{X}) \xrightarrow{F} (X',\mathfrak{X}'), \end{array}$$

where q_1, q_2 (resp. q'_1, q'_2) are the canonical projections of $(X, Q_{\mathfrak{X}})$ to (X, \mathfrak{X}) (resp. $(X', R_{\mathfrak{X}'})$ to (X', \mathfrak{X}')). Hence, ψ (9.17.5) induces an isomorphism

(9.17.7)
$$\pi_{X*}(\widetilde{\psi}_n^*(\mathscr{M}_{(X',R_{\mathfrak{X}'})})) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathrm{C}^*(\mathscr{M})_{(X,Q_{\mathfrak{X}})}.$$

Recall that the left vertical functor of (9.17.1) is given by $\mathcal{M} \mapsto (\mathcal{M}_{(X',\mathfrak{X}')}, \varepsilon')$ where ε' is induced by isomorphisms $\widetilde{q}_{2,n}^{**}(\mathcal{M}_{(X',\mathfrak{X}')}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{M}_{(X',R_{\mathfrak{X}'})} \xleftarrow{\sim} \widetilde{q}_{1,n}^{*}(\mathcal{M}_{(X',\mathfrak{X}')})$. By 5.6, we have

(9.17.8)
$$\psi_n^*(\mathscr{M}_{(X',\mathfrak{X}')},\varepsilon') = (F_n^*(\mathscr{M}_{(X',\mathfrak{X}')}),\pi_{X*}(\widetilde{\psi}_n^*(\varepsilon'))).$$

On the other hand, the $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}$ -module associated to $\mathcal{C}^*(\mathscr{M})$ is $\mathcal{C}^*(\mathscr{M})_{(X,\mathfrak{X})}$ and the associated $\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratification is induced by the isomorphisms $\widetilde{q}^*_{2,n}(\mathcal{C}^*(\mathscr{M})_{(X,\mathfrak{X})}) \xrightarrow{\sim}$

 $C^*(\mathscr{M})_{(X,Q_{\mathfrak{X}})} \stackrel{\sim}{\leftarrow} \widetilde{q}^*_{1,n}(C^*(\mathscr{M})_{(X,\mathfrak{X})}).$ The proposition follows in view of (9.17.6), (9.17.2) and (9.17.7).

9.18. – Keep the assumption of 9.16. Recall that the morphisms of formal \mathfrak{X} -groupoids $\varpi' : T_{\mathfrak{X}'} \to R_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ (5.13.1) and $\lambda : P_{\mathfrak{X}} \to Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (5.12.1) induce functors

$$(9.18.2) \qquad \qquad \lambda_n^*: \{ \inf \mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{X}} \text{-stratification} \} \to \{ \inf \mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{X}} \text{-stratification} \}.$$

By 5.11, 5.17 and 8.10, they further induce functors

(9.18.3)
$$\mu: \mathscr{C}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E}',n}) \to p\text{-}\mathrm{MIC}^{\mathrm{qn}}(\mathfrak{X}'_n/\mathscr{S}_n),$$

(9.18.4)
$$\nu : \mathscr{C}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n}) \to \mathrm{MIC}^{\mathrm{qn}}(\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n).$$

By (6.9.2), 6.10 and 9.17, the diagrams

where the functors ψ_n^* , φ_n^* and Φ_n are induced by F, are commutative up to a functorial isomorphism of $\operatorname{MIC}^{\operatorname{qn}}(\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n)$. For every object \mathscr{M} of $\mathscr{C}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E}',n})$, we have a functorial isomorphism

(9.18.6)
$$\eta_F: \Phi_n(\mu(\mathscr{M})) \xrightarrow{\sim} \nu(\mathcal{C}^*(\mathscr{M})).$$

We see that the Cartier equivalence C^* (9.14.1) is compatible with Shiho's functor Φ_n (6.1.5).

In the remainder of this section, we will explain how to relate Shiho's local constructions with respect to different liftings of Frobenius morphism using Cartier equivalence.

Let $F_1, F_2 : \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}'$ denote two liftings of the relative Frobenius morphism $F_{X/k}$ of X.
LEMMA 9.19. – The morphisms F_1, F_2 induce a morphism of \mathcal{E}'

(9.19.1)
$$\psi_{12}: \rho(X, Q_{\mathfrak{X}}) \to (X', R_{\mathfrak{X}'}).$$

Proof. – The proof is similar to that of 6.6. By the universal property of $R_{\mathfrak{X}'}$, it suffices to show that there exists a unique k-morphism $g: Q_{\mathfrak{X},1} \to X'$ which fits into a commutative diagram



The problem being local on \mathfrak{X} , we can assume that there exists an étale \mathscr{S} -morphism $\mathfrak{X} \to \widehat{\mathbb{A}}^d_{\mathscr{S}} = \operatorname{Spf}(W\{T_1, \ldots, T_d\})$. We put t_i the image of T_i in $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}, \xi_i = 1 \otimes t_i - t_i \otimes 1, t'_i = \pi^*(t_i) \in \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ and $\xi'_i = 1 \otimes t'_i - t'_i \otimes 1$ for all $1 \leq i \leq d$. Locally, there exists sections a_i, b_i of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ such that $F_1^*(t'_i) = t_i^p + pa_i, F_2^*(t'_i) = t_i^p + pb_i$. By a similar calculation of (6.6.3), we have

$$(9.19.3) (F_1, F_2)^*(\xi_i') = \xi_i^p + \sum_{j=1}^{p-1} {p \choose j} \xi_k^j (t_k \otimes 1)^{p-j} + p(1 \otimes b_k - a_k \otimes 1).$$

Since $\xi_i^p = p \cdot \left(\frac{\xi_i^p}{p}\right)$ in $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$, the assertion follows.

9.20. – Keep the assumption of 9.19, we denote by α the composition

(9.20.1)
$$\alpha: (X', \mathfrak{X}, F_{X/k}) = \rho(X, \mathfrak{X}) \xrightarrow{\rho(\iota_Q)} \rho(X, Q_{\mathfrak{X}}) \xrightarrow{\psi_{12}} (X', R_{\mathfrak{X}'})$$

We set $q'_1, q'_2 : (X', R_{\mathfrak{X}'}) \to (X', \mathfrak{X}')$ the canonical morphisms of \mathscr{E}' and we have $q'_i \circ \alpha = F_i$ (9.16.1).

Considering $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ as a formal Hopf $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ -algebra of \mathfrak{X}_{zar} , α induces a W-homomorphism of \mathfrak{X}_{zar} :

$$(9.20.2) a: \mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X}'} \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}.$$

Equipped with the left (resp. right) $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ -linear action on the source and the $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ -linear action induced by F_1 (resp. F_2) on the target, a is $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ -linear.

Suppose that there exists an étale \mathscr{S} -morphism $\mathfrak{X} \to \widehat{\mathbb{A}}^d_{\mathscr{S}} = \operatorname{Spf}(W\{T_1, \ldots, T_d\})$ and we take again the notation of the proof of 9.19. In view of (9.19.3), the homomorphism *a* is determined by

(9.20.3)
$$a\left(\frac{\xi_{i}}{p}\right) = \frac{F_{2}^{*}(t_{i}') - F_{1}^{*}(t_{i}')}{p} \quad \forall \ 1 \le i \le d$$

9.21. – Let \mathscr{M} be a crystal of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E}',n}$ -modules, $\mathscr{M} = \mathscr{M}_{(X',\mathfrak{X}')}$ and $\varepsilon': \widetilde{q}_{2,n}'(\mathscr{M}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \widetilde{q}_{1,n}'(\mathscr{M})$ the associated $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ -stratification (8.10). Recall (9.17) that the morphisms F_1 and F_2 induce morphisms $\psi_1, \psi_2: \rho(X, Q_{\mathfrak{X}}) \to (X', R_{\mathfrak{X}'})$ of \mathscr{E}' respectively. We associate to $(\mathscr{M}, \varepsilon')$ two different $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}$ -modules with $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratification

$$(9.21.1) (F_{1,n}^*(\mathcal{M}), \pi_{X*}(\widetilde{\psi}_{1,n}^*(\varepsilon'))) \quad \text{and} \quad (F_{2,n}^*(\mathcal{M}), \pi_{X*}(\widetilde{\psi}_{2,n}^*(\varepsilon'))).$$

Let $\Phi_{1,n}$ (resp. $\Phi_{2,n}$) be Shiho's functor induced by F_1 (resp. F_2) (6.1.5). We associate to \mathscr{M} two different objects of $\mathrm{MIC}^{\mathrm{qn}}(\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n)$ (9.18.5)

(9.21.2)
$$\Phi_{1,n}(\mu(\mathscr{M}))$$
 and $\Phi_{2,n}(\mu(\mathscr{M})),$

whose underlying $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}$ -modules are $F^*_{1,n}(\mathscr{M})$ and $F^*_{2,n}(\mathscr{M})$ respectively.

The morphism α gives a natural way to glue $\Phi_{1,n}(\mu(\mathscr{M})), \Phi_{2,n}(\mu(\mathscr{M})).$

PROPOSITION 9.22. – Keep the assumption of 9.21. The morphism α and the $\mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ -stratification ε' induce an isomorphism of $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}$ -modules with $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratification:

$$(9.22.1) \qquad \alpha^*(\varepsilon'): (F_{2,n}^*(\mathcal{M}), \pi_{X*}(\bar{\psi}_{2,n}^*(\varepsilon'))) \xrightarrow{\sim} (F_{1,n}^*(\mathcal{M}), \pi_{X*}(\bar{\psi}_{1,n}^*(\varepsilon'))) \xrightarrow{\sim} (F_{1,n}^*(\mathcal{M}), \pi_{X*}(\bar{\psi}_{1,n}^*(\varepsilon')))$$

such that $\eta_{F_2} = \eta_{F_1} \circ \alpha^*(\varepsilon')$ (9.17.2).

Proof. – We denote by $q_1, q_2 : (X, Q_{\mathfrak{X}}) \to (X, \mathfrak{X})$ the canonical morphisms of $\underline{\mathscr{C}}$, by $q'_1, q'_2 : (X', R_{\mathfrak{X}'}) \to (X', \mathfrak{X}')$ the canonical morphisms of \mathscr{C}' and by $q'_{ij} : (X', R_{\mathfrak{X}'}(2)) \to (X', R_{\mathfrak{X}'})$ the morphism induced by $R_{\mathfrak{X}'}(2) \to \mathfrak{X}'^3 \xrightarrow{p'_{ij}} \mathfrak{X}'^2$ and the universal property of $R_{\mathfrak{X}}$ for all $1 \leq i < j \leq 3$ (cf. (4.11.1)).

Since $F_i = q'_i \circ \alpha$ for i = 1, 2, the isomorphism $\varepsilon' : \widetilde{q}'^*_{2,n}(\mathcal{M}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \widetilde{q}'^*_{1,n}(\mathcal{M})$ induces an isomorphism

(9.22.2)
$$\pi_{X*}(\widetilde{\alpha}_n^*(\varepsilon')): \widetilde{F}_{2,n}^*(\mathscr{M}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \widetilde{F}_{1,n}^*(\mathscr{M}).$$

We write simply $\alpha^*(\varepsilon')$ for $\pi_{X*}(\tilde{\alpha}_n^*(\varepsilon'))$. Then we have $\eta_{F_2} = \eta_{F_1} \circ \alpha^*(\varepsilon')$. It remains to show that the $\alpha^*(\varepsilon')$ is compatible with the $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratifications on both sides.

The compositions of morphisms

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{X}^2 \xrightarrow{p_1} \mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{\Delta} \mathfrak{X}^2 \xrightarrow{(F_1,F_2)} \mathfrak{X}'^2 \xrightarrow{p'_2} \mathfrak{X}' \\ \mathfrak{X}^2 \xrightarrow{(F_2,F_2)} \mathfrak{X}'^2 \xrightarrow{p'_1} \mathfrak{X}' \end{split}$$

are equal. We deduce that the compositions of morphisms of \mathscr{E}'

$$\begin{split} \rho(X,Q_{\mathfrak{X}}) &\xrightarrow{\rho(q_1)} \rho(X,\mathfrak{X}) \xrightarrow{\alpha} (X',R_{\mathfrak{X}'}) \xrightarrow{q'_2} (X',\mathfrak{X}') \\ \rho(X,Q_{\mathfrak{X}}) &\xrightarrow{\psi_2} (X',R_{\mathfrak{X}'}) \xrightarrow{q'_1} (X',\mathfrak{X}') \end{split}$$

are equal. In view of the isomorphism $(X', R_{\mathfrak{X}'}(2)) \simeq (X', R_{\mathfrak{X}'}) \times_{(X', \mathfrak{X}')} (X', R_{\mathfrak{X}'})$ of \mathscr{E}' (4.10.1), we obtain a morphism of \mathscr{E}'

$$(9.22.3) u: \rho(X, Q_{\mathfrak{X}}) \to (X', R_{\mathfrak{X}'}(2)),$$

such that $\alpha \circ \rho(q_1) = q'_{12} \circ u$ and $\psi_2 = q'_{23} \circ u$. Symmetrically, we construct a morphism of \mathscr{E}'

$$(9.22.4) v: \rho(X, Q_{\mathfrak{X}}) \to (X', R_{\mathfrak{X}'}(2)),$$

such that $\psi_1 = q'_{12} \circ v$ and $\alpha \circ \rho(q_2) = q'_{23} \circ v$. The compositions

$$\begin{array}{c} \mathfrak{X}^2 \xrightarrow{(\iota_1, \iota_1, \iota_2)} \mathfrak{X}^3 \xrightarrow{(F_1, F_2, F_2)} \mathfrak{X}'^3 \xrightarrow{p'_{13}} \mathfrak{X}'^2 \\ \mathfrak{X}^2 \xrightarrow{(\iota_1, \iota_2, \iota_2)} \mathfrak{X}^3 \xrightarrow{(F_1, F_1, F_2)} \mathfrak{X}'^3 \xrightarrow{p'_{13}} \mathfrak{X}'^2 \end{array}$$

are equal to $(F_1, F_2) : \mathfrak{X}^2 \to \mathfrak{X}'^2$. By the universal property of $R_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ (3.5), we deduce that $q'_{13} \circ u = q'_{13} \circ v = \psi_{12}$ (9.19), i.e., the compositions

(9.22.5)
$$\rho(X, Q_{\mathfrak{X}}) \xrightarrow[v]{u} (X', R_{\mathfrak{X}'}(2)) \xrightarrow{q'_{13}} (X', R_{\mathfrak{X}'})$$

are equal to ψ_{12} . By (9.17.6), we have $\widetilde{\psi}^*_{i,n}(\widetilde{q}'^*_{j,n}(\mathscr{M})) \simeq \widetilde{q}^*_{j,n}(\widetilde{F}^*_{i,n}(\mathscr{M}))$ for all i, j = 1, 2. By the cocycle condition $\widetilde{q}'^*_{12,n}(\varepsilon') \circ \widetilde{q}'^*_{23,n}(\varepsilon') = \widetilde{q}'^*_{13,n}(\varepsilon')$, we deduce a commutative diagram:

$$(9.22.6) \qquad \qquad \widetilde{\psi}_{2,n}^{*}(\widetilde{q}_{2,n}^{\prime*}(\mathcal{M})) \xrightarrow{\psi_{2,n}^{*}(\varepsilon^{\prime})} \widetilde{\psi}_{2,n}^{*}(\widetilde{q}_{1,n}^{\prime*}(\mathcal{M})) \\ \left. \begin{array}{c} \widetilde{q}_{2,n}^{*}(\widetilde{\alpha}_{n}^{*}(\varepsilon^{\prime})) \\ \widetilde{q}_{1,n}^{*}(\widetilde{\alpha}_{n}^{*}(\varepsilon^{\prime})) \\ \widetilde{\psi}_{1,n}^{*}(\widetilde{q}_{2,n}^{\prime*}(\mathcal{M})) \xrightarrow{\widetilde{\psi}_{1,n}^{*}(\varepsilon^{\prime})} \widetilde{\psi}_{1,n}^{*}(\widetilde{q}_{1,n}^{\prime*}(\mathcal{M})). \end{array} \right.$$

That is the isomorphism $\alpha^*(\varepsilon')$ is compatible with the $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratifications $\pi_{X*}(\widetilde{\psi}_{2,n}^*(\varepsilon'))$ and $\pi_{X*}(\widetilde{\psi}_{1,n}^*(\varepsilon'))$.

COROLLARY 9.23. – Keep the assumption of 9.21. The isomorphism (9.22.1) induces an isomorphism of $MIC^{qn}(\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n)$ (9.21.2)

(9.23.1)
$$\alpha^*(\varepsilon') : \Phi_{2,n}(\mu(\mathscr{M})) \xrightarrow{\sim} \Phi_{1,n}(\mu(\mathscr{M}))$$

such that $\eta_{F_2} = \eta_{F_1} \circ \alpha^*(\varepsilon')$ (9.18.6).

It follows from (9.18.5) and 9.22.

REMARK 9.24. – Given a lifting of the Frobenius morphism, Shiho's functor (6.1.4) applies to $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{X}'_n}$ -modules with integrable *p*-connection. However, the isomorphism (9.23.1), which glues local constructions of Shiho, depends on the $\mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ -stratification on the $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{X}'_n}$ -module $\mathcal{M}_{(X',\mathfrak{X}')}$.

CHAPTER 10

CARTIER TRANSFORM OF OGUS-VOLOGODSKY

For the convenience of the reader, we shall review the original construction of the Cartier transform of Ogus-Vologodsky [31]. In particular, we shall clarify some details, especially in regard to sheaf of affine functions on a torsor.

In this section, X denotes a scheme. Starting from 10.8, we will suppose that X is smooth over k.

10.1. – Let E a locally free \mathcal{O}_X -module of finite type. We denote by S(E) (resp. $\Gamma(E)$) the symmetric algebra (resp. PD-algebra) of E over \mathcal{O}_X ([23] I 4.2.2.6) and for any integer $n \ge 0$, by $S^n(E)$ (resp. $\Gamma_n(E)$) its homogeneous part of degree n. There exists a unique homomorphism of \mathcal{O}_X -algebras

(10.1.1)
$$\delta: \mathcal{S}(E) \to \mathcal{S}(E) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathcal{S}(E)$$

such that for every local section e of E, we have $\delta(e) = 1 \otimes e + e \otimes 1$. This homomorphisms makes S(E) into a Hopf commutative \mathcal{O}_X -algebra.

Let I (resp. J) be the ideal $\bigoplus_{n \ge 1} S^n(E)$ of S(E) (resp. PD-ideal $\bigoplus_{n \ge 1} \Gamma_n(E)$ of $\Gamma(E)$). We denote by $\widehat{S}(E)$ (resp. $\widehat{\Gamma}(E)$) the completion of S(E) (resp. $\Gamma(E)$) with respect to the filtration $\{I^n\}_{n \ge 1}$ (resp. PD-filtration $\{J^{[n]}\}_{n \ge 1}$).

Let M be a $\widehat{\Gamma}(E)$ -module. We say that M is *quasi-nilpotent* if for any open subscheme U of X and any $e \in M(U)$, there exists a Zariski covering $\{U_i \to U\}_{i \in I}$ and a family of integers $\{N_i\}_{i \in I}$ such that for each $i \in I$, $e_{|_{U_i}}$ is annihilated by the ideal $J^{[N_i]}$. For any integer $n \ge 0$, we say that M is *nilpotent of level* $\le n$ if E is annihilated by $J^{[n+1]}$.

10.2. – We set $\Omega = \mathcal{H}am_{\mathscr{O}_X}(E, \mathscr{O}_X)$. The pairing $E \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \Omega \to \mathscr{O}_X$ induces a canonical morphism

(10.2.1)
$$\Gamma_n(E) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathrm{S}^{m+n}(\Omega) \to \mathrm{S}^m(\Omega)$$

which is perfect if m = 0 ([5] A.10). If we equip $\Gamma(E)$ with the topology defined by the PD-filtration $\{J^{[n]}\}$ and $S(\Omega)$ with the discrete topology, the \mathcal{O}_X -linear morphism $\Gamma(E) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_X} S(\Omega) \to S(\Omega)$ is continuous. It extends by continuity to an action

of
$$\widehat{\Gamma}(E)$$
 on $\mathcal{S}(\Omega)$:
(10.2.2) $\widehat{\Gamma}(E) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathcal{S}(\Omega) \to \mathcal{S}(\Omega)$

We have an increasing exhaustive filtration of $\widehat{\Gamma}(E)$ -submodules $\{\bigoplus_{m \leq n} \mathbf{S}^m(\Omega)\}_{n \geq 0}$ of $\mathbf{S}(\Omega)$ such that $\bigoplus_{m \leq n} \mathbf{S}^m(\Omega)$ is nilpotent of level $\leq n$. Then $\mathbf{S}(\Omega)$ is quasi-nilpotent. The above morphism induces an \mathscr{O}_X -linear isomorphism

(10.2.3)
$$\widehat{\Gamma}(E) = \lim_{n \to \infty} (\bigoplus_{m \le n} \Gamma_m(E))$$
$$\simeq \lim_{n \to \infty} \mathcal{H}om_{\mathscr{O}_X}(\bigoplus_{m \le n} \mathbf{S}^m(\Omega), \mathscr{O}_X)$$
$$= \mathcal{H}om_{\mathscr{O}_X}(\mathbf{S}(\Omega), \mathscr{O}_X).$$

We equip $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathscr{O}_X}(\mathcal{S}(\Omega), \mathscr{O}_X)$ with the \mathscr{O}_X -algebra structure induced by the Hopf algebra $\mathcal{S}(\Omega)$ (4.4). The above isomorphism is an isomorphism of \mathscr{O}_X -algebras.

10.3. – Let $f: Y \to X$ be a morphism of schemes. We put $E_Y = f^*(E)$ and $\Omega_Y = f^*(\Omega)$. By the universal property of the symmetric algebra, we have a canonical isomorphism of \mathcal{O}_Y -algebras

(10.3.1)
$$f^*(\mathcal{S}_{\mathscr{O}_X}(\Omega)) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{S}_{\mathscr{O}_Y}(\Omega_Y).$$

Since $S_{\mathscr{O}_X}(\Omega)$ is a direct sum of locally free \mathscr{O}_X -modules of finite type, by duality (10.2.3), we deduce a canonical isomorphism of \mathscr{O}_Y -algebras

(10.3.2)
$$\begin{split} \widehat{\Gamma}_{\mathscr{O}_{Y}}(E_{Y}) &\simeq \mathscr{H}\!\!\mathit{am}_{\mathscr{O}_{Y}}(\mathsf{S}_{\mathscr{O}_{Y}}(\Omega_{Y}), \mathscr{O}_{Y}) \\ &\simeq f^{*}(\mathscr{H}\!\!\mathit{am}_{\mathscr{O}_{X}}(\mathsf{S}_{\mathscr{O}_{X}}(\Omega), \mathscr{O}_{X})) \\ &\simeq f^{*}(\widehat{\Gamma}_{\mathscr{O}_{X}}(E)). \end{split}$$

10.4. – Let \mathscr{L} be an *E*-torsor of X_{zar} . An affine function on \mathscr{L} is a morphism $f: \mathscr{L} \to \mathscr{O}_X$ of X_{zar} satisfying the following equivalent conditions ([2] II.4.7):

(i) For every open subscheme U of X and every $s \in \mathcal{L}(U)$, the morphism:

(10.4.1)
$$E(U) \to \mathcal{O}(U), \qquad t \mapsto f(s+t) - f(s)$$

is $\mathcal{O}_X(U)$ -linear.

(ii) There exists a section $\omega_f \in \Omega(X)$, called the *linear term of* f, such that for every open subscheme U of X and all $s \in \mathcal{L}(U)$ and $t \in E(U)$, we have

(10.4.2)
$$f(s+t) = f(s) + \omega_f(t).$$

The condition (i) is clearly local for the Zariski topology on X. We denote by \mathscr{F} the subsheaf of $\mathscr{H}\!\mathit{om}_{X_{\mathrm{zar}}}(\mathscr{L}, \mathscr{O}_X)$ consisting of affine functions on \mathscr{L} ; in other words, for any open subscheme U of $X, \mathscr{F}(U)$ is the set of affine functions on $\mathscr{L}|_U$. It is naturally endowed with an \mathscr{O}_X -module structure. We call \mathscr{F} the sheaf of affine functions on \mathscr{L} .

We have a canonical \mathscr{O}_X -linear morphism $c : \mathscr{O}_X \to \mathscr{F}$ whose image consists of constant functions. The "linear term" defines an \mathscr{O}_X -linear morphism $\omega : \mathscr{F} \to \Omega$. One verifies that the sequence

(10.4.3)
$$0 \to \mathscr{O}_X \xrightarrow{c} \mathscr{F} \xrightarrow{\omega} \Omega \to 0$$

is exact. By ([23] I 4.3.1.7), the above sequence induces, for any integer $n \ge 1$, an exact sequence:

(10.4.4)
$$0 \to \mathrm{S}^{n-1}(\mathscr{F}) \to \mathrm{S}^n(\mathscr{F}) \to \mathrm{S}^n(\Omega) \to 0.$$

The \mathscr{O}_X -modules $(\mathbf{S}^n(\mathscr{F}))_{n\geq 0}$ form a inductive system. We denote its inductive limit by

(10.4.5)
$$\mathscr{A} = \varinjlim_{n \ge 0} \mathbf{S}^n(\mathscr{F}),$$

which is naturally endowed with a structure of an \mathcal{O}_X -algebra. For any integer $n \ge 0$, the canonical morphism $\mathrm{S}^n(\mathscr{F}) \to \mathscr{A}$ is injective. By letting $N_n(\mathscr{A}) = \mathrm{S}^n(\mathscr{F})$ for all $n \ge 0$, we obtain an increasing exhaustive filtration of \mathscr{A} .

There exists a unique homomorphism of \mathscr{O}_X -algebras

(10.4.6)
$$\mu : \mathscr{A} \to \mathcal{S}(\Omega) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathscr{A},$$

such that for every local section m of \mathscr{F} , we have $\mu(m) = 1 \otimes m + \omega(m) \otimes 1$. For $n \ge 0$, we have

(10.4.7)
$$\mu(N_n(\mathscr{A})) \subset \bigoplus_{i+j=n} \mathbf{S}^i(\Omega) \otimes N_j(\mathscr{A}).$$

By construction, the following diagram is commutative

(10.4.8)
$$\begin{array}{c} \mathscr{A} \xrightarrow{\mu} S(\Omega) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X}} \mathscr{A} \\ \downarrow & \downarrow \\ \mathsf{S}(\Omega) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X}} \mathscr{A} \xrightarrow{\mathrm{id} \otimes \mu} S(\Omega) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X}} S(\Omega) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X}} \mathscr{A}. \end{array}$$

10.5. – By (10.2.3) and (10.4.6), we have an \mathcal{O}_X -linear morphism:

(10.5.1)
$$\widehat{\Gamma}(E) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}$$
$$u \otimes a \mapsto (u \otimes \mathrm{id})(\mu(a))$$

By (10.4.8), the above morphism makes \mathscr{A} into a $\widehat{\Gamma}(E)$ -module. The action of E on \mathscr{F} is given by ω (10.4.3) and duality. By (10.4.7), we see that \mathscr{A} is quasi-nilpotent and that for any $n \ge 0$, $N_n(\mathscr{A})$ is a $\widehat{\Gamma}(E)$ -submodule of \mathscr{A} and is nilpotent of level $\le n$.

The canonical S(Ω)-linear isomorphism $\Omega^1_{\mathcal{S}(\Omega)/\mathscr{O}_X} \xrightarrow{\sim} \Omega \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathcal{S}(\Omega)$ induces an isomorphism

(10.5.2)
$$\Omega^1_{\mathscr{A}/\mathscr{O}_X} \xrightarrow{\sim} \Omega \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathscr{A}.$$

We denote the universal \mathcal{O}_X -derivation by

$$(10.5.3) d_{\mathscr{A}} : \mathscr{A} \to \Omega \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathscr{A}.$$

For any local section m of \mathscr{F} , we have $d_{\mathscr{A}}(m) = \omega(m) \otimes 1$.

10.6. – Let $s \in \mathscr{L}(X)$ and let $\rho_s : \mathscr{F} \to \mathscr{O}_X$ be the associated splitting of the exact sequence (10.4.3). The morphism $\Omega \to \mathscr{F}$ deduced from $\mathrm{id} - c \circ \rho_s$ extends to an isomorphism of \mathscr{O}_X -algebras

(10.6.1)
$$\psi: \mathbf{S}(\Omega) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{A},$$

which is compatible with the filtrations $(\bigoplus_{0 \le i \le n} S^i(\Omega))_n$ and $(N_n(\mathscr{A}))_n$. The diagram (10.1.1)

(10.6.2)
$$\begin{array}{c} S(\Omega) \xrightarrow{\psi} & \mathcal{A} \\ & \delta \middle| & & \downarrow^{\mu} \\ S(\Omega) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X}} S(\Omega) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id} \otimes \psi} S(\Omega) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X}} \mathscr{A} \end{array}$$

is commutative. Hence the isomorphism ψ is compatible with the $\widehat{\Gamma}(E)$ -module structures (10.2).

10.7. – Let $f: Y \to X$ be a morphism of schemes and \mathscr{L} an *E*-torsor of X_{zar} . For \mathscr{O}_X -modules, we will use the notation f^{-1} to denote the inverse image in the sense of abelian sheaves and will keep the notation f^* for the inverse image in the sense of modules. The *affine inverse image of* \mathscr{L} under f, denoted by $f^+(\mathscr{L})$, is the $f^*(E)$ -torsor of Y_{zar} deduced from the $f^{-1}(E)$ -torsor $f^*(\mathscr{L})$ by extending its structural group by the canonical homomorphism $f^{-1}(E) \to f^*(E)$,

(10.7.1)
$$f^{+}(\mathscr{L}) = f^{*}(\mathscr{L}) \wedge^{f^{-1}(E)} f^{*}(E);$$

in other words, the quotient of $f^*(\mathscr{L}) \times f^*(E)$ by the diagonal action of $f^{-1}(E)$ ([17] III 1.4.6).

We denote by \mathscr{F} the sheaf of affine functions on \mathscr{L} (10.4) and by \mathscr{F}^+ the sheaf of affine functions on $f^+(\mathscr{L})$. Let $l: \mathscr{L} \to \mathscr{O}_X$ be an affine morphism, $\omega \in \Omega(X)$ its linear term and $\omega' = f^*(\omega) \in f^*(\Omega)(Y)$. Endowing \mathscr{O}_Y with the structure of $f^*(E)$ -object defined by ω' ([2] II.4.8), there exists a unique $f^*(E)$ -equivariant morphism $l': f^+(\mathscr{L}) \to \mathscr{O}_Y$ that fits into the commutative diagram

where the vertical arrows are the canonical morphisms ([17] III 1.3.6). The morphism l' is therefore affine, with linear term ω' . The resulting correspondence $l \mapsto l'$ induces an \mathcal{O}_X -linear morphism

(10.7.3)
$$\lambda_{\sharp} : \mathscr{F} \to f_*(\mathscr{F}^+).$$

Its adjoint morphism is an \mathcal{O}_Y -linear isomorphism ([2] II.4.13.4)

(10.7.4)
$$\lambda: f^*(\mathscr{F}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{F}^+$$

which fits into a commutative diagram

In particular, the isomorphism λ is compatible with actions of $f^*(\widehat{\Gamma}_{\mathscr{O}_X}(E)) \simeq \widehat{\Gamma}_{\mathscr{O}_Y}(f^*(E))$ (10.3.2).

10.8. – In the remainder of this section, X denotes a smooth scheme over k. We denote by $\operatorname{Crys}(X/k)$ the crystalline site of X over k equipped with the PD-ideal 0, by $(X/k)_{\operatorname{crys}}$ the crystalline topos of X over k and by $\mathcal{O}_{X/k}$ the structure ring of $(X/k)_{\operatorname{crys}}$ defined for every object (U,T) of $\operatorname{Crys}(X/k)$, by $(U,T) \mapsto \Gamma(T, \mathcal{O}_T)$.

Let *E* be a crystal of locally free $\mathscr{O}_{X/k}$ -modules of finite type on $\operatorname{Crys}(X/k)$ and \mathscr{L} an *E*-torsor of $(X/k)_{\operatorname{crys}}$. For any object (U,T) of $\operatorname{Crys}(X/k)$, $\mathscr{L}_{(U,T)}$ is an $E_{(U,T)}$ -torsor of T_{zar} ([4] III 3.5.1). We define $\mathscr{F}_{(U,T)}$ to be the sheaf of affine functions on $\mathscr{L}_{(U,T)}$ of T_{zar} (10.4).

Let $g: (U_1, T_1) \to (U_2, T_2)$ be a morphism of $\operatorname{Crys}(X/k)$ and $j_g: |U_1|(=|T_1|) \to |U_2|(=|T_2|)$ the morphism of underlying topological spaces. The transition morphism of \mathscr{L} associated to g ([5] 5.1)

(10.8.1)
$$c_g: j_g^{-1}(\mathscr{L}_{(U_2,T_2)}) \to \mathscr{L}_{(U_1,T_1)}$$

is $j_g^{-1}(E_{(U_2,T_2)})$ -equivariant. By ([17] III 1.4.6(iii)), we obtain an $E_{(U_1,T_1)}$ -equivariant isomorphism

By (10.7.4), we deduce an \mathcal{O}_{T_1} -linear isomorphism ([2] II 4.14.2)

(10.8.3)
$$\gamma_g: g^*(\mathscr{F}_{(U_2,T_2)}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{F}_{(U_1,T_1)}.$$

In view of the compatibility conditions of c_g (10.8.1) and ([2] II 4.15), the data $\{\mathscr{F}_{(U,T)}, \gamma_g\}$ satisfy the compatibility conditions of ([5] 5.1). Hence, they define a crystal of $\mathscr{O}_{X/k}$ -modules that we denote by \mathscr{F} and call the crystal of affine functions on \mathscr{L} .

We denote by \mathscr{A} the crystal of $\mathscr{O}_{X/k}$ -algebras $\varinjlim_{n \ge 0} \mathbf{S}^n(\mathscr{F})$. It admits a increasing filtration of crystals of $\mathscr{O}_{X/k}$ -modules $N_n(\mathscr{A}) = \mathbf{S}^n(\mathscr{F})$.

10.9. – Let (U, T, δ) be an object of $\operatorname{Crys}(X/k)$ and J_T the PD-ideal associated to the closed immersion $i: U \to T$. For any local section a of J_T , we have $a^p = 0$ and hence an isomorphism $U \xrightarrow{\sim} \underline{T}$. We denote by $\varphi_{T/k}$ the composition (2.2)

(10.9.1)
$$\varphi_{T/k}: T \xrightarrow{f_{T/k}} U' \longrightarrow X'.$$

The morphism $\varphi_{X/k}$ is equal to the relative Frobenius morphism $F_{X/k}$. If $g: (U_1, T_1) \to (U_2, T_2)$ is a morphism of $\operatorname{Crys}(X/k)$, then $\varphi_{T_2/k} \circ g = \varphi_{T_1/k}$.

Let M' be an $\mathcal{O}_{X'}$ -module. There exists a canonical isomorphism

(10.9.2) $\widetilde{c}_g: g^*(\varphi_{T_2/k}^*(M')) \xrightarrow{\sim} \varphi_{T_1/k}^*(M').$

The data $\{\varphi_{T/k}^*(M'), \tilde{c}_g\}$ defines a crystal of $\mathscr{O}_{X/k}$ -modules that we denote by \mathscr{M} . Then the \mathscr{O}_X -module with integrable connection associated to $\mathscr{M}([\mathbf{5}] \ \mathbf{6.8})$ is $F_{X/k}^*(M')$ and the Frobenius descent connection $\nabla_{\text{can}}(\mathbf{6.3.1})([\mathbf{31}] \ \mathbf{1.1})$.

10.10. – We denote by $\operatorname{Crys}(X/W_2)$ the crystalline site of X over W_2 equipped with the PD-structure γ_2 (5.7). Let (U, \tilde{T}, δ) be an object of $\operatorname{Crys}(X/W_2)$ and T the reduction modulo p of \tilde{T} . Since δ and γ_2 are compatible ([5] 3.16), (U, \tilde{T}, δ) induces an object $(U, T, \bar{\delta})$ of $\operatorname{Crys}(X/k)$.

Let $\mathcal{T}_{X/k}$ (resp. $\mathcal{T}_{X'/k}$) be the \mathscr{O}_X -dual of $\Omega^1_{X/k}$ (resp. $\Omega^1_{X'/k}$). Suppose we are given a smooth lifting \widetilde{X}' of X'/k over \mathcal{W}_2 . Let $(U, \widetilde{T}, \delta)$ be an object of $\operatorname{Crys}(X/\mathcal{W}_2)$ such that \widetilde{T} is flat over \mathcal{W}_2 , T the reduction modulo p of \widetilde{T} and V an open subscheme of T. Then (U,T) is an object of $\operatorname{Crys}(X/k)$. We denote by \widetilde{V} the open subscheme of \widetilde{T} associated to V and by $\mathscr{L}_{\widetilde{X}', \varphi_{T/k}}(V)$ the set of \mathcal{W}_2 -morphisms $\widetilde{V} \to \widetilde{X}'$ which make the following diagram commute (10.9)



The functor $V \mapsto \mathscr{L}_{\widetilde{X}',\varphi_{T/k}}(V)$ defines a sheaf for the Zariski topology on T. The sheaf $\mathscr{L}_{\widetilde{X}',\varphi_{T/k}}$ is a torsor under the \mathscr{O}_T -module $\mathscr{H}\!\mathit{om}_{\mathscr{O}_T}(f^*_{T/k}(\Omega^1_{X'/k}), p\mathscr{O}_{\widetilde{T}}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \varphi^*_{T/k}(\mathbf{T}_{X'/k}).$

PROPOSITION 10.11 ([31] Thm. 1.1). – Suppose we are given a smooth lifting \widetilde{X}' of X' over W_2 . Let $\mathcal{T}_{X'/k}$ be the crystal of $\mathcal{O}_{X/k}$ -modules associated to the $\mathcal{O}_{X'}$ -module $T_{X'/k}$ (10.9). Then, there exists a unique $\mathcal{T}_{X'/k}$ -torsor $\mathscr{L}_{\widetilde{X}'}$ of $(X/k)_{crys}$ satisfying following conditions:

(i) For every object (U,T) of $\operatorname{Crys}(X/k)$ admitting a flat lifting (U,\widetilde{T}) in $\operatorname{Crys}(X/W_2)$, the abelian sheaf $\mathscr{L}_{\widetilde{X}',(U,T)}$ of T_{zar} is the sheaf $\mathscr{L}_{\widetilde{X}',(\mathcal{Q}_T)/k}$ (10.10).

(ii) For every morphism $\widetilde{g} : (U_1, \widetilde{T}_1) \to (U_2, \widetilde{T}_2)$ of flat objects in $\operatorname{Crys}(X/W_2)$ and any lifting $\widetilde{F} : \widetilde{T}_2 \to \widetilde{X}' \in \mathscr{L}_{\widetilde{X}', \varphi_{T_2/k}}(T_2)$, the transition morphism $c_g : j_g^{-1}(\mathscr{L}_{\widetilde{X}', (U_2, T_2)}) \to \mathscr{L}_{\widetilde{X}', (U_1, T_1)}$ satisfies

(10.11.1)
$$c_g(j_g^{-1}(\widetilde{F})) = \widetilde{F} \circ \widetilde{g} : \widetilde{T}_1 \to \widetilde{X}'.$$

10.12. – We denote by $\mathscr{F}_{\widetilde{X}'}$ the crystal of affine functions on $\mathscr{L}_{\widetilde{X}'}$ and by $\mathscr{A}_{\widetilde{X}'}$ the quasi-coherent crystal of $\mathscr{O}_{X/k}$ -algebras associated to $\mathscr{F}_{\widetilde{X}'}$ (10.8). We put $\mathscr{R}_{\widetilde{X}'} = \mathscr{A}_{\widetilde{X}',(X,X)}$. There exists an integrable connection ∇_A on $\mathscr{R}_{\widetilde{X}'}$. By (10.3.2) and 10.5, $\mathscr{R}_{\widetilde{X}'}$ is a quasi-nilpotent $F^*_{X/k}(\widehat{\Gamma}(T_{X'/k}))$ -module. The *p*-curvature

$$\psi: \mathscr{A}_{\widetilde{X}'} \to \mathscr{A}_{\widetilde{X}'} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} F^*_{X/k}(\Omega^1_{X'/k})$$

of ∇_A is equal to the universal \mathscr{O}_X -derivation (10.5.3) (cf. [31] Prop. 1.5)

$$d: \mathscr{A}_{\widetilde{X}'} \to \mathscr{A}_{\widetilde{X}'} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} F^*_{X/k}(\Omega^1_{X'/k})$$

10.13. – A Higgs field (5.1) on an \mathscr{O}_X -module E relative to k is equivalent to an $S(T_{X/k})$ -module structure on E, which extends its \mathscr{O}_X -module structure (cf. [31] 5.1). Let I_X be the ideal $\bigoplus_{m>0} S^m(T_{X/k})$ of $S(T_{X/k})$. For any integer $n \ge 0$, we say that a Higgs module E over X relative to k is *nilpotent of level* $\le n$, if E is annihilated by I_X^{n+1} as an $S(T_{X/k})$ -module.

We call *PD-Higgs module on X relative to k* a $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathbf{T}_{X/k})$ -module *E*, and we say that the structure morphism $\psi : \widehat{\Gamma}(\mathbf{T}_{X/k}) \to \mathcal{H}om_{\mathscr{O}_X}(E, E)$ is the *PD-Higgs field* on *E*. For any local section ξ of $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathbf{T}_{X/k})$, we set $\psi_{\xi} = \psi(\xi)$.

Let *n* be an integer ≥ 1 . We denote by $\operatorname{HIG}_{\gamma}(X/k)$ the category of $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X/k})$ -modules and by $\operatorname{HIG}_{\gamma}^{\operatorname{qn}}(X/k)$ (resp. $\operatorname{HIG}_{\gamma}^{n}(X/k)$) the full subcategory of $\operatorname{HIG}_{\gamma}(X/k)$ consisting of quasi-nilpotent objects (resp. nilpotent objects of level $\leq n$) (10.1).

Since $S^n(T_{X/k}) \simeq \Gamma^n(T_{X/k})$ for all $0 \le n \le p-1$, a nilpotent Higgs module of level $\le p-1$ induces naturally a nilpotent PD-Higgs module of level $\le p-1$.

10.14. – Let (E_1, ψ_1) and (E_2, ψ_2) be two objects of $\operatorname{HIG}_{\gamma}^{\operatorname{qn}}(X/k)$ and ∂ a local section of $\operatorname{T}_{X/k}$. We define a PD-Higgs field ψ on $E_1 \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} E_2$ by ([**31**] 2.7.1)

(10.14.1)
$$\psi_{\partial^{[n]}} = \sum_{i+j=n} \psi_{1,\partial^{[i]}} \otimes \psi_{2,\partial^{[j]}}.$$

Let m, n be two integers, (E_1, ψ_1) an object of $\operatorname{HIG}^n_{\gamma}(X/k)$ and (E_2, ψ_2) an object of $\operatorname{HIG}^m_{\gamma}(X/k)$. There exists a unique PD-Higgs field ψ on $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathscr{O}_X}(E_1, E_2)$ defined, for every local sections h of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathscr{O}_X}(E_1, E_2)$ and ∂ of $\operatorname{T}_{X/k}$ by (cf. [31] page 31)

(10.14.2)
$$\psi_{\partial^{[l]}}(h) = \sum_{i+j=l} (-1)^i \psi_{2,\partial^{[i]}} \circ h \circ \psi_{1,\partial^{[j]}} \quad \forall l \ge 1.$$

10.15. – We denote by $D_{X/k}$ the ring of PD-differential operators on X relative to k ([5], §4). Let ∂ be a local section of $T_{X/k}$ considered as a derivation of \mathcal{O}_X over k and hence as a PD-differential operator of order ≤ 1 . The *p*th iterate $\partial^{(p)}$ of ∂ is again a derivation of \mathcal{O}_X over k ([25] 5.0.2, [5] 4.5). We denote by ∂^p the *p*th power of ∂ in $D_{X/k}$, which is an operator of order $\leq p$. The *p*-curvature morphism $c: F_X^*(T_{X/k}) \to D_{X/k}$ defined by $F_X^*(\partial) \mapsto \partial^p - \partial^{(p)}$, induces an isomorphism of $\mathcal{O}_{X'}$ -algebras ([6] 2.2.3; [31] Thm. 2.1)

(10.15.1)
$$S(T_{X'/k}) \xrightarrow{\sim} F_{X/k*}(Z_{X/k}).$$

The above morphism makes $F_{X/k*}(D_{X/k})$ into an Azumaya algebra over $S(T_{X'/k})$ of rank p^{2d} , where d is the dimension of X over k.

10.16. – We denote by $D_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ the tensor product

(10.16.1)
$$D_{X/k} \otimes_{\mathrm{S}(\mathrm{T}_{X'/k})} \widehat{\Gamma}(\mathrm{T}_{X'/k})$$

via the morphism $S(T_{X'/k}) \to F_{X/k*}(D_{X/k})$ induced by the *p*-curvature morphism (10.15.1). To give a left $D_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ -module is equivalent to give an \mathcal{O}_X -module M with integrable connection ∇ and a homomorphism

(10.16.2)
$$\psi: \widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k}) \to F_{X/k*}(\mathcal{E}nd_{\mathscr{O}_X}(M, \nabla))$$

which extends the Higgs field $S(T_{X'/k}) \to F_{X/k*}(\mathcal{E}nd_{\mathscr{O}_X}(M, \nabla))$ given by the *p*-curvature of ∇ (10.15.1) (cf. [31] page 32).

10.17. – There exists an isomorphism $F_{X/k}^*(\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k})) \xrightarrow{\sim} \widehat{\Gamma}(F_{X/k}^*(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k}))$ (10.3.2). Let M be a left $\mathcal{D}_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ -module and n an integer ≥ 0 . We say that M is quasi-nilpotent (resp. nilpotent of level $\leq n$) if M is quasi-nilpotent (resp. nilpotent of level $\leq n$) as a $\widehat{\Gamma}(F_{X/k}^*(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k}))$ -module (10.1).

We denote by $\operatorname{MIC}_{\gamma}(X/k)$ the category of left $\operatorname{D}_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ -modules and by $\operatorname{MIC}_{\gamma}^{\operatorname{qn}}(X/k)$ (resp. $\operatorname{MIC}_{\gamma}^{n}(X/k)$) the full subcategory of $\operatorname{MIC}_{\gamma}(X/k)$ consisting of quasi-nilpotent objects (resp. nilpotent objects of level $\leq n$).

Let (M, ∇) be an \mathscr{O}_X -module with integrable connection whose *p*-curvature is nilpotent of level $\leq p-1$ ([25] 5.6). Since $S^n(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k}) \simeq \Gamma_n(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k})$ for all $0 \leq n \leq p-1$, (M, ∇) induces naturally an object of $\operatorname{MIC}_{\gamma}^{p-1}(X/k)$.

10.18. – Let (M_1, ∇_1, ψ_1) and (M_2, ∇_2, ψ_2) be two objects of $\operatorname{MIC}_{\gamma}^{\operatorname{qn}}(X/k)$. There exists a canonical integrable connection ∇ on $M_1 \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} M_2$ ([25] 1.1.1). The morphisms ψ_1 and ψ_2 induce an action ψ of $F_{X/k}^*(\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k}))$ on $M_1 \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} M_2$ as in (10.14.1). Then we obtain an object $(M_1 \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} M_2, \nabla, \psi)$ of $\operatorname{MIC}_{\gamma}^{\operatorname{qn}}(X/k)$.

Let m, n be two integers and (M_1, ∇_1, ψ_1) an object of $\operatorname{MIC}^m_{\gamma}(X/k)$ and (M_2, ∇_2, ψ_2) an object of $\operatorname{MIC}^n_{\gamma}(X/k)$. There exists an integrable connection ∇ on the \mathscr{O}_X -module $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathscr{O}_X}(M_1, M_2)$ defined, for every local sections ∂ of $\operatorname{T}_{X/k}$ and h of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathscr{O}_X}(M_1, M_2)$ by ([25] 1.1.2)

(10.18.1)
$$\nabla_{\partial}(h) = \nabla_{2,\partial} \circ h - h \circ \nabla_{1,\partial}.$$

The morphisms ψ_1 and ψ_2 induce an action of $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k})$ on $F_{X/k*}(\mathcal{H}om_{\mathscr{O}_X}(M_1, M_2))$ defined by the same formula as (10.14.2). These data make $\mathcal{H}om_{\mathscr{O}_X}(M_1, M_2)$ into an object of $\mathrm{MIC}^{m+n}_{\gamma}(X/k)$ ([31] 2.1).

10.19. – By 10.12, the \mathscr{O}_X -algebra $\mathscr{R}_{\widetilde{X}'}$ (10.12) is equipped with a quasinilpotent left $D^{\gamma}_{X/k}$ -module structure. Moreover, we have an exhaustive filtration $\{N_n(\mathscr{R}_{\widetilde{X}'})\}_{n\geq 0}$ of left $\mathcal{D}_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ -submodules of $\mathscr{R}_{\widetilde{X}'}$ such that $N_n(\mathscr{R}_{\widetilde{X}'})$ is nilpotent of level $\leq n$ (10.8). We define $(\mathscr{R}_{\widetilde{X}'})^{\vee}$ to be

$$(10.19.1) \qquad (\mathcal{A}_{\widetilde{X}'})^{\vee} = \mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{O}_X}(\mathcal{A}_{\widetilde{X}'}, \mathcal{O}_X) \simeq \lim_{n \ge 0} \mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{O}_X}(N_n(\mathcal{A}_{\widetilde{X}'}), \mathcal{O}_X).$$

By 10.17 and 10.18, we see that $(\mathscr{M}_{\widetilde{X}'})^{\vee}$ is an object of $\operatorname{MIC}_{\gamma}(X/k)$.

The involution morphism $T_{X/k} \to T_{X/k}$ defined by $x \mapsto -x$, induces a homomorphism

(10.19.2)
$$\iota: \widehat{\Gamma}(\mathbf{T}_{X'/k}) \to \widehat{\Gamma}(\mathbf{T}_{X'/k})$$

THEOREM 10.20 ([31] 2.8). – Suppose we are given a smooth lifting \widetilde{X}' of X' over W_2 . (i) The left $D_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ -module $(\mathscr{R}_{\widetilde{X}'})^{\vee}$ is a splitting module for the Azumaya algebra $F_{X/k*}(D_{X/k}^{\gamma})$ over $\widehat{\Gamma}(T_{X'/k})$.

(ii) The functors (10.19.2)

$$\begin{array}{ll} (10.20.1) & \mathrm{C}_{\widetilde{X}'} : \mathrm{MIC}_{\gamma}(X/k) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathrm{HIG}_{\gamma}(X'/k) & E \mapsto \iota^*(\operatorname{\mathcal{H}\!\mathit{om}}_{\mathrm{D}_{X/k}^{\gamma}}((\operatorname{\mathcal{A}}_{\widetilde{X}'})^{\vee}, E)) \\ (10.20.2) & \mathrm{C}_{\widetilde{X}'}^{-1} : \mathrm{HIG}_{\gamma}(X'/k) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathrm{MIC}_{\gamma}(X/k) & E' \mapsto (\operatorname{\mathcal{A}}_{\widetilde{X}'})^{\vee} \otimes_{\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathrm{T}_{X'/k})} \iota^*(E') \end{array}$$

are equivalences of categories quasi-inverse to each other. Furthermore, they induce equivalences of tensor categories between $\operatorname{MIC}_{\gamma}^{\operatorname{qn}}(X/k)$ and $\operatorname{HIG}_{\gamma}^{\operatorname{qn}}(X'/k)$ (10.14), 10.18.

(iii) Let (E, ∇, ψ) be an object of $\operatorname{MIC}_{\gamma}(X/k)$ and $(E', \theta') = \operatorname{C}_{\widetilde{X}'}(E, \nabla, \psi)$. A lifting \widetilde{F} of the relative Frobenius morphism $F_{X/k}$ induces a natural isomorphism of $F^*_{X/k}(\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k}))$ -modules

(10.20.3)
$$\eta_{\widetilde{F}}: (E,\psi) \xrightarrow{\sim} F_{X/k}^*(E',-\theta').$$

We call $C_{\widetilde{\chi}'}$ (resp. $C_{\widetilde{\chi}'}^{-1}$) Cartier transform (resp. inverse Cartier transform).

THEOREM 10.21 ([31] 2.17). – Suppose we are given a smooth lifting \widetilde{X}' of X'over W₂. Let (M', θ') be a nilpotent Higgs module on X'/k of level $\ell < p$ (10.13) and $(M, \nabla) = C_{\widetilde{X}'}^{-1}(M', \theta')$. Then, the lifting \widetilde{X}' induces an isomorphism in the derived category $D(\mathscr{O}_{X'})$

(10.21.1)
$$\tau_{< p-\ell}(M' \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X'}} \Omega^{\bullet}_{X'/k}) \xrightarrow{\sim} F_{X/k*}(\tau_{< p-\ell}(M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \Omega^{\bullet}_{X/k})),$$

where $M' \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X'}} \Omega^{\bullet}_{X'/k}$ is the Dolbeault complex of (M', θ') , $M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \Omega^{\bullet}_{X/k}$ is the de Rham complex of (M, ∇) and $\tau_{<\bullet}$ denotes the truncation of a complex.

We will give a partial generalization of this result for certain p^n -torsion crystals (cf. 14.1, 14.19).

CHAPTER 11

PRELUDE ON RINGS OF DIFFERENTIAL OPERATORS

The purpose of this section is to review the description of crystals of Oyama site in term of modules of rings of differential rings introduced in §10 following Oyama. It serves as a preparation for Section 12.

In this section, X denotes a smooth scheme over k. From 11.11 on, suppose we are given a smooth formal \mathscr{S} -scheme \mathfrak{X} with special fiber X.

11.1. – Let $n \ge 1$ be an integer. We denote by P_X (resp. P_X^n) the PD-envelope (resp. the n^{th} PD-neighborhood) of the diagonal immersion $\Delta : X \to X^2$ with respect to the zero PD-ideal of k ([5] 3.31). We put $\mathcal{P}_X = \mathcal{O}_{P_X}$ and $\mathcal{P}_X^n = \mathcal{O}_{P_X}^n$ and we consider them as sheaves of X_{zar} . By 5.10, \mathcal{P}_X is equipped with a Hopf \mathcal{O}_X -algebra structure (δ, π, σ) (4.2).

In the first part of this section, we study the \mathscr{O}_X -algebra $(\mathscr{P}_X)^{\vee}$ (4.4) of hyper PD-differential operators of X relative to k.

Assume that there exists an étale k-morphism $X \to \mathbb{A}_k^d = \operatorname{Spec}(k[T_1, \ldots, T_d])$. We set t_i the image of T_i in \mathcal{O}_X and $\xi_i = 1 \otimes t_i - t_i \otimes 1$. We consider the ξ_i 's as sections of \mathcal{O}_X . Regarding \mathcal{O}_X as a left (resp. right) \mathcal{O}_X -algebra, we have an isomorphism of PD- \mathcal{O}_X -algebras ([4] I 4.5.3)

(11.1.1)
$$\mathscr{O}_X\langle x_1,\ldots,x_d\rangle \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{P}_X$$

where x_i is sent to ξ_i . The homomorphism of PD-algebras $\delta : \mathcal{P}_X \to \mathcal{P}_X \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_X} \mathcal{P}_X$ ([4] I 1.7.1) sends ξ_i to $\xi_i \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes \xi_i$. For any $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^d$, we set $\xi^{[\alpha]} = \prod \xi_i^{[\alpha_i]}$. Then we deduce that

(11.1.2)
$$\delta(\xi^{[\alpha]}) = \sum_{\beta \in \mathbb{N}^d, \beta \leqslant \alpha} \xi^{[\beta]} \otimes \xi^{[\alpha-\beta]}.$$

The left (resp. right) \mathscr{O}_X -module \mathscr{O}_X^n is free with a basis $\{\xi^{[\alpha]}, |\alpha| \leq n\}$ ([4] I 4.5.3).

11.2. – Let U be a open subscheme of X^2 such that $\Delta(X) \subset U$ and that $X \to U$ is a closed immersion. The canonical morphism $P_X \to X^2$ factors through an affine morphism $P_X \to U$. We denote by Z the scheme theoretic image of $P_X \to U$ ([22] 6.10.1 and 6.10.5). Note that the morphisms $X \to P_X$ and $P_X \to Z$ induce isomorphisms between the underlying topological spaces. Hence we regard \mathscr{O}_Z as an \mathscr{O}_X -bialgebra

of X_{zar} . We obtain an injective homomorphism of \mathscr{O} -bialgbras $\mathscr{O}_Z \to \mathscr{P}_X$ and we consider \mathscr{O}_Z as a subalgebra of \mathscr{P}_X .

LEMMA 11.3. – The scheme Z defined in 11.2 is independent of the choice of U up to canonical isomorphisms.

Proof. – Let U_1 and U_2 be two open subscheme of X^2 such that $\Delta(X) \subset U_i$ and that $X \to U_i$ is a closed immersion i = 1, 2 and Z_1 (resp. Z_2) the scheme theoretic image of P_X in U_1 (resp. U_2). We can suppose that $U_1 \subset U_2$. The image of $|Z_1|$ and $|P_{\mathfrak{X}}|$ in $|U_1|$ (resp. $|U_2|$) are equal. Then the composition $Z_2 \to U_1 \to U_2$ is a closed immersion. By ([22] 6.10.3), we deduce a canonical isomorphism $Z_1 \xrightarrow{\sim} Z_2$.

LEMMA 11.4. – Assume that X is separated and that there exists an étale k-morphism $X \to \mathbb{A}_k^d$.

(i) The left (resp. right) \mathcal{O}_X -module \mathcal{O}_Z is free with a basis $\{\xi^{[\alpha]}, \alpha \in \{0, 1, \dots, p-1\}^d\}$ (11.1.1).

(ii) The \mathcal{O}_Z -module \mathcal{P}_X is free with a basis $\{\xi^{[pI]}, I \in \mathbb{N}^d\}$.

Proof. – (i) It is clear that \mathscr{O}_Z contains $\xi^{[\alpha]}$ for all $\alpha \in \{0, \ldots, p-1\}^d$. It suffices to show that \mathscr{O}_Z is contained in the \mathscr{O}_X -submodule of \mathscr{O}_X generated by $\{\xi^{[\alpha]}, \alpha \in \{0, 1, \ldots, p-1\}^d\}$.

The question being local, we suppose that X is quasi-compact. Let J be the ideal sheaf associated to the diagonal closed immersion $X \to X^2$ and $\varpi : P_X \to X^2$ the canonical morphism. By 11.3, we consider Z as the scheme theoretic image of ϖ . The ideal J being of finite type, we suppose that J is generated by m elements x_1, \ldots, x_m of $J(X^2)$ for some integer $m \ge d$. Since \mathscr{O}_{P_X} is a PD-algebra, the image of x_1^p, \ldots, x_m^p in $\varpi_*(\mathscr{O}_{P_X})$ are zero. Put N = (p-1)m. Then the image of the ideal J^{N+1} in $\varpi_*(\mathscr{O}_{P_X})$ is zero, i.e., the morphism ϖ factors through the Nth order infinitesimal neighborhood $Y_N = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathscr{O}_{X^2}/J^{N+1})$ of the diagonal immersion $X \to X^2$. Then we obtain a homomorphism

(11.4.1)
$$\mathscr{O}_{Y_N} \to \mathscr{P}_X,$$

whose image is \mathscr{O}_Z . Recall ([5] 2.2) that, the left (resp. right) \mathscr{O}_X -module \mathscr{O}_{Y_N} is free with a basis $\{\xi^I, |I| \leq N\}$. For any element $I = (i_1, \ldots, i_d) \in \mathbb{N}^d$, if one of the components i_j is $\geq p$, then the image of ξ^I in \mathscr{P}_X is zero. Then the assertion follows.

(ii) The assertion follows from (i) and the local description of \mathcal{P}_X (11.1.1).

11.5. – The *p*-curvature morphism $c' : \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k}) \to F_{X/k*}(\mathcal{D}_{X/k})$ induces an isomorphism between $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k})$ and the center $Z_{X/k}$ of $\mathcal{D}_{X/k}$ (10.15.1). It makes $\mathcal{D}_{X/k}$ into an $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k})$ -module of finite type. Let $I_{X'}$ be the ideal $\bigoplus_{m \ge 1} \mathcal{S}^m(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k})$ of $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k})$. We denote by \mathcal{R} the two-side ideal of $\mathcal{D}_{X/k}$ generated by $c'(I_{X'})$ and by $\hat{\mathcal{D}}_{X/k}$ the completion of $\mathcal{D}_{X/k}$ with respect to the filtration $\{\mathcal{R}^m\}_{m \ge 1}$:

(11.5.1)
$$\widehat{\mathbf{D}}_{X/k} = \varprojlim_{m \ge 1} \mathbf{D}_{X/k} / \mathscr{K}^m.$$

The completion $\widehat{D}_{X/k}$ is equal to the $(I_{X'})$ -adic completion for the $S(T_{X'/k})$ -module $D_{X/k}$. Then we obtain an isomorphism of $\widehat{S}(T_{X'/k})$ -algebras

(11.5.2)
$$\widehat{\mathbf{S}}(\mathbf{T}_{X'/k}) \otimes_{\mathbf{S}(\mathbf{T}_{X'/k})} \mathbf{D}_{X/k} \xrightarrow{\sim} \widehat{\mathbf{D}}_{X/k}.$$

11.6. – Recall that $D_{X/k}$ is defined as $\varinjlim_{n \ge 1} (\mathcal{P}_X^n)^{\vee}$, where $(\mathcal{P}_X^n)^{\vee} = \mathcal{H}om_{\mathscr{O}_X} (\mathcal{P}_X^n, \mathcal{O}_X)$. Then we have a canonical homomorphism of \mathscr{O}_X -algebras:

$$(11.6.1) D_{X/k} \to (\mathcal{P}_X)^{\vee}$$

For any integer $n \ge 0$ and any open subscheme U of X, we define

(11.6.2)
$$\mathbf{F}^{n}(\mathcal{P}_{X})(U) = \{ a \in \mathcal{P}_{X}(U) | u(a) = 0 \quad \forall u \in \mathcal{K}^{n+1}(U) \}.$$

Then $F^{n}(\mathcal{P}_{X})$ is a left \mathcal{O}_{X} -submodule of \mathcal{P}_{X} . We set $(F^{n}(\mathcal{P}_{X}))^{\vee} = \mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{O}_{X}}(F^{n}(\mathcal{P}_{X}), \mathcal{O}_{X})$.

11.7. – Suppose that there exists an étale k-morphism $X \to \mathbb{A}_k^d = \operatorname{Spec}(k[t_1, \ldots, t_d])$. Let t_i be the image of T_i in \mathcal{O}_X and $\partial_i \in \operatorname{T}_{X/k}(X)$ the dual of dt_i that we consider as a PD-differential operator. For i, j, ∂_i and ∂_j commute. We set $\partial^I = \prod_{j=1}^d \partial_j^{i_j}$ for all $I = (i_1, \ldots, i_d) \in \mathbb{N}^d$. Any local section of $D_{X/k}$ can be written as a finite sum $\sum_I a_I \partial^I$. The *p*-curvature morphism c' sends ∂'_i to ∂_i^p and the ideal \mathscr{K} is generated by $\{\partial_1^p, \ldots, \partial_d^p\}$ over $D_{X/k}$. Then, any local section of $\widehat{D}_{X/k}$ can be written as an infinite sum:

(11.7.1)
$$\sum_{I \in \mathbb{N}^d} a_I \partial^I \quad \text{with } a_I \in \mathscr{O}_X$$

Since $c'(\partial'^{\beta}) = \partial^{p\beta}$ for $\beta \in \mathbb{N}^d$, the above section can be rewritten as

(11.7.2)
$$\sum_{\alpha \in \{0,\dots,p-1\}^d, \beta \in \mathbb{N}^d} b_{\alpha,\beta} \partial^{\alpha} \cdot c'(\partial'^{\beta}) \quad \text{with } b_{\alpha,\beta} \in \mathscr{O}_X.$$

For any $I, J \in \mathbb{N}^d$, the image of ∂^I in $(\mathscr{P}_X)^{\vee}$ (11.6.1) satisfies $\partial^I(\xi^{[J]}) = \delta_{I,J}$.

LEMMA 11.8. – (i) For any $n \ge 0$, the sheaf $F^n(\mathcal{P}_X)$ is an \mathcal{O}_Z -submodule of \mathcal{P}_X (11.2).

(ii) With the assumption and notation of 11.4, $F^n(\mathcal{P}_X)$ is a free \mathcal{O}_Z -module with basis $\{\xi^{[pI]}, |I| \leq n\}$.

Proof. – (i) The question being local, we take again the assumption of 11.4. Since the ideal \mathscr{K} is generated by $\{\partial_1^p, \ldots, \partial_d^p\}$, a local section $a = \sum_I b_I \xi^{[I]}$ of \mathscr{P}_X is annihilated by \mathscr{K} if and only if $b_I = 0$ for all $I \in \mathbb{N}^d - \{0, \ldots, p-1\}^d$. By 11.4(i), $F^0(\mathscr{P}_X)$ is equal to the subsheaf \mathscr{O}_Z of \mathscr{P}_X . Then the assertion follows.

(ii) The ideal \mathscr{K}^{n+1} is generated by the set of PD-differential operators $\{\partial^{pI}, |I| = n+1\}$ over $D_{X/k}$. Then the assertion follows from 11.4(ii) and the duality between ∂^{I} and $\xi^{[I]}$.

11.9. – For any $n \ge 0$, since $\mathbf{F}^n(\mathcal{P}_X)$ is locally a direct summand of \mathcal{P}_X , the canonical morphism $(\mathcal{P}_X)^{\vee} \to (\mathbf{F}^n(\mathcal{P}_X))^{\vee}$ is surjective. By (11.1.2), 11.4(i) and 11.8(ii), the homomorphism $\delta : \mathcal{P}_X \to \mathcal{P}_X \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathcal{P}_X$ (11.1) sends $\mathbf{F}^n(\mathcal{P}_X)$ to $\mathbf{F}^n(\mathcal{P}_X) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathbf{F}^n(\mathcal{P}_X)$. In view of (4.4), the \mathscr{O}_X -algebra $(\mathcal{P}_X)^{\vee}$ induces an \mathscr{O}_X -algebra structure on $(\mathbf{F}^n(\mathcal{P}_X))^{\vee}$.

PROPOSITION 11.10 (Berthelot⁽¹⁾). – (i) For any integer $n \ge 1$, the homomorphism (11.6.1) induces a canonical isomorphism of \mathcal{O}_X -algebras $D_{X/k} / \mathcal{K}^{n+1} \xrightarrow{\sim} (F^n(\mathcal{P}_X))^{\vee}$.

(ii) The homomorphism (11.6.1) induces a canonical isomorphism of \mathcal{O}_X -algebras $\widehat{D}_{X/k} \xrightarrow{\sim} (\mathcal{P}_X)^{\vee}$.

Proof. – (i) Since \mathscr{K}^{n+1} acts trivially on $F^n(\mathscr{P}_X)$, we obtain a homomorphism $D_{X/k}/\mathscr{K}^{n+1} \to (F^n(\mathscr{P}_X))^{\vee}$. In view of the local description of \mathscr{K}^{n+1} and of $F^n(\mathscr{P}_X)$ (11.8(ii)), this homomorphism is an isomorphism.

(ii) We have a canonical isomorphism $(\mathcal{P}_X)^{\vee} = \mathcal{H}\!\!\mathit{onv}_{\mathscr{O}_X}(\varinjlim_{n \ge 0} \mathrm{F}^n(\mathcal{P}_X), \mathscr{O}_X) \simeq \underset{\mathrm{lim}}{\overset{\mathrm{lim}}{\longrightarrow}} \mathrm{F}^n(\mathcal{P}_X))^{\vee}$. Then the assertion follows from (i). \Box

11.11. – In the remainder of this section, suppose that there exists a smooth formal \mathscr{S} -scheme \mathfrak{X} with special fiber X. We put $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1} = \mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}/p\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ and $\mathscr{Q}_{\mathfrak{X},1} = \mathscr{Q}_{\mathfrak{X}}/p\mathscr{Q}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (4.9). We review the Oyama's description of $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathbf{T}_{X/k}), \mathbf{D}_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ in terms of rings of differential operators associated to Hopf algebras $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1}, \mathscr{Q}_{\mathfrak{X},1}$.

Recall that the left and the right \mathscr{O}_X -algebra structures of $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1}$ are equal (4.9). We denote by $q_1, q_2 : Q_{\mathfrak{X},1} \to X$ the canonical morphisms. Suppose that there exists an étale \mathscr{S} -morphism $\mathfrak{X} \to \widehat{\mathbb{A}}^d_{\mathscr{S}} = \operatorname{Spf}(W\{T_1, \ldots, T_d\})$. We set t_i the image of T_i in $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ and $\xi_i = 1 \otimes t_i - t_i \otimes 1$. We take again the notation of 4.14 and of 4.15 and we denote by ζ_i the element $\frac{\xi_i}{p}$ of $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1}$ and by η_i the element $\frac{\xi_i^p}{p}$ of $\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{X},1}$. We have isomorphisms of \mathscr{O}_X -algebras (4.14), 4.15

(11.11.1)
$$\mathscr{O}_X[x_1,\ldots,x_d] \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1}, \qquad x_i \mapsto \zeta_i;$$

(11.11.2)

$$\mathcal{O}_X[x_1,\ldots,x_d,y_1,\ldots,y_d]/(x_1^p,\ldots,x_d^p) \xrightarrow{\sim} q_{j*}(\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{X},1}), \quad x_i \mapsto \xi_i, \ y_i \mapsto \eta_i \quad j=1,2.$$

^{1.} We learn the proof of a local version of (ii) from a talk note given by Berthelot on Cartier transform.

By 4.16, we have the following description of the Hopf algebra structures on $\mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1}$ and $\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{X},1}$ ([32] 1.2.9)

(11.11.3)

$$\begin{cases} \delta : \mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1} \to \mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{X}} \mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1} & \zeta_{i} \mapsto 1 \otimes \zeta_{i} + \zeta_{i} \otimes 1 \\ \sigma : \mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1} \to \mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1} & \zeta_{i} \mapsto -\zeta_{i} \\ \pi : \mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1} \to \mathcal{O}_{X} & \zeta_{i} \mapsto 0 \end{cases}$$
$$\begin{cases} \delta : \mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{X},1} \to \mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{X},1} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{X}} \mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{X},1} & \xi_{i} \mapsto 1 \otimes \xi_{i} + \xi_{i} \otimes 1 \\ & \eta_{i} \mapsto 1 \otimes \eta_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{p-1} \frac{(p-1)!}{j!(p-j)!} \xi_{i}^{j} \otimes \xi_{i}^{p-j} + \eta_{i} \otimes 1 \\ \sigma : \mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{X},1} \to \mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{X},1} & \xi_{i} \mapsto -\xi_{i}, \eta_{i} \mapsto -\eta_{i} \\ \pi : \mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{X},1} \to \mathcal{O}_{X} & \xi_{i} \mapsto 0, \eta_{i} \mapsto 0 \end{cases}$$

PROPOSITION 11.12 ([32] 1.2.12). – The Hopf \mathscr{O}_X -algebra $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1}$ is canonically isomorphism to $S(\Omega^1_{X/k})$ (10.1) and the \mathscr{O}_X -algebra $(\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1})^{\vee}$ (4.4) is canonically isomorphic to $\widehat{\Gamma}(T_{X/k})$ (10.1).

11.13. – In the following, we study the \mathscr{O}_X -algebra $(Q_{\mathfrak{X},1})^{\vee}$. Suppose first that there exists an \mathscr{S} -morphism $F: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}'$ which lifts the relative Frobenius morphism $F_{X/k}$ of X. We denote by \mathfrak{Y} (resp. Z) the fiber product of $F^2: \mathfrak{X}^2 \to \mathfrak{X}'^2$ and $R_{\mathfrak{X}'} \to \mathfrak{X}'^2$ (resp. the diagonal immersion $X' \to \mathfrak{X}'^2$) and by S the fiber product of $F_{X/k}: X \to X'$ and $R_{\mathfrak{X}',1} \to X'$ (4.9). The morphism $F_{X/k}: X \to X'$ and the diagonal immersion $\Delta: X \to \mathfrak{X}^2$ induce a closed immersion $X \hookrightarrow Z$. We have a commutative diagram:



where $Y = \mathfrak{Y}_1$ is equal to $R_{\mathfrak{X}',1} \times_{X'} Z$ and the left square is Cartesian.

Let \mathfrak{U} be an open formal subscheme of \mathfrak{X}^2 such that diagonal immersion $X \to \mathfrak{X}^2$ factors through a closed immersion $X \to \mathfrak{U}$ and put $\mathfrak{U}' = \mathfrak{U} \times_{\mathscr{S},\sigma} \mathscr{S}$. Let \mathscr{I} (resp. \mathscr{I}') be the ideal associated to the diagonal immersion $X \to \mathfrak{U}$ (resp. $X' \to \mathfrak{U}$). For any local section x of \mathscr{I} , we have $x^p \in \mathscr{I}'\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{U}}$. Since Z is defined by $\mathscr{I}'\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{U}}$ and X is reduced, the closed immersion $X \hookrightarrow Z$ induces an isomorphism $X \xrightarrow{\sim} \underline{Z}$. Then, the closed immersion $\underline{Y} \to Y$ factors through $S \to Y$. By the universal property of $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (3.5), we deduce an \mathfrak{X}^2 -morphism

(11.13.2)
$$\nu: \mathfrak{Y} \to Q_{\mathfrak{X}}.$$

The composition $Q_{\mathfrak{X}} \to \mathfrak{X}^2 \xrightarrow{F^2} \mathfrak{X}'^2$ induces a morphism of formal groupoids above F (6.6.1):

(11.13.3)
$$\psi: Q_{\mathfrak{X}} \to R_{\mathfrak{X}'}$$

By (11.13.1) and the universal property of $R_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ (3.5), we deduce that the composition $\psi \circ \nu : \mathfrak{Y} \to Q_{\mathfrak{X}} \to R_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ is the canonical morphism

(11.13.4)
$$\mathfrak{Y} = R_{\mathfrak{X}'} \times_{\mathfrak{X}'^2} \mathfrak{X}^2 \to R_{\mathfrak{X}'}.$$

11.14. – Keep the assumption and notation of 11.13. The morphism ν (11.13.2) induces a morphism $S \to Q_{\mathfrak{X},1}$ which makes the following diagram commutes



Let g be the canonical morphism $S \to X$. Since $R_{\mathfrak{X}',1} \to X'$ is affine, we have an isomorphism $F_{X/k}^*(\mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X}',1}) \xrightarrow{\sim} g_*(\mathscr{O}_S)$ ([22] 9.3.2). Then the morphism $S \to Q_{\mathfrak{X},1}$ induces an \mathscr{O}_X -bilinear homomorphism

(11.14.2)
$$v: \mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{X},1} \to F^*_{X/k}(\mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X}',1}).$$

With the assumption and notation of 11.11, v sends ξ_i to 0 and η_i to $F^*_{X/k}(\zeta'_i)$ ([32] 1.2.14). Hence, v is independent of the choice of the lifting $F : \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}'$ of $F_{X/k}$, and can be defined for a general smooth formal \mathscr{S} -scheme \mathfrak{X} even if the relative Frobenius morphism cannot be lifted over \mathscr{S} .

By (11.11.3), v is compatible with Hopf \mathcal{O}_X -algebras structures. By taking \mathcal{O}_X -duals, we obtain a homomorphism of \mathcal{O}_X -algebras (10.3.2), 11.12

(11.14.3)
$$v^{\vee}: F_{X/k}^*(\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathbf{T}_{X'/k})) \to (\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{X},1})^{\vee}.$$

The morphism ψ_1 induces a homomorphism of Hopf algebras $s_F : \mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X}',1} \to F_{X/k*}(\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{X},1})$ (4.3). By adjunction, we obtain a homomorphism of \mathcal{O}_X -algebras

(11.14.4)
$$s_F^{\sharp}: F_{X/k}^*(\mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X}',1}) \to \mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{X},1}$$

for the left \mathscr{O}_X -algebra structure on $\mathscr{Q}_{\mathfrak{X},1}$. The composition $v \circ s_F$ is the identical homomorphism.

Recall that we have a canonical morphism of formal \mathfrak{X} -groupoids $P_{\mathfrak{X}} \to Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (5.12.1). Then we obtain a homomorphism of Hopf \mathscr{O}_X -algebras (4.3):

(11.14.5)
$$u: Q_{\mathfrak{X},1} \to \mathcal{P}_X.$$

With the assumption and notation of 11.11, u sends ξ_i to ξ_i and η_i to $-\xi_i^{[p]}$ (11.1.1) ([32] 1.2.14).

By taking duals (4.4 and 11.10(ii)), u induces a homomorphism of \mathcal{O}_X -algebras

(11.14.6)
$$u^{\vee}: \mathcal{D}_{X/k} \to (\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{X},1})^{\vee}.$$

LEMMA 11.15 ([32] 1.2.15). – Let $\sigma: F^*_{X/k}(\mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1}) \to F^*_{X/k}(\mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1})$ be the involution homomorphism defined in (11.11.3).

(i) The restriction of u^{\vee} and $(\sigma \circ v)^{\vee}$ to $F_{X/k}^{-1}(\widehat{\mathbf{S}}(\mathbf{T}_{X'/k}))$ coincide.

(ii) The images of any local sections of $u^{\vee}(\widehat{D}_{X/k})$ and of $(\sigma \circ v)^{\vee}(F_{X/k}^{-1}(\widehat{\Gamma}(T_{X'/k})))$ commute in $(Q_{\mathfrak{X},1})^{\vee}$.

PROPOSITION 11.16 ([32] 1.2.13). – The homomorphisms $(\sigma \circ v)^{\vee}$ and u^{\vee} induce an isomorphism of $F^*_{X/k}(\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k}))$ -algebras (10.16)

(11.16.1)
$$\mathbf{D}_{X/k}^{\gamma} \xrightarrow{\sim} (\mathcal{Q}_{\mathfrak{X},1})^{\vee}.$$

PROPOSITION 11.17 ([32] 1.2.10). – Let \mathfrak{X} be a smooth formal \mathscr{S} -scheme, X its special fiber. There exists a canonical equivalence of tensor categories between $\operatorname{HIG}_{\gamma}^{\operatorname{qn}}(X/k)$ (10.13) (resp. $\operatorname{MIC}_{\gamma}^{\operatorname{qn}}(X/k)$ (10.17)) and the category of \mathscr{O}_X -modules with $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratification (resp. $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratification) (4.11), 5.4.

Proof. – We briefly recall here the main construction of the equivalence which will be used in the following and refer to [32] for details.

Let (M, ε) be an \mathscr{O}_X -module with $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratification and $\theta : M \to M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1}$ the \mathscr{O}_X -linear morphism defined by $\theta(m) = \varepsilon(1 \otimes m)$ (5.5). By 5.5 and 11.12, we deduce a $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X/k})$ -module ψ structure on M. To show that ψ is quasi-nilpotent, we suppose that there exists an étale \mathscr{S} -morphism $\mathfrak{X} \to \widehat{\mathbb{A}}^d_{\mathscr{S}}$. We take again notation of 11.11. For any $I \in \mathbb{N}^d$, we set $\partial^{[I]} = \prod_{j=1}^d \partial_j^{[i_j]} \in \widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X/k})$. The action of $\partial^{[I]}$ on M is given by the composition

(11.17.1)
$$\psi_{\partial^{[I]}}: M \xrightarrow{\theta} M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id} \otimes \partial^{[I]}} M.$$

Since $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1}$ is isomorphic to a polynomial algebra over \mathscr{O}_X (11.11), for any local section *m* of *M* and any point *x* of *X*, there exists a neighborhood *U* of *x* such that $\theta(m)|_U$ is a section of $M(U) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X(U)} \mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1}(U)$ and can be written as a finite sum:

(11.17.2)
$$\varepsilon(1 \otimes m) = \theta(m) = \sum_{I \in \mathbb{N}^d} \psi_{\partial^{[I]}}(m) \otimes \zeta^I.$$

Hence, (M, ψ) is quasi-nilpotent (10.1).

Let (M, ε) be an \mathscr{O}_X -module with $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratification and $\theta : M \to M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} Q_{\mathfrak{X},1}$ the morphism induced by ε . By 5.5 and 11.16, we associate to it a $\mathcal{D}_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ -module (M, ∇, ψ) (10.16). We take again the assumption and notation of the proof of 11.16. For $I \in \{0, \ldots, p-1\}^d$, $J \in \mathbb{N}^d$, the action of the local section $\partial^I \otimes F_{X/k}^*(\partial^{\prime [J]})$ of $\mathcal{D}_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ on M is given by the composition

(11.17.3)
$$\nabla_{\partial^{I}} \circ \psi_{\partial'^{[J]}} : M \xrightarrow{\theta} M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X}} Q_{\mathfrak{X},1} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id} \otimes w(\partial^{I} \otimes F_{X/k}^{*}(\partial'^{[J]}))} M.$$

Since $Q_{\mathfrak{X},1}$ is of finite type over a polynomial algebra over \mathscr{O}_X (11.11), for any local section m of M and any point x of X, there exists a neighborhood U of x such that $\theta(m)|_U$ is a section of $M(U) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X(U)} Q_{\mathfrak{X},1}(U)$ and can be written as a finite sum (cf. [32] page 25)

(11.17.4)
$$\varepsilon(1 \otimes m) = \theta(m) = \sum_{I \in \{0, \dots, p-1\}^d, J \in \mathbb{N}^d} (-1)^{|J|} \frac{1}{I!} (\nabla_{\partial^I} \circ \psi_{\partial'^{[J]}})(m) \otimes \xi^I \eta^J.$$

Hence (M, ∇, ψ) is quasi-nilpotent (10.17).

We deduce from 8.10 and 11.17 the following equivalences.

COROLLARY 11.18. – Let \mathfrak{X} be a smooth formal \mathscr{S} -scheme, X its special fiber, $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$ and $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$ the Oyama topoi of X (7.9) and $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},1}$, $\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},1}$ the p-torsion structure rings of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$ and $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$ respectively (8.1). We denote by $\mathscr{C}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},1})$ (resp. $\mathscr{C}(\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},1})$) the category of crystals of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},1}$ -modules of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$ (resp. $\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},1}$ -modules of $\widetilde{\underline{\mathscr{E}}}$) (8.3). Then, we have equivalences of tensor categories

(11.18.1)
$$\operatorname{HIG}_{\gamma}^{\operatorname{qn}}(X/k) \simeq \mathscr{C}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},1}), \qquad \operatorname{MIC}_{\gamma}^{\operatorname{qn}}(X/k) \simeq \mathscr{C}(\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},1}).$$

The following result is an analog of 10.20(iii) for Cariter equivalence.

COROLLARY 11.19. – Let $C_{X/\mathscr{S}} : \widetilde{\mathscr{E}} \to \widetilde{\mathscr{E}}'$ be the morphism of topoi associated to X (9.11.4), \mathscr{M}' a crystal of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E}',1}$ -modules of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}'$ (8.3), (M',θ) the associated $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k})$ -module (11.18) and (∇, ψ) the $D_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ -module structure on $(C_{X/\mathscr{S}}^*(\mathscr{M}'))_{(X,\mathfrak{X})}$. Then a lifting $F : \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}'$ of the relative Frobenius morphism $F_{X/k}$ of X induces a functorial isomorphism of $F_{X/k}^*(\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k}))$ -modules:

(11.19.1)
$$\eta_F:\iota^*(F^*_{X/k}(M',\theta)) \xrightarrow{\sim} ((\mathcal{C}^*_{X/\mathscr{S}}(\mathscr{M}'))_{(X,\mathfrak{X})},\psi),$$

where ι denotes the involution homomorphism $F_{X/k}^*(\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathbf{T}_{X'/k})) \to F_{X/k}^*(\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathbf{T}_{X'/k}))$ (10.19.2).

Proof. – We take again the notation of 11.14. By 4.5, 11.12 and 11.16, the homomorphism s_F^{\sharp} (11.14.4) induces a homomorphism of \mathcal{O}_X -algebras:

(11.19.2)
$$(s_F^{\sharp})^{\vee} : \mathcal{D}_{X/k}^{\gamma} \to F_{X/k}^*(\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k})).$$

Since the composition $v \circ s_F^{\sharp}$ is the identity (11.14), the composition (11.14.3)

(11.19.3)
$$F_{X/k}^*(\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathbf{T}_{X'/k})) \xrightarrow{(\sigma \circ v)^{\vee}} \mathbf{D}_{X/k}^{\gamma} \xrightarrow{(s_F^{\sharp})^{\vee}} F_{X/k}^*(\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathbf{T}_{X'/k}))$$

is the involution homomorphism $\iota : F_{X/k}^*(\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathbf{T}_{X'/k})) \to F_{X/k}^*(\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathbf{T}_{X'/k}))$ (10.19.2).

Let ε be the associated $\mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ -stratification on M'. Recall 9.17 that the morphism F induces a functorial isomorphism of \mathcal{O}_X -modules compatible with $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratifications:

(11.19.4)
$$\eta_F: (F^*_{X/k}(M'), s^*_F(\varepsilon)) \xrightarrow{\sim} (C^*_{X/\mathscr{S}}(\mathscr{M}'))_{(X,\mathfrak{X})}.$$

In view of 11.17, the associated $D_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ -module structure on $F_{X/k}^{*}(M')$ in the left hand side is give by $F_{X/k}^{*}(\theta)$ via $(s_{F}^{\sharp})^{\vee}$ that we denote by (∇_{F}, ψ_{F}) . Then we obtain a functorial isomorphism of $D_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ -modules

(11.19.5)
$$\eta_F : (F^*_{X/k}(M'), \nabla_F, \psi_F) \xrightarrow{\sim} (C^*_{X/\mathscr{S}}(\mathscr{M}'))_{(X,\mathfrak{X})}$$

In view of (11.19.3), we have an equality of $F_{X/k}^*(\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathbf{T}_{X'/k}))$ -modules

(11.19.6)
$$(F_{X/k}^*(M'), \psi_F) = \iota^*(F_{X/k}^*(M', \theta))$$

This concludes the proof.

CHAPTER 12

COMPARISON WITH THE CARTIER TRANSFORM OF OGUS-VOLOGODSKY

In this section, we compare the Cartier equivalence modulo p and the Cartier transform of Ogus-Vologodsky. Our approach is different to that of Oyama. We interpret the Cartier equivalence as an admissibility condition à la Fontaine for a pair of crystals (12.17) and use it to compare with Cartier transform (12.22).

Let \mathfrak{X} be a smooth formal \mathscr{S} -scheme, X its special fiber and $\mathcal{T}_{X/k}$ the \mathscr{O}_X -dual of the \mathscr{O}_X -module of differential forms $\Omega^1_{X/k}$. We set $\mathfrak{X}' = \mathfrak{X} \otimes_{\mathscr{S},\sigma} \mathscr{S}$.

12.1. – We first interpret the Cartier descent in the context of Cartier equivalence (12.3).

Let $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$ and $\underline{\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}}$ be the Oyama topoi of X (7.9) and $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},1}$, $\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},1}$ the *p*-torsion structure rings of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$ and $\underline{\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}}$ respectively (8.1). We keep the conventions and notation of § 7-8. A morphism $g: (U_1, \mathfrak{T}_1, u_1) \to (U_2, \mathfrak{T}_2, u_2)$ of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$) induces a morphism of ringed topoi (8.2.1)

(12.1.1)
$$\widetilde{g}_s: (U_1, u_{1*}(\mathscr{O}_{T_1})) \to (U_2, u_{2*}(\mathscr{O}_{T_2})).$$

If we equip \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$) with the Zariski topology, the functor (7.5.1)

(12.1.2)
$$\pi : \mathscr{E} \to \mathbf{Zar}_{/X} \quad (\text{resp. } \pi : \underline{\mathscr{E}} \to \mathbf{Zar}_{/X}) \quad (U, \mathfrak{T}) \to U$$

is cocontinuous. Since π commutes with the fibered product of a flat morphism and a morphism (7.3), one verifies that π is also continuous ([3] III 1.6). By 7.15, it induces a morphism of topoi that we denote by

(12.1.3)
$$v : \widetilde{\mathscr{E}} \to X_{\operatorname{zar}} \quad (\operatorname{resp.} v : \widetilde{\underline{\mathscr{E}}} \to X_{\operatorname{zar}})$$

such that the inverse image functor is induced by the composition with π . Moreover, one verifies that the above morphisms fit into a commutative diagram



Let \mathscr{F} be a sheaf of X_{zar} . For any object (U, \mathfrak{T}) of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$), we have $(v^*(\mathscr{F}))_{(U,\mathfrak{T})} = \mathscr{F}|_U$. For any morphism $f : (U_1, \mathfrak{T}_1) \to (U_2, \mathfrak{T}_2)$ of \mathscr{E} (resp. $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$), the transition morphism γ_f of $v^*(\mathscr{F})$ (7.6.2) is the canonical isomorphism

(12.1.5)
$$\gamma_f : (\mathscr{F}|_{U_2})|_{U_1} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{F}|_{U_1}.$$

12.2. – For any object (U, \mathfrak{T}, u) of \mathscr{E} , the morphism $u: T \to U$ induces a canonical, functorial homomorphism

(12.2.1)
$$v^*(\mathscr{O}_X)(U,\mathfrak{T},u) = \mathscr{O}_X(U) \to \mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},1}(U,\mathfrak{T},u) = u_*(\mathscr{O}_T)(U).$$

Then the morphism of topoi $v: \widetilde{\mathscr{E}} \to X_{zar}$ underlies a morphism of ringed topoi

(12.2.2)
$$\nu: (\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}, \mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},1}) \to (X_{\operatorname{zar}}, \mathscr{O}_X).$$

For any object (U, \mathfrak{T}, u) of $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$, we have a morphism $u' \circ f_{T/k} : T \to U'$ (9.1.1) and hence a canonical, functorial homomorphism

$$(12.2.3) \quad v^*(F^*_{X/k}(\mathscr{O}_{X'}))(U,\mathfrak{T},u) = \mathscr{O}_{X'}(U') \to \mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},1}(U,\mathfrak{T},u) = (u' \circ f_{T/k})_*(\mathscr{O}_T)(U').$$

The composition of morphisms $F_{X/k} \circ v : \underline{\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}} \to X_{zar} \to X'_{zar}$ underlies a morphism of ringed topoi

(12.2.4)
$$\mu: (\underline{\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}}, \mathcal{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}}}, 1) \to (X'_{\operatorname{zar}}, \mathcal{O}_{X'}).$$

By (12.1.4), the morphisms μ and ν' fit into a commutative diagram

(12.2.5)
$$(\underbrace{\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}}_{\ell}, \mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}}}, 1) \xrightarrow{C_{X/\mathscr{S}}} (\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}', \mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E}'}, 1) \xrightarrow{\mu} (X'_{\operatorname{zar}}, \mathscr{O}_{X'}).$$

PROPOSITION 12.3. – Let $\mathbf{Mod}(\mathscr{O}_{X'})$ be the category of $\mathscr{O}_{X'}$ -modules and let λ be the functor

(12.3.1)
$$\lambda: \mathbf{Mod}(\mathscr{O}_{X'}) \to \mathrm{MIC}^0_{\gamma}(X/k) \qquad M' \mapsto (F^*_{X/k}(M'), \nabla_{\mathrm{can}}, 0),$$

where $\operatorname{MIC}^0_{\gamma}(X/k)$ denotes the category of nilpotent $\operatorname{D}^{\gamma}_{X/k}$ -modules of level ≤ 0 (10.17). Then, the following diagram is commutative up to a canonical isomorphism

where the right vertical arrow is given by (11.18).

The proposition follows from Lemmas 12.5, 12.6 below.

12.4. – Let M be an \mathscr{O}_X -module and $\mathscr{M} = \nu^*(M)$ (12.2.2). For any object (U, \mathfrak{T}, u) of \mathscr{E} , we set $\tilde{u}^*(M) = M|_U \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_U} u_*(\mathscr{O}_T)$. Recall (12.1) that we have $(v^*(M))_{(U,\mathfrak{T})} = M|_U$. In view of 7.10 and (12.2.1), we deduce that $\mathscr{M}_{(U,\mathfrak{T},u)} = \tilde{u}^*(M)$. For any morphism $g: (U_1, \mathfrak{T}_1, u_1) \to (U_2, \mathfrak{T}_2, u_2)$ of \mathscr{E} , in view of (12.1.5), the transition morphism $c_g: \tilde{g}^*_s(\mathscr{M}_{(U_2,\mathfrak{T}_2)}) \to \mathscr{M}_{(U_1,\mathfrak{T}_1)}$ is the canonical isomorphism (12.1.1)

(12.4.1)
$$\widetilde{g}_s^*(\widetilde{u}_2^*(M)) \xrightarrow{\sim} \widetilde{u}_1^*(M).$$

Hence \mathscr{M} is a crystal of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},1}$ -modules of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$. If M is moreover quasi-coherent, then so is \mathscr{M} (8.3). In this case, for any object (U, \mathfrak{T}, u) of \mathscr{E} , the \mathscr{O}_T -module $\mathscr{M}_{(U,\mathfrak{T})}$ of T_{zar} (8.4) is $u^*(M|_U)$.

LEMMA 12.5. – Under the assumption of 12.4, the $\widehat{\Gamma}(T_{X/k})$ -module associated to \mathscr{M} (11.18) is the \mathscr{O}_X -module M equipped with the zero PD-Higgs field (10.13).

Proof. – The underlying \mathscr{O}_X -module is $\mathscr{M}_{(X,\mathfrak{X})} = M$. The reduction modulo p of the two canonical morphisms $q_1, q_2 : R_{\mathfrak{X}} \to \mathfrak{X}$ are equal. By (12.4.1), the $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratification on M associated to \mathscr{M} (8.10)

$$\varepsilon: \widetilde{q}_{2,s}^*(M) \xrightarrow{\sim} \widetilde{q}_{1,s}^*(M)$$

is the identity morphism. In view of (11.17.1) and (11.17.2), the PD-Higgs field associated to ε is zero.

LEMMA 12.6. – Let M' be an $\mathcal{O}_{X'}$ -module and $\mathscr{M} = \mu^*(M')$. Then \mathscr{M} is a crystal of $\mathcal{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},1}$ -modules of $\underline{\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}}$ and the $D^{\gamma}_{X/k}$ -module associated to \mathscr{M} is $(F^*_{X/k}(M'), \nabla_{\operatorname{can}}, 0)$ (11.18), where $\nabla_{\operatorname{can}}$ denotes the Frobenius descent connection on $F^*_{X/k}(M')$ (6.3.1).

Proof. – We set $\mathscr{M}' = \nu'^*(M')$ (12.2.5). Then $\mathscr{M} = C^*_{X/\mathscr{S}}(\mathscr{M}')$ is a crystal by 12.4. For any object (U, \mathfrak{T}, u) of $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$, we put $\phi_{T/k} = u' \circ f_{T/k} : T \to \underline{T}' \to U'$. Then we have $\rho(U, \mathfrak{T}, u) = (U', \mathfrak{T}, \phi_{T/k})$ (9.1.2) and (9.11.1)

(12.6.1)
$$\mathbf{C}_{X/\mathscr{S}}^{*}(\mathscr{M}')_{(U,\mathfrak{T},u)} = \pi_{U*}(\mathscr{M}'_{(U',\mathfrak{T},\phi_{T/k})}) = \pi_{U*}(\widetilde{\phi}_{T/k}^{*}(M')).$$

The morphism $\phi_{X/k}$ associated to the object (X, \mathfrak{X}) of $\underline{\mathscr{C}}$ is $F_{X/k}$. Then we have $\mathscr{M}_{(X,\mathfrak{X})} = F_{X/k}^*(M')$. There exists a commutative diagram

The morphisms $q_1, q_2: (X, Q_{\mathfrak{X}}) \to (X, \mathfrak{X})$ of $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$ induce isomorphisms (12.4.1), 12.6.1

(12.6.3)
$$c_{q_{1}}: \tilde{q}_{1,s}^{*}(F_{X/k}^{*}(M')) \xrightarrow{\sim} \pi_{X*}(\phi_{Q_{\mathfrak{X},1/k}}^{*}(M')), \\ c_{q_{2}}: \tilde{q}_{2,s}^{*}(F_{X/k}^{*}(M')) \xrightarrow{\sim} \pi_{X*}(\tilde{\phi}_{Q_{\mathfrak{X},1/k}}^{*}(M')).$$

The $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratification ε on $F_{X/k}^*(M')$ associated to the crystal \mathscr{M} (8.10) is given by the composition of c_{q_2} and the inverse of c_{q_1} . In view of (12.6.2), for any local section m' of M', we have

(12.6.4)
$$\varepsilon(1 \otimes F_{X/k}^*(m')) = F_{X/k}^*(m') \otimes 1.$$

Let $(F_{X/k}^*(M'), \nabla, \psi)$ be the $\mathcal{D}_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ -module associated to $(F_{X/k}^*(M'), \varepsilon)$ (11.17). In view of (12.6.4), (11.17.3) and (11.17.4), we deduce that ∇ and ψ annihilate the subsheaf $F_{X/k}^{-1}(M')$ of $F_{X/k}^*(M')$. Hence ∇ is the Frobenius descent connection and $\psi = 0$. \Box

12.7. – To compare the Cartier equivalence and the Cartier transform, we reconstruct the crystal $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}'_2}$ (10.12) as a crystal in Oyama topos $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$ (cf. 12.15 and 12.27) which allows us to compare Cartier transform and Cartier equivalence. Compared to Oyama's approach for this construction ([32] 1.5.2), our approach use certain torsor of liftings in Oyama topoi and is close the original construction of Ogus-Vologodsky.

Let (U, \mathfrak{T}, u) be an object of \mathscr{E} , W an open subscheme of T and \mathfrak{W}_2 the open subscheme of \mathfrak{T}_2 associated to W. We define $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},(U,\mathfrak{T},u)}(W)$ to be the set of \mathscr{S}_2 -morphisms $\mathfrak{W}_2 \to \mathfrak{X}_2$ which make the following diagram commutes



The functor $W \mapsto \mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},(U,\mathfrak{T},u)}(W)$ defines a sheaf of T_{zar} . Since \mathfrak{X} is smooth over \mathscr{S} , such morphisms exist locally. The sheaf $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},(U,\mathfrak{T},u)}$ is a torsor under the \mathscr{O}_T -module $\mathscr{H}om_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{T}_2}}(u^*(\Omega^1_{U/k}), p\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{T}_2}) \xrightarrow{\sim} u^*(\mathrm{T}_{U/k})$ of T_{zar} .

12.8. – Let $g: (V, \mathfrak{Z}, v) \to (U, \mathfrak{T}, u)$ be a morphism of \mathscr{E} and $g_s: Z \to T$ (resp. $g_2: \mathfrak{Z}_2 \to \mathfrak{T}_2$) the reduction of the morphism $\mathfrak{Z} \to \mathfrak{T}$. For \mathscr{O}_T -modules, we will use the notation g_s^{-1} to denote the inverse image in the sense of abelian sheaves and will keep the notation g_s^* for the inverse image in the sense of modules. By adjunction, the isomorphism $g_s^*(u^*(\mathbf{T}_{U/k})) \xrightarrow{\sim} v^*(\mathbf{T}_{V/k})$ induces an \mathscr{O}_T -linear morphism:

$$\tau: u^*(\mathcal{T}_{U/k}) \to g_{s*}(v^*(\mathcal{T}_{V/k})).$$

We have a canonical τ -equivariant morphism $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},(U,\mathfrak{T},u)} \to g_{s*}(\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},(V,\mathfrak{Z},v)})$ of T_{zar} defined for every local section $h: \mathfrak{W}_2 \to \mathfrak{X}_2$ of $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},(U,\mathfrak{T},u)}$ by

(12.8.1)
$$\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},(U,\mathfrak{T},u)} \to g_{s*}(\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},(V,\mathfrak{Z},v)}) \qquad h \mapsto h \circ g_2|_{g_2^{-1}(\mathfrak{W}_2)}.$$

By adjunction, we obtain a $g_s^{-1}(u^*(\mathbf{T}_{U/k}))$ -equivariant morphism of Z_{zar} :

(12.8.2)
$$\gamma_g: g_s^*(\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},(U,\mathfrak{T},u)}) \to \mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},(V,\mathfrak{Z},v)}$$

By ([17] III 1.4.6(iii)), we deduce a $v^*(T_{V/k})$ -equivariant isomorphism of Z_{zar} (10.7):

(12.8.3)
$$g_s^+(\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},(U,\mathfrak{T},u)}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},(V,\mathfrak{Z},v)}.$$

One verifies that the data $\{u_*(\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},(U,\mathfrak{T},u)}),\gamma_g\}$ satisfy the compatibility conditions of 7.7. Then it defines a sheaf of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$ that we denote by $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (7.10). We set $\mathscr{T}_{X/k} = \nu^*(\mathcal{T}_{X/k})$ (12.2.2), 12.5. In view of 12.7 and (12.8.2), $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ is a $\mathscr{T}_{X/k}$ -torsor of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$.

PROPOSITION 12.9. – (i) There exists a quasi-coherent crystal $\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},1}$ -modules of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$ such that:

- (a) For every object (U, \mathfrak{T}, u) of \mathscr{E} , $\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X},(U,\mathfrak{T})}$ (8.4) is the sheaf of affine functions on the $u^*(\mathcal{T}_{U/k})$ -torsor $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},(U,\mathfrak{T},u)}$ of T_{zar} (10.4).
- (b) For every morphism $g : (V, \mathfrak{Z}) \to (U, \mathfrak{T})$ of \mathscr{E} , any affine function $l : \mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},(U,\mathfrak{T},u)} \to \mathscr{O}_T$ and any section $h \in \mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},(U,\mathfrak{T},u)}(T)$, the transition morphism $c_g : g_s^*(\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X},(U,\mathfrak{T})}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X},(V,\mathfrak{Z})}$ (8.4) sends $g_s^*(l)$ to an affine function $l' : \mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},(V,\mathfrak{Z},v)} \to \mathscr{O}_Z$ such that

$$(12.9.1) l'(h \circ g_2) = g_s^*(l(h)) \in \mathscr{O}_Z$$

(ii) We have an exact sequence of crystals (12.2.2):

(12.9.2)
$$0 \to \mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},1} \to \mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}} \to \nu^*(\Omega^1_{X/k}) \to 0.$$

Proof. – (i) For any object (U, \mathfrak{T}, u) of \mathscr{E} , we define $\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X},(U,\mathfrak{T})}$ as in (i). Recall (10.4.3) that we have an exact sequence of \mathscr{O}_T -modules of T_{zar}

(12.9.3)
$$0 \to \mathscr{O}_T \xrightarrow{c} \mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X},(U,\mathfrak{T})} \xrightarrow{\omega} u^*(\Omega^1_{U/k}) \to 0.$$

For any morphism $g: (V, \mathfrak{Z}) \to (U, \mathfrak{T})$ of \mathscr{E} , by (10.7.4) and (12.8.3), we obtain an $\mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{Z}}$ -linear isomorphism

(12.9.4)
$$c_g: g_s^*(\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X},(U,\mathfrak{T})}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X},(V,\mathfrak{T})}$$

which fits into a commutative diagram (10.7.5)

$$(12.9.5) \qquad \begin{array}{ccc} 0 \longrightarrow g_s^*(\mathscr{O}_T) \longrightarrow g_s^*(\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X},(U,\mathfrak{T})}) \stackrel{\omega}{\longrightarrow} g_s^*(u^*(\Omega^1_{U/k})) \longrightarrow 0 \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\$$

In view of the compatibility conditions of γ_g (12.8.2) and ([2] II 4.15), the data $\{\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X},(U,\mathfrak{T})}, c_g\}$ satisfy the compatibility conditions of 8.2. Hence, they define a quasicoherent crystal of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},1}$ -modules of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$ that we denote by $\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}}$. The equality (12.9.1) follows from (10.7.2) and (12.8.1).

The assertion (ii) follows from 12.4 and the diagram (12.9.5).

12.10. – We denote by $\mathscr{B}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ the quasi-coherent crystal of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},1}$ -algebras $\varinjlim_{n\geq 1} S^n_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},1}}(\mathscr{F})$ of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$. We set $\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}} = \mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X},(X,\mathfrak{X})}$ and $\mathscr{B}_{\mathfrak{X}} = \mathscr{B}_{\mathfrak{X},(X,\mathfrak{X})}$. Then we obtain an $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratification $\varepsilon_{\mathscr{F}}$ on $\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (resp. $\varepsilon_{\mathscr{B}}$ on $\mathscr{B}_{\mathfrak{X}}$) and a $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X/k})$ -module structure $\psi_{\mathscr{F}}$ on $\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (resp. $\psi_{\mathscr{B}}$ on $\mathscr{B}_{\mathfrak{X}}$). On the other hand, $\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ being the sheaf of affine functions on the

 $T_{X/k}$ -torsor $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},(X,\mathfrak{X})}$, $\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (resp. $\mathscr{B}_{\mathfrak{X}}$) is equipped by 10.5 with a $\widehat{\Gamma}(T_{X/k})$ -module structure that we denote by $\kappa_{\mathscr{F}}$ (resp. $\kappa_{\mathscr{B}}$).

In the following, we show that $\psi_{\mathcal{J}}$ and $\kappa_{\mathcal{J}}$ are different by a sign (12.12).

Recall that we have an exact sequence (12.9.3)

(12.10.1)
$$0 \to \mathscr{O}_X \to \mathscr{J}_{\mathfrak{X}} \to \Omega^1_{X/k} \to 0$$

The element $\operatorname{id}_{\mathfrak{X}_2} : \mathfrak{X}_2 \to \mathfrak{X}_2$ of $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},(X,\mathfrak{X})}(X)$ induces a canonical splitting

(12.10.2)
$$s_{\mathrm{id}}: \mathscr{J}_{\mathfrak{X}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{O}_X \oplus \Omega^1_{X/k}, \qquad l \mapsto (l(\mathrm{id}), \omega(l)).$$

Then it induces an isomorphism of \mathcal{O}_X -algebras

(12.10.3)
$$\mathscr{B}_{\mathfrak{X}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{S}(\Omega^1_{X/k})$$

By 10.6, the isomorphism s_{id} (12.10.2) (resp. (12.10.3)) is compatible with the action $\kappa_{\mathscr{F}}$ (resp. $\kappa_{\mathscr{B}}$) and the canonical action of $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X/k})$ on $\mathscr{O}_X \oplus \Omega^1_{X/k}$ (resp. $\mathcal{S}(\Omega^1_{X/k})$) (10.2).

PROPOSITION 12.11. – Assume that there exists an étale \mathscr{S} -morphism $\mathfrak{X} \to \widehat{\mathbb{A}}^d_{\mathscr{S}} = \operatorname{Spf}(W\{T_1, \ldots, T_d\})$. We take again the notation of 11.11.

(i) If l is a section of $\mathcal{F}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ such that $\omega(l) = 0$ (12.10.2), then $\varepsilon_{\mathcal{F}}(1 \otimes l) = l \otimes 1$.

(ii) For $1 \leq i \leq d$, let l_i be the section of $\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ such that $l_i(\mathrm{id}) = 0$ and $\omega(l_i) = dt_i$. Then $\varepsilon_{\mathscr{F}}(1 \otimes l_i) = l_i \otimes 1 - 1 \otimes \zeta_i$.

Proof. – Assertion (i) follows from 12.5 and 12.9(ii).

(ii) We denote by $q_s : R_{\mathfrak{X},1} \to X$ the canonical morphism. The canonical morphisms $q_{1,2}, q_{2,2} : R_{\mathfrak{X},2} \to \mathfrak{X}_2 \in \mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},(X,R_{\mathfrak{X}},q_s)}(R_{\mathfrak{X},1})$ induce two splittings of $\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X},(X,R_{\mathfrak{X}})}$ (12.9.3) (12.11.1) $s_{q_1} : q_{s*}(\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X},(X,R_{\mathfrak{X}})}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1} \oplus (\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \Omega^1_{X/k}) \quad f \mapsto (f(q_1),\omega(f)),$ (12.11.2) $s_{q_2} : q_{s*}(\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X},(X,R_{\mathfrak{X}})}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1} \oplus (\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \Omega^1_{X/k}) \quad f \mapsto (f(q_2),\omega(f)).$ We identify $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1} \oplus (\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \Omega^1_{X/k})$ with $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ by $\mathrm{id}_{\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1}} \otimes_{\mathrm{sid}}$ (12.10.2).

In view of (12.9.1) and (12.9.5), the morphism s_{q_i} is inverse to $q_{s*}(c_{q_i})$ for i = 1, 2. Then, the $\mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratification ε on $\mathcal{F}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ is given by the composition of the inverse of s_{q_2} and s_{q_1} .

We denote by f the local section $s_{q_2}^{-1}(1 \otimes l_i)$ of $q_{s*}(\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X},(X,R_{\mathfrak{X}})})$. Then we have $f(q_2) = 0$ and $\omega(f) = 1 \otimes dt_i$. To show the assertion, it suffices to prove that $f(q_1) = -\zeta_i \otimes 1$. The morphisms q_1, q_2 are induced by two homomorphisms

(12.11.3)
$$\iota_1: \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_2} \to \mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},2}, \quad \iota_2: \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_2} \to \mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},2}$$

such that ι_1 is equal to ι_2 modulo p. Then they define a W₂-derivation

$$(12.11.4) D = \iota_2 - \iota_1 : \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_2} \to p \,\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},2}$$

We denote by

(12.11.5)
$$\phi : \mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \Omega^1_{X/k} \to p \, \mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},2}$$

the $\mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1}$ -linear morphism associated to D. Then we have

$$\phi(1 \otimes dt_i) = 1 \otimes t_i - t_i \otimes 1 = p\left(\frac{\xi_i}{p}\right) \in p \,\mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X},2}.$$

Identifying $\mathcal{H}\!_{\mathscr{O}_X}(\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \Omega^1_{X/k}, p \mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},2}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathcal{T}_{X/k}$, we consider ϕ as a section of $q_s^*(\mathcal{T}_{X/k})$. Then we have $q_2 = q_1 + \phi \in \mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},q_s}(R_{\mathfrak{X},1})$ and we deduce that (10.4(ii))

$$f(q_1) = f(q_2 - \phi) = -\omega(f)(\phi) = -\zeta_i \otimes 1.$$

Then the proposition follows.

COROLLARY 12.12. – The $\widehat{\Gamma}(T_{X/k})$ -actions $\psi_{\mathcal{F}}$ and $\kappa_{\mathcal{F}}$ on $\mathcal{F}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (resp. $\psi_{\mathcal{B}}$ and $\kappa_{\mathcal{B}}$ on $\mathcal{B}_{\mathfrak{X}}$) satisfy $\psi_{\mathcal{F}} = \iota^*(\kappa_{\mathcal{F}})$ (resp. $\psi_{\mathcal{B}} = \iota^*(\kappa_{\mathcal{B}})$), where $\iota : \widehat{\Gamma}(T_{X/k}) \to \widehat{\Gamma}(T_{X/k})$ denotes the involution homomorphism (10.19.2).

Proof. – The question being local, we take again the assumptions and notation of 12.11. Let $\partial_i \in \mathcal{T}_{X/k}(X)$ be the dual of dt_i . In view of (11.17.2) and 12.11(ii), the action of $\psi_{\mathcal{J},\partial_i}$ on $\mathcal{F}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ sends l_i to -1. We equip $\mathcal{O}_X \oplus \Omega^1_{X/k}$ (resp. $\mathcal{S}(\Omega^1_{X/k})$) with the canonical action of $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X/k})$ (10.2). The isomorphism s_{id} (12.10.2) (resp. (12.10.3)) sends l_i to dt_i and induces an isomorphism of $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X/k})$ -modules

(12.12.1)
$$(\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}},\psi_{\mathscr{F}}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \iota^*(\mathscr{O}_X \oplus \Omega^1_{X/k})$$
 (resp. $((\mathscr{B}_{\mathfrak{X}},\psi_{\mathscr{B}}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \iota^*(\mathcal{S}(\Omega^1_{X/k}))).$

Then the assertion follows from 12.10.

COROLLARY 12.13. – We denote by ε_R^+ (resp. ε_R^-) the $\mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratification on $\mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1}$ associated to the $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X/k})$ -action $\kappa_{\mathcal{B}}$ (resp. $\psi_{\mathcal{B}}$) on $\mathcal{B}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ via the isomorphisms of \mathcal{O}_X -algebras $\mathcal{B}_{\mathfrak{X}} \xrightarrow{\sim} S(\Omega_{X/k}^1) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1}$ (11.12), 12.10.3:

- (i) For any local section r of $\mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1}$, we have $\varepsilon_R^+(1 \otimes r) = \delta(r)$ (11.11).
- (ii) For any local section r of $\mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1}$, we have $\varepsilon_B^-(\delta(r)) = r \otimes 1$.

Proof. – The question being local, we take again the assumption and the notation of 12.11. Then for $1 \leq i \leq d$, l_i is sent to ζ_i by the isomorphism $\mathscr{B}_{\mathfrak{X}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1}$. Since ε_R^+ , ε_R^- and δ are homomorphisms, it suffices to verify the assertion for the local sections ζ_i . By 12.11(ii) and 12.12(i), we have

(12.13.1)
$$\varepsilon_R^-(1\otimes\zeta_i) = \zeta_i\otimes 1 - 1\otimes\zeta_i, \qquad \varepsilon_R^+(1\otimes\zeta_i) = \zeta_i\otimes 1 + 1\otimes\zeta_i$$

Then, the assertion (i) follows from 11.11. The assertion (ii) follows from the relations

$$\varepsilon_R^-(\delta(\zeta_i)) = \varepsilon_R^-(1 \otimes \zeta_i + \zeta_i \otimes 1) = (\zeta_i \otimes 1 - 1 \otimes \zeta_i) + 1 \otimes \zeta_i = \zeta_i \otimes 1.$$

With the above preparation, we can interpret a key calculation in Oyama's paper in the following forms.

$$\Box$$

PROPOSITION 12.14 ([32] 1.5.3). – Let M be a quasi-nilpotent $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X/k})$ -module, ε the associated $\mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratification on M (11.17). We denote by M_0 the underlying \mathcal{O}_X -module of M equipped with the $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X/k})$ -module structure defined by the zero PD-Higgs field. Then the stratification $\varepsilon : \mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_X} M \to M \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_X} \mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1}$ induces two isomorphisms of $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X/k})$ -modules (10.14.2)

(i)
$$(\mathcal{B}_{\mathfrak{X}}, \psi_{\mathcal{B}}) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X}} M_{0} \xrightarrow{\sim} M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X}} (\mathcal{B}_{\mathfrak{X}}, \psi_{\mathcal{B}}),$$

(ii) $(\mathcal{B}_{\mathfrak{X}}, \psi_{\mathcal{B}}) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X}} \iota^{*}(M) \xrightarrow{\sim} M_{0} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X}} (\mathcal{B}_{\mathfrak{X}}, \psi_{\mathcal{B}}).$

Proof. – We take again the notation of 12.13. To simplify the notation, we write \mathcal{R} for $\mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X},1}$. The $\mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratification on M_0 is the identity morphism $\operatorname{id}_{\mathcal{R}\otimes M} : \mathcal{R} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_X} M \to \mathcal{R} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_X} M$ (cf. the proof of 12.5). We denote by θ_0 (resp. θ) the morphism $M \to M \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_X} \mathcal{R}$ defined by $m \mapsto m \otimes 1$ (resp. $m \mapsto \varepsilon(1 \otimes m)$) for every local section m of M.

(i) Since the action $\psi_{\mathcal{B}}$ on $\mathcal{B}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ is compatible with the ring structure of $\mathcal{B}_{\mathfrak{X}}$, it suffices to show that $\theta: M_0 \to M \otimes (\mathcal{B}_{\mathfrak{X}}, \psi_{\mathcal{B}})$ is $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathbf{T}_{X/k})$ -equivariant. In view of (5.4.2), it suffices to prove that the following diagram is commutative

By condition (ii) of 5.5, the composition (12.14.2)

$$M \xrightarrow{\theta} M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathscr{R} \xrightarrow{\theta \otimes \mathrm{id}_{\mathscr{R}}} M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathscr{R} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathscr{R} \xrightarrow{\mathrm{id}_M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_R}} M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathscr{R} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathscr{R}$$

in the above diagram is equal to the composition (12.14.3)

$$M \xrightarrow{\theta} M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathscr{R} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_M \otimes \delta} M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathscr{R} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathscr{R} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_M \otimes \varepsilon_R^-} M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathscr{R} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathscr{R}$$

By 12.13(ii), the above composition is equal to the composition

(12.14.4)
$$M \xrightarrow{\theta_0} M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathscr{R} \xrightarrow{\theta \otimes \mathrm{id}_{\mathscr{R}}} M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathscr{R} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathscr{R}.$$

The assertion follows.

(ii) By 12.12(i), it suffices to show that the morphism $(\mathcal{B}_{\mathfrak{X}},\kappa) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X}} M \to M_{0} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X}} (\mathcal{B}_{\mathfrak{X}},\kappa_{\mathscr{B}})$ is $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X/k})$ -equivariant. Similarly to (i), by (5.4.2), it suffices to prove that the following diagram is commutative

$$(12.14.5) \qquad M \xrightarrow{\theta} M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X}} \mathscr{R}$$
$$\downarrow^{\theta \otimes \mathrm{id}_{\mathscr{R}}} M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X}} \mathscr{R} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}} \mathscr{R} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}} \mathscr{R}$$

By condition (ii) of 5.5, the composition

$$(12.14.6) M \xrightarrow{\theta} M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathscr{R} \xrightarrow{\theta \otimes \operatorname{id}_{\mathscr{R}}} M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathscr{R} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathscr{R}$$

in the above diagram is equal to the composition

(12.14.7)
$$M \xrightarrow{\theta} M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathscr{R} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_M \otimes \delta} M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathscr{R} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \mathscr{R}$$

The assertion follows from 12.13(i).

12.15. – The counterpart of the crystal $\mathscr{A}_{\mathfrak{X}'_{2}}$ (10.12) in Oyama topos $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$ is defined by applying Cartier equivalence $C^*_{X/\mathscr{S}}$ to $\mathscr{B}_{\mathfrak{X}'}$.

Let $C_{X/\mathscr{S}}: \underline{\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}} \to \widetilde{\mathscr{E}}'$ be the morphism of topoi (9.1.3). We put $\underline{\mathscr{R}}_{\mathfrak{X}} = C_{X/\mathscr{S}}^*(\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}'})$ (12.8). For any object (U, \mathfrak{T}, u) of $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$, we set $\phi_{T/k} = u' \circ f_{T/k} : T \to \underline{T}' \to U'$ so we have $\rho(U, \mathfrak{T}, u) = (U', \mathfrak{T}, \phi_{T/k})$ (9.1.2). By 9.1, the descent data of the sheaf $\underline{\mathscr{R}}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ of $\underline{\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}}$ is $\{u_*(\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}',(U',\mathfrak{T},\phi_{T/k})}), \gamma_{\rho(g)}\}$ (7.7, 12.7, 12.8).

We put $\underline{\mathscr{F}}_{\mathfrak{X}} = C^*_{X/\mathscr{S}}(\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}'})$ and $\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}} = C^*_{X/\mathscr{S}}(\mathscr{B}_{\mathfrak{X}'})$. For any object (U, \mathfrak{T}, u) of $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$, we have (9.11.6)

(12.15.1)
$$\underline{\mathscr{F}}_{\mathfrak{X},(U,\mathfrak{T},u)} = \mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}',(U',\mathfrak{T},\phi_{T/k})}, \qquad \underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X},(U,\mathfrak{T},u)} = \mathscr{B}_{\mathfrak{X}',(U',\mathfrak{T},\phi_{T/k})}$$

The linearised descent data of the quasi-coherent crystal of $\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},1}$ -modules $\underline{\mathscr{F}}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (resp. $\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},1}$ -algebras $\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}}$) of $\underline{\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}}$ is $\{\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}',(U',\mathfrak{T},\phi_{T/k})}, c_{\rho(g)}\}$ (resp. $\{\mathscr{B}_{\mathfrak{X}',(U',\mathfrak{T},\phi_{T/k})}, c_{\rho(g)}\}$) (9.1), 8.2, 12.9.

We set $\underline{\mathscr{F}}_{\mathfrak{X}} = \underline{\mathscr{F}}_{\mathfrak{X},(X,\mathfrak{X})}$ and $\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}} = \underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X},(X,\mathfrak{X})}$. By 11.18, these \mathscr{O}_X -modules are equipped with $D_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ -module structures that we denote by $(\nabla_{\underline{\mathscr{F}}}, \psi_{\underline{\mathscr{F}}})$ (resp. $(\nabla_{\underline{\mathscr{B}}}, \psi_{\underline{\mathscr{B}}})$). We will show that $\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ is isomorphic to the algebra $\overline{\mathscr{R}}_{\mathfrak{X}'_2}$ (10.12) introduced by Ogus-Vologodsky (12.26).

12.16. – We interpret the Cartier equivalence as an admissible isomorphism à la Fontaine for a pair of crystals with respect to the period ring $\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{F}}$.

Let \mathscr{M}' be a crystal of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E}',1}$ -modules of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}'$, (M',θ'_M) the associated $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k})$ -module, $\mathscr{M}'_0 = \nu^*(M')$ (12.4), $\mathscr{N} = \mathcal{C}^*_{X/\mathscr{S}}(\mathscr{M}')$ and (N, ∇_N, ψ_N) the associated $\mathcal{D}^{\gamma}_{X/k}$ -module. By 11.18, 12.5 and 12.14(i), we have an isomorphism of crystals of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E}',1}$ -modules of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}'$

(12.16.1)
$$\mathscr{B}_{\mathfrak{X}'} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E}',1}} \mathscr{M}'_0 \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{M}' \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E}',1}} \mathscr{B}_{\mathfrak{X}'}.$$

Applying $C^*_{X/\mathscr{S}}$, we obtain an isomorphism of crystals of $\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},1}$ -modules of $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$:

(12.16.2)
$$\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},1}} \mathcal{C}^*_{X/\mathscr{S}}(\mathscr{M}'_0) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{N} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},1}} \underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}}$$

By 12.3, we deduce an isomorphism of $D_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ -modules

(12.16.3)
$$\lambda : \underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} F^*_{X/k}(M') \xrightarrow{\sim} N \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}},$$

where the $D_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ -action on the left hand side is induced by $(\nabla_{\underline{\beta}}, \psi_{\underline{\beta}})$ on $\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ and $(\nabla_{\operatorname{can}}, 0)$ on $F_{X/k}^*(M')$ (10.18), that we still denote by $(\nabla_{\underline{\beta}}, \psi_{\underline{\beta}})$; and the $D_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ -action on the right hand side is induced by (∇_N, ψ_N) on N and $(\nabla_{\underline{\beta}}, \psi_{\underline{\beta}})$, that we denote by $(\nabla_{\operatorname{tot}}, \psi_{\operatorname{tot}})$.

The $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k})$ -module structures $\psi_{\underline{\mathscr{B}}}$ on $\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ and $\theta_{M'}$ on M' define a $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k})$ -module structure on $\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X'}} M'$ (10.14), that we denote by θ_{tot} . On the other hand, the zero PD-Higgs field on N and the action of $\psi_{\underline{\mathscr{B}}}$ on $\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ define a $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k})$ -module structure on $N \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X}} \underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}}$, that we still denote by $\psi_{\underline{\mathscr{B}}}$.

THEOREM 12.17. – Let \mathscr{M}' be a crystal of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E}',1}$ -modules of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}'$, (M', θ'_M) the associated $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathrm{T}_{X'/k})$ -module, $\mathscr{N} = \mathrm{C}^*_{X/\mathscr{S}}(\mathscr{M}')$ and (N, ∇_N, ψ_N) the associated $\mathrm{D}^{\gamma}_{X/k}$ -module. Then, the isomorphism (12.16.3)

$$(12.17.1) \qquad \lambda: (\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X'}} M', (\nabla_{\underline{\mathscr{B}}}, \psi_{\underline{\mathscr{B}}}), \theta_{\mathrm{tot}}) \xrightarrow{\sim} (N \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X}} \underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}}, (\nabla_{\mathrm{tot}}, \psi_{\mathrm{tot}}), \psi_{\underline{\mathscr{B}}})$$

is compatible with the $D_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ -actions and the $\widehat{\Gamma}(T_{X'/k})$ -actions defined on both sides in 12.16.

Proof. – We only need to prove the compatibility of the $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k})$ -actions. Let $\varepsilon': \mathcal{B}_{\mathfrak{X}'} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X'}} M' \xrightarrow{\sim} M' \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X'}} \mathcal{B}_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ be the $\mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ -stratification on M' (12.14), and $\psi_{\mathscr{B}'}$ the $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k})$ -action on $\mathcal{B}_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ defined in 12.10. The question is local. Since the Cartier equivalence is compatible with localisation (9.15.3), we can suppose that there exists a lifting $F: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}'$ of the relative Frobenius morphism $F_{X/k}$ of X. Then it induces a morphism $F: (X', \mathfrak{X}, F_{X/k}) \to (X', \mathfrak{X}')$ of \mathscr{E}' . The isomorphisms (12.16.1), (12.16.2) and the transition morphisms η_F associated to F (9.17.4) induce a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{c|c} F_{X/k}^*((\mathscr{B}_{\mathfrak{X}'}\otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E}',1}}\mathscr{M}_0')_{(X',\mathfrak{X}')}) & \xrightarrow{\sim} & F_{X/k}^*((\mathscr{M}'\otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E}',1}}\mathscr{B}_{\mathfrak{X}'})_{(X',\mathfrak{X}')}) \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\$$

Then we deduce a commutative diagram

By 11.19, the isomorphism $\eta_F : F^*_{X/k}(\mathscr{B}_{\mathfrak{X}'}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{B}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ underlies an isomorphism of $F^*_{X/k}(\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k}))$ -modules

(12.17.3)
$$F_{X/k}^*(\mathscr{B}_{\mathfrak{X}'},\iota^*(\psi_{\mathscr{B}'})) \xrightarrow{\sim} (\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}},\psi_{\underline{\mathscr{B}}}).$$

By 12.14(ii), the isomorphism $F_{X/k}^*(\varepsilon')$ is compatible with actions of $F_{X/k}^*(\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k}))$: (12.17.4) $F_{X/k}^*(\varepsilon'): F_{X/k}^*(\mathscr{B}_{\mathfrak{X}'}\otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X'}}M',\psi_{\mathscr{B}'}\otimes \mathrm{id} + \mathrm{id}\otimes\iota^*(\theta_{M'})) \xrightarrow{\sim} F_{X/k}^*(M'\otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X'}}\mathscr{B}_{\mathfrak{X}'},\mathrm{id}\otimes\psi_{\mathscr{B}'}).$ Then the assertion follows from (12.17.2), (12.17.3) and (12.17.4).

REMARK 12.18. – In ([31], 2.23), Ogus and Vologodsky showed a similar result for certain filtered PD-Higgs modules.

Let (H, θ) (resp. (H, ∇, ψ)) be a $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X/k})$ -module (resp. a $\mathcal{D}_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ -module). We define its $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X/k})$ invariants (resp. $\mathcal{D}_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ invariants) by (12.18.1)

$$H^{\theta} = \mathcal{H}om_{\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X/k})}((\mathscr{O}_X, 0), H) \qquad (\text{resp. } H^{(\nabla, \psi)} = \mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{D}_{X/k}}^{\gamma}((\mathscr{O}_X, d, 0), H)).$$

We can recover the Cartier equivalence by taking $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathbf{T}_{X'/k})$ invariants (resp. $\mathbf{D}_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ invariants) for the isomorphism (12.17.1).

PROPOSITION 12.19. – Keep the notation of 12.16 and suppose that \mathcal{M}' is quasicoherent. The isomorphism (12.17.1) induces

(i) a canonical isomorphism of $D_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ -modules

$$(\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X'}} M', \nabla_{\underline{\mathscr{B}}}, \psi_{\underline{\mathscr{B}}})^{\theta_{\mathrm{tot}}} \xrightarrow{\sim} (N, \nabla_N, \psi_N);$$

(ii) a canonical isomorphism of $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k})$ -modules

$$(M', \theta_{M'}) \xrightarrow{\sim} (N \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}}, \psi_{\underline{\mathscr{B}}})^{(\nabla_{\mathrm{tot}}, \psi_{\mathrm{tot}})}.$$

The assertion follows from 12.20 and 12.21.

LEMMA 12.20. – Keep the notation of 12.16.

(i) The actions $(\nabla_{\underline{\mathcal{B}}}, \psi_{\underline{\mathcal{B}}})$ of $D_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ and θ_{tot} of $\widehat{\Gamma}(T_{X'/k})$ on $\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X'}} M'$ commute with each other.

(ii) The actions $(\nabla_{tot}, \psi_{tot})$ of $D_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ and $\psi_{\underline{\mathscr{B}}}$ of $\widehat{\Gamma}(T_{X'/k})$ on $N \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ commute with each other.

Proof. – (i) By the Formula (10.14.1), one verifies that the action $\psi_{\underline{\mathscr{B}}}$ of $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathbf{T}_{X'/k}) \subset \mathbf{D}_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ and the action θ_{tot} of $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathbf{T}_{X'/k})$ on $\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X'}} M'$ commute with each other. For any local sections D of $\mathbf{T}_{X/k}$, ξ' of $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathbf{T}_{X'/k})$, b of $\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ and m of M', by 10.14.1, we have

$$\begin{split} \nabla_{\underline{\mathcal{B}},D}(\theta_{\mathrm{tot},\xi'}(b\otimes m)) &= \nabla_{\underline{\mathcal{B}},D}(\psi_{\underline{\mathcal{B}},\xi'}(b))\otimes m + \nabla_{\underline{\mathcal{B}},D}(b)\otimes \theta_{M',\xi'}(m) \\ &= \psi_{\underline{\mathcal{B}},\xi'}(\nabla_{\underline{\mathcal{B}},D}(b))\otimes m + \nabla_{\underline{\mathcal{B}},D}(b)\otimes \theta_{M',\xi'}(m) \\ &= \theta_{\mathrm{tot},\xi'}(\nabla_{\underline{\mathcal{B}},D}(b\otimes m)). \end{split}$$

Since $D_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ is generated by $T_{X/k}$ and $\widehat{\Gamma}(T_{X'/k})$, the assertion follows.

Assertion (ii) follows from (i) and 12.17.

LEMMA 12.21. – Keep the notation of 12.16 and suppose that \mathscr{M}' is quasi-coherent. The canonical homomorphism of crystals $\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},1} \to \underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ induces an isomorphism of \mathscr{O}_X -modules (resp. $\mathscr{O}_{X'}$ -modules)

$$N \xrightarrow{\sim} (N \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X}} \underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}})^{\psi_{\underline{\mathscr{B}}}}, \qquad (\text{resp. } M' \xrightarrow{\sim} (\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X'}} M')^{(\nabla_{\underline{\mathscr{B}}}, \psi_{\underline{\mathscr{B}}})}).$$

Proof. – The assertion in lemma being local, we may assume that there exists a lifting $F: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}'$ of the relative Frobenius morphism $F_{X/k}$ of X. By 11.19 and (12.12.1), we have isomorphisms of $F^*_{X/k}(\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k}))$ -modules

$$\begin{split} \eta_F : F^*_{X/k}(\,\mathscr{B}_{\mathfrak{X}'} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X'}} M', \iota^*(\psi_{\,\mathscr{B}'}) \otimes \mathrm{id}) &\xrightarrow{\sim} (N \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}}, \psi_{\,\underline{\mathscr{B}}}) \\ & \mathrm{S}(\Omega^1_{X/k}) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} F^*_{X/k}(M') \xrightarrow{\sim} F^*_{X/k}(\,\mathscr{B}_{\mathfrak{X}'} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X'}} M', \iota^*(\psi_{\,\mathcal{B}'}) \otimes \mathrm{id}), \end{split}$$

where $S(\Omega^1_{X/k})$ is equipped with the canonical action of $\widehat{\Gamma}(T_{X/k})$. A local section u of $S(\Omega^1_{X/k}) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} F^*_{X/k}(M')$ can be written as a finite sum

(12.21.1)
$$u = \sum_{i=0}^{m} \omega_i \otimes u_i,$$

with $u_i \in F^*_{X/k}(M')$ and $\omega_i \in S^i(\Omega)$. In view of the perfect pairing $\Gamma_i(\mathbf{T}_{X/k}) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} S^i(\Omega^1_{X/k}) \to \mathscr{O}_X$ (10.2.1) for $i \ge 1$, the action of $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathbf{T}_{X/k})$ on u is trivial if and only if $u_i = 0$ for $i \ge 1$, i.e., u belongs to the submodule $F^*_{X/k}(M')$ of $F^*_{X/k}(M') \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} S(\Omega)$. The first isomorphism follows.

Equipped with the Frobenius descent connection ∇_{can} on $F_{X/k}^*(M')$, we have an injection of $D_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ -modules $(F_{X/k}^*(M'), \nabla_{\text{can}}, 0) \rightarrow (\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X'}} M', \nabla_{\underline{\mathscr{B}}}, \psi_{\underline{\mathscr{B}}})$ and a canonical $\mathscr{O}_{X'}$ -linear isomorphism ([25] 5.1)

(12.21.2)
$$M' \xrightarrow{\sim} F_{X/k}^* (M')^{(\nabla_{\operatorname{can}},0)}.$$

In view of the first isomorphism, we deduce that $(\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X'}} M')^{(\nabla_{\underline{\mathscr{B}}}, \psi_{\underline{\mathscr{B}}})}$ is contained in the image of $F^*_{X/k}(M')$ in $\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X'}} M'$. Then the second isomorphism follows from (12.21.2).

Now we use the above results to compare the Cartier equivalence $C^*_{X/\mathscr{S}}$ and the Cartier transform of Ogus-Vologodsky.

THEOREM 12.22. – Let \mathfrak{X} be a smooth formal \mathscr{S} -scheme and X its special fiber. The following diagram is commutative up to a canonical isomorphism

(12.22.1)
$$\begin{array}{c} \mathscr{C}^{\operatorname{qcoh}}(\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},1}) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{C}_{X/\mathscr{S}^{\ast}}} \mathscr{C}^{\operatorname{qcoh}}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E}',1}) \\ \downarrow^{\wr} & \downarrow^{\wr} \\ \operatorname{MIC}^{\operatorname{qn}}_{\gamma}(X/k) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{C}_{\mathfrak{X}'_{2}}} \operatorname{HIG}^{\operatorname{qn}}_{\gamma}(X/k), \end{array}$$
where $C_{X/\mathscr{S}*}$ is the direct image functor of the morphism of topol $C_{X/\mathscr{S}}$ (9.12), which depends only on X, and the vertical functors are equivalences of categories (11.18) and depend on \mathfrak{X} .

REMARK 12.23. – The top (resp. lower) horizontal functor in the above diagram depends only on X (resp. \mathfrak{X}'_2). However, the vertical functors (11.18.1) are constructed by a formal model \mathfrak{X} of X. A natural question is: do vertical equivalences depend only on a lifting of X over the quotient of W by a power of p?

12.24. – Recall that Ogus and Vologodsky constructed a torsor $\mathscr{L}_{\mathfrak{X}'_2}$ of $(X/k)_{crys}$ (10.11), the crystal of affine functions $\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}'_2}$ on $\mathscr{L}_{\mathfrak{X}'_2}$ of $(X/k)_{crys}$ and the quasi-coherent crystal of $\mathscr{O}_{X/k}$ -algebras $\mathscr{L}_{\mathfrak{X}'_2}$ associated to $\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}'_2}$ (10.12). We put $\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}'_2} = \mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}'_2,(X,X)}$ and $\mathscr{M}_{\mathfrak{X}'_2} = \mathscr{A}_{\mathfrak{X}'_2,(X,X)}$, which are equipped with $D^{\gamma}_{X/k}$ -module structures (10.19). The Cartier transform is defined by (10.20(ii)) (12.24.1)

$$\mathbf{C}_{\mathfrak{X}'_2}: \mathrm{MIC}^{\mathrm{qn}}_{\gamma}(X/k) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathrm{HIG}^{\mathrm{qn}}_{\gamma}(X'/k), \qquad N \mapsto \iota^*(\operatorname{\mathscr{H}\!\mathit{om}}_{\mathbf{D}^{\gamma}_{X/k}}((\operatorname{\mathscr{A}}_{\mathfrak{X}'_2})^{\vee}, N)).$$

12.25. – Let (U, T, δ) be an object of $\operatorname{Crys}(X/k)$ such that there exists a flat formal \mathscr{S} -scheme \mathfrak{T} with special fiber T. Recall (10.9) that the morphism $U \to T$ induces an isomorphism $U \xrightarrow{\sim} \underline{T}$. Then we obtain an object (U, \mathfrak{T}) of $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$. The morphism $\varphi_{T/k}$: $T \to X'$ (10.9.1) is the same as the composition $T \xrightarrow{\phi_{T/k}} U' \to X'$ (12.15). Moreover, the $\varphi_{T/k}^*(\mathbf{T}_{X'/k})$ -torsor $\mathscr{L}_{\mathfrak{X}'_2,\varphi_{T/k}}$ of T_{zar} (10.10) is the same as the $\varphi_{T/k}^*(\mathbf{T}_{U'/k})$ -torsor $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}'_2,(U,T)}$ is the sheaf of affine functions on $\mathscr{L}_{\mathfrak{X}'_2,\varphi_{T/k}}$. By (12.15.1), we deduce a canonical isomorphism of \mathscr{O}_T -modules

(12.25.1)
$$\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}'_{2},(U,T)} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X},(U,\mathfrak{T})}.$$

Let $g: (U_1, T_1, \delta_1) \to (U_2, T_2, \delta_2)$ be a morphism of $\operatorname{Crys}(X/k)$. Suppose that there exists an \mathscr{S} -morphism $\mathfrak{g}: \mathfrak{T}_1 \to \mathfrak{T}_2$ of flat formal \mathscr{S} -schemes with special fiber $g: T_1 \to T_2$. Then we obtain a morphism $\mathfrak{g}: (U_1, \mathfrak{T}_1) \to (U_2, \mathfrak{T}_2)$ of $\underline{\mathscr{E}}$. In view of 10.11(ii), the transition morphism of the crystal of $\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},1}$ -modules $\underline{\mathscr{F}}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ of $\underline{\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}}$ associated to \mathfrak{g} (12.9.4), 12.15

(12.25.2)
$$c_{\mathfrak{g}}: g^*(\underline{\mathscr{F}}_{\mathfrak{X},(U_2,\mathfrak{T}_2)}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \underline{\mathscr{F}}_{\mathfrak{X},(U_1,\mathfrak{T}_1)}$$

is compatible with the transition morphism of the crystal $\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}'_2}$ of $\mathscr{O}_{X/k}\text{-modules}$ associated to g

(12.25.3)
$$c_g: g^*(\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}'_2,(U_2,T_2)}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}'_2,(U_1,T_1)}.$$

Applying above facts to projections from the PD-envelop of diagonal immersion (X, P_X) to (X, X), we deduce the following lemma.

LEMMA 12.26. – The isomorphism $\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}'_2} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (12.25.1) is compatible with the actions of $D_{X/k}$.

COROLLARY 12.27. – The isomorphism $\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}'_2} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ induces a canonical isomorphism of \mathscr{O}_X -algebras $\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}'_2} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{B}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ compatible with the actions of $D^{\gamma}_{X/k}$.

Proof. – By 12.26, we obtain an isomorphism $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}'_2} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ compatible with actions of D_{X/k}. By 10.5 and (10.3.2), the \mathscr{O}_X -module $\underline{\mathscr{F}}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (resp. \mathscr{O}_X -algebra $\underline{\mathscr{R}}_{\mathfrak{X}}$) is equipped with a $F^*_{X/k}(\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k}))$ -module structure that we denote by $\vartheta_{\mathscr{F}}$ (resp. $\vartheta_{\mathscr{R}}$). By 10.12 and the following lemma, the isomorphism $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}'_2} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ is compatible with actions of $F^*_{X/k}(\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k}))$. Then the assertion follows. □

LEMMA 12.28. – Two $F_{X/k}^*(\widehat{\Gamma}(T_{X'/k}))$ -module structures $\psi_{\underline{\mathcal{F}}}$ and $\vartheta_{\underline{\mathcal{F}}}$ on $\underline{\mathcal{F}}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (12.15) (resp. $\psi_{\underline{\mathcal{B}}}$ and $\vartheta_{\underline{\mathcal{F}}}$ on $\underline{\mathcal{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}}$) coincide.

Proof. – It suffices to show the assertion for $\underline{\mathscr{J}}_{\mathfrak{X}}$. We have $\underline{\mathscr{J}}_{\mathfrak{X}} = \mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}',(X',\mathfrak{X},F_{X/k})}$.

The question being local, we can reduce to case where there exists an \mathscr{S} -morphism $F: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}'$ which lifts the relative Frobenius morphism $F_{X/k}$ of X. Then we obtain a morphism $F: (X', \mathfrak{X}, F_{X/k}) \to (X', \mathfrak{X}')$ of \mathscr{E}' and an isomorphism (12.9.4)

(12.28.1)
$$\eta_F: F^*_{X/k}(\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}'}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \underline{\mathscr{F}}_{\mathfrak{X}}.$$

Let $\psi_{\widetilde{\mathcal{J}}'}$ be the $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k})$ -module structure on $\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ induced by the crystal $\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}'}$. By 11.19, the isomorphism $\eta_F : F^*_{X/k}(\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}'}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ underlies an isomorphism of $F^*_{X/k}(\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k}))$ -modules

(12.28.2)
$$\eta_F: F^*_{X/k}(\mathcal{J}_{\mathfrak{X}'}, \iota^*(\psi_{\widetilde{\mathcal{J}}'})) \xrightarrow{\sim} (\underline{\mathcal{J}}_{\mathfrak{X}}, \psi_{\underline{\mathcal{J}}}).$$

On the other hand, regarding $\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ as a sheaf of affine functions, the $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k})$ -action on $\mathscr{F}_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ defined in 10.5 is equal to $\iota^*(\psi_{\mathscr{T}'})$ (12.12). By 10.7, η_F induces an isomorphism of $F^*_{X/k}(\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathcal{T}_{X'/k}))$ -modules

(12.28.3)
$$\eta_F: F^*_{X/k}(\mathcal{J}_{\mathfrak{X}'}, \iota^*(\psi_{\mathcal{J}'})) \xrightarrow{\sim} (\underline{\mathcal{J}}_{\mathfrak{X}}, \vartheta_{\underline{\mathcal{J}}})$$

The assertion follows.

12.29. – Proof of 12.22. Let \mathscr{N} be a quasi-coherent crystal of $\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},1}$ -modules of $\underline{\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}}$, N the associated $D_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ -module, $\mathscr{M}' = C_{X/\mathscr{S}*}(\mathscr{N})$ and M' the associated $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathbf{T}_{X'/k})$ -module. By 9.12, we have a canonical isomorphism $C_{X/\mathscr{S}}^*(\mathscr{M}') \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{N}$. The $D_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ -module structure $(\nabla_{\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}}}, \psi_{\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}}})$ on $\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ induces a $D_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ -module structure on its dual $\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\vee}$ (10.18). By (12.24.1) and 12.27, we have a canonical isomorphism of $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathbf{T}_{X'/k})$ -modules

(12.29.1)
$$C_{\mathfrak{X}_{2}'}(N) \xrightarrow{\sim} \iota^{*}(\mathscr{H}am_{D_{X/k}}^{\gamma}(\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\vee}, N)),$$

where the $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathbf{T}_{X'/k})$ -action on the right hand side is given by that of $\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\vee}$. The canonical morphism

(12.29.2)
$$\mathcal{H}om_{\mathscr{O}_{X}}(\mathscr{O}_{X},\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}}\otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{X}}N) \to \mathcal{H}om_{\mathscr{O}_{X}}(\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\vee},N)$$

sends a local section φ of $\mathcal{H}\!_{\mathscr{O}_X}(\mathscr{O}_X, \underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} N)$ to $\chi : \underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\vee} \to N$ defined for every local section f of $\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\vee}$ by

(12.29.3)
$$\chi(f) = (f \otimes \mathrm{id}_N)(\varphi(1)).$$

Since $\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ is locally a direct sum of free \mathscr{O}_X -modules of finite type (12.17.3), the morphism (12.29.2) is an isomorphism. We equip \mathscr{O}_X the $D_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ -module structure (d, 0). By (10.18.1) and (10.14.2), one verifies that a local section $\varphi : \mathscr{O}_X \to \underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} N$ is $D_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ -equivariant if and only if χ (12.29.3) is $D_{X/k}^{\gamma}$ -equivariant. Then we deduce an isomorphism

(12.29.4)
$$\mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{D}_{X/k}^{\gamma}}((\mathscr{O}_X, d, 0), \underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} N) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{H}om_{\mathcal{D}_{X/k}^{\gamma}}(\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\vee}, N).$$

In view of (10.14.2), the above isomorphism induces an isomorphism of $\widehat{\Gamma}(\mathbf{T}_{X'/k})$ -modules (12.16)

(12.29.5)
$$(\mathcal{H}am_{\mathcal{D}_{X/k}}^{\gamma}(\mathscr{O}_X, \underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} N), \psi_{\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}}}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \iota^*(\mathcal{H}am_{\mathcal{D}_{X/k}}^{\gamma}(\underline{\mathscr{B}}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\vee}, N)).$$

Then the assertion follows from 12.19(ii) and (12.29.1).

CHAPTER 13

FONTAINE MODULES

Inspired by the work of Fontaine-Laffaille [15], Faltings introduced a notion of *Fontaine module* on a smooth scheme over W [13]. In this section, we propose a new definition of Fontaine module using Cartier equivalence (13.7). Compared to Faltings' original definition, our definition avoids the choice of (local) liftings of Frobenius to talk about "divided Frobenius structures" (13.15) and encodes them in the Cartier equivalence. We also show the compatibility between various definitions in (13.20, 13.22, 13.30).

Let \mathfrak{X} denote a smooth formal \mathscr{S} -scheme and X its special fiber.

DEFINITION 13.1. – Let *n* be an integer ≥ 1 . We define the category of filtered modules with quasi-nilpotent integrable connection $\operatorname{MIC}_{\mathrm{F}}(\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n)$ as follows. A filtered module with quasi-nilpotent integrable connection is a triple (M, ∇, M^{\bullet}) consisting of an object (M, ∇) of $\operatorname{MIC}^{\mathrm{qn}}(\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n)$ and a decreasing filtration $\{M^i\}_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}$

(13.1.1)
$$\cdots \subseteq M^2 \subseteq M^1 \subseteq M^0 = M = M^{-1} = \cdots$$

satisfying Griffiths' transversality

(13.1.2)
$$\nabla(M^i) \subset M^{i-1} \otimes \Omega^1_{\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n} \quad \forall \ i \ge 0$$

Given two objects $(M_1, \nabla_1, M_1^{\bullet})$ and $(M_2, \nabla_2, M_2^{\bullet})$ of $\operatorname{MIC}_{\mathrm{F}}(\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n)$, a morphism from $(M_1, \nabla_1, M_1^{\bullet})$ to $(M_2, \nabla_2, M_2^{\bullet})$ is a horizontal $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}$ -linear morphism $f: M_1 \to M_2$ compatible with the filtrations.

For any $\ell \ge 0$, we denote by $\operatorname{MIC}_{\mathrm{F}}^{\ell}(\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n)$ the full subcategory of $\operatorname{MIC}_{\mathrm{F}}(\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n)$ consisting of objects with length $\le \ell$ (i.e., the filtration satisfies $M^{\ell+1} = 0$).

13.2. – Let ℓ be an integer ≥ 0 , (M, ∇, M^{\bullet}) an object of $\mathrm{MIC}_{\mathrm{F}}^{\ell}(\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n)$. We consider the $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}$ -linear morphism

(13.2.1)
$$g: \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\ell} M^i \to \bigoplus_{i=0}^{\ell} M^i$$

defined for every local section m_i of M^i by $g(m_i) = (m_i, -pm_i)$ in $M^{i-1} \oplus M^i$. We set

(13.2.2)
$$\widetilde{M} = \operatorname{Coker}(g).$$

For any $0 \leq j \leq \ell$, we denote by $(-)_j$ the composition $M^j \to \bigoplus_{i=0}^{\ell} M^i \to \widetilde{M}$ and by \widetilde{M}^{-j} the canonical image of $\bigoplus_{i=0}^{j} M^i$ in \widetilde{M} . We obtain a decreasing filtration

(13.2.3)
$$\widetilde{M}^0 \subseteq \widetilde{M}^{-1} \subseteq \cdots \subseteq \widetilde{M}^{-\ell} = \widetilde{M}.$$

We consider the W_n -linear morphism

(13.2.4)
$$h: \bigoplus_{i=0}^{\ell} M^i \to \left(\bigoplus_{i=0}^{\ell} M^i\right) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} \Omega^1_{\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n}$$

defined by

$$\begin{array}{ll} (13.2.5) & h_{\mid_{M^{i}}} = \nabla : M^{i} \to M^{i-1} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}}} \Omega^{1}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}/\mathscr{S}_{n}}, & \text{for } 1 \leqslant i \leqslant \ell, \\ & h_{\mid_{M^{0}}} = p \nabla : M^{0} \to M^{0} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}}} \Omega^{1}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}/\mathscr{S}_{n}}. \end{array}$$

LEMMA 13.3. – The W_n -linear morphism h induces a quasi-nilpotent integrable p-connection $\widetilde{\nabla}$ on \widetilde{M} such that for any $-\ell \leq i \leq -1$, we have

(13.3.1)
$$\widetilde{\nabla}(\widetilde{M}^i) \subset \widetilde{M}^{i+1} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} \Omega^1_{\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n}.$$

Proof. - It follows from the definition that the composition

$$(13.3.2)\qquad \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\ell} M^{i} \xrightarrow{g} \bigoplus_{i=0}^{\ell} M^{i} \xrightarrow{h} \left(\bigoplus_{i=0}^{\ell} M^{i}\right) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}}} \Omega^{1}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}/\mathscr{S}_{n}} \to \widetilde{M} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}}} \Omega^{1}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}/\mathscr{S}_{n}}$$

is zero. Hence the morphism h induces a W_n -linear morphism

(13.3.3)
$$\widetilde{\nabla}: \widetilde{M} \to \widetilde{M} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} \Omega^1_{\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{G}_n}.$$

We show that $\widetilde{\nabla}$ is a *p*-connection. The restriction of *h* to M^0 is the *p*-connection $p\nabla$. Hence the restriction of $\widetilde{\nabla}$ to \widetilde{M}^0 is a *p*-connection. Let *f* be a local section of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$, *i* an integer $\in [1, \ell]$ and *m* a local section of M^i . The morphism *h* sends $fm \in M^i$ to

(13.3.4)
$$\nabla(fm) = f\nabla(m) + m \otimes df \in M^{i-1} \otimes \Omega^1_{\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n}.$$

Note that we have $(m)_{i-1} = (pm)_i$. Then we deduce that

(13.3.5)
$$\widetilde{\nabla}(f(m)_i) = f\widetilde{\nabla}((m)_i) + p(m)_i \otimes df.$$

The assertion follows. The integrability of ∇ implies easily that of $\widetilde{\nabla}$.

It is clear from the definition that $\widetilde{\nabla}$ satisfies the condition (13.3.1). Since M is p^n -torsion, the restriction of $\widetilde{\nabla}$ to \widetilde{M}^0 is quasi-nilpotent. In view of (13.3.1), we deduce that $\widetilde{\nabla}$ is quasi-nilpotent.

13.4. – Let $\varepsilon_{\widetilde{M},T}$ be the $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratification on \widetilde{M} associated to $\widetilde{\nabla}$ (5.17). We present its local description. Suppose that there exists an étale \mathscr{S} -morphism $\mathfrak{X} \to \widehat{\mathbb{A}}^d_{\mathscr{S}} =$ $\operatorname{Spf}(W\{T_1,\ldots,T_d\})$. We take again the notation of 5.2 and of 5.16. For any $0 \leq i \leq \ell$, any local section m of M^i and any $I \in \mathbb{N}$, in view of (13.2.5), we have

(13.4.1)
$$\widetilde{\nabla}_{\partial^{I}}((m)_{i}) = \begin{cases} (\nabla_{\partial^{I}}(m))_{i-|I|} & \text{if } 0 \leq i \leq |I|; \\ p^{|I|-i}(\nabla_{\partial^{I}}(m))_{0} & \text{if } |I| > i. \end{cases}$$

By (5.17.1), we deduce that (13.4.2)

$$\varepsilon_{\widetilde{M},T}(1\otimes(m)_i) = \sum_{|I|\leqslant i} \left(\nabla_{\partial^I}(m)\right)_{i-|I|} \otimes \left(\frac{\xi}{p}\right)^{|I|} + \sum_{|I|>i} p^{|I|-i} \left(\nabla_{\partial^I}(m)\right)_0 \otimes \left(\frac{\xi}{p}\right)^{|I|}$$

PROPOSITION 13.5. – Suppose that $\ell \leq p-1$. There exists an $\mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratification $\varepsilon_{\widetilde{M}}$ on \widetilde{M} , which induces the above $\mathcal{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratification $\varepsilon_{\widetilde{M},T}$ via the functor (9.18.1).

Proof. – Let ε_M be the $\mathscr{P}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratification on M and $\theta_M : M \to M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}} \mathscr{P}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ the morphism defined by $\theta_M(m) = \varepsilon_M(1 \otimes m)$. We denote by J_P the PD-ideal of $\mathscr{P}_{\mathfrak{X}}$. By flatness of $J_P^{[\bullet]}$ over $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (5.9), $M^i \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} J_P^{[j]}$ is a submodule of $M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} \mathscr{P}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ for any $i, j \geq 0$. By ([29] 3.1.3) and Griffiths' transversality, we have

(13.5.1)
$$\theta_M(M^i) \subset \sum_{j=0}^i M^j \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} J_P^{[i-j]}, \quad \forall \ 0 \leqslant i \leqslant \ell.$$

We denote the target by $(M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} \mathscr{P}_{\mathfrak{X}})^i$ and the induced morphism by $\theta_M^i : M^i \to (M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} \mathscr{P}_{\mathfrak{X}})^i$. Let $s : \mathscr{P}_{\mathfrak{X}} \to \mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ be the homomorphism defined in 5.19, and for all $j \leq p-1, s^j : J_P^{[j]} \to \mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ the induced morphism (5.19.2). For any $j \leq i$, we have a canonical morphism

(13.5.2)
$$(-)_j \otimes s^{i-j} : M^j \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} J_P^{[i-j]} \to \widetilde{M} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} \mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}.$$

For any $0 \leq j' < j \leq i$, by flatness of $J_P^{[\bullet]}$ over $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (5.9), we have the intersection in $M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} \mathscr{P}_{\mathfrak{X}}$

$$M^{j} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}}} J_{P}^{[i-j]} \cap M^{j'} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}}} J_{P}^{[i-j']} = M^{j} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}}} J_{P}^{[i-j']}.$$

Since $s^{i-j}|_{J_p^{[i-j']}} = p^{j-j'}s^{i-j'}$ (5.19.2), we deduce that the morphisms (13.5.2) are compatible and they induce an $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -linear morphism

(13.5.3)
$$u^{i}:(M\otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}}}\mathscr{P}_{\mathfrak{X}})^{i}\to\widetilde{M}\otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}}}\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}.$$

By construction, we have $u^i|_{(M\otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}}\mathscr{P}_{\mathfrak{X}})^{i+1}} = pu^{i+1}$. Then the morphism

$$\bigoplus_{i=0}^{\ell} u^i \circ \theta^i_M : \bigoplus_{i=0}^{\ell} M^i \to \widetilde{M} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} \mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}$$

induces an $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -linear morphism

(13.5.4)
$$\theta_{\widetilde{M}}: \widetilde{M} \to \widetilde{M} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} \mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}$$

We will show that the above morphism satisfies the conditions of 5.5 and hence induces an $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratification. To do this, we can reduce to the case where there exists an étale \mathscr{S} -morphism $\mathfrak{X} \to \widehat{\mathbb{A}}^d_{\mathscr{S}} = \operatorname{Spf}(W\{T_1, \ldots, T_d\})$. We take again the notation of 5.11. For any $0 \leq i \leq \ell$, any local section m of M^i , we have

(13.5.5)
$$\theta_M^i(m) = \sum_{I \in \mathbb{N}^d} \nabla_{\partial^I}(m) \otimes \xi^{[I]} \in \sum_{j=0}^i M^j \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} J_P^{[i-j]}.$$

The *p*-adic valuation of I! is less than $\sum_{k \ge 1} \lfloor \frac{|I|}{p^k} \rfloor$. If $i \le p-1$ and $|I| \ge i$, $\frac{p^{|I|-i}}{I!}$ is an element of \mathbb{Z}_p . By (5.19.1), we have $s^i(\xi^{[I]}) = \frac{p^{|I|-i}}{I!} (\frac{\xi}{p})^I$. Then we deduce that

$$(13.5.6) \quad \theta_{\widetilde{M}}((m)_i) = \sum_{|I| \leq i} \frac{1}{I!} \left(\nabla_{\partial^I}(m) \right)_{i-|I|} \otimes \left(\frac{\xi}{p} \right)^I + \sum_{|I| > i} \frac{p^{|I|-i}}{I!} \left(\nabla_{\partial^I}(m) \right)_0 \otimes \left(\frac{\xi}{p} \right)^I.$$

It is clear that $\theta_{\widetilde{M}}$ verifies condition (i) of 5.5. By (13.5.6) and the local description (4.16) of $\delta : \mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X},n} \to \mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X},n} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} \mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X},n}$, we deduce that

$$\begin{split} \theta_{\widetilde{M}} \otimes \operatorname{id}_{\mathscr{R}}(\theta_{\widetilde{M}}((m)_{i})) &= \sum_{|I|+|J| \leqslant i} \frac{1}{I!J!} \big(\nabla_{\partial^{I+J}}(m) \big)_{i-|I|-|J|} \otimes \left(\frac{\xi}{p}\right)^{I} \otimes \left(\frac{\xi}{p}\right)^{J} \\ &+ \sum_{|I|+|J|>i} \frac{p^{|I|+|J|-i}}{I!J!} \big(\nabla_{\partial^{I+J}}(m) \big)_{0} \otimes \left(\frac{\xi}{p}\right)^{I} \otimes \left(\frac{\xi}{p}\right)^{J} \\ &= \operatorname{id}_{\widetilde{M}} \otimes \delta(\theta_{\widetilde{M}}((m)_{i})). \end{split}$$

By 5.5, we obtain an $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratification $\varepsilon_{\widetilde{M}}$ on \widetilde{M} . By comparing (13.4.2) and (13.5.6), $\varepsilon_{\mathscr{M}}$ extends $\varepsilon_{\widetilde{\mathscr{M}},T}$.

13.6. – By 8.10, we associate to $(\widetilde{M}, \varepsilon_{\widetilde{M}})$ a crystal of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E},n}$ -modules of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$ that we denote by $\widetilde{\mathscr{M}}$.

We put $\mathfrak{X}' = \mathfrak{X} \times_{\mathscr{S},\sigma} \mathscr{S}$ (2.1) and we denote by $\pi : \mathfrak{X}' \to \mathfrak{X}$ the canonical morphism. In view of 3.8 and 4.11, the morphism π induces a morphism of formal groupoids $\pi_R : R_{\mathfrak{X}'} \simeq R_{\mathfrak{X}} \times_{\mathscr{S},\sigma} \mathscr{S} \to R_{\mathfrak{X}}$ above π (4.8). We denote by $\widetilde{\mathscr{M}'}$ the crystal of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E}',n}$ -modules of $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}'}$ associated to the $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}'_n}$ -module with $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ -stratification $(\pi^*(\widetilde{M}), \pi_R^*(\varepsilon_{\widetilde{M}}))$ (5.6). The $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}'_n}$ -module with integrable *p*-connection associated to $\widetilde{\mathscr{M}'}$ (9.18.3) is the inverse image of $(\widetilde{M}, \widetilde{\nabla})$ by π ([33] page 6).

The previous construction is clearly functorial and it defines a functor (8.3)

(13.6.1)
$$\operatorname{MIC}_{\mathrm{F}}^{p-1}(\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n) \to \mathscr{C}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E}',n})$$
$$(M,\nabla, M^{\bullet}) \mapsto \widetilde{\mathscr{M}'}.$$

DEFINITION 13.7. – (i) A $(p^n$ -torsion) Fontaine module over \mathfrak{X} is a quadruple $(M, \nabla, M^{\bullet}, \varphi)$ consisting of an object (M, ∇, M^{\bullet}) of $\mathrm{MIC}_{\mathrm{F}}^{p-1}(\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n)$ with quasi-coherent $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}$ -module M^i , and a morphism of $\mathrm{MIC}^{\mathrm{qn}}(\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n)$

(13.7.1)
$$\varphi:\nu(\mathbf{C}^*(\widetilde{\mathscr{M}}))\to (M,\nabla)$$

where C^{*} is the Cartier equivalence (9.14.1) and $\nu : \mathscr{C}(\mathscr{O}_{\underline{\mathscr{E}},n}) \to \mathrm{MIC}^{\mathrm{qn}}(\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n)$ is defined in (9.18.4).

(ii) We say that a Fontaine module is strongly divisible if φ (13.7.1) is an isomorphism.

(iii) Given two Fontaine modules $(M_1, \nabla_1, M_1^{\bullet}, \varphi_1)$ and $(M_2, \nabla_2, M_2^{\bullet}, \varphi_2)$, a morphism from $(M_1, \nabla_1, M_1^{\bullet}, \varphi_1)$ to $(M_2, \nabla_2, M_2^{\bullet}, \varphi_2)$ is a morphism $f : (M_1, \nabla_1, M_1^{\bullet}) \to (M_2, \nabla_2, M_2^{\bullet})$ of $\mathrm{MIC}_{\mathrm{F}}^{p-1}(\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n)$ such that the following diagram commutes

where $\widetilde{f}': \widetilde{\mathscr{M}'_1} \to \widetilde{\mathscr{M}'_2}$ is the $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{E}',n}$ -linear morphism induced by f (13.6.1).

We denote by $\mathbf{MF}_{\text{big}}(\mathfrak{X})$ the category of Fontaine modules over \mathfrak{X} and by $\mathbf{MF}(\mathfrak{X})$ the full subcategory of $\mathbf{MF}_{\text{big}}(\mathfrak{X})$ of strongly divisible Fontaine modules $(M, \nabla, M^{\bullet}, \varphi)$ such that M is coherent.

REMARK 13.8. – In the *p*-torsion case, given an object (M, ∇, M^{\bullet}) of $\operatorname{MIC}_{\mathrm{F}}^{\ell}(X/k)$, $\widetilde{M} = \operatorname{gr}(M)$ and $\widetilde{\nabla}$ is the Higgs field on $\operatorname{gr}(M)$ induced by ∇ and Griffiths' transversality which is of length $\leq \ell$. In ([31] 4.16), using their Cartier transform $\operatorname{C}_{\mathfrak{X}'_2}^{-1}$ (10.20), Ogus and Vologodsky define a *p*-torsion Fontaine module as an object (M, ∇, M^{\bullet}) of $\operatorname{MIC}_{\mathrm{F}}^{p-1}(X/k)$ together with a horizontal isomorphism

(13.8.1)
$$\varphi: C^{-1}_{\mathfrak{X}'_2}(\pi^*(\operatorname{Gr}(M), \theta)) \xrightarrow{\sim} (M, \nabla).$$

By 12.22, our Definition 13.7 is compatible with theirs.

13.9. – In the remainder of this section, we compare Definition 13.7 with Faltings' definition [13] and Tsuji's definition (in a broader context) [35]. We will formulate their definitions using the notion of (proto-)T-crystals, the crystalline counterpart of filtered modules with quasi-nilpotent integrable connection (13.1), introduced by Ogus [29].

Let *n* be an integer and \mathcal{X} a smooth scheme over \mathscr{S}_n . We denote by $\operatorname{Crys}(\mathcal{X}/\mathscr{S}_n)$ (resp. $(\mathcal{X}/\mathscr{S}_n)_{\operatorname{crys}}$) the crystalline site (resp. topos) of \mathcal{X} over \mathscr{S}_n , by $\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{X}/\mathscr{S}_n}$ the structural sheaf and by $J_{\mathcal{X}/\mathscr{S}_n}$ its PD-ideal. DEFINITION 13.10 ([29] 2.1.2 and 3.1). – (i) Let (U,T) be an object of $\operatorname{Crys}(\mathscr{X}/\mathscr{S}_n)$, J_T the PD-ideal of U in T and M an \mathscr{O}_T -module. We say that a decreasing filtration $\{M^i\}_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}$ of M by \mathscr{O}_T -submodules is *G*-transversal to J_T if for any $i\in\mathbb{Z}$, we have

(13.10.1)
$$J_T M \cap M^i = J_T^{[1]} M^{i-1} + J_T^{[2]} M^{i-2} + \cdots$$

In particular, we see that such a filtration is J_T -saturated, i.e., $J_T^{[i]}M^j \subset M^{i+j}$ for all $i \ge 0, j$.

(ii) Let \mathscr{M} be a crystal of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{X}/\mathscr{S}_n}$ -modules. We say that a decreasing filtration $\{\mathscr{M}^i\}_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}$ of \mathscr{M} by $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{X}/\mathscr{S}_n}$ -submodules of \mathscr{M} is *G*-transversal to $J_{\mathscr{X}/\mathscr{S}_n}$ if for every object T of $\operatorname{Crys}(\mathscr{X}/\mathscr{S}_n)$, the filtration $\{\mathscr{M}_T^i\}_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}$ of \mathscr{M}_T is *G*-transversal to $J_{\mathscr{X}/\mathscr{S}_n,T}$.

LEMMA 13.11 ([29] 3.1.1). – Let \mathscr{M} be a crystal of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{X}/\mathscr{S}_n}$ -modules endowed with a filtration $\{\mathscr{M}^i\}_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}$ G-transversal to $J_{\mathscr{X}/\mathscr{S}_n}$. For any morphism $f : T_2 \to T_1$ of $\operatorname{Crys}(\mathscr{X}/\mathscr{S}_n)$, via the transition isomorphism $f^*(\mathscr{M}_{T_1}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{M}_{T_2}$, $\mathscr{M}_{T_2}^i$ coincides with

(13.11.1)
$$\sum_{i_1+i_2=i} J_{T_2}^{[i_1]} \operatorname{Im}(f^*(\mathscr{M}_{T_1}^{i_2}) \to f^*(\mathscr{M}_{T_1})).$$

THEOREM 13.12 ([29] 3.1.2, 3.2.3). – Let \mathcal{Y} be a smooth \mathscr{S}_n -scheme, $\iota : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Y}$ a closed \mathscr{S}_n -immersion and \mathcal{D} the PD-envelope of ι compatible with γ . Let \mathscr{M} be a quasi-coherent crystal of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{X}/\mathscr{S}_n}$ -modules, $M = \mathscr{M}_{\mathcal{D}}$ and $\nabla : M \to M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{Y}}} \Omega^1_{\mathcal{Y}/\mathscr{S}_n}$ the associated quasi-nilpotent integrable connection on M (as an $\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{Y}}$ -module) ([5] 6.6). Then the evaluation of sheaves of $(\mathscr{X}/\mathscr{S}_n)_{\text{crys}}$ on \mathcal{D} induces an equivalence of following sets of data:

(i) A decreasing filtration $\{\mathscr{M}^i\}_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}$ by quasi-coherent $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{X}/\mathscr{S}_n}$ -modules on \mathscr{M} which is G-transversal to $J_{\mathscr{X}/\mathscr{S}_n}$.

(ii) A decreasing filtration $\{M^i\}_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}$ by quasi-coherent $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{D}}$ -modules on M which is G-transversal to $J_{\mathcal{X}/\mathcal{S}_n,\mathcal{D}}$ and which satisfies Griffiths' transversality i.e., $\nabla(M^i) \subset M^{i-1} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{V}}} \Omega^1_{\mathcal{U}/\mathcal{S}_n}$ for all i.

We briefly review the construction of the data (i) from the data (ii) and we refer to [29] for more details. Let $\{M_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}$ be a filtration as in (ii). Let $\mathcal{D}(1)$ be the PD-envelope of the immersion $X \stackrel{\iota}{\to} Y \stackrel{\Delta}{\to} Y \times_{\mathscr{S}_n} Y$ compatible with γ , $p_1, p_2 : \mathcal{D}(1) \to \mathcal{D}$ the canonical projections and $\varepsilon : p_2^*(M) \xrightarrow{\sim} p_1^*(M)$ the $\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{D}(1)}$ -stratification induced by ∇ . We define a filtration $\{A_j^i\}_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}$ on $p_j^*(M)$ by the Formula (13.11.1) for j = 1, 2. By Griffiths' transversality, one verifies that the isomorphism $\varepsilon : p_2^*(M) \xrightarrow{\sim} p_1^*(M)$ induces for any i, an isomorphism ([29] 3.1.3)

Given an object T of $\operatorname{Crys}(\mathscr{X}/\mathscr{S}_n)$, there exists locally a morphism $r: T \to \mathscr{D}$ of $\operatorname{Crys}(\mathscr{X}/\mathscr{S}_n)$. Using the Formula (13.11.1), we obtain a filtration $\{\mathscr{M}_T^i\}_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}$ on $r^*(M) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{M}_T$. Using the fact that ε is a filtered isomorphism, one verifies that the filtration $\{\mathscr{M}_T^i\}_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}$ on \mathscr{M}_T is independent of the choice of r up to isomorphisms which come from the stratification and is well-defined. Then we obtain a filtration $\{\mathcal{M}^i\}_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}$ of \mathcal{M} by quasi-coherent $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{X}/\mathcal{S}_n}$ -modules. By ([29] 2.2.1.2, 2.3.1), one verifies that $\{\mathcal{M}^i\}_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}$ is G-transversal to $J_{\mathcal{X}/\mathcal{S}_n}$.

DEFINITION 13.13 ([29] 3.2.1, 3.2.3). – (i) A proto-*T*-crystal is a pair $(\mathcal{M}, (\mathcal{M}^i)_{i \in \mathbb{Z}})$ consisting of a quasi-coherent crystal \mathcal{M} with a filtration $\{\mathcal{M}^i\}_{i \in \mathbb{Z}}$ G-transversal to $J_{\mathcal{U}/\mathcal{P}_n}$.

(ii) A proto-T-crystal $(\mathscr{M},\mathscr{M}^{\bullet})$ is called T-crystal if for m>0 and i, the canonical morphism

$$\mathscr{M}^{i}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}} (\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}/p^{m}\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}) \to \mathscr{M}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}} (\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}/p^{m}\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}})$$

is injective.

We say a proto-T-crystal has length $\leq \ell$ if $\mathscr{M} = \mathscr{M}^0$ and the evaluation of $(\mathscr{M}^i)_{i \in \mathbb{Z}}$ at \mathscr{X} has length $\leq \ell$ as in (13.1).

13.14. – Let \mathfrak{Y} be a smooth formal \mathscr{S} -scheme, Y its special fiber and $\iota : \mathfrak{X} \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{Y}$ a closed \mathscr{S} -immersion. For any $n \ge 1$, we denote by \mathfrak{D}_n the PD-envelope of ι_n compatible with γ , by $J_{\mathfrak{D}_n}$ the PD-ideal of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{D}_n}$.

Recall that σ denotes the Frobenius endomorphism of W. We suppose that there exists a σ -morphism $F_{\mathfrak{Y}} : \mathfrak{Y} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ lifting the Frobenius morphism $F_Y : Y \to Y$. For any $n \ge 1$, the $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{Y}_n}$ -linear morphism $\frac{dF_{\mathfrak{Y}}}{p}$ (6.1.1) induces by adjunction a semi-linear morphism with respect to $F_{\mathfrak{Y}}$ that we abusively denote by

(13.14.1)
$$\frac{dF_{\mathfrak{Y}}}{p}:\Omega^{1}_{\mathfrak{Y}_{n}/\mathscr{S}_{n}}\to F_{\mathfrak{Y}*}(\Omega^{1}_{\mathfrak{Y}_{n}/\mathscr{S}_{n}})=\Omega^{1}_{\mathfrak{Y}_{n}/\mathscr{S}_{n}}.$$

Since \mathfrak{D}_n is equal to the PD-envelope of the immersion $X \to \mathfrak{Y}_n$ compatible with γ , the morphism $F_{\mathfrak{Y}}$ induces a σ -morphism $F_{\mathfrak{D}} : \mathfrak{D} \to \mathfrak{D}$ lifting the Frobenius morphism of \mathfrak{D}_1 . We denote by $\varphi_{\mathfrak{D}_n}$ the homomorphism $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{D}_n} = F_{\mathfrak{D}}^{-1}(\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{D}_n}) \to \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{D}_n}$ induced by $F_{\mathfrak{D}}$. Since $\varphi_{\mathfrak{D}_1}(J_{\mathfrak{D}_1}) = 0$, we deduce that for any $0 \leq r < p$, we have $\varphi_{\mathfrak{D}_n}(J^{[r]}) \subset$ $p^r \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{D}_n}$. Since \mathfrak{D}_n is flat over \mathscr{S}_n ([4] I 4.5.1), dividing $\varphi_{\mathfrak{D}_{n+r}}$ by p^r , we obtain a semi-linear morphism with respect to $F_{\mathfrak{D}}$

(13.14.2)
$$\varphi_{\mathfrak{D}_n}^r: J_{\mathfrak{D}_n}^{[r]} \to \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{D}_n} \qquad \forall \ 0 \leqslant r \leqslant p-1.$$

DEFINITION 13.15 ([13] II c), [35], 2.1.7). – (i) Let $(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{M}^{\bullet})$ be a proto-T-crystal over $\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n$ of length < p (13.13), $(M = \mathscr{M}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}, \nabla)$ the associated quasi-coherent $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{D}_n}$ -module with integrable connection and M^{\bullet} the associated filtration (13.12). A family of divided Frobenius morphisms on $(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{M}^{\bullet})$ with respect to $(\iota, F_{\mathfrak{V}})$ is a family of semi-linear morphisms $\{\varphi_{\mathfrak{M}}^r : M^r \to M\}_{r < p}$ with respect to $F_{\mathfrak{D}}$ satisfying the following conditions:

- (a) $\varphi_{\mathfrak{M}}^{r}|M^{r+1} = p\varphi_{\mathfrak{M}}^{r+1}, \forall r < p-1 \text{ (in particular, } \varphi_{\mathfrak{M}}^{-i} = p^{i}\varphi_{\mathfrak{M}}^{0} \text{ for } i > 0).$
- (b) For any integers $r, s \ge 0$ such that r + s < p and any local sections a of $J_{\mathfrak{D}}^{[r]}$, x of M^s , we have

$$\varphi_{\mathfrak{M}}^{r+s}(ax)=\varphi_{\mathfrak{D}_n}^r(a)\varphi_{\mathfrak{M}}^s(x).$$

(c) The following diagram commutes for all r < p (13.14.1):



(ii) A Fontaine module over \mathfrak{X} with respect to $(\iota, F_{\mathfrak{Y}})$ is a pair of a proto-T-crystal $(\mathscr{M}, \mathscr{M}^{\bullet})$ over $\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n$ of length < p for some integer $n \ge 1$, together with a family of divided Frobenius morphisms with respect to $(\iota, F_{\mathfrak{Y}})$. We can equivalently write such a data as a quadruple $\mathfrak{M} = (M, \nabla, M^{\bullet}, \varphi_{\mathfrak{M}}^{\bullet})$ given by the evaluation of $(\mathscr{M}, \mathscr{M}^{\bullet})$ at \mathfrak{D} (13.12).

(iii) A morphism between two Fontaine modules \mathfrak{M} and \mathfrak{N} is a morphism of crystals compatible with the filtrations and the divided Frobenius morphisms.

We denote by $\mathbf{MF}_{\text{big}}(\mathfrak{X};\iota,F_{\mathfrak{Y}})$ the category of Fontaine modules over \mathfrak{X} with respect to $(\iota,F_{\mathfrak{Y}})$. The quadruple $(\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{D}_n},\nabla_{\mathfrak{D}_n},J_{\mathfrak{D}_n}^{[\bullet]},\varphi_{\mathfrak{D}_n}^{\bullet})$ is an object of $\mathbf{MF}_{\text{big}}(\mathfrak{X};\iota,F_{\mathfrak{Y}})$.

Let $\mathfrak{M} = (M, M^{\bullet}, \nabla_M, \varphi_{\mathfrak{M}}^{\bullet})$ be an object of $\mathbf{MF}_{\mathrm{big}}(\mathfrak{X}; \iota, F_{\mathfrak{Y}})$. Since M is an $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{P}}$ -module, the de Rham complexe $M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{Y}n}} \Omega_{\mathfrak{Y}_n/\mathscr{S}_n}^{\bullet}$ is concentrated on X. By Griffith's transversality, for any $r \leq p-1$, we have a subcomplex $(M^{r-q} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{Y}n}} \Omega_{\mathfrak{Y}_n/\mathscr{S}_n}^q)_{q \geq 0}$ of the de Rham complex $M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{Y}n}} \Omega_{\mathfrak{Y}_n/\mathscr{S}_n}^{\bullet}$. By (13.15.1), the divided Frobenius morphisms $\{\varphi_{\mathfrak{M}}^{\bullet}\}$ and $\frac{dF_{\mathfrak{Y}}}{p}$ induce a W-linear morphism of complexes

(13.15.2)
$$(M^{r-\bullet} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{Y}_n}} \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathfrak{Y}_n/\mathscr{S}_n}) \otimes_{\sigma, W} W \to M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{Y}_n}} \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathfrak{Y}_n/\mathscr{S}_n}.$$

13.16. – Let $\mathfrak{M} = (M, M^{\bullet}, \nabla_M, \varphi_{\mathfrak{M}}^{\bullet})$ be a p^n -torsion object of $\mathbf{MF}_{\mathrm{big}}(\mathfrak{X}; \iota, \mathfrak{Y})$. We define the $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{D}}$ -module $\widetilde{\mathfrak{M}}$ as the quotient of $\bigoplus_{r < p} F_{\mathfrak{D}}^*(M^r)$ by the $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{D}_n}$ -submodule generated by local sections of the following forms:

 $\begin{array}{ll} (\mathrm{i}) & (1 \otimes x)_{r-1} - (1 \otimes px)_r & \text{ for all } x \in M^r, r < p, \\ (\mathrm{ii}) & (\varphi_{\mathfrak{D}_n}^r(a) \otimes x)_s - (1 \otimes ax)_{r+s} & \text{ for all } a \in J_{\mathfrak{D}_n}^{[r]}, x \in M^s, r \geqslant 0, r+s < p, \\ \end{array}$

where $(-)_r$ denotes the canonical inclusion $F_{\mathfrak{D}}^*(M^r) \to \bigoplus_{r < p} F_{\mathfrak{D}}^*(M^r)$. In view of condition (d) of 13.15, the morphisms $\{\varphi_{\mathfrak{M}}^r\}_{r < p}$ induce an $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{D}}$ -linear morphism

(13.16.1)
$$\varphi_{\mathfrak{M}}: \mathfrak{M} \to M.$$

DEFINITION 13.17. – We say that an object \mathfrak{M} of $\mathbf{MF}_{\mathrm{big}}(\mathfrak{X}; \iota, F_{\mathfrak{Y}})$ is strongly divisible if $\varphi_{\mathfrak{M}}$ is an isomorphism.

13.18. – In the case $\mathfrak{X} = \mathfrak{Y}$ and $\iota = \mathrm{id}$, we have $\mathfrak{D}_n = \mathfrak{X}_n$. We write simply $\mathbf{MF}_{\mathrm{big}}(\mathfrak{X}; F_{\mathfrak{X}})$ for $\mathbf{MF}_{\mathrm{big}}(\mathfrak{X}; \mathrm{id}, F_{\mathfrak{X}})$ and we denote by $\mathbf{MF}(\mathfrak{X}; F_{\mathfrak{X}})$ the full subcategory of $\mathbf{MF}_{\mathrm{big}}(\mathfrak{X}; F_{\mathfrak{X}})$ of strongly divisible objects whose underlying $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -modules are coherent.

Let $\mathfrak{M} = (M, \nabla, M^{\bullet}, \varphi_{\mathfrak{M}}^{\bullet})$ be an object of $\mathbf{MF}_{\mathrm{big}}(\mathfrak{X}; F_{\mathfrak{X}})$. The condition (i-b) of 13.15 and the relation (ii) of 13.16 are empty and we have $\widetilde{\mathfrak{M}} = F_{\mathfrak{X}}^*(\widetilde{M})$ (13.2.2).

13.19. – Suppose that there exists a σ -lifting $F_{\mathfrak{X}} : \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}$ of the Frobenius morphism F_X . The morphism $F_{\mathfrak{X}}$ induces an \mathscr{S} -morphism $F : \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}'$. Let (M, ∇, M^{\bullet}) be an object of $\mathrm{MIC}_{\mathrm{F}}^{\mathrm{qn}}(\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n)$. By (9.18.6) and 13.6, the morphism F induces a functorial isomorphism of $\mathrm{MIC}^{\mathrm{qn}}(\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n)$:

(13.19.1)
$$\eta_F: \Phi_n(\pi^*(\widetilde{M}, \widetilde{\nabla})) \xrightarrow{\sim} \nu(\mathbf{C}^*(\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}')),$$

where Φ_n is Shiho's functor (6.1.4) defined by F. The underlying $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}$ -module of $\Phi_n(\pi^*(\widetilde{M},\widetilde{\nabla}))$ is $F^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\widetilde{M})$ (6.1.4). We denote the connection on $F^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\widetilde{M})$ by ∇_F .

Given a horizontal morphism $\varphi : \nu(\mathbf{C}^*(\widetilde{\mathcal{M}})) \to (M, \nabla)$, we obtain a horizontal morphism φ_F and a family of morphisms $\{\varphi_F^i : M^i \to M\}_{i=0}^{p-1}$:

(13.19.2) $\varphi_F = \varphi \circ \eta_F : (F^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\widetilde{M}), \nabla_F) \to (M, \nabla),$

(13.19.3)
$$\varphi_F^i: M^i \xrightarrow{(-)_i} \widetilde{M} \xrightarrow{\varphi_F} M.$$

For i > 0, we set $\varphi_F^{-i} = p^i \varphi_F^0$. Then we obtain a functor

(13.19.4)
$$\lambda_F : \mathbf{MF}_{\mathrm{big}}(\mathfrak{X}) \to \mathbf{MF}_{\mathrm{big}}(\mathfrak{X}; F_{\mathfrak{X}}) \qquad (M, \nabla, M^{\bullet}, \varphi) \mapsto (M, \nabla, M^{\bullet}, \varphi_F^{\bullet}).$$

Conversely, a family of divided Frobenius morphisms $\{\varphi_F^i : M^i \to M\}_{i \leq p-1}$ satisfying (i-a,c) of 13.15 induces an $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}$ -linear morphism $\varphi_F : F_{\mathfrak{X}}^*(\widetilde{M}) \to M$ (13.16.1). Then we obtain a morphism $\varphi : C^*(\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}')_{(X,\mathfrak{X})} \to M$ by composing with η_F^{-1} . We define a functor

(13.19.5)
$$\chi_F : \mathbf{MF}_{\mathrm{big}}(\mathfrak{X}; F_{\mathfrak{X}}) \to \mathbf{MF}_{\mathrm{big}}(\mathfrak{X}) \qquad (M, \nabla, M^{\bullet}, \varphi_F^{\bullet}) \mapsto (M, \nabla, M^{\bullet}, \varphi).$$

PROPOSITION 13.20. – The functors λ_F (13.19.4) and χ_F (13.19.5) are well-defined. They induce equivalences of categories quasi-inverse to each other and preserve the strong divisibility condition (13.7), 13.17.

Proof. – Let $(M, \nabla, M^{\bullet}, \varphi)$ be an object of $\mathbf{MF}_{\text{big}}(\mathfrak{X})$. It follows from the definition of \widetilde{M} that the morphisms $\{\varphi_F^{\bullet}\}$ satisfy condition (i-b) of 13.15. We show that they also satisfy condition (i-c). Recall 6.1 that for any local sections m of \widetilde{M} and f of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}$, we have (6.1.3)

(13.20.1)
$$\nabla_F(fF^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(m)) = f\zeta\big(F^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\widetilde{\nabla}(m))\big) + F^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(m) \otimes df,$$

where ζ denotes the composition

$$F_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\ast}(\widetilde{M} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}}} \Omega^{1}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}/\mathscr{S}_{n}}) \xrightarrow{\sim} F_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\ast}(\widetilde{M}) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}}} F_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\ast}(\Omega^{1}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}/\mathscr{S}_{n}}) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id} \otimes dF_{\mathfrak{X}}/p} F_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\ast}(\widetilde{M}) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}}} \Omega^{1}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}/\mathscr{S}_{n}}.$$

For any $0 \leq i \leq p-1$ and any local section m of M^i , we denote by $(\nabla(m))_{i-1}$ the image of $\nabla(m)$ via $M^{i-1} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} \Omega^1_{\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n} \to \widetilde{M} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} \Omega^1_{\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n}$ for $1 \leq i \leq p-1$ and by $(\nabla(m))_{-1}$ the image of $p\nabla(m)$ in $\widetilde{M} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} \Omega^1_{\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n}$ for i = 0. In view of the definition of $\widetilde{\nabla}$ (13.3), we have $\widetilde{\nabla}((m)_i) = (\nabla(m))_{i-1}$ and

(13.20.2)
$$\nabla(\varphi_F^i(m)) = \varphi_F \otimes \operatorname{id}(\nabla_F(F_{\mathfrak{X}}^*((m)_i))) \quad (13.19.3)$$
$$= \varphi_F \otimes \operatorname{id}(\zeta(F_{\mathfrak{X}}^*(\widetilde{\nabla}((m)_i)))) \quad (13.20.1)$$
$$= \varphi_F \otimes \frac{dF_{\mathfrak{X}}}{p}((\nabla(m))_{i-1})$$
$$= \varphi_F^{i-1} \otimes \frac{dF_{\mathfrak{X}}}{p}(\nabla(m)).$$

The commutativity of (13.15.1) follows. The functor (13.19.4) is well-defined and preserves the strong divisibility conditions.

Conversely, let $(M, \nabla, M^{\bullet}, \varphi_{F}^{\bullet})$ be an object of $\mathbf{MF}_{\text{big}}(\mathfrak{X}; F_{\mathfrak{X}})$. In view of (13.20.2), the associated morphism $\varphi_{F} : F_{\mathfrak{X}}^{*}(\widetilde{M}) \to M$ is compatible with the connections ∇_{F} and ∇ . Via η_{F}^{-1} (13.19.1), we obtain a morphism $\varphi : \nu(\mathbf{C}^{*}(\widetilde{\mathcal{M}})) \to (M, \nabla)$ as (13.7.1). Hence the functor χ_{F} (13.19.5) is well-defined and is clearly quasi-inverse to λ_{F} . \Box

REMARK 13.21. – In particular, we see that the notion of Fontaine module over \mathscr{S} (13.7) is compatible with the notion of Fontaine modules over W introduced by Fontaine and Laffaille (cf. [15] 1.2 or [36] 2.2.1).

13.22. – Let $F_1, F_2 : \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}'$ be two liftings of the relative Frobenius morphism $F_{X/k}$ of X and let $F_{i,\mathfrak{X}} = \pi \circ F_i : \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}$. In ([13] proof of Thm. 2.3), Faltings proposed a Taylor formula to construct an equivalence of categories between $\mathbf{MF}_{\mathrm{big}}(\mathfrak{X}; F_{2,\mathfrak{X}})$ and $\mathbf{MF}_{\mathrm{big}}(\mathfrak{X}; F_{1,\mathfrak{X}})$. We will show that this Taylor Formula (13.22.6) is naturally encoded in the Cartier equivalence.

We present an explicit description of the equivalence of categories

(13.22.1)
$$\lambda_{F_2} \circ \chi_{F_1} : \mathbf{MF}_{\mathrm{big}}(\mathfrak{X}; F_{1,\mathfrak{X}}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbf{MF}_{\mathrm{big}}(\mathfrak{X}; F_{2,\mathfrak{X}}).$$

In particular, we will see that Faltings' construction coincides with the above equivalence.

The morphisms F_1 and F_2 induce a morphism of \mathscr{E}' (9.20.1)

(13.22.2)
$$\alpha: \rho(X, \mathfrak{X}) \to (X', R_{\mathfrak{X}'}).$$

Let (M, ∇, M^{\bullet}) be an object of $\operatorname{MIC}_{\mathrm{F}}^{p-1}(\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n)$. Recall that the morphism α induces a functorial isomorphism of $\operatorname{MIC}^{\operatorname{qn}}(\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n)$ (9.23.1)

(13.22.3)
$$\alpha^*(\pi_R^*(\varepsilon_{\widetilde{M}})) : (F_{2,\mathfrak{X}}^*(\widetilde{M}), \nabla_{F_2}) \xrightarrow{\sim} (F_{1,\mathfrak{X}}^*(\widetilde{M}), \nabla_{F_1}),$$

such that $\eta_{F_2} = \eta_{F_1} \circ \alpha^*(\pi_R^*(\varepsilon_{\widetilde{M}}))$ (9.22). In view of the proof of 13.20, a family of divided Frobenius morphisms $\{\varphi_{F_j}^i\}_{i \leq p-1}$ is equivalent to a horizontal morphism φ_{F_j} (13.19.2) for j = 1, 2. Then the functor (13.22.1) is given by

(13.22.4)
$$\mathbf{MF}_{\mathrm{big}}(\mathfrak{X}; F_{1,\mathfrak{X}}) \to \mathbf{MF}_{\mathrm{big}}(\mathfrak{X}; F_{2,\mathfrak{X}})$$
$$(M, \nabla, M^{\bullet}, \varphi_{F_1}) \mapsto (M, \nabla, M^{\bullet}, \varphi_{F_1} \circ \alpha^*(\pi_R^*(\varepsilon_{\widetilde{M}}))).$$

Let us describe the isomorphism (13.22.3) in terms of a system of local coordinates. Assume that there exists an étale \mathscr{S} -morphism $f : \mathfrak{X} \to \widehat{\mathbb{A}}^d_{\mathscr{S}} = \operatorname{Spf}(\mathbb{W}\{T_1, \ldots, T_d\})$ and put t_i the image of T_i in $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ and $\xi_i = 1 \otimes t_i - t_i \otimes 1 \in \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}^2}$. Let i be an integer $\in [0, p-1], m$ an element of M^i and $(m)_i$ its image in \widetilde{M} . We have (13.5.6) (13.22.5)

$$\varepsilon_{\widetilde{M}}(1\otimes(m)_{i}) = \sum_{|I|\leqslant i} \frac{1}{|I|!} \left(\nabla_{\partial^{I}}(m) \right)_{i-|I|} \otimes \left(\frac{\xi}{p}\right)^{I} + \sum_{|I|>i} \frac{p^{|I|-i}}{|I|!} \left(\nabla_{\partial^{I}}(m) \right)_{0} \otimes \left(\frac{\xi}{p}\right)^{I}.$$

Recall that the morphism $\alpha : \mathfrak{X} \to \mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ (13.22.2) induces a homomorphism $a : \mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X}'} \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (9.20.2) which sends $\frac{\xi'_i}{p}$ to $\frac{F^*_{2,\mathfrak{X}}(t_i) - F^*_{1,\mathfrak{X}}(t_i)}{p}$ (9.20.3). We deduce that (13.22.6)

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha^*(\pi_R^*(\varepsilon_{\widetilde{M}}))(1\otimes_{F_2}(m)_i) &= \sum_{|I|\leqslant i} \left(\frac{F_{2,\mathfrak{X}}^*(\underline{t}) - F_{1,\mathfrak{X}}^*(\underline{t})}{p}\right)^I \bigotimes_{F_1} \frac{1}{|I|!} \left(\nabla_{\partial^I}(m)\right)_{i-|I|} \\ &+ \sum_{|I|>i} \left(\frac{F_{2,\mathfrak{X}}^*(\underline{t}) - F_{1,\mathfrak{X}}^*(\underline{t})}{p}\right)^I \bigotimes_{F_1} \frac{p^{|I|-i}}{|I|!} \left(\nabla_{\partial^I}(m)\right)_0, \end{aligned}$$

where

$$\left(\frac{F_{2,\mathfrak{X}}^*(\underline{t})-F_{1,\mathfrak{X}}^*(\underline{t})}{p}\right)^I = \prod_{j=1}^d \left(\frac{F_{2,\mathfrak{X}}^*(t_j)-F_{1,\mathfrak{X}}^*(t_j)}{p}\right)^{i_j} \qquad \forall \ I = (i_1,\ldots,i_d) \in \mathbb{N}^d.$$

We review some basic properties about Fontaine modules. The following result is first showed in [13] and we refer to [29] for another approach.

PROPOSITION 13.23 ([13] 2.1; [29] 5.3.3). – Suppose that there exists a σ -lifting $F_{\mathfrak{X}} : \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}$ of the Frobenius morphism. Let $(M, \nabla, M^{\bullet}, \varphi)$ be an object of $\mathbf{MF}(\mathfrak{X}; F_{\mathfrak{X}})$ (13.18).

(i) Then each M^i is locally a direct sum of sheaves of the form $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}$; each morphism $M^i \to M^{i-1}$ locally split. In particular, (M, ∇, M^{\bullet}) forms a T-crystal (13.13).

(ii) Any morphism of $\mathbf{MF}(\mathfrak{X}; F_{\mathfrak{X}})$ is strictly compatible with the filtrations ([9] 1.1.5).

(iii) The category $\mathbf{MF}(\mathfrak{X}; F_{\mathfrak{X}})$ is abelian.

Then we deduce the corresponding statement for (global) Fontaine modules.

COROLLARY 13.24. – (i) For every object $(M, \nabla, M^{\bullet}, \varphi)$ of $\mathbf{MF}(\mathfrak{X})$, (M, ∇, M^{\bullet}) forms a T-crystal.

- (ii) Any morphism of $\mathbf{MF}(\mathfrak{X})$ is strictly compatible with the filtrations.
- (iii) The category $\mathbf{MF}(\mathfrak{X})$ is abelian.

Proof. – Assertions (i) and (ii) being local, they follow from 13.20 and 13.23.

For any morphism $f: (M_1, \nabla_1, M_1^{\bullet}, \varphi_1) \to (M_2, \nabla_2, M_2^{\bullet}, \varphi_2)$ of p^n -torsion objects of $\mathbf{MF}(\mathfrak{X})$, we denote by (L, ∇_L) and (N, ∇_N) the kernel and the cokernel of fin $\mathrm{MIC}^{\mathrm{qn}}(\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n)$. We denote by L^{\bullet} (resp. N^{\bullet}) the filtration on L (resp. N) induced by M_1^{\bullet} (resp. M_2^{\bullet}) ([9] 1.1.8). Since f is strictly compabilible, for any i < p, we have $f(M_1^i) = f(M_1) \cap M_2^i$ ([9] 1.1.1) and an exact sequence $0 \to L^i \to M_1^i \to M_2^i \to$ $N^i \to 0$. By the snake lemma, we deduce an exact sequence

$$0 \to \widetilde{L} \to \widetilde{M_1} \to \widetilde{M_2} \to \widetilde{N} \to 0.$$

Then we deduce a commutative diagram

Hence we can define Ker(f) and Coker(f) in $\mathbf{MF}(\mathfrak{X})$. We deduce that the category $\mathbf{MF}(\mathfrak{X})$ is abelian. \Box

13.25. – In the following, we compare categories $\mathbf{MF}(\mathfrak{X}; \iota, F_{\mathfrak{Y}})$ with respect to different choice of data $(\iota : \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}, F_{\mathfrak{Y}})$ following Tsuji [35].

Let $(\iota_1 : \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}_1, F_{\mathfrak{Y}_1})$ and $(\iota_2 : \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}_2, F_{\mathfrak{Y}_2})$ be two data as in 13.14 and suppose that there exists a *smooth* \mathscr{S} -morphism $g : \mathfrak{Y}_2 \to \mathfrak{Y}_1$ compatible with ι_1, ι_2 and the Frobenius morphisms $F_{\mathfrak{Y}_1}$ and $F_{\mathfrak{Y}_2}$. Then g induces a PD-morphism $g_D : \mathfrak{D}_2 \to \mathfrak{D}_1$ compatible with $F_{\mathfrak{D}_2}$ and $F_{\mathfrak{D}_1}$. Note that g_D induces an isomorphism on the underlying topological spaces.

LEMMA 13.26 ([35] 2.2.2). – Let x be a point of \mathfrak{X}_n and let t_1, \ldots, t_d be a family of local sections of $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{Y}_{2,n}}$ in a neighborhood of $\iota_2(x)$ such that $\{dt_1, \ldots, dt_d\}$ form a basis of $\Omega^1_{\mathfrak{Y}_{2,n}/\mathfrak{Y}_{1,n,x}}$ and that $\iota_2^*(t_i) = 0$ (the existence follows from the fact that ι_1 is a closed immersion). Then there exists an $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{Y}_{1,n,x}}$ -PD-isomorphism

(13.26.1)
$$\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{D}_{1,n},x}\langle T_1,\ldots,T_d\rangle \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{D}_{2,n},x},$$

which sends T_i to t_i .

PROPOSITION 13.27 ([35] Proof of 2.2.1). – Keep the assumption of 13.25. The morphism $g: \mathfrak{Y}_2 \to \mathfrak{Y}_1$ induces equivalences of categories quasi-inverse to each other:

(13.27.1)
$$g^*: \mathbf{MF}_{\mathrm{big}}(\mathfrak{X}; \iota_1, F_{\mathfrak{Y}_1}) \to \mathbf{MF}_{\mathrm{big}}(\mathfrak{X}; \iota_2, F_{\mathfrak{Y}_2}), \\ g_*: \mathbf{MF}_{\mathrm{big}}(\mathfrak{X}; \iota_2, F_{\mathfrak{Y}_2}) \to \mathbf{MF}_{\mathrm{big}}(\mathfrak{X}; \iota_1, F_{\mathfrak{Y}_1}).$$

We present the construction of pull-back functor and we refer to [35] for the construction of the push-forward functor. Let $\mathfrak{M} = (M_1, \nabla_1, M_1^{\bullet}, \varphi_1^{\bullet})$ be a p^n -torsion object of $\mathbf{MF}_{\text{big}}(\mathfrak{X}; \iota_1, F_{\mathfrak{Y}_1})$ and $(\mathscr{M}, \mathscr{M}^{\bullet})$ the associated proto-T-crystal.

The evaluation $(M_2, \nabla_2, M_2^{\bullet})$ of $(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{M}^{\bullet})$ at \mathfrak{D}_2 is given by $M_2 = \mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{D}_{2,n}} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{D}_{1,n}}} M_1$ and for $r \in \mathbb{Z}$, $M_2^r = \sum_{r_1 \ge 0, r_1 + r_2 = r} \operatorname{Im}(J_{\mathfrak{D}_{2,n}}^{[r_1]} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{D}_{1,n}}} M_1^{r_2} \to M_2)$ (13.11). The connection $\nabla_2 : M_2 \to M_2 \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{V}_{2,n}}} \Omega^1_{\mathfrak{Y}_{2,n}/\mathscr{S}_n}$ is defined, for any local sections a of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{D}_{2,n}}$ and m of M, by

(13.27.2)
$$\nabla_2(a \otimes m) = a \cdot g^*(\nabla_1(m)) + m \otimes \nabla_{\mathfrak{D}_{2,n}}(a).$$

Let x be a point of \mathfrak{X} . With the notation and assumption of 13.26, for any $I = (i_1, \ldots, i_d) \in \mathbb{N}^d$, we set $\underline{T}^{[I]} = \prod_{j=1}^d T_j^{[i_j]}$. In view of 13.15(i-c) and (13.26.1), $M_{2,x}^r$ can be written as a direct sum of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{D}_{1,n},x}$ -modules $M_{2,x}^r = \bigoplus_{|I|=s} M_{1,x}^{r-s} \cdot \underline{T}^{[I]}$. For any r < p, we deduce that the semi-linear morphisms

$$\varphi_{J_{\mathfrak{D}_{2,n}}}^{r_1} \otimes \varphi_1^{r_2} : J_{\mathfrak{D}_{2,n}}^{[r_1]} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{D}_{1,n}}} M_1^{r_2} \to M_2, \qquad r_1 + r_2 = r, \ 0 \leqslant r_1 \leqslant p-1$$

are compatible and induce a family of divided Frobenius morphisms with respect to $F_{\mathfrak{D}_2}$:

(13.27.3)
$$\varphi_2^r: M_2^r \to M_2.$$

Conditions 13.15(i a-c) follow from those of φ_1^{\bullet} and of $\varphi_{\mathfrak{D}_{2,n}}^{\bullet}$.

REMARK 13.28. – By (13.27.2), the morphism g induces a morphism of de Rham complexes

(13.28.1)
$$M_1 \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{Y}_{1,n}}} \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathfrak{Y}_{1,n}/\mathscr{S}_n} \to M_2 \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{Y}_{2,n}}} \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathfrak{Y}_{2,n}/\mathscr{S}_n}.$$

For any $r \leq p-1$, we have a commutative diagram (13.15.2)

LEMMA 13.29 ([35] 2.3.2). – The functor g^* (13.27.1) sends strongly divisible objects to strongly divisible objects (13.17).

Proof. – The canonical morphisms $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{D}_{2,n}} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{D}_{1,n}}} M_1^r \to M_2^r$ induce an $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{D}_n}$ -linear morphism (13.16)

(13.29.1)
$$u_g: g_D^*(\widetilde{\mathfrak{M}}) \to g^*(\widetilde{\mathfrak{M}}).$$

In view of condition 13.16(ii), the above morphism is surjective. We have a commutative diagram:

If $\varphi_{\mathfrak{M}}$ is an isomorphism, then u_g is an isomorphism and so is $\varphi_{g^*(\mathfrak{M})}$. The lemma follows.

In the end, we construct a natural functor from $\mathbf{MF}_{\mathrm{big}}(\mathfrak{X})$ to the category of Fontaine modules with respect to the diagonal immersion and two liftings of Frobenius morphism on \mathfrak{X} .

PROPOSITION 13.30. – Suppose that \mathfrak{X} is separated over \mathscr{S} . Take again the notation of 13.22 and let $\Delta : \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}^2$ be the diagonal immersion, $q_1, q_2 : \mathfrak{X}^2 \to \mathfrak{X}$ the canonical projections and $F_{\mathfrak{X}^2} = (F_{1,\mathfrak{X}}, F_{2,\mathfrak{X}}) : \mathfrak{X}^2 \to \mathfrak{X}^2$. Then the diagram

is commutative up to a canonical isomorphism.

Proof. – Let $\mathfrak{M} = (M, \nabla, M^{\bullet}, \varphi)$ be a Fontaine module over \mathfrak{X} and $\varphi_{F_i} = \varphi \circ \eta_{F_i}$: $F_{i,\mathfrak{X}}^*(\widetilde{M}) \to M$ (13.19.2) for i = 1, 2. Then we have $\lambda_{F_i}(\mathfrak{M}) = (M, \nabla, M^{\bullet}, \varphi_{F_i}) \in \mathbf{MF}_{\mathrm{big}}(\mathfrak{X}; F_{i,\mathfrak{X}})$. We denote abusively by q_i the composition $P_{\mathfrak{X}} \to \mathfrak{X}^2 \xrightarrow{q_i} \mathfrak{X}$ and we set $\mathfrak{M}_i = q_i^*(\lambda_{F_i}(\mathfrak{M})) = (q_i^*(M), \nabla_i, A_i^{\bullet}, \varphi_{\mathfrak{M}_i}^{\bullet}) \in \mathbf{MF}_{\mathrm{big}}(\mathfrak{X}; \Delta, F_{\mathfrak{X}^2})$.

Let $\varepsilon : q_2^*(M) \xrightarrow{\sim} q_1^*(M)$ be the $\mathscr{P}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratification on M. By 13.12, it is a filtered isomorphism with respect to the filtrations A_2^{\bullet} and A_1^{\bullet} . It remains to show that ε is compatible with the divided Frobenius morphisms $\varphi_{\mathfrak{M}_i}^{\bullet}$ on both sides.

Since $\varphi: \mathrm{C}^*(\widetilde{\mathscr{M}'})_{(X,\mathfrak{X})}\to M$ is a horizontal morphism, the following diagram commutes

We have $\varphi_{F_i} = \eta_{F_i} \circ \varphi$ and the following commutative diagrams: (13.30.3)

The filtered isomorphism $\varepsilon: A_2^{\bullet} \xrightarrow{\sim} A_1^{\bullet}$ induces an isomorphism $\widetilde{\varepsilon}: \widetilde{\mathfrak{M}_2} \xrightarrow{\sim} \widetilde{\mathfrak{M}_1}$ (13.16). In the diagrams

(13.30.4)



the left-hand side diagram and the right-hand side diagram are commutative (13.29.2).

To prove the assertion, it suffices to show that diagram (2) is commutative. By (13.30.2) and (13.30.3), the outer diagram of (13.30.4) commutes. Since u_{q_i} is surjective (13.29.1), it suffices to prove the following lemma.

LEMMA 13.31. – Diagram (1) of (13.30.4) is commutative.

Proof. – Recall (9.19) that F_1, F_2 induce a \mathscr{S} -morphism $Q_{\mathfrak{X}} \to R_{\mathfrak{X}'}$. We denote the composition $\rho(X, P_{\mathfrak{X}}) \to \rho(X, Q_{\mathfrak{X}}) \to (X', R_{\mathfrak{X}'})$ of morphisms of \mathscr{E}' (9.1.2) by f. It fits into the following commutative diagram:

$$\rho(X,\mathfrak{X}) \xleftarrow{\rho(q_2)} \rho(X, P_{\mathfrak{X}}) \xrightarrow{\rho(q_1)} \rho(X, \mathfrak{X})$$

$$F_2 \bigvee f \bigvee F_1$$

$$(X', \mathfrak{X}') \xleftarrow{q'_2} (X', R_{\mathfrak{X}'}) \xrightarrow{q'_1} (X', \mathfrak{X}').$$

Hence the composition $q_2^*(F_{2,\mathfrak{X}}^*(\widetilde{M})) \xrightarrow{\sim} q_1^*(F_{1,\mathfrak{X}}^*(\widetilde{M}))$ of the upper arrows of diagram (1) coincides with the pull-back of the $\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -stratification $\varepsilon_{\widetilde{M}}$ on \widetilde{M} (13.5) via the composition $P_{\mathfrak{X}} \xrightarrow{f} R_{\mathfrak{X}'} \xrightarrow{\pi_R} R_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (13.6):

$$(13.31.1) \quad f^*(\pi^*_R(\varepsilon_{\widetilde{M}})): \mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes_{\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}} (\mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}} \widetilde{M}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes_{\mathscr{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}} (\widetilde{M} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} \mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X}}).$$

To show the lemma, we may suppose that there exists an étale morphism $\mathfrak{X} \to \widehat{\mathbb{A}}^d_{\mathscr{S}}$ and we take again the notation of 13.22. For $1 \leq k \leq d$, we set $F_1^*(t'_k) = t^p_k + pa_k$ and $F_2^*(t'_k) = t^p_k + pb_k$. By (9.19.3), the homomorphism $\mathcal{R}_{\mathfrak{X}'} \to \mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ induced by f sends

$$(13.31.2) \quad \left(\frac{\xi'_k}{p}\right) \mapsto z_k = (p-1)!\xi_k^{[p]} + \sum_{j=1}^{p-1} \frac{(p-1)!}{j!(p-j)!}\xi_k^j(t_k \otimes 1)^{p-j} + (1 \otimes b_k - a_k \otimes 1).$$

For any multi-index $I = (i_1, \ldots, i_d)$, we set $z^I = \prod_{k=1}^d z_k^{i_k}$. Let *i* be an integer $\in [0, p-1]$, *m* a local section of M^i and $(m)_i$ its image in \widetilde{M} . By (13.22.5) and

(13.31.2), the isomorphism (13.31.1) sends (13.31.3)

$$1 \otimes (1 \otimes_{q_2} (m)_i) \mapsto \sum_{|I| \leq i} \frac{z^I}{I!} \otimes \left((\nabla_{\partial^I} (m))_{i-|I|} \otimes_{q_1} 1 \right) + \sum_{|I| > i} \frac{p^{|I| - i} z^I}{I!} \otimes \left((\nabla_{\partial^I} (m))_0 \otimes_{q_1} 1 \right).$$

The $\mathscr{P}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -linear morphism u_{q_2} (resp. u_{q_1}) (13.29.1) sends (13.31.4) $1 \otimes (1 \otimes_{q_2}(m)_i) \mapsto (1 \otimes_{F_{P_{\mathfrak{X}}}} (1 \otimes_{q_2} m))_i$ (resp. $1 \otimes ((m)_i \otimes_{q_1} 1) \mapsto (1 \otimes_{F_{P_{\mathfrak{X}}}} (m \otimes_{q_1} 1))_i$,

where $(-)_i : F_{P_{\mathfrak{X}}}^*(A_j^i) \to \widetilde{\mathfrak{M}_j}$ denotes the canonical morphism for j = 1, 2. On the other hand, the isomorphism $\varsigma : A^i \xrightarrow{\sim} A^i$ sends $1 \otimes m$ to $\sum \nabla_{\sigma_i}(m)$.

On the other hand, the isomorphism $\varepsilon : A_2^i \xrightarrow{\sim} A_1^i$ sends $1 \otimes m$ to $\sum_I \nabla_{\partial^I}(m) \otimes \xi^{[I]}$. Hence the isomorphism $\widetilde{\varepsilon} : \widetilde{\mathfrak{M}_2} \xrightarrow{\sim} \widetilde{\mathfrak{M}_1}$ in diagram (1) sends

(13.31.5)
$$(1 \otimes_{F_{P_{\mathfrak{X}}}} (1 \otimes_{q_2} m))_i \mapsto \sum_{I} (1 \otimes_{F_{P_{\mathfrak{X}}}} (\nabla_{\partial^I}(m) \otimes_{q_1} \xi^{[I]}))_i.$$

With the notation of 13.14, the divided Frobenius morphisms on $(\mathscr{O}_{P_{\mathfrak{X}_n}}, J_{P_{\mathfrak{X}_n}}^{[\bullet]})$ satisfies (13.31.6)

$$\varphi_{P_{\mathfrak{X}_n}}(\xi_k) = pz_k, \ \forall \ 1 \leqslant k \leqslant d, \qquad \varphi_{P_{\mathfrak{X}_n}}^i(\xi^{[I]}) = \frac{p^{|I| - i}z^I}{I!}, \quad \forall \ i < p, |I| \ge i.$$

By conditions (i) and (ii) of 13.16, we deduce that

$$(13.31.7) \ (1 \otimes_{F_{P_{\mathfrak{X}}}} (\nabla_{\partial^{I}}(m) \otimes \xi^{[I]}))_{i} = \begin{cases} (\frac{z^{I}}{I!} \otimes_{F_{P_{\mathfrak{X}}}} (\nabla_{\partial^{I}}(m) \otimes 1))_{i-|I|} & \text{if } |I| \leq i, \\ (\frac{p^{|I|-i}z^{I}}{I!} \otimes_{F_{P_{\mathfrak{X}}}} (\nabla_{\partial^{I}}(m) \otimes 1))_{0} & \text{if } |I| > i. \end{cases}$$

By comparing (13.31.3), (13.31.4), (13.31.5) and (13.31.7), the assertion follows.

CHAPTER 14

THE FONTAINE MODULE STRUCTURE ON THE CRYSTALLINE COHOMOLOGY OF A FONTAINE MODULE

To illustrates our definition of Fontaine modules, we reprove the following result of Faltings on the crystalline cohomology of a Fontaine module.

THEOREM 14.1 ([13] IV 4.1). – Let \mathfrak{X} be a smooth proper formal \mathscr{S} -scheme of relative dimension d and $(M, \nabla, M^{\bullet}, \varphi)$ a p^{n} -torsion object of $\mathbf{MF}(\mathfrak{X})$ (13.7) of length $\leq \ell \leq p-1$ (i.e., $M^{\ell+1} = 0$). We denote by \mathbf{F}^{i} the subcomplex $M^{i-\bullet} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}}} \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}/\mathscr{S}_{n}}$ of the de Rham complex $M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}}} \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}/\mathscr{S}_{n}}$.

(i) Let m be an integer such that $\min\{m,d\} + \ell \leq p-1$ and i an integer $\leq p-1$. Then the canonical morphism $\mathbb{H}^m(\mathbf{F}^i) \to \mathbb{H}^m(M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n})$ is injective.

(ii) Let m be an integer such that $\min\{m, d-1\} + \ell \leq p-2$ and i an integer $\leq p-1$. The isomorphism φ induces a family of semi-linear morphisms $\phi_{\mathrm{H}}^{m,i} : \mathbb{H}^m(\mathrm{F}^i) \to \mathbb{H}^m(M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n})$ (with respect to σ). Then the data

$$(\mathbb{H}^m(M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n}), (\mathbb{H}^m(\mathbf{F}^i))_{i=0}^{p-1}, (\phi^{m,i}_{\mathbf{H}})_{i=0}^{p-1})$$

form an object of $MF(\mathscr{S})$ (13.21).

(iii) In the spectral sequence of the filtered de Rham complex $(M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}} \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n}, \mathbf{F}^i)$ ([9] 1.4.5)

$$(14.1.1) \qquad \qquad \mathbf{E}_{1}^{r,s} = \mathbb{H}^{r+s}(\operatorname{gr}_{F}^{r}(M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}}} \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}/\mathscr{S}_{n}})) \Rightarrow \mathbb{H}^{r+s}(M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}}} \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}/\mathscr{S}_{n}}),$$

the differential morphism $d_1^{r,s}$ vanishes for $\min\{r+s, d-1\} + \ell \leq p-2$.

The data $(\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n}, d)$ defines a Fontaine module of length 0 over \mathfrak{X} . By 14.1(iii), we deduce that:

COROLLARY 14.2 ([16] 2.8; [13] IV 4.1). – If $d \leq p-1$, the Hodge to de Rham spectral sequence of $\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n$ degenerates at E_1 .

We defer the proof of the theorem to 14.18 and we begin with some preparations on crystalline cohomology of T-cyrstals (13.13) following Ogus [29].

14.3. – Let $\iota : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Y}$ a closed immersion of smooth \mathscr{S}_n -schemes and \mathscr{D} the PD-envelope of ι compatible with γ . Let $(\mathscr{M}, \mathscr{M}^{\bullet})$ a T-crystal of $(\mathscr{X}/\mathscr{S}_n)_{\text{crys}}$ (13.13) and (\mathcal{M}, ∇) (resp. \mathcal{M}^{\bullet}) the associated $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{D}}$ -module with integrable connection (resp. filtration) (13.12). Since \mathcal{M}^{\bullet} satisfy Griffiths' transversality, it induces a filtration on the de Rham complex $\mathcal{M} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{V}}} \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathscr{U}/\mathscr{S}_n}$ defined for every $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $q \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ by

(14.3.1)
$$\mathbf{F}^{i}(M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{Y}}} \Omega^{q}_{\mathscr{Y}/\mathscr{S}_{n}}) = M^{i-q} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{Y}}} \Omega^{q}_{\mathscr{Y}/\mathscr{S}_{n}}.$$

Since M is an $\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{D}}$ -module, the de Rham complex $M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{Y}}} \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{U}/\mathscr{S}_{p}}$ is concentrated on \mathcal{X} .

Ogus showed that the above subcomplex computes the crystalline cohomology of $\mathscr{M}^i.$

THEOREM 14.4 ([29] 6.1.1). – We keep the above notation and we denote by $u_{\mathcal{X}/\mathscr{S}_n}$ the canonical morphism of topoi $(\mathcal{X}/\mathscr{S}_n)_{crys} \to \mathcal{X}_{zar}$.

(i) There exists an isomorphism in the derived category $D(\mathcal{X}_{zar}, W_n)$

(14.4.1)
$$\operatorname{R} u_{\mathcal{X}/\mathscr{S}_n}(\mathscr{M}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{M}_{\mathcal{D}} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{Y}}} \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathcal{Y}/\mathscr{S}_n}$$

(ii) For every *i*, there exists an isomorphism in $D(\mathcal{X}_{zar}, W_n)$ compatible with (14.4.1)

(14.4.2)
$$\mathbf{R} \, u_{\mathcal{X}/\mathscr{S}_n *}(\mathscr{M}^i) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbf{F}^i(\mathscr{M}_{\mathcal{D}} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{Y}}} \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathscr{Y}/\mathscr{S}_n}).$$

COROLLARY 14.5 ([29] 6.1.7). – Let $\iota_1 : \mathfrak{X} \to \mathcal{Y}_1$ and $\iota_2 : \mathfrak{X} \to \mathcal{Y}_2$ be two closed \mathscr{S}_n -immersions of \mathfrak{X} into smooth \mathscr{S}_n -schemes, $\mathfrak{D}_1, \mathfrak{D}_2$ the PD-envelopes of ι_1, ι_2 compatible with γ and $f : \mathcal{Y}_2 \to \mathcal{Y}_1$ an \mathscr{S}_n -morphism such that $\iota_2 = f \circ \iota_1$. Then the morphisms of complexes induced by f

$$\begin{split} \mathscr{M}_{\mathcal{D}_{1}} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{Y}_{1}}} \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathscr{Y}_{1}/\mathscr{S}_{n}} & \to \mathscr{M}_{\mathcal{D}_{2}} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{Y}_{2}}} \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathscr{Y}_{2}/\mathscr{S}_{n}}, \\ \mathbf{F}^{i}(\mathscr{M}_{\mathcal{D}_{1}} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{Y}_{1}}} \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathscr{Y}_{1}/\mathscr{S}_{n}}) & \to \mathbf{F}^{i}(\mathscr{M}_{\mathcal{D}_{2}} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{Y}_{2}}} \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathscr{Y}_{2}/\mathscr{S}_{n}}), \ \forall \ i \in \mathbb{Z}, \end{split}$$

are quasi-isomorphisms and compatible with (14.4.1) and (14.4.2).

14.6. – We suppose that \mathcal{X} is separated over \mathscr{S}_n and we take a Zariski covering $\mathscr{U} = \{U_i\}_{i \in I}$ of \mathcal{X} consisting of affine schemes. For any integer $r \ge 0$ and any element $J = (j_0, j_1, \ldots, j_r)$ of I^{r+1} , we denote by U^J the intersection $\bigcap_{i=0}^r U_{j_i}$, by U_J the product $\{U_{j_i}\}_{i=0}^r$ over W_n and by P_J the PD-envelope of the diagonal immersion $U^J \to U_J$ compatible with γ . Note that U^J and P_J are also affine. Then we obtain two compatible simplicial objects:

where d, s denote the faces and degeneracy morphisms. Then the faces and degeneracy morphisms of (14.6.2) induce a simplicial object compatible with (14.6.1):

Let $(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{M}^{\bullet})$ be a T-crystal of $(\mathcal{K}/\mathscr{S}_n)_{\text{crys}}$. We associate to $(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{M}^{\bullet})$ a bicomplex $C^{\bullet, \bullet}_{\mathscr{U}}(\mathcal{M})$ and for any $i \in \mathbb{Z}$, a bicomplex $\mathrm{F}^i(C^{\bullet, \bullet}_{\mathscr{U}}(\mathcal{M}))$ by setting

(14.6.4)
$$C^{r,s}_{\mathscr{U}}(\mathscr{M}) = \bigoplus_{J \in I^{r+1}} \Gamma(U^J, \mathscr{M}_{P_J} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{U_J}} \Omega^s_{U_J/\mathscr{S}_n}), \quad r, s \ge 0$$

(14.6.5)
$$\mathbf{F}^{i}(C^{r,s}_{\mathscr{U}}(\mathscr{M})) = \bigoplus_{J \in I^{r+1}} \Gamma(U^{J}, \mathscr{M}^{i-s}_{P_{J}} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{U_{J}}} \Omega^{s}_{U_{J}/\mathscr{S}_{n}}), \quad r, s \ge 0,$$

the horizontal differential morphism $\partial_1^{r,s}$ is the alternating sum of the resctriction morphisms induced by the faces morphisms (14.6.3) and the vertical differential morphism $\partial_2^{r,s}$ is given by the connection on \mathcal{M}_{P_J} .

PROPOSITION 14.7 ([13] IV a)). – There exist canonical isomorphisms of cohomology groups:

(14.7.1)
$$\begin{aligned} \mathrm{H}^{\bullet}((\mathscr{X}/\mathscr{S}_{n})_{\mathrm{crys}},\mathscr{M}) &\xrightarrow{\sim} \mathrm{H}^{\bullet}(\mathrm{Tot}(C^{\bullet,\bullet}_{\mathscr{U}}(\mathscr{M}))) \\ \mathrm{H}^{\bullet}((\mathscr{X}/\mathscr{S}_{n})_{\mathrm{crys}},\mathscr{M}^{i}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathrm{H}^{\bullet}(\mathrm{Tot}(\mathrm{F}^{i}(C^{\bullet,\bullet}_{\mathscr{U}}(\mathscr{M})))), \ \forall i \in \mathbb{Z} \end{aligned}$$

Proof. – Let e be the final object of $(\mathcal{X}/\mathscr{S}_n)_{crys}$. An open subscheme U of \mathcal{X} defines a subobject \tilde{U} of e by

$$\widetilde{U}(V,T) = \begin{cases} e(V,T) & \text{if } V \subset U, \\ \emptyset & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Moreover, there exists a canonical equivalence of topoi ([4] IV 3.1.2)

(14.7.2)
$$(\mathscr{X}/\mathscr{S}_n)_{\operatorname{crys}/\widetilde{U}} \xrightarrow{\sim} (U/\mathscr{S}_n)_{\operatorname{crys}},$$

which identifies the localisation morphism with respect to \widetilde{U} and the functoriality morphism induced by $U \to X$. Then, the morphisms $\{\widetilde{U}_i \to e\}_{i \in I}$ form a covering in $(\mathscr{X}/\mathscr{S}_n)_{\text{crys}}$. With the notation of 14.6, we have $\prod_{j \in J} \widetilde{U}_j = \widetilde{U}^J$. By cohomological descent, we have a spectral sequence ([10] 5.3.3.2, [3] Vbis 2.5.5)

(14.7.3)
$$E_1^{r,s} = \bigoplus_{J \in I^{r+1}} H^s((U^J/\mathscr{S}_n)_{\mathrm{crys}}, \mathscr{M}|U^J) \Rightarrow H^{r+s}((\mathscr{U}/\mathscr{S}_n)_{\mathrm{crys}}, \mathscr{M}),$$

whose differential morphism $d_1^{r,s}: \mathbf{E}_1^{r,s} \to \mathbf{E}_1^{r+1,s}$ is the alternating sum of the morphisms induced by the faces morphisms of (14.6.1).

On the other hand, we calculate $\mathrm{H}^{\bullet}(\mathrm{Tot}(C_{\mathscr{U}}^{\bullet,\bullet}(\mathscr{M})))$ by filtering this bicomplex by rows ([19] 0.11.3.2). By 14.4(i), the vertical cohomology of $C_{\mathscr{U}}^{\bullet,\bullet}(\mathscr{M})$ is isomorphic to

a direct sum of crystalline cohomology groups

(14.7.4)
$$\begin{aligned} \mathrm{H}_{\mathrm{I}}^{r,s} &= \mathrm{Ker}\,\partial_{2}^{r,s}/\mathrm{Im}(\partial_{2}^{r,s-1}) \\ &\simeq \bigoplus_{J \in I^{r+1}} \mathrm{H}^{s}((U^{J}/\mathscr{S}_{n})_{\mathrm{crys}},\mathscr{M}|\widetilde{U^{J}}). \end{aligned}$$

Recall that we have a spectral sequence ([37] 5.6.1)

(14.7.5)
$$\mathbf{E}_{1}^{\prime r,s} = \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{I}}^{r,s} \Rightarrow \mathbf{H}^{r+s}(\mathrm{Tot}(C_{\mathscr{U}}^{\bullet,\bullet}(\mathscr{M}))),$$

whose differential morphism $d_1'^{r,s}: {\bf E}_1'^{r,s}\to {\bf E}_1'^{r+1,s}$ is induced by the morphism of complexes

(14.7.6)
$$\partial_1^{r,\bullet}: C^{r,\bullet}_{\mathscr{U}}(\mathscr{M}) \to C^{r+1,\bullet}_{\mathscr{U}}(\mathscr{M}).$$

In view of 14.5 and 14.6, the morphism $d_1'^{r,s}$ coincides with $d_1^{r,s}$ (14.7.3). Then the assertion for \mathcal{M} follows.

Using 14.4(ii) and 14.5, one verifies the assertion for \mathcal{M}^i in the same way.

14.8. – We consider the injective $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}/\mathscr{S}_n}$ -linear morphism

(14.8.1)
$$g: \bigoplus_{i=1}^{p-1} \mathscr{M}^i \to \bigoplus_{i=0}^{p-1} \mathscr{M}^i$$

defined for every local section m of \mathscr{M}^i by g(m) = (m, -pm) in $\mathscr{M}^{i-1} \oplus \mathscr{M}^i$. We set $\Lambda_{\mathscr{M}} = \operatorname{Coker}(g)$. For any $r, s \in \mathbb{Z}$, the morphism g induces an injective morphism (14.8.2)

$$\bigoplus_{i=1}^{p-1} \bigoplus_{J \in I^{r+1}} \Gamma(U^J, \mathscr{M}_{P_J}^{i-s} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{U_J}} \Omega^s_{U_J/\mathscr{S}_n}) \to \bigoplus_{i=0}^{p-1} \bigoplus_{J \in I^{r+1}} \Gamma(U^J, \mathscr{M}_{P_J}^{i-s} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{U_J}} \Omega^s_{U_J/\mathscr{S}_n})$$

compatible with the differential morphisms and hence an injective morphism of bicomplexes:

(14.8.3)
$$g_C : \bigoplus_{i=1}^{p-1} \mathrm{F}^i \big(C^{\bullet, \bullet}_{\mathscr{U}}(\mathscr{M}) \big) \to \bigoplus_{i=0}^{p-1} \mathrm{F}^i \big(C^{\bullet, \bullet}_{\mathscr{U}}(\mathscr{M}) \big).$$

We denote its quotient by $C_{\mathscr{U}}^{\bullet,\bullet}(\Lambda_{\mathscr{M}})$. By 14.7, the crystalline cohomology groups of $\Lambda_{\mathscr{M}}$ are canonically isomorphic to cohomology groups of $\operatorname{Tot}(C_{\mathscr{U}}^{\bullet,\bullet}(\Lambda_{\mathscr{M}}))$.

14.9. – Let \mathfrak{X} be a smooth and separated formal \mathscr{S} -scheme. In the following, we will use 14.7 to construct a Fontaine module structure on the crystalline cohomology of an object of $\mathbf{MF}(\mathfrak{X})$ (13.7). For this purpose, we first show how to associate an object of $\mathbf{MF}_{big}(\mathfrak{X})$ to a Fontaine module with respect to a family of Frobenius liftings (13.15).

Suppose that there exist m + 1 liftings F_1, \ldots, F_{m+1} of the relative Frobenius morphism $F_{X/k}$ of X. We set $\pi : \mathfrak{X}' \to \mathfrak{X}$ the canonical morphism, $F_{\mathfrak{X}^{m+1}} = \pi^{m+1} \circ (F_1, \ldots, F_{m+1}) : \mathfrak{X}^{m+1} \to \mathfrak{X}^{m+1}$ and $\Delta : \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}^{m+1}$ the diagonal closed immersion.

For $1 \leq i \leq m+1$, the projection $q_i : \mathfrak{X}^{m+1} \to \mathfrak{X}$ on the *i*-th component induces a functor (13.27.1)

$$q_i^* : \mathbf{MF}_{\mathrm{big}}(\mathfrak{X}; F_{i,\mathfrak{X}}) \to \mathbf{MF}_{\mathrm{big}}(\mathfrak{X}; \Delta, F_{\mathfrak{X}^{m+1}}).$$

By composing with the functor λ_{F_i} (13.19.4), we obtain a functor

(14.9.1)
$$q_i^* \circ \lambda_{F_i} : \mathbf{MF}_{\mathrm{big}}(\mathfrak{X}) \to \mathbf{MF}_{\mathrm{big}}(\mathfrak{X}; \Delta, F_{\mathfrak{X}^{m+1}}).$$

We denote by $P_{\mathfrak{X}}(m)$ the PD-envelope of the diagonal immersion Δ compatible with γ (5.7) and by $F_{P_{\mathfrak{X}}(m)} : P_{\mathfrak{X}}(m) \to P_{\mathfrak{X}}(m)$ the lifting of Frobenius morphism induced by $F_{\mathfrak{X}^{m+1}} : \mathfrak{X}^{m+1} \to \mathfrak{X}^{m+1}$. We denote abusively the composition $P_{\mathfrak{X}}(m) \to \mathfrak{X}^{m+1} \xrightarrow{q_i} \mathfrak{X}$ by q_i .

PROPOSITION 14.10. – Let n be an integer ≥ 1 , $\mathfrak{M} = (M, \nabla, M^{\bullet}, \varphi)$ a p^{n} -torsion Fontaine module over \mathfrak{X} , \mathscr{M} the crystal of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}/\mathscr{S}_{n}}$ -modules associated to (M, ∇) and $\{\mathscr{M}^{i}\}$ the filtration on \mathscr{M} associated to $\{M^{i}\}$ (13.12). Then there exists a functor

(14.10.1)
$$\mathbf{MF}_{\mathrm{big}}(\mathfrak{X}) \to \mathbf{MF}_{\mathrm{big}}(\mathfrak{X}; \Delta, F_{\mathfrak{X}^{m+1}})$$
$$(M, \nabla, M^{\bullet}, \varphi) \mapsto (\mathscr{M}_{P_{\mathfrak{X}}(m)}, \nabla_{P_{\mathfrak{X}}(m)}, \mathscr{M}_{P_{\mathfrak{X}}(m)}^{\bullet}, \varphi_{P_{\mathfrak{X}}(m)}^{\bullet}),$$

which is isomorphic to the functor $q_i^* \circ \lambda_{F_i}$ (14.9.1) via the transition morphism

(14.10.2)
$$c_{q_i}: q_i^*(M) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{M}_{P_{\mathfrak{X}}(m)}$$

Proof. – It suffices to show that the divided Frobenius morphisms $\varphi_{\mathfrak{M}_i}^{\bullet}$ constructed by $q_i^* \circ \lambda_{F_i}$ (14.9.1) are compatible via q_i (14.10.2). We can reduce to the case m = 1. In this case, the proposition follows from 13.30.

14.11. – In the rest of this section, we suppose that \mathfrak{X} is a smooth proper formal \mathscr{S} -scheme of relative dimension d. Let n an integer ≥ 1 , $(M, \nabla, M^{\bullet}, \varphi)$ a p^{n} -torsion object of $\mathbf{MF}(\mathfrak{X})$ of length $\ell < p$ (i.e., $M^{\ell} \neq 0$, $M^{\ell+1} = 0$) and $(\mathscr{M}, \mathscr{M}^{\bullet})$ the associated T-crystal (13.24). We write simply $\mathrm{H}^{\bullet}_{\mathrm{crys}}(-)$ for the crystalline cohomology groups $\mathrm{H}^{\bullet}((\mathfrak{X}_{n}/\mathscr{S}_{n})_{\mathrm{crys}}, -)$.

LEMMA 14.12. – Keep the notation of 14.8 and of 14.11. The morphism φ induces W-linear morphisms of bicomplexes

(14.12.1)
$$\phi_C^i: \mathbf{F}^i\left(C^{\bullet,\bullet}_{\mathscr{U}}(\mathscr{M})\right) \otimes_{\sigma,\mathbf{W}} \mathbf{W} \to C^{\bullet,\bullet}_{\mathscr{U}}(\mathscr{M}), \quad \forall \ 0 \leqslant i \leqslant p-1,$$

(14.12.2) $\psi_C : C^{\bullet,\bullet}_{\mathscr{U}}(\Lambda_{\mathscr{M}}) \otimes_{\sigma,\mathrm{W}} \mathrm{W} \to C^{\bullet,\bullet}_{\mathscr{W}}(\mathscr{M}),$

which are functorial in $(M, \nabla, M^{\bullet}, \varphi) \in \mathbf{MF}(\mathfrak{X})$. In particular, we obtain for $m \ge 0$, W-linear morphisms

(14.12.3)
$$\phi_{\mathrm{H}}^{m,i}: \mathrm{H}^{m}_{\mathrm{crvs}}(\mathscr{M}^{i}) \otimes_{\sigma,\mathrm{W}} \mathrm{W} \to \mathrm{H}^{m}_{\mathrm{crvs}}(\mathscr{M}), \quad \forall \ 0 \leq i \leq p-1,$$

 $(14.12.4) \qquad \qquad \psi_{\mathrm{H}}^{m} : \mathrm{H}^{m}_{\mathrm{crys}}(\Lambda_{\mathscr{M}}) \otimes_{\sigma,\mathrm{W}} \mathrm{W} \to \mathrm{H}^{m}_{\mathrm{crys}}(\mathscr{M}),$ $(14.12.4) \qquad \qquad \psi^{m} : \mathrm{H}^{m}_{\mathrm{crys}}(\Lambda_{\mathscr{M}}) \otimes_{\sigma,\mathrm{W}} \mathrm{W} \to \mathrm{H}^{m}_{\mathrm{crys}}(\mathscr{M}).$

Proof. – We take a Zariski covering $\mathscr{U} = {\mathfrak{U}_i}_{i\in I}$ of \mathfrak{X} consisting of affine formal schemes and for each $i \in I$ a lifting $F_i : \mathfrak{U}_i \to \mathfrak{U}'_i$ of the relative Frobenius morphism of $\mathfrak{U}_{i,1}$. For any integer $r \ge 0$ and $J = (j_0, \ldots, j_r) \in I^{r+1}$, we denote by \mathfrak{U}^J the intersection $\bigcap_{i=0}^r \mathfrak{U}_{j_i}$, by \mathfrak{U}_J the product of (r+1)-copies of \mathfrak{U}^J and by P_J the PD-envelope of the diagonal closed immersion $\mathfrak{U}^J \to \mathfrak{U}_J$. Note that P_J is equal to the PD-envelope of the immersion of \mathfrak{U}^J in the product of ${\mathfrak{U}_{j_i}}_{i=0}^r$ over \mathscr{S} . We denote by $F_{\mathfrak{U}_J} : \mathfrak{U}_J \to \mathfrak{U}_J$ the morphism induced by ${F_{j_i}}_{i=0}^n$ and by $F_{P_J} : P_J \to P_J$ the lifting of the Frobenius morphism induced by $F_{\mathfrak{U}_J}$. By 14.10, we associate to $(M, \nabla, M^{\bullet}, \varphi)$ a family of divided Frobenius morphisms with respect to $(\mathfrak{U}^J \to \mathfrak{U}_J, F_{\mathfrak{U}_J})$:

(14.12.5)
$$\varphi_{P_J}^i : \mathscr{M}_{P_J}^i \to \mathscr{M}_{P_J} \qquad \forall \ i \leq p-1$$

For any $r, s \ge 0$, in view of (13.15.2) and (13.28.2), the W-linear morphism

$$\bigoplus_{J \in I^{r+1}} \varphi_{P_J}^{i-s} \otimes \wedge^s \left(\frac{dF_{U_J}}{p} \right) : \bigoplus_{J \in I^{r+1}} \Gamma(\mathfrak{U}^J, \mathscr{M}_{P_J}^{i-s} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{U}_{J,n}}} \Omega^s_{\mathfrak{U}_{J,n}/\mathscr{S}_n}) \otimes_{\sigma, W} W \\ \to \bigoplus_{J \in I^{r+1}} \Gamma(\mathfrak{U}^J, \mathscr{M}_{P_J} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{U}_{J,n}}} \Omega^s_{\mathfrak{U}_{J,n}/\mathscr{S}_n})$$

is compatible with differential morphisms $\partial_1^{\bullet,\bullet}, \partial_2^{\bullet,\bullet}$ of $F^i(C^{\bullet,\bullet}_{\mathscr{U}}(\mathscr{M})), C^{\bullet,\bullet}_{\mathscr{U}}(\mathscr{M})$ respectively (14.6). Then we obtain a W-linear morphism of bicomplexes

(14.12.6)
$$\phi_C^i: \mathbf{F}^i \left(C^{\bullet, \bullet}_{\mathscr{U}}(\mathscr{M}) \right) \otimes_{\sigma, \mathbf{W}} \mathbf{W} \to C^{\bullet, \bullet}_{\mathscr{U}}(\mathscr{M}).$$

By condition (i-a) of 13.15, we see that the composition (14.8.3) (14.12.7)

$$\bigoplus_{i=1}^{p-1} \mathrm{F}^{i} \left(C_{\mathscr{U}}^{\bullet,\bullet}(\mathscr{M}) \right) \otimes_{\sigma,\mathrm{W}} \mathrm{W} \xrightarrow{g_{C}} \bigoplus_{i=0}^{p-1} \mathrm{F}^{i} \left(C_{\mathscr{U}}^{\bullet,\bullet}(\mathscr{M}) \right) \otimes_{\sigma,\mathrm{W}} \mathrm{W} \xrightarrow{\oplus \phi_{C}^{\bullet}} C_{\mathscr{U}}^{\bullet,\bullet}(\mathscr{M})$$

vanishes. Then we obtain a W-linear morphism of bicomplexes

(14.12.8) $\psi_C: C^{\bullet,\bullet}_{\mathscr{U}}(\Lambda_{\mathscr{M}}) \otimes_{\sigma, W} W \to C^{\bullet,\bullet}_{\mathscr{U}}(\mathscr{M}).$

It is clear that the above constructions are functorial.

By 14.7 and 14.8, we obtain morphisms of cohomology groups (14.12.3) and (14.12.4). $\hfill \Box$

PROPOSITION 14.13. – If pM = 0 and $\min\{m, d-1\} + \ell \leq p-2$, the morphism ψ^m (14.12.4) is an isomorphism.

Proof. – We use $H_{I}^{r,s}(-)$ to denote the vertical cohomology of a bicomplex. Recall (14.7.5) that we have two spectral sequences:

(14.13.1)
$$\mathbf{E}_{1}^{\prime r,s} = \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{I}}^{r,s}(C_{\mathscr{U}}^{\bullet,\bullet}(\Lambda_{\mathscr{M}})) \Rightarrow \mathbf{H}^{r+s}(\mathrm{Tot}(C_{\mathscr{U}}^{\bullet,\bullet}(\Lambda_{\mathscr{M}})))$$

(14.13.2)
$$\mathbf{E}_{1}^{r,s} = \mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{I}}^{r,s}(C_{\mathscr{U}}^{\bullet,\bullet}(\mathscr{M})) \Rightarrow \mathbf{H}^{r+s}(\mathrm{Tot}(C_{\mathscr{U}}^{\bullet,\bullet}(\mathscr{M}))).$$

The morphism of bicomplexes ψ_C induces a k-linear morphism of spectral sequences $\mathbf{E}' \otimes_{\sigma,k} k \to \mathbf{E}$. Then it is enough to prove that for every $r \ge 0$ and s satisfying $\min\{s, d-1\} + \ell \le p-2$, the induced morphism

(14.13.3)
$$\mathrm{H}_{\mathrm{I}}^{r,s}(C^{\bullet,\bullet}_{\mathscr{U}}(\Lambda_{\mathscr{M}})) \otimes_{\sigma,k} k \to \mathrm{H}_{\mathrm{I}}^{r,s}(C^{\bullet,\bullet}_{\mathscr{U}}(\mathscr{M}))$$

is an isomorphism. Since \mathscr{M} is *p*-torsion, we have $\Lambda_{\mathscr{M}} = \bigoplus_{i=0}^{p-2} \operatorname{gr}^{i}(\mathscr{M}) \oplus \mathscr{M}^{p-1}$. For any $s \ge 0$, we set $\Lambda_{\mathscr{M}}^{-s} = \bigoplus_{i=0}^{p-2} \operatorname{gr}^{i-s}(\mathscr{M}) \oplus \mathscr{M}^{p-1-s}$. Since \mathfrak{U}^{J} is affine, $C_{\mathscr{U}}^{r,s}(\Lambda_{\mathscr{M}})$ can be written as a direct sum

$$\bigoplus_{J\in I^{r+1}} \Gamma(\mathfrak{U}^J, \Lambda^{-s}_{\mathscr{M}, P_J} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{U}_{J,1}}} \Omega^s_{\mathfrak{U}_{J,1}/k}).$$

Recall (14.12.6) that the divided Frobenius morphisms $\varphi_{P_J}^i : \mathcal{M}_{P_J}^i \to \mathcal{M}_{P_J}$ and the semi-linear morphism $\wedge^s(\frac{dF_{\mathfrak{U}}}{p}) : \Omega^s_{\mathfrak{U}_{J,1}/k} \to \Omega^s_{\mathfrak{U}_{J,1}/k}$ induce a k-linear morphism

$$\psi_{J,C}^{r,s}: \Gamma(\mathfrak{U}^J, \Lambda_{\mathscr{M},P_J}^{-s} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{U}_{J,1}}} \Omega^s_{\mathfrak{U}_{J,1}/k}) \otimes_{\sigma,k} k \to \Gamma(\mathfrak{U}^J, \mathscr{M}_{P_J} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{U}_{J,1}}} \Omega^s_{\mathfrak{U}_{J,1}/k})$$

and that the morphism $\psi_C^{r,s}$ (14.12.2) is defined by a direct sum of morphisms $\bigoplus_{J \in I^{r+1}} \psi_{J,C}^{r,s}$.

Then the assertion follows from the following lemma.

LEMMA 14.14. – For any $r \ge 0$, $J \in I^{r+1}$, the morphism of complexes

 $(14.14.1) \quad \psi_{J,C}^{r,\bullet}: \Gamma(\mathfrak{U}^J, \Lambda_{\mathscr{M},P_J}^{-\bullet} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{U}_{J,1}}} \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathfrak{U}_{J,1}/k}) \otimes_{\sigma,k} k \to \Gamma(\mathfrak{U}^J, \mathscr{M}_{P_J} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{U}_{J,1}}} \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathfrak{U}_{J,1}/k})$

induces an isomorphism on the m-th cohomology group for any integer m satisfying $\min\{m, d-1\} + \ell \leq p-2$.

Proof. – In view of (13.28.2) and (14.5), we can reduce to the case where $r = 0, J \in I$. To simplify the notation, we write \mathfrak{U} for \mathfrak{U}_J, F for the lifting of Frobenius $F_J : \mathfrak{U} \to \mathfrak{U}', U$ the special fiber of \mathfrak{U} and M (resp. M^i) for $\mathscr{M}_{\mathfrak{U}} = M|U$ (resp. $\mathscr{M}^i_{\mathfrak{U}} = M^i|U$).

We set $gr(M) = \bigoplus_{i=0}^{\ell} M^i / M^{i+1}$. By Griffiths' transversality, ∇ induces a Higgs field on gr(M):

$$\theta : \operatorname{gr}(M) \to \operatorname{gr}(M) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_X} \Omega^1_{X/k}.$$

The source of (14.14.1) can be written as

(14.14.2)
$$\Gamma(U, (\bigoplus_{i=0}^{p-2-s} \operatorname{gr}^i(M) \oplus M^{p-1-s}) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_U} \Omega^s_{U/k}) \otimes_{\sigma,k} k,$$

which is equal to

(14.14.3)
$$\Gamma(U, \operatorname{gr}(M) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_U} \Omega^s_{U/k}) \otimes_{\sigma, k} k \quad \text{if } s \leq p - 1 - \ell.$$

The differential morphism of the source is induced by θ for $s \leq p - 1 - \ell$.

Since pM = 0, we have $(\widetilde{M}, \widetilde{\nabla}) = (\operatorname{gr}(M), \theta)$ (13.8). The isomorphism φ and the lifting F induce an isomorphism of $\operatorname{MIC}(\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{S}_n)$ (13.19.2)

(14.14.4)
$$\varphi_F: \Phi_1((\operatorname{gr}(M), \theta) \otimes_{\sigma, k} k) \xrightarrow{\sim} (M, \nabla).$$

Recall (13.20) that φ_F induces a family of divided Frobenius morphisms φ_F^{\bullet} . The morphism $\psi_{J,C}^{r,\bullet}$ (14.14.1), which is induced by φ_F^{\bullet} , coincides with the composition of morphism of complexes (6.5.1) induced by Φ_1 and the isomorphism of de Rham complexes induced by φ_F

(14.14.5)
$$(\operatorname{gr}(M) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_U} \Omega^{\bullet}_{U/k}) \otimes_{\sigma,k} k \to M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_U} \Omega^{\bullet}_{U/k}$$

in degrees $\leq p - 1 - \ell$. Then the lemma follows from 6.5.

REMARK 14.15. – Suppose that pM = 0. Let $\operatorname{gr}(M) = \bigoplus_{i=0}^{\ell} M^i / M^{i+1}$ and θ the Higgs field on $\operatorname{gr}(M)$ induced by ∇ and Griffiths' transversality. By 14.4 and a similar argument of 14.14, we deduce for $m \leq p - 2 - \ell$, an isomorphism

(14.15.1)
$$\operatorname{H}^{m}_{\operatorname{crys}}(\Lambda_{\mathscr{M}}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{H}^{m}(\operatorname{gr}(M) \otimes \Omega^{\bullet}_{X/k}).$$

PROPOSITION 14.16. – (i) If $d \leq p-1-\ell$, the morphism ψ^m (14.12.4) is an isomorphism for all m.

(ii) If $d > p-1-\ell$, the morphism ψ^m (14.12.4) is an isomorphism for $m+\ell \leq p-3$, and is a monomorphism for $m+\ell = p-2$.

Proof. – We prove it by induction on *n*. In the case n = 1, i.e., M is *p*-torsion, it follows from 14.13. Suppose that the proposition is true for n - 1. By 13.24, the quadruple $(pM, \nabla|_{pM}, pM^{\bullet}, \varphi|_{p \in \mathfrak{C}^{\ast}(\widetilde{\mathcal{M}'})})$ is a subobject of $(M, \nabla, M^{\bullet}, \varphi)$ in $\mathbf{MF}(\mathfrak{X})$ and we denote its quotient by $(\overline{M}, \overline{\nabla}, \overline{M}^{\bullet}, \overline{\varphi})$. If $\overline{\mathscr{M}}$ and $\overline{\mathscr{M}}^{\bullet}$ denote the crystal of $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_n/\mathscr{P}_n}$ -modules and the filtration associated to $(\overline{M}, \overline{\nabla}, \overline{M}^{\bullet})$ (13.12), we have an exact sequence:

(14.16.1)
$$0 \to p\mathcal{M}^i \to \mathcal{M}^i \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}^i \to 0 \qquad \forall \ i \leq p-1.$$

By the snake lemma, we have a commutative diagram:



Since ψ_m is functorial in $MF(\mathfrak{X})$, the assertion follows by dévissage from the induction hypothesis.

PROPOSITION 14.17. (i) Let m be an integer such that $\min\{m, d-1\} \leq p-2-\ell$, the exact sequence (14.8)

$$0 \to \bigoplus_{i=1}^{p-1} \mathscr{M}^i \xrightarrow{g} \bigoplus_{i=0}^{p-1} \mathscr{M}^i \to \Lambda_{\mathscr{M}} \to 0$$

induces an exact sequence of cohomology groups

(14.17.1)
$$0 \to \bigoplus_{i=1}^{p-1} \operatorname{H}^{m}_{\operatorname{crys}}(\mathscr{M}^{i}) \to \bigoplus_{i=0}^{p-1} \operatorname{H}^{m}_{\operatorname{crys}}(\mathscr{M}^{i}) \to \operatorname{H}^{m}_{\operatorname{crys}}(\Lambda_{\mathscr{M}}) \to 0.$$

(ii) If $m + \ell = p - 2$, morphism ψ^{m} (14.12.4) is an isomorphism.

Proof. – We prove the proposition by induction on m. The case m = -1 is trivial. Suppose that the assertion is true for m-1 and we will prove it for m. By hypothesis of induction, we have an exact sequence (which automatically exists for m = 0)

(14.17.2)
$$0 \to \bigoplus_{i=1}^{p-1} \mathrm{H}^{m}_{\mathrm{crys}}(\mathscr{M}^{i}) \to \bigoplus_{i=0}^{p-1} \mathrm{H}^{m}_{\mathrm{crys}}(\mathscr{M}^{i}) \to \mathrm{H}^{m}_{\mathrm{crys}}(\Lambda_{\mathscr{M}}).$$

Since $\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{M}^i$ are coherent, by 14.4, we see that the cohomology groups in the above sequence are finite type W_n -modules. By 14.16, we have the following inequalities on the length of W_n -modules

$$\begin{aligned} (14.17.3) \qquad & \lg_{\mathbf{W}_n} \mathbf{H}^m_{\mathrm{crys}}(\Lambda_{\mathscr{M}}) \leqslant \lg_{\mathbf{W}_n} \mathbf{H}^m_{\mathrm{crys}}(\mathscr{M}) \\ &= \sum_{i=0}^{p-1} \lg_{\mathbf{W}_n} \mathbf{H}^m_{\mathrm{crys}}(\mathscr{M}^i) - \sum_{i=1}^{p-1} \lg_{\mathbf{W}_n} \mathbf{H}^m_{\mathrm{crys}}(\mathscr{M}^i). \end{aligned}$$

Then we deduce the surjectivity of the last arrow of (14.17.2), and that the above inequality is an equality. The assertion (i) follows. The assertion (ii) follows from 14.16 and the equality (14.17.3).

14.18. - Proof of 14.1. Assertion (i) follows from 14.4 and 14.17.

We take for $\phi_{\rm H}^{m,i}$ the morphism (14.12.3). Then assertion (ii) follows from (i), 14.16 and 14.17.

Note that the complex $F^i = 0$ if $i > d+\ell$. For any r, s satisfying $\min\{r+s, d-1\} + \ell \leq p-2$, we deduce from (i) that

(14.18.1)
$$\mathbb{H}^{r+s}(\mathrm{gr}_{\mathrm{F}}^{r}(M \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}}} \Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathfrak{X}_{n}/\mathscr{S}_{n}})) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{H}^{r+s}(\mathrm{F}^{r})/\mathbb{H}^{r+s}(\mathrm{F}^{r+1}).$$

Then assertion (iii) follows by comparing the W_n -length of $E_1^{r,s}$ and of E^{r+s} .

REMARK 14.19. – Using the comparison isomorphism between the de Rham and the Dolbeault complexes (10.21), Ogus and Vologodsky proved 14.1 for *p*-torsion Fontaine modules (13.8) ([**31**] 4.17). More precisely, let $(M, \nabla, M^{\bullet}, \varphi)$ be a *p*-torsion object of **MF**(\mathfrak{X}) of length ℓ and θ the Higgs field on gr(M) induced by ∇ and Griffiths' transversality. By 10.21, the isomorphism (10.21.1) induces via (13.8.1)

$$\varphi: \mathbf{C}_{\mathfrak{X}'_{2}}^{-1}(\pi^{*}(\mathrm{Gr}(M), \theta)) \xrightarrow{\sim} (M, \nabla),$$

for $m \leq p - 1 - \ell$, an isomorphism:

(14.19.1)
$$\mathbb{H}^{m}(\mathrm{gr}(M) \otimes \Omega^{\bullet}_{X/k}) \otimes_{\sigma,k} k \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{H}^{m}(M \otimes \Omega^{\bullet}_{X/k}).$$

By (14.15.1), we obtain for $m \leq p - 2 - \ell$, an isomorphism

(14.19.2)
$$\mathrm{H}^{m}_{\mathrm{crys}}(\Lambda_{\mathscr{M}}) \otimes_{\sigma,k} k \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathrm{H}^{m}_{\mathrm{crys}}(\mathscr{M}).$$

The above isomorphism is an analog of the isomorphism ψ^m (14.12.4), 14.13 and allows us to deduce 14.1 for *p*-torsion objects. We don't know whether these two isomorphisms coincide or not.

Theorem 14.1 provides a generalization of Ogus-Vologodsky's Result (10.21) for p^n -torsion Fontaine modules. However, we don't know how to generalize 10.21 for the Cartier equivalence modulo p^n .

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- A. ABBES Éléments de géométrie rigide. Volume I, Progress in Math., vol. 286, Birkhäuser, 2010.
- [2] A. ABBES, M. GROS & T. TSUJI The p-adic Simpson correspondence, Annals of Math. Studies, vol. 193, Princeton Univ. Press, 2016.
- [3] M. ARTIN, A. GROTHENDIECK & J.-L. VERDIER (eds.) Théorie des topos et cohomologie étale des schémas, (SGA 4), Tome 1, Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 269, Springer, 1972; Tome 2, Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 270, Springer, 1972; Tome 3, Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 305, Springer, 1973.
- [4] P. BERTHELOT Cohomologie cristalline des schémas de caractéristique p > 0, Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 407, Springer, 1974.
- [5] P. BERTHELOT & A. OGUS Notes on crystalline cohomology, Princeton Univ. Press, N.J.; University of Tokyo Press, Tokyo, 1978.
- [6] R. BEZRUKAVNIKOV, I. MIRKOVIĆ & D. RUMYNIN "Localization of modules for a semisimple Lie algebra in prime characteristic", Ann. of Math. 167 (2008), p. 945–991.
- [7] N. BOURBAKI Algèbre commutative, chapitres 1–9, Hermann, 1985.
- [8] C. BREUIL & W. MESSING "Torsion étale and crystalline cohomologies", Astérisque 279 (2002), p. 81–124.
- [9] P. DELIGNE "Théorie de Hodge. II", Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. 40 (1971), p. 5–57.
- [10] _____, "Théorie de Hodge. III", Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. 44 (1974), p. 5–77.
- [11] P. DELIGNE & L. ILLUSIE "Relèvements modulo p^2 et décomposition du complexe de de Rham", *Invent. math.* 89 (1987), p. 247–270.
- [12] M. DEMAZURE & A. GROTHENDIECK (eds.) Schémas en groupes. I: Propriétés générales des schémas en groupes, vol. 151, Springer, 1970, Séminaire de Géométrie Algébrique du Bois-Marie 1962–1964 (SGA 3).

- [13] G. FALTINGS "Crystalline cohomology and p-adic Galois-representations", in Algebraic analysis, geometry, and number theory (Baltimore, MD, 1988), Johns Hopkins Univ. Press, Baltimore, MD, 1989, p. 25–80.
- [14] _____, "A p-adic Simpson correspondence", Adv. Math. 198 (2005), p. 847–862.
- [15] J.-M. FONTAINE & G. LAFFAILLE "Construction de représentations p-adiques", Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. 15 (1982), p. 547–608.
- [16] J.-M. FONTAINE & W. MESSING "p-adic periods and p-adic étale cohomology", in *Current trends in arithmetical algebraic geometry (Arcata, Calif., 1985)*, Contemp. Math., vol. 67, Amer. Math. Soc., 1987, p. 179–207.
- [17] J. GIRAUD Cohomologie non abélienne, Grundl. math. Wiss., vol. 179, Springer, 1971.
- [18] A. GROTHENDIECK "Éléments de géométrie algébrique. II. Étude globale élémentaire de quelques classes de morphismes", Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. 8 (1961).
- [19] _____, "Éléments de géométrie algébrique. III. Étude cohomologique des faisceaux cohérents. I", Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. 11 (1961).
- [20] _____, "Éléments de géométrie algébrique. IV. Étude locale des schémas et des morphismes de schémas. IV", *Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math.* **32** (1967).
- [21] _____, Revêtements étales et groupe fondamental, (SGA 1), Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 224, Springer, 1971.
- [22] A. GROTHENDIECK & J. A. DIEUDONNÉ Eléments de géométrie algébrique. I, Grundl. math. Wiss., vol. 166, Springer, 1971.
- [23] L. ILLUSIE Complexe cotangent et déformations. I, Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 239, Springer, 1971.
- [24] _____, "Frobenius et dégénérescence de Hodge", in Introduction à la théorie de Hodge, Panor. Synthèses, vol. 3, Soc. Math. France, 1996, p. 113–168.
- [25] N. M. KATZ "Nilpotent connections and the monodromy theorem: Applications of a result of Turrittin", Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. 39 (1970), p. 175– 232.
- [26] G. LAN, M. SHENG & K. ZUO "Semistable Higgs bundles, periodic Higgs bundles and representations of algebraic fundamental groups", to appear in J. Europ. Math. Soc. doi:10.4171/JEMS/897.
- [27] B. MAZUR "Frobenius and the Hodge filtration", Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 78 (1972), p. 653–667.

- [28] _____, "Frobenius and the Hodge filtration (estimates)", Ann. of Math. 98 (1973), p. 58–95.
- [29] A. OGUS "F-crystals, Griffiths transversality, and the Hodge decomposition", Astérisque 221 (1994), p. 183.
- [30] _____, "Higgs cohomology, p-curvature, and the Cartier isomorphism", Compos. Math. 140 (2004), p. 145–164.
- [31] A. OGUS & V. VOLOGODSKY "Nonabelian Hodge theory in characteristic p", Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. 106 (2007), p. 1–138.
- [32] H. OYAMA "PD Higgs crystals and Higgs cohomology in characteristics p", J. Algebraic Geom. 26 (2017), p. 735–802.
- [33] A. SHIHO "Notes on generalizations of local Ogus-Vologodsky correspondence", J. Math. Sci. Univ. Tokyo 22 (2015), p. 793–875.
- [34] C. T. SIMPSON "Higgs bundles and local systems", Inst. Hautes Etudes Sci. Publ. Math. 75 (1992), p. 5–95.
- [35] T. TSUJI "Syntomic complexes and p-adic vanishing cycles", J. reine angew. Math. 472 (1996), p. 69–138.
- [36] N. WACH "Représentations cristallines de torsion", Compos. math. 108 (1997), p. 185–240.
- [37] C. A. WEIBEL An introduction to homological algebra, Cambridge Studies in Advanced Math., vol. 38, Cambridge Univ. Press, 1994.

Série MÉMOIRES DE LA S.M.F.

2019

- 162. J.-H. CHIENG, C.-Y. HSIAO & I-H. TSAI Heat kernel asymptotics, local index theorem and trace integrals for Cauchy-Riemann manifolds with S^1 action
- 161. F. JAUBERTEAU, Y. ROLLIN & S. TAPIE Discrete geometry and isotropic surfaces
- 160. P. VIDOTTO Ergodic properties of some negatively curved manifolds with infinite measure

2018

- 159. L. POSITSELSKI Weakly curved A_{∞} -algebras over a topological local ring
- 158. T. LUPU Poisson ensembles of loops of one-dimensional diffusions
- 157. M. SPITZWECK A commutative \mathbb{P}^1 -spectrum representing motivic cohomology over Dedekind domains
- 156. C. SABBAH Irregular Hodge Theory

2017

- 155. Y. DING Formes modulaires *p*-adiques sur les courbes de Shimura unitaires et compatibilité local-global
- 154. G. MASSUYEAU, V. TURAEV Brackets in the Pontryagin algebras of manifolds
- 153. M.P. GUALDANI, S. MISCHLER, C. MOUHOT Factorization of non-symmetric operators and exponential H-theorem
- 152. M. MACULAN Diophantine applications of geometric invariant theory
- 151. T. SCHOENEBERG Semisimple Lie algebras and their classification over p-adic fields
- 150. P.G. LEFLOCH , Y. MA The mathematical validity of the f(R) theory of modified gravity

2016

- 149. R. BEUZART-PLESSIS La conjecture locale de Gross-Prasad pour les représentations tempérées des groupes unitaires
- 148. M. MOKHTAR-KHARROUBI Compactness properties of perturbed sub-stochastic C_0 -semigroups on $L^1(\mu)$ with applications to discreteness and spectral gaps
- 147. Y. CHITOUR, P. KOKKONEN Rolling of manifolds and controllability in dimension three
- 146. N. KARALIOLIOS Global aspects of the reducibility of quasiperiodic cocycles in compact Lie groups
- 145. V. BONNAILLIE-NOËL, M. DAUGE, N. POPOFF Ground state energy of the magnetic Laplacian on corner domains
- 144. P. AUSCHER, S. STAHLHUT Functional calculus for first order systems of Dirac type and boundary value problems

2015

- 143. R. DANCHIN, P.B. MUCHA Critical functional framework and maximal regularity in action on systems of incompressible flows
- 142. J. AYOUB Motifs des variétés analytiques rigides
- 140/141. Y. LU, B. TEXIER A stability criterion for high-frequency oscillations

2014

- 138/139. T. MOCHIZUKI Holonomic D-modules with Betti structures
 - 137. P. SEIDEL Abstract analogues of flux as symplectic invariants
 - 136. J. SJÖSTRAND Weyl law for semi-classical resonances with randomly perturbed potentials

2013

- 135. L. PRELLI Microlocalization of subanalytic sheaves
- 134. P. BERGER Persistence of stratification of normally expanded laminations
- 133. L. DESIDERI Problème de Plateau, équations fuchsiennes et problème de Riemann Hilbert
- 132. X. BRESSAUD, N. FOURNIER One-dimensional general forest fire processes

- 130/131. Y. NAKKAJIMA Weight filtration and slope filtration on the rigid cohomology of a variety in characteristic p > 0
 - 129. W. A STEINMETZ-ZIKESCH Algèbres de Lie de dimension infinie et théorie de la descente
 - 128. D. DOLGOPYAT Repulsion from resonances

2011

127. B. LE STUM - The overconvergent site

- 125/126. J. BERTIN, M. ROMAGNY Champs de Hurwitz
 - 124. G. HENNIART, B. LEMAIRE Changement de base et induction automorphe pour GL_n en caractéristique non nulle

2010

- 123. C.-H. HSIAO Projections in several complex variables
- 122. H. DE THÉLIN, G. VIGNY Entropy of meromorphic maps and dynamics of birational maps
- 121. M. REES A Fundamental Domain for V_3
- 120. H. CHEN Convergence des polygones de Harder-Narasimhan

2009

- 119. B. DEMANGE Uncertainty principles associated to non-degenerate quadratic forms
- 118. A. SIEGEL, J. M. THUSWALDNER Topological properties of Rauzy fractals
- 117. D. HÄFNER Creation of fermions by rotating charged black holes
- 116. P. BOYER Faisceaux pervers des cycles évanescents des variétés de Drinfeld et groupes de cohomologie du modèle de Deligne-Carayol

2008

- 115. R. ZHAO, K. ZHU Theory of Bergman Spaces in the Unit Ball of \mathbb{C}^n
- 114. M. ENOCK Measured quantum groupoids in action
- 113. J. FASEL Groupes de Chow orientés
- 112. O. BRINON Représentations p-adiques cristallines et de de Rham dans le cas relatif

2007

- 111. A. DJAMENT Foncteurs en grassmanniennes, filtration de Krull et cohomologie des foncteurs
- 110. S. SZABÓ Nahm transform for integrable connections on the Riemann sphere
- 109. F. LESIEUR Measured quantum groupoids
- 108. J. GASQUI, H. GOLDSCHMIDT Infinitesimal isospectral deformations of the Grassmannian of 3-planes in \mathbb{R}^6

2006

- 107. I. GALLAGHER, L. SAINT-RAYMOND Mathematical study of the betaplane model : Equatorial waves and convergence results
- 106. N. BERGERON Propriétés de Lefschetz automorphes pour les groupes unitaires et orthogonaux
- 105. B. HELFFER, F. NIER Quantitative analysis of metastability in reversible diffusion processes via a Witten complex approach: the case with boundary
- A. FEDOTOV, F. KLOPP Weakly resonant tunneling interactions for adiabatic quasi-periodic Schrödinger operators

2005

- 103. J. DÉSERTI, D. CERVEAU Feuilletages et actions de groupes sur les espaces projectifs
- 101/102. L. ROBBIANO, C. ZUILY Strichartz estimates for Schrödinger equations with variable coefficients
 - 100. J.-M. DESHOUILLERS, K. KAWADA, T.D. WOOLEY On Sums of Sixteen Biquadrates
Mémoires de la S.M.F.

Instructions aux auteurs / Instructions to Authors

Les *Mémoires* de la SMF publient, en français ou en anglais, des articles longs de recherche ou des monographies de la plus grande qualité qui font au moins 80 pages. Les *Mémoires* sont le supplément du *Bulletin* de la SMF et couvrent l'ensemble des mathématiques. Son comité de rédaction est commun avec celui du *Bulletin*.

Le manuscrit doit être envoyé au format pdf au comité de rédaction, à l'adresse électronique memoires@smf.emath.fr Les articles acceptés doivent être composés en LATEX avec la classe smfart ou smfbook, disponible sur le site de la SMF http://smf.emath.fr/ ou avec toute classe standard. In the Mémoires of the SMF are published, in French or in English, long research articles or monographs of the highest mathematical quality, that are at least 80 pages long. Articles in all areas of mathematics are considered. The Mémoires are the supplement of the Bulletin of the SMF. They share the same editorial board.

The manuscript must be sent in pdf format to the editorial board to the email address memoires@smf.emath.fr. The accepted articles must be composed in $E^{A}T_{E}X$ with the smfart or the smfbook class available on the SMF website http://smf.emath.fr/ or with any standard class. Let W be the ring of the Witt vectors of a perfect field of characteristic p, \mathfrak{X} a smooth formal scheme over W, \mathfrak{X}' the base change of \mathfrak{X} by the Frobenius morphism of W, \mathfrak{X}'_2 the reduction modulo p^2 of \mathfrak{X}' and X the special fiber of \mathfrak{X} . We lift the Cartier transform of Ogus-Vologodsky defined by \mathfrak{X}'_2 modulo p^n . More precisely, we construct a functor from the category of p^n -torsion $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ -modules with integrable p-connection to the category of p^n -torsion $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ -modules with integrable connection, each subject to suitable nilpotence conditions. Our construction is based on Oyama's reformulation of the Cartier transform of Ogus-Vologodsky in characteristic p. If there exists a lifting $F: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}'$ of the relative Frobenius morphism of X, our functor is compatible with a functor constructed by Shiho from F. As an application, we give a new interpretation of Faltings' relative Fontaine modules and of the computation of their cohomology.

Soient W l'anneau des vecteurs de Witt d'un corps parfait de caractéristique $p > 0, \mathfrak{X}$ un schéma formel lisse sur W, \mathfrak{X}' le changement de base de \mathfrak{X} par l'endomorphisme de Frobenius de W, \mathfrak{X}'_2 la réduction modulo p^2 de \mathfrak{X}' et X la fibre spéciale de \mathfrak{X} . On relève la transformée de Cartier d'Ogus-Vologodsky définie par \mathfrak{X}'_2 . Plus précisément, on construit un foncteur de la catégorie des $\mathscr{O}_{\mathfrak{X}'}$ -modules de p^n -torsion à p-connexion intégrable dans la catégorie des conditions de nilpotence appropriées. S'il existe un relèvement $F : \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}'$ du morphisme de Frobenius relatif de X, notre foncteur est compatible avec une construction «locale» de Shiho définie par F. Comme application de la transformée de Cartier modulo p^n , on donne une nouvelle interprétation des modules de Fontaine relatifs introduits par Faltings et du calcul de leur cohomologie.